








 

 

 

STAFF REPORT 

 
MEETING DATE:   August 8, 2017       AGENDA ITEM:  4B 
 
TITLE:   
Councilmembers’ Report 
 
STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Lynda Humble, City Manager 
   



 

 

 

STAFF REPORT 

 
MEETING DATE:   August 8, 2017       AGENDA ITEM: 4C  
 
 
TITLE:   
City Manager’s Report 
 
STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Lynda Humble, City Manager 
   



 

 
 

STAFF REPORT 
 

MEETING DATE:   August 8, 2017       AGENDA ITEM: 5A  
 
 
TITLE:   
Receive briefing on the City Manager’s submitted budget for FY 2018 as required by the City’s 
Charter. 
 
STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Lynda Humble, City Manager 
 
ATTACHMENT: 
None – Council will be provided a copy of the proposed FY 2018 budget at Tuesday’s Council 
meeting. 
   



 

 
 

STAFF REPORT 
 

MEETING DATE:   August 8, 2017       AGENDA ITEM: 5B 
 
 
TITLE:   
Review and discuss proposed Ethics Ordinance revisions using a “side-by-side” comparison of 
proposed changes as prepared by City Attorney Bragg. 
 
STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
David Bragg, City Attorney   
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

• Comparison Table of Ethics Ordinance 



1 
 

CITY OF BASTROP CODE OF ORDINANCES 
ARTICLE 1.15 - CODE OF ETHICS 

COMPARISON TABLE 
 

PLEASE NOTE:  Grammatical, syntax corrections or rewording of provisions that does not change meaning are not highlighted. 
 
 
 

EXISTING CODE PROPOSED AMENDED CODE 
  

DIVISION 1. - GENERALLY 
 
Sec. 1.15.001 - Definitions. 
 
Board, body, commission, and task force. Includes any group of 
individuals assigned, appointed, or serving the city at the 
Council's request or direction, or any group otherwise convened 
by the city to assist with city business. 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Business entity. A sole proprietorship, partnership, limited 
partnership, firm, corporation, limited liability company, holding 
company, joint-stock company, receivership, trust, 

DIVISION 1. - GENERALLY 
   
Sec. 1.15.001 - Definitions. 
 
If a word or phrase is defined in this Code, it shall have the same 
meaning in all parts of this Code.  Any word which is undefined 
shall be given its common, ordinary meaning.  The word “shall” 
always means mandatory; the word “may” means discretionary. 
 
The following words and phrases are defined as follows: 
 
“Bad faith” means the conscious doing of a wrong for dishonest, 
discriminatory, or malicious purposes. 
 
“Board,” “body,” “commission,” and “task force” mean and 
include any group of individuals assigned, appointed, or serving 
the city at the Council's or City Manager’s request or direction, or 
any group otherwise convened by the city to assist with city 
business.  
 
“Business entity” includes a sole proprietorship, partnership, 
limited partnership, corporation, limited liability company, 
holding company, joint-stock company, receivership, trust, 



2 
 

unincorporated association, or any other entity recognized by law. 
  
City Council. All members of the city's governing body, including 
the mayor.  
 
 
City official.  
(1) Every member of the City Council including the mayor, the 
City Manager, the executive director of the economic 
development corporation, the city attorney, the City Secretary, all 
city department directors, the police chief, the fire chief, the fire 
marshal, and includes persons acting in the capacity of the 
aforementioned city officials, whether appointed, or employed;  
(2) Members of all boards, commissions, task forces, and other 
bodies created by the City Council pursuant to federal or state law 
or city charter or ordinance, including entities that may be only 
advisory in nature whose members are appointed by City Council 
action or whose members are designated in the bylaws or 
organizational papers of the entity to serve on behalf of the city;  
(3) All board members of any entity who are appointed by the 
City Council to such board membership; and  
(4) Any other individual identified by the City Council, local or 
state law to be a city official, if any.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

unincorporated association, or any other entity however 
organized.  
 
“City Council” means the Mayor and elected members of the City 
Council.  
 
“City official” includes all of the following:  
 (1)  Every member of the City Council (including the 
Mayor), the City Manager, the Executive Director of the 
economic development corporation, the City Attorney, the City 
Secretary, all city department directors, police chief, fire chief, 
fire marshal, and persons acting in the capacity of the 
aforementioned city officials, whether appointed, or employed, 
unless that person reports to the City Manager or is employed in 
one of the City departments under the direction of the City 
Manager. 
 (2)  Members of all boards, commissions, task forces, and 
other bodies created by the City Council pursuant to federal or 
state law or city charter or ordinance, including entities that may 
be only advisory in nature whose members are appointed by City 
Council action or whose members are designated in the bylaws or 
organizational papers of the entity to serve on behalf of the city;  
 (3)  All board members of any entity who are appointed 
by the City Council to such board membership; and  
 (4)  Any other individual identified by the City Council, 
local or state law to be a city official, if any.  
 (5)  a person employed by the city, including those 
individuals who work on a part-time basis, unless that person 
reports to the City Manager or is employed in one of the City 
departments under the direction of the City Manager; and the term 
does not include any independent contractor.  This provision is 
not intended to and does not create an employer/ employee 
relationship between the city and any person; instead, that 



3 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Clear and convincing evidence. The measure or degree of proof 
that produces in the mind of the commissioners a firm belief as to 
the truth of the facts or allegations sought to be established.  
 
 
Confidential government information. Includes all information 
held by the city that is not available to the public under the Texas 
Public Information Act and any information obtained or acquired 
from participation in a meeting that was closed to the public 
pursuant to the Texas Open Meetings Act, unless disclosure is 
otherwise required or permitted under state law, a ruling by the 
state attorney general, or an order of a court with jurisdiction over 
the matter.  
 
De minimis. A value or amount that is so small as to be entirely 
inconsequential.  
 
Degree of affinity. Relationship by affinity (marriage) as defined 
in V.T.C.A. Government Code, §§ 573.024 and 573.025, or as 
amended. (See attachment A.)  
 
Degree of consanguinity. Relationship by consanguinity (blood) 
as defined in V.T.C.A. Government Code, §§ 573.022 and 
573.023, or as amended. (See attachment A.)  
 
 
 
 

relationship will be defined by the document by which the person 
is hired.  
 
 
 
“Clear and convincing evidence” means that measure or degree of 
proof that produces in the mind of the members of the Ethics 
Commission a firm belief as to the truth of the facts or allegations 
sought to be established.  
 
“Confidential government information” means all information 
held by the city that is not available through mandatory disclosure 
to the public under the Texas Public Information Act and any 
information obtained or acquired from participation in a meeting 
that was closed to the public pursuant to the Texas Open 
Meetings Act, unless disclosure is otherwise required or permitted 
under state law, a ruling by the state attorney general, or an order 
of a court with jurisdiction over the matter.  
 
“De minimus” means a value or amount that is so small as to be 
entirely inconsequential.  
 
“Degree of affinity” means a relationship by affinity (marriage) as 
defined in Texas Government Code, §§ 573.024 and 573.025, or 
as amended. (See attachment A.)  
 
“Degree of consanguinity” means a relationship by consanguinity 
(blood) as defined in Texas Government Code, §§ 573.022 and 
573.023, or as amended. (See attachment A.)  
 
“Documents” means all writings (notes, correspondence, 
memoranda, reports, computer print-outs, etc.), drawings, drafts, 
charts, photographs, tape or disc recordings (whether sound or 



4 
 

 
 
 
 
Economic interest. Includes, but is not limited to, legal or 
equitable property interests in land, chattels, and intangibles, 
business advantages, and/or contractual rights having more than 
de minimis value. A person has an economic interest in a business 
entity, if the person is an employee or is a paid contract 
worker/consultant of the business entity. Unpaid service by a city 
official or employee as an officer, director, advisor, or otherwise 
active participant in an educational, religious, charitable, 
fraternal, or civic organization does not create, for that city 
official or employee, an economic interest in the property of the 
organization. Ownership of an interest in a mutual or common 
investment fund that holds securities or other assets is not an 
economic interest in such securities or other assets unless the 
person in question participates in the management of the fund. 
Ownership of stock in a publicly traded corporation does not 
constitute ownership for purposes of this code if the employee or 
city official owns less than 10% of the voting stock or shares of 
the entity and the fair market value of the stock is less than 
$15,000.  
 
Employee. Is any person employed by the city whether under 
civil service regulation or not, including those individuals who 
work on a part-time basis, but such term shall not be extended to 
apply to any independent contractor or contractual consultant.  
Intentionally. A person acts intentionally, or with intent, with 
respect to the nature of his or her conduct or to a result of his or 

video), and all other data compilations from which information 
can be obtained or translated, regardless of the medium on which 
the documents are stored or maintained.  
 
“Economic interest” means a legal or equitable property interests 
in land, chattels, and intangibles, business opportunities, and/or 
contractual rights having more than de minimis value. A person 
has an economic interest in a business entity, if the person is an 
employee or is a paid contract worker/consultant of the business 
entity. Unpaid service, in and of itself by a city official as an 
officer, director, advisor, or otherwise active participant in a 
nonprofit entity does not create, for that city official an economic 
interest in the property of the organization. Ownership of an 
interest in a mutual or common investment fund that holds 
securities or other assets is not an economic interest in such 
securities or other assets unless the person in question participates 
in the management of the fund. Ownership of stock in a publicly 
traded corporation does not constitute ownership for purposes of 
this code if the city official owns less than 10% of the voting 
stock or shares of the entity and the fair market value of the stock 
is less than $15,000.  
 
“Harassment” means an intention to annoy, alarm, and verbally or 
otherwise abuse another person. 
 
“Intentionally” means the act or omission was done with a 
conscious objective or desire to engage in the conduct or cause 
the result.  
 
 



5 
 

her conduct when it is his or her conscious objective or desire to 
engage in the conduct or cause the result.1  
 
Knowingly. A person acts knowingly, or with knowledge, with 
respect to the nature of his or her conduct or to circumstances 
surrounding his or her conduct when he/she is aware of the nature 
of his or her conduct or that the circumstances exist. A person 
acts knowingly, or with knowledge, with respect to a result of his 
or her conduct when he/she is aware that his or her conduct is 
reasonably certain to cause the result.  
 
Official action. Includes:  
(1) Any affirmative act (including the making of a 
recommendation) within the scope of, or in violation of an city 
official's or employee's duties; and  
(2) Any failure to act if the city official or employee is under a 
duty to act and knows that inaction is likely to substantially affect 
an economic interest of the city official or employee.  
 
Official information. Includes information gathered or provided 
pursuant to the power or authority of city government.  
 
Recklessly. A person acts recklessly, or is reckless, with respect 
to circumstances surrounding his or her conduct or the result of 
his or her conduct when he/she is aware of but consciously 
disregards a substantial and unjustifiable risk that the 
circumstances exist or the result will occur. The risk must be of 
such a nature and degree that its disregard constitutes a gross 
deviation from the standard of care that an ordinary person would 
exercise under all the circumstances as viewed from the actor's 
standpoint.  

 
 
 
“Knowingly” means an actual awareness of the impropriety of the 
acts or omissions in question, at the time of the act or practice 
complained of.  Actual awareness may be inferred where 
objective manifestations indicate that a person acted with actual 
awareness.  
 
 
 
“Official action” includes:  
 (1)  Any affirmative act (including the making of a 
recommendation) within the scope of, or in violation of a city 
official's  duties; and  
 (2)  Any unexcused failure to act if the city official is 
under a duty to act.  
 
 
“Official information” means information gathered or provided 
pursuant to the power or authority of city government.  
 
“Recklessly,” with respect to circumstances surrounding a 
person’s conduct or the result of such conduct, means that the 
person is aware of but consciously disregards a substantial and 
unjustifiable risk that the circumstances exist or the result will 
occur. The risk must be of such a nature and degree that its 
disregard constitutes a gross deviation from the standard of care 
that an ordinary person would exercise under the same or similar 
circumstances.  
 

                                                 
1 The definition of employee was removed; instead, “public official” is defined to include any “employee” who works for the city council as opposed to the city.  
(All city employees are subject to the supervision of the City Manager only under the Charter). 



6 
 

 
Representation. Encompasses all forms of communication and 
personal appearances in which a person, not acting in 
performance of official duties, formally serves as an advocate for 
private interests, regardless of whether the representation is 
compensated. Lobbying may be a form of representation. 
Representation does not include appearance as a fact witness or 
expert witness in litigation or other official proceedings.  
(Ord. No. 2015-20, pt. 1A., 10-13-15)  
 

 
“Representation” means all forms of communication and personal 
appearances in which a person, not acting in performance of 
official duties, formally serves as an advocate for private 
interests, regardless of whether the representation is compensated. 
Lobbying may be a form of representation. Representation does 
not include appearance as a fact witness or expert witness in 
litigation or other official proceedings.  
 

  
DIVISION 2. - CURRENT CITY OFFICIALS AND 
EMPLOYEES 
   
Sec. 1.15.031 - Improper economic benefit. 
  (a) General rule. A city official or employee shall not take any 
official action that he or she knows or is likely to affect, or that 
might reasonably be expected to affect, the economic interests of:  
(1) The city official or city employee;  
(2) His or her parent, child, spouse, or other family member 
within the third degree of consanguinity or second degree of 
affinity;  
(3) His or her outside client;  
(4) A member of his or her household;  
(5) The outside employer of the city official/employee or the 
outside employer of the city official's/employee's parent, child or 
spouse, or such outside employer's family member, within the 
third degree of consanguinity or second degree of affinity;  
(6) A business entity in which the city official or employee knows 
that any of the persons listed in subsections (a)(1) or (a)(2) or 
(a)(5) holds an economic interest;  
(7) A business entity which the city official or employee knows is 
an affiliated business or partner of a business entity in which any 

DIVISION 2. - CURRENT CITY OFFICIALS  
   
 
Sec. 1.15.031 - Improper economic benefit. 
 (a)  General rule. A city official shall not take any official 
action that the city official knows is likely to affect, or that might 
reasonably be expected to affect, the economic interests of:  
 (1)  The city official;  
 (2)  The city official’s parent, child, spouse, or other 
family member within the third degree of consanguinity or second 
degree of affinity;  
 (3)  The city official’s outside client;  
 (4)  A member of the city official’s household;  
 (5)  The outside employer of the city official or the outside 
employer of the city official's parent, child or spouse, or such 
outside employer's family member, within the third degree of 
consanguinity or second degree of affinity;  
 (6)  A business entity in which the city official knows that 
any of the persons listed in subsections (a)(1) or (a)(2) or (a)(5) 
holds an economic interest;  
 (7)  A business entity which the city official knows is an 
affiliated business or partner of a business entity in which any of 



7 
 

of the persons listed in subsection (a)(1) or (a)(2) holds an 
economic interest;  
(8) A business entity or nonprofit entity for which the city official 
or employee serves as an officer or director or in any other policy 
making position; or  
(9) A business entity or a person (or someone related to the 
person within the third degree of consanguinity or second degree 
of affinity):  
(A) From whom, within the past twelve (12) months, the city 
official or employee, or his or her spouse, child or parent, directly 
or indirectly has:  
(i) Solicited an offer of employment; or  
(ii) Received and not rejected an offer of employment; or  
(iii) Accepted an offer of employment, whether compensated or 
not and regardless of the level of compensation; or  
(B) With whom the city official or employee, or his or her spouse, 
directly or indirectly is engaged, or within the past twelve months 
engaged, in negotiations pertaining to business opportunities.  
(Ord. No. 2015-20, pt. 1B., 10-13-15)  
 
Sec. 1.15.032 - Accountability of city officials. 
All city officials who serve on the City Council, a board, body, 
commission, or task force shall either cast a vote on motions 
presented and subject to a vote; or:  
(1) Shall file and disclose the nature and extent of a conflict 
presented which prohibits the city official from voting, as set 
forth in section 1.15.031(b)(2) above; or  
(2) Shall state for the record, with specificity, the reason that the 
city official declines to vote on the matter.2  
 

the persons listed in subsection (a)(1) or (a)(2) holds an economic 
interest;  
 (8)  A business entity or nonprofit entity for which the city 
official serves as an officer or director or in any other policy 
making position; or  
 (9)  A business entity or a person (or someone related to 
the person within the third degree of consanguinity or second 
degree of affinity):  
 (A)  From whom, within the past twelve (12) months, the 
city official or the city official’s spouse, child or parent, directly 
or indirectly has:  
  (i)  Solicited an offer of employment; or  
  (ii)  Received and not rejected an offer of 
employment; or  
  (iii)  Accepted an offer of employment, whether 
compensated or not and regardless of the level of compensation; 
or  
 (B)  With whom the city official or employee, or the city 
official’s spouse, directly or indirectly is engaged, or within the 
past twelve months engaged, in negotiations pertaining to 
business opportunities.  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
2 This provision was removed because the disclosure provisions already are in state law and the requirement that a council member vote is, in my judgment, 
unconstitutional.  There are legitimate reasons to abstain that are unrelated to a conflict of interest in which case the provision would appear to run afoul of the 
First Amendment. 

https://library.municode.com/tx/bastrop/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=CH1GEPR_ART1.15COET_DIV2CUOFEM_S1.15.031IMECBE


8 
 

Sec. 1.15.033 - Unfair advancement of private interests. 
  (a) General rule. A city official or employee may not use his or 
her official position to unfairly advance or impede private 
interests, or to grant or secure, or attempt to grant or secure, for 
any person (including himself or herself) any form of special 
consideration, treatment, exemption, or advantage beyond that 
which is lawfully available to other persons. A city official or 
employee violates this rule if he/she represents to a person that he 
or she may and/or will attempt to provide any advantage to that 
person, based on the city official's or employee's position on the 
governing body or with the entity.  
 
(b) Special rules. The following special rules apply in addition to 
the general rule noted above:  
(1) Acquisition of interest in impending matters. A city official or 
employee shall not acquire an interest in any contract, transaction, 
business opportunity, decision, or other matter, if the city official 
or employee knows, or has reason to know, that the city official's 
or employee's interest will be directly or indirectly affected by 
impending official action by the city.  
(2) Reciprocal favors. A city official or employee may not enter 
into an agreement or understanding with any other person that 
official action by the city official or employee will be rewarded, 
affected or reciprocated by the other person, directly or indirectly, 
in any way, or at any time.  
(3) Appointment/employment of relatives. A city official or 
employee shall not appoint or employ, or vote to appoint or 
employ, any relative of the city official or employee within the 
second degree affinity and third degree of consanguinity, to any 
office or in any position within the city, including a position of 
employment with the city.  
 
(c) Recusal and disclosure. A city official or employee whose 

Sec. 1.15.032 - Unfair advancement of private interests. 
 (a)  General rule. A city official may not use the city 
official’s official position to unfairly advance or impede private 
interests, or to grant or secure, or attempt to grant or secure, for 
any person (including the city official) any form of special 
consideration, treatment, exemption, or advantage beyond that 
which is lawfully available to other persons. A city official 
violates this rule if the city official represents to another person 
that the city official will or may attempt to provide any advantage 
to that person, based on the city official's position on the 
governing body or with the entity.  
  
 (b)  Special rules. The following special rules apply in 
addition to the general rule noted above:  
 (1)  Acquisition of interest in impending matters. A city 
official shall not acquire an interest in any contract, transaction, 
business opportunity, decision, or other matter, if the city official 
knows, or has reason to know, that the city official's interest will 
be directly or indirectly affected by impending official action by 
the city.  
 (2)   Reciprocal favors. A city official may not enter into 
an agreement or understanding with any other person that official 
action by the city official will be rewarded, affected or 
reciprocated by the other person, directly or indirectly, in any 
way, or at any time.  
 (3)  Appointment/employment of relatives. A city official 
shall not appoint or employ, or vote to appoint or employ, any 
relative of the city official within the second degree affinity and 
third degree of consanguinity, to any department, board, 
commission, task force or other position within the city, including 
a position of employment with the city.  
 
 (c)  Recusal and disclosure. A city official whose conduct 



9 
 

conduct would otherwise violate subsection (b)(3) of this rule 
shall adhere to the recusal and disclosure provisions provided in 
section 1.15.031(b).  
 
Sec. 1.15.034 - Gifts. 
 City officials and employees shall adhere to state law regarding 
giving and/or receiving/accepting gifts, as set forth in the 
V.T.C.A. Penal Code, ch. 36 et seq., and as amended from time to 
time.  
 
Sec. 1.15.035 - Representation before a member's own 
commission, board, task force, or before the City Council. 
 
(a) Representation by a currently serving member of a board, 
body, commission or task force. A city official or employee who 
is currently a member of a board, body, commission, or task force 
shall not appear before or represent any person, group, or entity to 
communicate views either contrary to or supporting a decision 
reached or a recommendation made by the member's own board, 
commission or task force:  
(1) Before the member's own board, body, commission or task 
force; or  
(2) Before city staff having responsibility for making 
recommendations to, or taking any action on behalf of, the 
member's own board, body, commission, or task force; or  
(3) Before the City Council, or other board, body, commission, or 
task force which has appellate jurisdiction and/or final decision 
making authority over decisions and recommendations made by 
the member's own board, body, commission, or task force.  
(4) Exception: The appellate body may, if it desires, seek 
clarification of an advisory body's recommendation by asking the 
Chair of the advisory body to attend a meeting held by the 
appellant body, to present information concerning the advisory 

would otherwise violate subsection (b)(3) of this rule shall adhere 
to the recusal and disclosure provisions provided in Texas Local 
Government Code § 171.004.  
 
Sec. 1.15.034 - Gifts.   
City officials shall adhere to state law regarding giving and 
receiving gifts, as set forth in Texas Penal Code, Chapter 36, and 
as amended from time to time.  
 
 
Sec. 1.15.035 - Representation before a member's own 
commission, board, task force, or before the City Council. 
 
 (a)  Representation by a currently serving member of a 
board, body, commission or task force. A city official who is 
currently a member of a board, body, commission, or task force 
shall not represent any person, group, or entity:  
 (1)  Before the member's own board, body, commission or 
task force; or  
 (2)  Before city staff having responsibility for making 
recommendations to, or taking any action on behalf of, the 
member's own board, body, commission, or task force; or  
 (3)  Before the City Council, or other board, body, 
commission, or task force which has appellate jurisdiction or final 
decision making authority over decisions and recommendations 
made by the member's own board, body, commission, or task 
force.  
 (4)  Exception: The appellate body may, if it desires, seek 
clarification of an advisory body's recommendation by asking the 
Chair of the advisory body to attend a meeting held by the 
appellant body, to present information concerning the advisory 
body's evaluation, decision making process, recommendation 
and/or vote. If the Chair of the advisory body voted in the 

https://library.municode.com/tx/bastrop/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=CH1GEPR_ART1.15COET_DIV2CUOFEM_S1.15.031IMECBE
https://library.municode.com/tx/bastrop/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=CH1GEPR_ART1.15COET_DIV2CUOFEM_S1.15.031IMECBE


10 
 

body's evaluation, decision making process, recommendation 
and/or vote. If the Chair of the advisory body voted in the 
minority on the item in question, then the Chair should appoint 
another member of the advisory body (who was not in the 
minority) to present the advisory body's evaluation, decision 
making process, recommendation and/or vote to the appellant 
body.  
 
(b) Representation before the City Council, boards, bodies, 
commissions or task forces.  
(1) General rule. A city official or employee shall not represent 
any person, group, or entity, other than himself or herself, or his 
or her spouse or minor children, concerning matters upon which 
the member has direct standing, before the City Council, its 
boards, bodies, commissions, or task forces. To represent 
him/herself, his/her spouse or minor children before the City 
Council, boards, bodies, commissions and task forces, the city 
official or employee must demonstrate personal, direct standing 
on the issue at hand. For purposes of this rule, "standing" shall 
mean that the individual is able to prove personal injury/interest 
that is directly affected by the relevant action of the City Council, 
boards, bodies, commissions or task forces.  
 
(2) Client representation exception for board members. The 
general rule stated in subsection (b)(1) does not apply, however, 
to a city official or employee who is representing others, as 
clients, before the City Council, boards, bodies, commissions or 
task forces, when such a person is classified as a 'city official' 
only because he or she is an appointed member of a board, body, 
commission, or task force. Accordingly, currently serving city 
officials and employees may represent clients before the City 
Council, boards, bodies, commissions or task forces, on matters 
that are not related to their own service on such boards.  

minority on the item in question, then the Chair should appoint 
another member of the advisory body (who was not in the 
minority) to present the advisory body's evaluation, decision 
making process, recommendation and/or vote to the appellant 
body.  
 
 
 
 (b)  Representation before the City Council, boards, 
bodies, commissions or task forces.  
 (1)  General rule. A city official shall not represent any 
person, group, or entity before the City Council, its boards, 
bodies, commissions, or task forces.  City officials may, however, 
represent themselves or their spouse or minor children before the 
City Council, its boards, bodies, commissions, or task forces if 
the city official can demonstrate a personal injury or interest that 
is directly affected by the relevant action of the City Council, 
boards, bodies, commissions or task forces.  
 
 
 
 
 
 (2)  Client representation exception for board members on 
certain matters. A city official who is serving only as an 
appointed member of a board, body, commission, or task force 
may represent others before the City Council, boards, bodies, 
commissions or task forces if the matter is not related, directly or 
indirectly to the city official’s duties as a city official. 
 
 
 
 



11 
 

 
(3) Prestige of office and improper influence. In connection with 
the representation of private interests before the city board, body, 
commission or task force, a city official or employee shall not:  
 
(A) Assert the prestige of the city official's or employee's city 
position for the purpose of advancing private interests; or  
 
(B) State or imply that he or she is able to influence any city 
action on any basis, other than on the merits of the matter.  
 
 
 
(c) Representation in litigation adverse to the city.  
(1) City officials and employees, other than board, body, or 
commission members. A city official or employee, excluding a 
person who is classified as a city official only because he or she 
in [is] an appointed member of a city board, body, commission or 
task force, shall not represent any person, group, or entity, other 
than himself or herself, or his or her spouse or minor children, in 
any litigation to which the city is a party, with the exception of 
defense of suits involving misdemeanors, if the interests of that 
person, group, or entity are adverse to the interests of the city.  
(Ord. No. 2016-10, pt. 1, 5-10-16)  
 
Sec. 1.15.036 - Conflicting outside employment. 
A city official or employee shall not solicit, accept, or engage in 
concurrent outside employment or work activity which could 
reasonably be expected to impair independence of judgment in, or 
faithful performance of, their official duties. A city official or 
employee shall not engage in outside employment, including self-
employment, where such employment would constitute a conflict 
of interest or would adversely affect the city official's or 

 
 (3)  Prestige of office and improper influence. In 
connection with the representation of private interests before the 
city board, body, commission or task force, a city official shall 
not:  
 (A)  Assert the prestige of the city official's city position 
for the purpose of advancing private interests; or  
 
 (B)  State or imply that the city official is able to influence 
any city action on any basis, other than on the merits of the 
matter.  
 
  
(c)  Representation in litigation adverse to the city.  
 (1)  Except for the defense of misdemeanors, a city 
official shall not represent any person group or entity, other than 
the city official or their spouse or minor children, in any litigation 
to which the city is a party if the interests of that person, group, or 
entity are adverse to the interests of the city.  This provision does 
not prevent a person who is a city official solely because of his or 
her service on a city board, body, commission or task force from 
representing a person or entity in litigation adverse to the City so 
long as the litigation is not related, directly or indirectly to the 
city official’s duties.  
  
Sec. 1.15.036 - Conflicting outside employment. 
A city official shall not solicit, accept, or engage in concurrent 
outside employment or work activity which could reasonably be 
expected to impair independence of judgment in, or faithful 
performance of the city official’s official duties. A city official 
shall not engage in outside employment, including self-
employment, where such employment would constitute a conflict 
of interest or would adversely affect the city official's 



12 
 

employee's performance of his or her work responsibilities with 
the city. For employees, all outside employment shall comply 
with the city's employment personnel policies or procedures.  
 
Sec. 1.15.037 - Confidential information. 
(a) Improper access. A city official or employee shall not use his 
or her position to obtain official information about any person or 
entity for any purpose other than the performance of official 
duties.  
(b) Improper disclosure or use. A city official or employee shall 
not intentionally, knowingly, or recklessly disclose any 
confidential government information gained by reason of the city 
official's or employee's position concerning the property, 
operations, policies or affairs of the city. This rule does not 
prohibit:  
(1) Any disclosure of information that is no longer confidential by 
law; or  
(2) The confidential reporting of illegal or unethical conduct to 
authorities designated by law.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Sec. 1.15.038 - Public property and resources. 
A city official or employee shall not use, request, or permit the 

performance of work responsibilities with the city.  
 
 
 
Sec. 1.15.037 - Confidential information. 
 (a)  Improper access. A city official shall not use his or her 
position to obtain official information for any purpose other than 
the performance of official duties.  
 (b)  Improper disclosure or use. A city official shall not 
intentionally, knowingly, or recklessly disclose any confidential 
government information gained by reason of the city official's 
position.  This rule does not prohibit:  
 (1)  Any disclosure of information that is no longer 
confidential by law; or  
 (2)  The confidential reporting of illegal or unethical 
conduct to authorities designated by law; or 
 (3)  The disclosure of information required to comply with 
a court order.  
 
 (c) Executive sessions.  Unless authorized by the 
Council or City Attorney, a city official may not disclose the 
content of discussions held in executive sessions except to say 
which topics were discussed (as shown on the agenda). 
 
 (d) Pending litigation.  A city official may not discuss 
pending litigation with any person other than the Council, City 
Manager and City Attorney without the express authorization of 
the City Attorney.  Any inquiries from any person must be 
referred immediately, without substantive comment, to the City 
Attorney. 
 
Sec. 1.15.038 - Public property and resources. 
A city official shall not use, request, or permit the use of city 



13 
 

use of city facilities, personnel, equipment, or supplies for private 
purposes (including political purposes), except:  
(1) Pursuant to duly adopted city policies; or  
(2) To the extent and according to the terms that those resources 
are lawfully available to the public.  
 
Sec. 1.15.039 - Political activity. 
(a) Influencing subordinates.  
(1) A city official or employee shall not, directly or indirectly, 
induce or attempt to induce any subordinate of the city official or 
employee:  
(A) To participate in an election campaign, contribute to a 
candidate or political committee, or engage in any other political 
activity relating to a particular party, candidate, or issue; or  
(B) To refrain from engaging in any lawful political activity.  
(2) A general statement merely encouraging another person to 
exercise their right to vote does not violate this rule.  
 
(b) Paid campaigning. A city official or employee shall not accept 
anything of value, directly or indirectly, for political purposes or 
activities relating to an item pending on a ballot, if he or she 
participated in, or provided advice relating to, the exercise of 
discretionary authority by a city board, body, commission or task 
force that contributed to the development of the ballot item. For 
purposes of this rule, "anything of value" does not include a meal 
or other item of nominal value the city official or employee 
received in return for providing information about an item on the 
ballot. 
 
 
  
(c) City-owned vehicles. A city official or employee shall not 
display or fail to remove political campaign materials on any 

facilities, personnel, equipment, or supplies for private purposes 
(including political purposes), except:  
 (1)   Pursuant to duly adopted city policies; or  
 (2)  To the extent and according to the terms that those 
resources are lawfully available to the public.  
 
Sec. 1.15.039 - Political activity. 
 (a)  Influencing subordinates.  
 (1)  A city official shall not, directly or indirectly, induce 
or attempt to induce any subordinate of the city official:  
 (A)  To participate in an election campaign, contribute to a 
candidate or political committee, or engage in any other political 
activity relating to a particular party, candidate, or issue; or  
 (B)  To refrain from engaging in any lawful political 
activity.  
 (2)  A general statement merely encouraging another 
person to exercise their right to vote does not violate this rule. 
  
 (b)  Paid campaigning. A city official shall not accept 
anything of value, directly or indirectly, for political purposes or 
activities relating to an item pending on a ballot, if the city 
official  participated in, or provided advice relating to, the 
exercise of discretionary authority by a city board, body, 
commission or task force that contributed to the development of 
the ballot item. For purposes of this rule, "anything of value" does 
not include a meal or other item of nominal value the city official 
received in return for providing information about an item on the 
ballot.  This rule does not prohibit a city official who is a 
candidate for public office from accepting campaign contributions 
for the city official’s own campaign.  
 
 (c)  City-owned vehicles. A city official shall not display 
or fail to remove political campaign materials on any city owned 



14 
 

vehicle owned by the city under the city official and/or 
employee's control.  
 
Sec. 1.15.040 - Supervisory duties. 
A city official or employee who has direct supervisory authority 
over another person providing services relating to the business of 
the city shall make reasonable efforts to ensure that the conduct of 
the supervised person is compatible with the obligations imposed 
on city officials and employees by this article. Reasonable efforts 
includes notifying and making information regarding this article 
readily available.  
 
Sec. 1.15.041 - Training. 
(a) Employees. The City Manager will make reasonable efforts to 
ensure that city employees receive training related to this article, 
at a minimum of every twenty-four (24) months.  
(b) City officials. The city attorney will be available and prepared 
to provide annual training for all city officials on this article, at 
the request and/or direction of the city. The City Secretary shall 
coordinate an annual date for training all city officials.  
 
Sec. 1.15.042 - Actions of others. 
(a) Violations by other persons. A city official or employee shall 
not knowingly, intentionally or recklessly assist, induce, or 
attempt to assist or induce, any person to violate any provision in 
this article.  
 
(b) Using others to engage in forbidden conduct. A city official or 
employee shall not knowingly, intentionally or recklessly violate, 
or attempt to violate, the provisions of this article through the acts 
of another.  
 
Secs. 1.15.043—1.15.060 - Reserved. 

vehicle which is under the city official’s  control.  
 
 
Sec. 1.15.040 - Supervisory duties. 
A city official who has direct supervisory authority over another 
person providing services relating to the business of the city shall 
make reasonable efforts to ensure that the conduct of the 
supervised person is compatible with the obligations imposed on 
city officials by this article. “Reasonable efforts” includes 
notifying and making information regarding this article readily 
available.  
 
Sec. 1.15.041 - Training. 
 The City Attorney will be available and prepared to 
provide annual training for all city officials on this article, at the 
request and/or direction of the city. The City Secretary shall 
coordinate an annual date for training all city officials.  
 
 
 
 
Sec. 1.15.042 - Actions of others. 
 (a)   Violations by other persons. A city official shall not 
knowingly, intentionally or recklessly assist, induce, or attempt to 
assist or induce, any person to violate any provision of this Code.  
 
 (b)  Using others to engage in forbidden conduct. A city 
official shall not knowingly or intentionally violate, or attempt to 
violate, the provisions of this Code through the acts of another.  
 
Secs. 1.15.043—1.15.060 - Reserved. 
 



15 
 

 
  
DIVISION 3. - FORMER CITY OFFICIAL(S) AND 
EMPLOYEE(S) 
   
Sec. 1.15.061 - Subsequent representation of private interests. 
(a) Representation by a former member of the Council, board, 
body, commission, or task force.  
(1) For a minimum period of twelve (12) months after the 
termination of his or her official or employment duties, a former 
city official or employee shall not represent any person, group, or 
entity, other than himself or herself, or his or her spouse or minor 
children, upon any issue related to his or her former duties:  
(A) Before the City Council, board, body, commission or task 
force;  
(B) Before a city staff member having responsibility for making 
recommendations to, or taking any action on behalf of, that board, 
body, commission, or task force; or  
(C) Before the Council, board, body, commission or task force, 
which has appellate jurisdiction over the board, body, commission 
or task force, of which the city official or employee was a 
member.  
 
(2) This subsection does not apply to a person who was classified 
as a city official only because he or she was an appointed member 
of a board, body, commission or task force.  
(3) In connection with the representation of private interests 
before the City Council, board, body, commission or task force, a 
former city official or employee shall not state or imply that he or 
she is able to influence any city action on any basis other than on 
the merits.  
 
(b) Representation in litigation adverse to the city. A former city 

DIVISION 3. - FORMER CITY OFFICIALS 
   
 
Sec. 1.15.061 - Subsequent representation of private interests. 
 (a)  Representation by a former member of the Council, 
board, body, commission, or task force.  
 (1)  For a minimum period of twelve (12) months after the 
termination of his or her official or employment duties, a former 
city official shall not represent any person, group, or entity, other 
than himself or herself, or his or her spouse or minor children, 
upon any issue related to his or her former duties:  
 (A)  Before the City Council, board, body, commission or 
task force;  
 (B)  Before a city staff member having responsibility for 
making recommendations to, or taking any action on behalf of, 
that board, body, commission, or task force; or  
 (C)  Before the Council, board, body, commission or task 
force, which has appellate jurisdiction over the board, body, 
commission or task force, of which the city official was a 
member.  
 
 (2)  This subsection does not apply to a person who was 
classified as a city official only because that person was an 
appointed member of a board, body, commission or task force.  
 (3)  In connection with the representation of private 
interests before the City Council, board, body, commission or 
task force, a former city official shall not state or imply that he or 
she is able to influence any city action on any basis other than on 
the merits.  
 
 (b)  Representation in litigation adverse to the city. A 



16 
 

official or employee shall not, absent consent from the city, 
represent any person, group, or entity, other than himself or 
herself, or his or her spouse or minor children, in any litigation to 
which the city is a party, if the interests of that person, group, or 
entity are adverse to the interests of the city and the matter is one 
in which the former city official or employee personally and 
substantially participated prior to termination of his or her official 
duties or employment. The City Council shall be the final 
decision making authority concerning whether the participation of 
a city official or employee in the matter was sufficiently 
"substantial" to trigger this prohibition.  
 
Sec. 1.15.062 - Employment relating to a city contract. 
(a) Performance of compensated work. A former city official or 
employee shall not, within two (2) years of the termination of 
their official duties, perform work on a compensated basis for any 
entity other than the city, relating to an existing contract with the 
city, if he or she personally and substantially participated in the 
negotiation or awarding of the compensated work. The City 
Council shall be the final decision making authority concerning 
whether the participation of a city official or employee in a matter 
was sufficiently "substantial" to trigger this prohibition. The city 
may waive this provision, after a public hearing on a request by a 
former city official or employee to do so, if it is in the public's 
best interest to do so.  
(b) Personal interest in city contracts. A city official or employee 
shall not, either during their service with the city or within twelve 
(12) months of the termination of the official duties, have an 
economic interest, direct or indirect, in any contract with the city, 
nor shall they be financially interested, directly or indirectly, in 
the sale to the city of any land, materials, supplies or service. Any 
willful violation of this section shall constitute malfeasance in 
office, and any city official or employee violating this section 

former city official shall not, absent consent from a majority of 
the Council represent any person, group, or entity, other than the 
city official, or the city official’s spouse or minor children, in any 
litigation to which the city is a party, if the interests of that 
person, group, or entity are adverse to the interests of the city and 
the matter is one in which the former city official personally and 
substantially participated prior to termination of the city official’s 
official duties or employment. The City Council shall be the final 
decision making authority concerning whether the participation of 
a city official in the matter was sufficiently "substantial" to trigger 
this prohibition.  
 
Sec. 1.15.062 - Employment relating to a city contract. 
 (a)   Performance of compensated work. A former city 
official shall not, within two (2) years of the termination of their 
official duties, perform work on a compensated basis for any 
entity other than the city, relating to an existing contract with the 
city, if he or she personally and substantially participated in the 
negotiation or awarding of the compensated work. The City 
Council shall be the final decision making authority concerning 
whether the participation of a city official in a matter was 
sufficiently "substantial" to trigger this prohibition. The city may 
waive this provision, after a public hearing on a request by a 
former city official to do so, if it is in the public's best interest to 
do so.  
 (b)  Personal interest in city contracts. A city official shall 
not, either during their service with the city or within twelve (12) 
months of the termination of the official duties, have an economic 
interest, direct or indirect, in any contract with the city, nor shall 
they be financially interested, directly or indirectly, in the sale to 
the city of any land, materials, supplies or service. Any willful 
violation of this section shall constitute malfeasance in office, and 
any city official violating this section shall forfeit his/her office or 



17 
 

shall forfeit his/her office or position. Any violation of this 
section, with the knowledge expressed or implied of a person or 
corporation contracting with the city, shall render the contract 
involved voidable by the Council. (See also city charter, section 
13.01.)  
 
 
 
 
Sec. 1.15.063 - Continuing confidentiality. 
A former city official or employee shall not use or disclose 
confidential governmental information acquired during their 
service as a city official or employee. This rule does not prohibit:  
(1) Any disclosure or use that is authorized or required by law; or  
(2) The confidential reporting of illegal or unethical conduct to 
authorities designated by law.  
 
Secs. 1.15.064—1.15.090 - Reserved. 
 

position. Any violation of this section, with the knowledge 
expressed or implied of a person or corporation contracting with 
the city, shall render the contract involved voidable by the 
Council.  This section does not prohibit the City Council or City 
Manager from contracting with a former city official to perform 
consulting services for the benefit of the City if the City Council 
or City Manager determine that such services are not otherwise 
reasonably available.  
 
Sec. 1.15.063 - Continuing confidentiality. 
A former city official shall not use or disclose confidential 
governmental information acquired during their service as a city 
official. This rule does not prohibit:  
 (1)  Any disclosure or use that is authorized or required by 
law; or  
 (2)  The confidential reporting of illegal or unethical 
conduct to authorities designated by law.  
 
 (3)  The disclosure of information required to comply with 
a court order.  
 
Secs. 1.15.064—1.15.090 - Reserved. 
 

  
DIVISION 4. - GENERAL ANTI-DISCRIMINATION POLICY 
   
Sec. 1.15.091 - General rule. 
City affairs must be conducted without bias or prejudice. A city 
official or employee shall not, in the performance of official 
duties, manifest by words or conduct, bias or prejudice toward 
any person, group, or entity, including bias or prejudice based 
upon race, sex, religion, national origin, disability, age, sexual 
orientation, or socioeconomic status, and shall not permit others 

DIVISION 4. - GENERAL ANTI-DISCRIMINATION POLICY 
   
Sec. 1.15.091 - General rule. 
City affairs must be conducted without bias or prejudice. A city 
official shall not, in the performance of official duties, manifest 
by words or conduct, bias or prejudice toward any person, group, 
or entity, including bias or prejudice based upon race, sex, 
religion, national origin, disability, age, sexual orientation, gender 
identity, or socioeconomic status, and shall not permit others 

https://library.municode.com/tx/bastrop/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIHORUCH_ARTXIIIGEPR_S13.01PEINCO
https://library.municode.com/tx/bastrop/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIHORUCH_ARTXIIIGEPR_S13.01PEINCO


18 
 

subject to his or her direction and control to do so.  
 
Sec. 1.15.092 - Exceptions. 
A city official or employee is not liable under this provision:  
(1) For conduct undertaken in good faith to implement an existing 
city policy, or to carry out the directions of a superior if the 
violation is unknown to the city official or employee acting upon 
a supervisor's direction; or  
(2) For conduct involving the legitimate advocacy of a position 
relating to race, sex, religion, national origin, disability, age, 
sexual orientation, or socioeconomic status in litigation or similar 
proceedings, or incidental to the formation of city policy. 
  
Sec. 1.15.093 - Definitions. 
For purposes of this division:  
 
Good faith. That the city official or employee has a reasonable 
basis for believing, and does in fact believe, that the conduct in 
question is lawful and not discriminatory.  
 
Legitimate advocacy. That the position espoused is not frivolous. 
  
Manifesting by words or conduct, bias or prejudice. Includes, but 
is not limited to, physical abuse, verbal abuse, threats, 
intimidation, harassment, sexual harassment, coercion, assault, 
stalking, hate speech, and other conduct that threatens or 
endangers the health or safety of any person.  
 
Secs. 1.15.094-1.15.120 - Reserved. 
   

subject to his or her direction and control to do so.  
 
Sec. 1.15.092 - Exceptions. 
A city official is not in violation of this section:  
 (1)  For conduct undertaken in good faith to implement an 
existing city policy, or to carry out the directions of a superior if 
the violation is unknown to the city official acting upon a 
supervisor's direction; or  
 (2)  For advocacy of  issues involving race, sex, religion, 
national origin, disability, age, sexual orientation, gender identity, 
or socioeconomic status in litigation or similar proceedings, or 
incidental to the formation of city policy.  
 
Sec. 1.15.093 - Definitions. 
For purposes of this division:  
 
“Good faith” means that the city official has a reasonable basis 
for believing, and does in fact believe that the conduct in question 
is lawful and not discriminatory.  
 
“Legitimate advocacy” means that the position espoused is not 
frivolous.  
 
“Manifesting by words or conduct, bias or prejudice” includes, 
but is not limited to, physical abuse, verbal abuse, threats, 
intimidation, harassment, sexual harassment, coercion, assault, 
stalking, hate speech, and other conduct that threatens or 
endangers the health or safety of any person.  
 
Secs. 1.15.094-1.15.120 - Reserved. 
 
 

  



19 
 

DIVISION 5. - ENFORCEMENT 
 
Sec. 1.15.121 - Creation of ethics commission. 
 
An ethics commission shall be created and consist of three (3) 
members, all of whom must reside within jurisdiction of the city, 
which for purposes of this article expressly includes the city's 
extraterritorial jurisdiction. Within sixty (60) days of its adoption 
of this article, each member of the City Council will submit to the 
city attorney names of recommended appointees. The city 
attorney will provide the recommended appointees to the mayor, 
who will then appoint the three (3) members of the ethics 
commission, upon concurrence of the members of the City 
Council. Members of the ethics commission may not hold or be a 
candidate for any city elected or appointed office any time during 
their service on the ethics commission. 
 
 
Sec. 1.15.122 - Terms/limits. 
 
Appointees to the ethics commission shall serve for terms of three 
(3) years. However, in order to ensure continuity by 
implementing staggered terms of service, the first three (3) 
appointees shall draw lots so that one member serves a one-year 
term, the second serves a two-year term, and the third serves a 
three-year term. No person may serve more than two (2) 
consecutive three-year terms. A person may be reappointed after 
having been off the ethics commission for twelve (12) 
consecutive months. 
 
Sec. 1.15.123 - Ethics commission vacancies. 
 
All vacancies on the ethics commission shall be filled by the City 

DIVISION 5. - ENFORCEMENT 
 
Sec. 1.15.121 - Creation of ethics commission. 

An ethics commission is hereby created and consists of five 
members and one alternate member, all of whom must reside 
within jurisdiction of the city, which for purposes of this Code 
expressly includes the city's extraterritorial jurisdiction. Each 
member of the City Council may submit to the Mayor names of 
recommended appointees for vacant positions. The Mayor shall 
make the appointment or appointments, subject to confirmation 
by the City Council.  Members of the Ethics Commission may not 
hold or be a candidate for any elected or appointed city office any 
time during their service on the ethics commission.   Members of 
the Ethics Commission may not endorse publicly any candidate 
for city office or support or oppose any matter that is or will be on 
a city ballot. 

Sec. 1.15.122 - Terms/limits. 

Appointees to the Ethics Commission shall serve for terms of 
three (3) years. However, in order to ensure continuity by 
implementing staggered terms of service, the two additional 
appointees and one alternate shall draw lots so that one member 
serves a one-year term, the second serves a two-year term, and the 
third serves a three-year term. No person may serve more than 
two (2) consecutive three-year terms. A person may be 
reappointed after having been off the Ethics Commission for 
twelve (12) consecutive months.  

Sec. 1.15.123 - Ethics commission vacancies. 
 
All vacancies on the ethics commission shall be filled within sixty 



20 
 

Council within sixty (60) days of the vacancy, for the remainder 
of the unexpired term, by use of the general process noted above. 
Ethics commission members shall hold office until their 
successors have been appointed and shall continue to hold office 
after their successors have been appointed for the limited purpose 
of disposing of all complaints filed and unresolved during that 
ethics commission member's term. 
 
 
Sec. 1.15.124 - Removal of ethics commission members. 
 
In addition to the City Council's usual powers of removal, 
members of the ethics commission may be removed by a majority 
vote of the City Council for cause only. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Sec. 1.15.125 - Conflicts on interest. 

(60) days of the vacancy, for the remainder of the unexpired term, 
as provided in the City Charter.  No member of the Ethics 
Commission shall participate in the discussion of or vote on a 
complaint in which any of the evidence was presented to the 
Commission prior to the member’s appointment.  Ethics 
commission members shall hold office until their successors have 
been appointed and shall continue to hold office after their 
successors have been appointed for the limited purpose of 
disposing of all complaints filed and unresolved during that ethics 
commission member's term.4 
 
Sec. 1.15.124 - Removal of Ethics Commission members. 

In addition to the City Council's usual powers of removal, 
members of the Ethics Commission may be removed by a 
majority vote of the City Council for cause only.  Removal for 
cause must be after notice and an opportunity for the Ethics 
Commission member to be heard.  The grounds for such removal 
are:  (a) gross ignorance of official duties; (b) gross carelessness 
in the discharge of those duties;  (c)  unfitness or inability to 
promptly and properly discharge official duties because of a 
serious physical or mental defect that did not exist at the time of 
the officer's election or (d) official misconduct which means 
intentional, unlawful behavior that adversely affects the 
performance of  official duties.  The term includes an intentional 
or corrupt failure, refusal, or neglect of a Commission Member to 
perform a duty imposed on the Member by law, including but not 
limited to the Bastrop City Charter and the City of Bastrop Code 
of Ordinances. 

Sec. 1.15.125 - Conflicts of interest. 
                                                 
4 The holdover provision inadvertently was omitted from a prior red-line version. 
 



21 
 

 
When a complaint is referred to or comes under the purview of 
the ethics commission, it shall be the responsibility of the City 
Manager and the city attorney to attempt to identify any potential 
conflicts of interest that may be present between any of the 
serving ethics commission members and the persons or entities 
involved in the ethics complaint. The City Manager shall 
promptly report any identified, potential conflicts, to the City 
Council and the City Council shall, within thirty (30) days, take 
formal action to appoint a special replacement appointee to the 
ethics commission to hear and decide the matter that is subject of 
the conflict. The special replacement appointee shall retire from 
service once the matter at hand has been disposed of, and the 
regularly appointed ethics commission member shall resume 
service for the remainder of the ethics commission member's 
term. 
 
(Ord. No. 2012-1, 1-10-12) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Sec. 1.15.126 - Chair/quorum. 
 
(a) The ethics commission shall elect a chairperson, who shall 
preside over the hearings before the ethics commission. The 
chairperson shall serve a one-year term. The City Secretary shall 
serve as the administrative record keeper for the ethics 
commission. 
 
(b)  Unless otherwise stipulated by the chairperson at his/her 

When a complaint is referred to or comes under the purview of 
the Ethics Commission, it shall be the responsibility of the City 
Manager and the City Attorney or independent counsel to attempt 
to identify any potential conflicts of interest that may be present 
between any of the serving Ethics Commission members and the 
persons or entities involved in the ethics complaint.  Upon receipt 
of a complaint, each member of the Commission shall 
affirmatively notify the City Manager or City Attorney or 
independent counsel in writing that the member does or does not 
have a conflict of interest.  If a member of the Commission agrees 
that there is a conflict, the member shall be replaced by the 
alternative in all proceedings related to the complaint.  If the 
Commission member does not agree that there is a conflict of 
interest, then the City Manager shall promptly report any 
identified, potential conflicts, to the City Council.  Upon a finding 
by the City Council that there is an actual or potential conflict of 
interest, the alternate shall take the place of that Commission 
member in all proceedings related to the complaint.  The alternate 
shall retire from active service once the matter at hand has been 
disposed of, and the regularly appointed Ethics Commission 
member shall resume service for the remainder of the Ethics 
Commission member's term.  

Sec. 1.15.126 - Chair/quorum. 

 (a)   The Ethics Commission shall elect a chairperson, 
who shall preside over the hearings before the Ethics 
Commission. The chairperson shall serve a one-year term. The 
City Secretary shall be the repository of all filings and records of 
the Ethics Commission.  

 (b)  The Ethics Commission may evaluate and discuss its 



22 
 

discretion, for purposes of convening and conducting the 
administrative work of the commission, such as evaluating and 
developing recommendation to the City Council concerning 
matters related to the standard of conduct for city officials and 
employees, two (2) members of the commission shall constitute a 
quorum to conduct the business of the commission. In addition, 
for such administrative meetings, up to one (1) member of the 
commission may participate in (and be considered to be present 
at) the commission meeting by use of remote technology, such as 
telephone or video conferencing. However, all three (3) members 
of the ethics commission shall be present, in person, at any time 
the ethics commission is convened to review and investigate a 
complaint related to violation(s) of this code. 
 
(Ord. No. 2013-27, 12-10-13) 
 
 
 
 
 
Sec. 1.15.127 - Meetings. 
 
The ethics commission shall meet when necessary to carry out its 
responsibilities, but in any event the ethics commission shall hold 
an annual meeting during the month of February to elect its 
chairperson. Any ethics commission member may call a meeting 
of the ethics commission, provided that a reasonable notice is 
given to all other ethics commission members. All ethics 
commission meetings shall be noticed, posted and conducted in 
compliance with the Texas Open Meetings Act. 
 
Sec. 1.15.128 - Jurisdiction of the commission. 
 

own policies and procedures and make recommendations to the 
City Council concerning matters related to the standard of 
conduct for city officials that are unrelated to any pending 
complaint.  The quorum for such a meeting shall be three 
members, one of whom may participate in (and be considered to 
be present at) the commission meeting by use of remote 
technology, such as telephone or video conferencing.   

 (c) The quorum for consideration of any complaint 
shall be four members of the Ethics Commission.  If all five 
members of the Ethics Commission are present for a vote to 
sustain or dismiss a complaint or impose sanctions, four of the 
Commissioners must vote to sustain the complaint or impose the 
sanctions; otherwise, it must be dismissed.  If four members of 
the Ethics Commission are present for a vote to sustain or dismiss 
a complaint or impose sanctions, all four of the Commissioners 
must vote to sustain the complaint or impose sanctions; otherwise 
it shall be dismissed.  

 
Sec. 1.15.127 - Meetings. 

The Ethics Commission shall meet when necessary to carry out its 
responsibilities, but in any event the Ethics Commission shall 
hold an annual meeting during the month of February to elect its 
chairperson. Any Ethics Commission member may call a meeting 
of the Ethics Commission, provided that reasonable notice is 
given to all other Ethics Commission members. All Ethics 
Commission meetings shall be noticed, posted and conducted in 
compliance with the Texas Open Meetings Act.  

Sec. 1.15.128 - Jurisdiction of the commission. 



23 
 

The ethics commission shall have jurisdiction over complaints 
involving the City Council, city officials and other persons 
appointed to serve the city by the City Council. The City Manager 
shall have jurisdiction and authority to investigate and handle 
ethics complaints involving city employees, pursuant to the city's 
approved personnel policies. employees shall have the right to 
appeal a decision of the City Manager to the ethics commission. 
 
Sec. 1.15.129 - Duties of the commission. 
 
(a)  The ethics commission shall: 
 
(1)  Make recommendations to the City Council concerning 
matters relating to the standard of conduct for city officials and 
employees. 
 
(2) Preserve and maintain the confidentiality of any 
documentation filed with the commission for a period of three (3) 
years after a finding has been rendered, at which time such 
documents shall be destroyed, unless disclosure is otherwise 
required by state law, or order of the state attorney general or a 
court of jurisdiction. 
 
(3) Review and investigate complaints related to violations of this 
article when presented and issue a written finding of the ethics 
commission's determination, when appropriate. 
 
(b)  The ethics commission may: 
 
(1) Prepare reports and make recommendations to the City 
Council regarding ethical issues affecting the city. 
 
(2) Seek any necessary assistance from the City Council and City 

The Ethics Commission shall have jurisdiction over complaints 
involving city officials as defined in this ordinance.  

 
 
 
 
Sec. 1.15.129 - Duties of the commission. 

(a)  The Ethics Commission shall:  

 (1)  Make recommendations to the City Council 
concerning matters relating to the standard of conduct for city 
officials.  

 (2)  To the extent allowed by law, maintain the 
confidentiality of any documents which are filed with the Ethics 
Commission.  The documents shall be retained consistent with the 
City’s records retention policies.  

 

 (3)  Review and investigate complaints related to 
violations of this Code and issue written ruling(s). 

(b)  The Ethics Commission may:  

 (1)  Prepare reports and make recommendations to the 
City Council regarding ethical issues affecting the city. 

 (2)  Respond to inquiries from interested persons 



24 
 

Manager regarding financial support needed to carry out the 
ethics commission's duties. 
 
(3) Adopt rules of procedures for carrying out this article. 
 
 
 
 
Sec. 1.15.130 - Role of the city attorney. 
 
(a)  The city attorney shall serve as legal counsel and staff liaison 
to the ethics commission. However, when complaints related to 
violations of this article are filed relating to the mayor, City 
Councilmembers, City Manager, city attorney, city prosecutor or 
municipal court judge, independent legal counsel may be utilized 
to advise the ethics commission and to take part in the hearings, 
in the place of the city attorney. 
 
(b)  The city attorney shall serve as ethics advisor, only, to city 
employees and city officials, and shall not represent employees or 
city officials before the ethics commission. As ethics advisor, the 
city attorney is available to respond confidentially to inquiries 
from employees, city officials, and others appointed to serve the 
city by the City Council, on matters related to the content of this 
article. However, as legal counsel to the ethics commission, the 
city attorney may not represent any person or party in any 
proceeding before the ethics commission. 
 
(c)  The city attorney shall receive all sworn complaints of 
violations of this article and, upon receipt, shall conduct a 
preliminary analysis and review of the complaint. Upon 
completion of the preliminary analysis and review, the city 
attorney shall forward a written report detailing the initial legal 

concerning policies and procedures of the commission.  

 (3)  Seek any necessary assistance from the City Council 
and City Manager regarding financial support needed to carry out 
the Ethics Commission's duties.  

 (4)  Adopt rules of procedures for carrying out this article.  

Sec. 1.15.130 - Role of the City Attorney. 

(a)  The City attorney shall serve as legal counsel and staff liaison 
to the Ethics Commission. However, when complaints concerning 
violations of this Code are filed relating to the Mayor, City 
Council Members, City Manager or City Attorney, independent 
legal counsel must be retained by the Ethics Commission to 
perform the duties that otherwise would be performed by the City 
Attorney.  

(b)  The City Attorney shall serve as ethics advisor, only, to city 
officials, and shall not represent employees or city officials before 
the Ethics Commission. As ethics advisor, the City Attorney is 
available to respond confidentially to inquiries from city officials, 
and others appointed to serve the city by the City Council, on 
matters related to the content of this Code. However, as legal 
counsel to the Ethics Commission, the City Attorney may not 
advise or represent any person or party in any proceeding before 
the Ethics Commission.  

(c)  Upon receipt of an ethics complaint, the City Attorney or 
independent counsel shall conduct a preliminary analysis, review 
and investigation of the complaint. Upon completion of the 
preliminary analysis, review and investigation, the City Attorney 
or independent counsel shall forward a written report detailing the 



25 
 

review and recommendation to the ethics commission for its 
evaluation and action. If a sworn complainant alleges a violation 
by the city attorney, the complaint must be filed with the 
chairperson of the ethics commission, with a copy to the mayor, 
the City Manager, and the city attorney. 
 
Sec. 1.15.131 - Complaints. 
 
(a)  All complaints alleging a violation of this article shall: 
 
(1)  Be submitted, in writing, on a form prescribed by the City 
Council; 
 
(2)  Be signed under oath; 
 
(3)  Shall cite the provision(s) of this article allegedly violated; 
and 
 
(4)  Shall provide the facts and evidence, if any, supporting the 
alleged violation. 
 
 
 
 
Any false statements that are intentionally, knowingly, or 
recklessly made under oath by a complainant shall subject the 
complainant to legal redress, including potential prosecution 
under state law. 
 
(b)  Complaints and any evidence collected during the 
investigation of the alleged violation shall be kept confidential by 
the ethics commission, unless disclosure is otherwise required by 
state law or order of the state attorney general or a court of 

initial legal review and recommendation to the Ethics 
Commission for its evaluation and action.   

 
 
 
Sec. 1.15.131 - Complaints. 

(a)  All complaints alleging a violation of this article and all other 
documents to be presented to or considered by the Commission 
shall be filed with the City Secretary with a file stamp showing 
the date of receipt.  Complaints must:  

 (1)  Be submitted, in writing, on a form prescribed by the 
City Council;  

 (2)  Be signed under oath;  

 (3)  Cite the provision(s) of this Code allegedly violated; 
and  

 (4)  Provide the facts and evidence, if any, supporting the 
alleged violation.  

Any false statements that are intentionally, knowingly, or 
recklessly made under oath by a complainant shall subject the 
complainant to legal redress, including potential prosecution 
under state law.  

(b)  All documents submitted to the Ethics Commission shall be 
supported by affidavit or other evidence of authenticity.  
Complaints and any evidence collected during the investigation of 
the alleged violation which are excepted from disclosure under 



26 
 

jurisdiction. 
 
 
 
 
 
(c)  Any complaint alleging a violation of this article is to be filed 
with the city attorney within twelve (12) months from the date on 
which the complainant knew of or should have known of the 
alleged violation. Complaints filed after that period will not be 
considered. 
 
 
 
 
 
(d)  No later than twenty-one (21) business days after receipt of 
the complaint, the city attorney shall acknowledge receipt of the 
complaint in writing delivered by certified mail, to the 
complainant and provide a copy of the complaint to the ethics 
commission and any accused party. An accused party shall have 
twenty-one (21) business days from receipt of the complaint to 
submit a sworn written response to the complaint to the city 
attorney. The city attorney shall conduct a preliminary analysis 
and review of the complaint, including a review of any available 
evidence, to determine whether there appears to be a legal basis 
for the complaint. The city attorney shall submit a preliminary 
analysis [and] forward a report to the ethics commission as set 
forth in section 1.15.130(c) above. No later than sixty (60) 
business days after receipt of the complaint by the city attorney, 
the ethics commission shall notify the complainant and any 
accused party in writing delivered by certified mail, if the 
commission intends to schedule a hearing or take other action 

the Public Information Act shall be kept confidential by the Ethics 
Commission, the City Attorney or independent counsel and City 
Secretary unless disclosure is otherwise required by state law or 
order of the state attorney general or a court of competent 
jurisdiction.  

(c)  Any complaint alleging a violation of this Code must be filed 
with the City Secretary within six months from the date on which 
the alleged violation occurred.   Complaints filed after that period 
will not be considered.  The six month limitation does not apply 
to a complaint based on facts which were not discovered, and in 
the exercise of reasonable diligence could not have been 
discovered, within the six month period.  In this event, the 
complaint must be filed no later than twenty-four months after the 
alleged violation occurred. 

(d)  No later than three business days after receipt of the 
complaint, the City Secretary shall acknowledge receipt of the 
complaint by certified mail, return receipt requested.  At the same 
time, the City Secretary shall provide a file-stamped copy of the 
complaint and any supporting affidavits and documents to the 
Ethics Commission, City Attorney or independent counsel and 
any accused party. An accused party shall have twenty-one 
business days from receipt of the complaint to submit a sworn 
written response to the complaint to the City Secretary.  

(e)  All documents filed in connection with an ethics complaint 
which are to be considered by the commission must be served by 
the filing party on all other parties to the proceeding and the City 
Attorney or independent counsel.  Any document which is filed 
but not served on all other parties to the proceeding and City 
Attorney or independent counsel may not be considered by the 
Ethics Commission.  This section does not apply to 



27 
 

concerning the complaint. If the ethics commission determines 
not to proceed, it shall notify the complainant and the city 
attorney that the complaint has been dismissed and no further 
action will be taken. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(e)  The recovery of any and all reasonable legal fees incurred by 
the accused party shall be paid by the complainant, if the ethics 
commission ultimately determines that the complaint was 
groundless and was brought: 
 
(1)  In bad faith; or 
 
(2)  For the purpose of harassment. 
 
 
 
Sec. 1.15.132 - Ex parte communications. 

communications to or from the City Attorney or independent 
counsel and the Ethics Commission. 

(f)  Within ten business days after receiving the written response, 
the City Attorney or independent counsel shall conduct a 
preliminary analysis, review and investigation of the complaint, 
including a review of any available evidence, to determine 
whether there appears to be a legal basis for the complaint. The 
City Attorney or independent counsel shall submit  a  written 
report to the Ethics Commission.  Within ten business days after 
receipt of the written report, the Ethics Commission through the 
City Secretary shall notify the complainant and any accused party 
in writing delivered by certified mail, return receipt requested if 
the Commission intends to schedule a hearing or take other action 
concerning the complaint.  If the Ethics Commission determines 
not to proceed, it shall, through the City Secretary, notify the 
complainant and the City Attorney or independent counsel in 
writing by certified mail, return receipt requested, that the 
complaint has been dismissed and that no further action will be 
taken.  

(g)  Any and all reasonable legal fees incurred by the accused 
party shall be paid by the complainant, if the Ethics Commission 
finds that there was no violation, and determines that the 
complaint was:  

 (1)  Groundless as a matter of law; or 

 (2)  Filed in bad faith; or  

 (3)  Filed for the purpose of harassment.  

Sec. 1.15.132 - Ex parte communications. 



28 
 

 
After a complaint has been filed with the ethics commission and 
during the consideration of a complaint by the ethics commission, 
a member of the ethics commission may not communicate 
directly or indirectly with any party or person about any issue of 
fact, or law, regarding the complaint, except at a meeting of the 
ethics commission. 
 
 
 
 
Sec. 1.15.133 - Hearings. 
 
(a)  The ethics commission may, in its sole discretion, attempt to 
negotiate or mediate an equitable resolution of any compliant. If 
the ethics commission and the accused party are unable to 
negotiate or mediate a final resolution of the matter, the ethics 
commission will, at its discretion, convene a hearing at which the 
accused may have legal counsel present. The hearing may be 
open to the public, or closed, at the discretion of the ethics 
commission, and as allowed by applicable state law. The ethics 
commission hearing shall be held as expeditiously as possible, but 
in any event no later than one hundred and twenty (120) days 
from the date the sworn, written complaint was received by the 
city attorney. The ethics commission hearing shall be attended 
and transcribed by a court reporter, and the record of the hearing 
shall be maintained by the ethics commission. Witnesses before 
the ethics commission shall be placed under oath when providing 
testimony to the ethics commission. The ethics commission shall 
conduct the hearing under its own procedures. Formal rules of 
procedure, testimony, and evidence shall not apply. 
 
(b)  The issue at the formal hearing before the ethics commission 

After a complaint has been filed with the City Secretary, and 
during the consideration of the complaint by the City Attorney, 
independent counsel or the Ethics Commission, the Ethics 
Commission may not communicate directly or indirectly with any 
party or representative of a party except at a meeting of the Ethics 
Commission.  If the Ethics Commission needs assistance in 
gathering additional information or documents, it shall request the 
City Attorney or independent counsel to perform that function for 
it. 

Sec. 1.15.133 - Hearings. 

(a)  A hearing convened by the Ethics Commission may be open 
to the public or closed, if the hearing is permitted to be closed 
under the Open Meetings Act.  At any stage of the proceeding, 
including but not limited to the hearing, any party may be 
represented by a licensed attorney.  The Ethics Commission 
hearing shall be held as expeditiously as possible, but in any event 
no later than ninety days from the date the sworn, written 
complaint was received by the City Secretary.  A continuance 
may be granted by the Chair only for good cause shown.    The 
Ethics Commission hearing shall be transcribed by a court 
reporter, and the record of the hearing shall be maintained by the 
City Secretary as required by the City of Bastrop records retention 
policies. Witnesses before the Ethics Commission shall be placed 
under oath when providing testimony to the Ethics Commission. 
The Ethics Commission shall conduct the hearing under its own 
procedures. Formal rules of procedure, testimony, and evidence 
shall not apply.  

(b)  The issues at the formal hearing before the Ethics 
Commission shall be whether the act or omission that is the 



29 
 

shall be whether the violation alleged in the complaint occurred. 
The ethics commission shall make its decision based on clear and 
convincing evidence presented during the ethics commission 
hearing. If the ethics commission determines that a violation has 
occurred, it shall state its finding(s) in writing, identify the 
particular provision(s) of this article that have been violated, and 
deliver a copy of its findings to the complainant, the accused 
party and the City Council within twenty-one (21) business days 
of closing the ethics commission hearing. Extensions of this time 
may be necessary and allowed in complex cases, but if an 
extension is required all interested parties shall be notified of the 
extension. 
 
 
 
 
Sec. 1.15.134 - Sanctions. 
 
(a)  If the ethics commission determines that a city official, or 
employee has violated this article, it shall declare its findings 
along with any recommended sanctions in a report to the City 
Council. An affirmative vote of a majority of the members of the 
ethics commission hearing the matter shall be required for the 
determination that a violation has occurred and to recommend any 
sanction under this article. 
 
(b)  If the commission determines that a city official or employee 
has violated this article, it may recommend a private or public 
reprimand, temporary suspension, removal from office, bar from 
future service with the city, or any other sanction or corrective 
action within the power of the City Council. 
 
(c)  In arriving at its recommendation, the ethics commission shall 

subject matter of the complaint (1) actually occurred, (2) whether 
the act or omission is a violation of the Ethics Ordinance, and (3) 
whether an award of attorney’s fees is appropriate.  The Ethics 
Commission may find a violation whether or not there is a 
financial loss.  The Ethics Commission shall make its decision 
based on clear and convincing evidence.  If the Ethics 
Commission determines that a violation has occurred, it shall state 
its findings in writing, identify the particular provisions of this 
Code that have been violated, and deliver a copy of its findings to 
the City Secretary, City Attorney or independent counsel, 
complainant, and the accused party within twenty-one business 
days of closing the Ethics Commission hearing. Extensions of this 
time may be necessary and allowed in complex cases, but if an 
extension is required all interested parties shall be notified of the 
extension.   

Sec. 1.15.134 - Sanctions. 

(a)  If the Ethics Commission determines that a city official has 
violated this Code, it shall declare its findings along with any 
recommended sanctions in a report to the City Council.  

 

 

(b)  If the Commission determines that a current or former city 
official has violated this article, it may recommend to the City 
Council a private or public reprimand, temporary suspension, 
removal from office or employment, or any other sanction or 
corrective action within the power of the City Council.  

(c)  In arriving at its recommendation, the Ethics Commission 



30 
 

consider the seriousness of the violation, the importance of 
deterrence, the impact on public confidence in government, city 
officials and employees, the number of times the violation 
occurred, the mental state with which the violation was 
committed and any previous violations committed by the accused 
party. A written recommendation on the sanction to be imposed 
shall be forwarded by the ethics commission to the City Council, 
with a copy to the complainant and the accused party. 
 
 
 
(d)  If the ethics commission determines that the conduct 
occurred, but the facts indicate that the violation was 
unintentional and/or de minimis, the ethics commission may 
recommend that the complaint be dismissed and no sanction 
imposed by the City Council. The ethics commission may, in its 
discretion, issue a clarifying opinion to help guide future cases. 
 
(e)  The City Council shall consider the ethics commission's 
recommended sanction and exercise its own judgment and 
discretion in determining what action, if any, shall be taken 
relating to the alleged violation. 
 
Sec. 1.15.135 - Other actions by ethics commission. 
 
If the ethics commission determines a member of City Council 
has violated this article, the ethics commission will, in such cases, 
have the sole and final authority to impose sanctions under this 
article. In addition to declaring its findings, the ethics commission 
may reprimand and/or recommend a public recall of the City 
Council member in question. An affirmative vote of a majority of 
the ethics commission members shall be required for the 
determination that a violation by a member of the City Council 

shall consider the seriousness of the violation, the importance of 
deterrence, the impact on public confidence in government and 
city officials, the number of times the violation occurred, the 
mental state with which the violation was committed and any 
previous violations committed by the accused party. A written 
recommendation on the sanction to be imposed shall be 
forwarded by the Ethics Commission to the City Council, with a 
copy to the complainant and the accused party.   In addition, the 
Ethics Commission’s written recommendation on sanctions shall 
be delivered to the City Secretary.  

(d)  If the Ethics Commission determines that the wrongful act or 
omission occurred, but the facts indicate that the violation was 
unintentional and/or de minimus, the Ethics Commission may 
recommend that the complaint be dismissed and no sanction be 
imposed by the City Council. The Ethics Commission may, in its 
discretion, issue a clarifying opinion to help guide future cases.  

(e)  The City Council shall consider the Ethics Commission's 
recommended sanction and exercise its own judgment and 
discretion in determining what action, if any, shall be taken 
relating to the alleged violation.    

Secs. 1.15.135—1.15.150 - Reserved. 
 



31 
 

has occurred and to approve any sanctions under this article. A 
letter of reprimand or a recommendation of public recall of an 
elected city official shall be delivered to the City Secretary, 
published in a local newspaper of the largest general circulation, 
and published prominently on the city's website for a minimum of 
twelve (12) months after the decision is issued by the ethics 
commission.3 
 
(Ord. No. 2012-1, 1-10-12) 
 
Secs. 1.15.136—1.15.150 - Reserved. 
 
  
DIVISION 6. - ETHICS COMMISSION 
•   
•  Sec. 1.15.151 - Creation. 

•  (a) An ethics commission shall be created and consist of three 
(3) members, all of whom must reside within jurisdiction of the 
city, which for purposes of this section expressly includes the 
city's extraterritorial jurisdiction. Within sixty (60) days of its 
adoption of this section, each member of the City Council will 
submit to the City Attorney names of recommended appointees. 
The City Attorney will provide the recommended appointees to 
the Mayor, who will then appoint the three (3) members of the 
ethics commission, upon concurrence of the members of the City 
Council.  

(b) Notwithstanding any other general prohibition or policy of the 
city against judges serving on city boards and commissions, due 

 

                                                 
3 This provision was deleted inadvertently from the proposed amendments.  The Council needs to consider this provision very carefully because of the “sole and 
final authority” language.   The Ethics Commission has the authority to recommend any sanction to the Council; however, delegating sole authority to the 
Commission when a Council Member is the subject of a complaint is, in my opinion, too much delegation.  See sec. 1.15.134(a). 



32 
 

to the specialized nature of the ethics commission, in its sole 
discretion, the City Council may determine that it is appropriate, 
in the best interest of the City, and/or the preference of the 
governing body of the city for the Mayor to appoint, with the City 
Council's concurrence, a judge to serve on the ethics commission. 
For purposes of this section, the judge appointed to the ethics 
commission, if any, may be currently serving or may be retired 
from the bench of any governmental entity, except the city, and 
may have been either elected or appointed to his/her judicial 
position.5  

(Ord. No. 2014-10, 7-22-14; Ord. No. 2015-28, pt. 1, 11-24-15; 
Ord. No. 2015-28R, pt. 1, 11-24-15)  

Sec. 1.15.152 - Terms/limits. 

Appointees to the ethics commission shall serve for terms of three 
(3) years, and each position shall be assigned a "place." However, 
in order to ensure continuity by implementing staggered terms of 
service, the first three (3) appointees shall draw lots so that one 
member serves a one-year term, the second serves a two-year 
term, and the third serves a three-year term. No person may serve 
more than two (2) consecutive three-year terms. A person may be 
reappointed after having been off the ethics commission for 
twelve (12) consecutive months.  

Sec. 1.15.153 - Vacancies. 

All vacancies on the ethics commission shall be filled by the City 
Council within sixty (60) days of the vacancy, for the remainder 
                                                 
5 My understanding is that this was the Judge Duggan provision to allow him to serve on the Commission; however, I fail to see that it is needed since the only 
prohibition from membership on the Commission is for any person who is elected to a city position.  See sec. 1.15.121.  Judge Duggan’s position is a county 
position, and the provision already prohibits the appointment of a city judge.  As a result, it was deleted. 



33 
 

of the unexpired term, by use of the general process noted above. 
Ethics commission members shall hold office until their 
successors have been appointed and shall continue to hold office 
after their successors have been appointed for the limited purpose 
of disposing of all complaints filed and unresolved during that 
ethics commission member's term. Attendance requirements for 
the commission members are set forth in this Code, section 
1.02.002(b), et seq.  

(Ord. No. 2012-13, pt. 4(E), 6-26-12)  

 
 

https://library.municode.com/tx/bastrop/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=CH1GEPR_ART1.02AD_S1.02.002FOGO
https://library.municode.com/tx/bastrop/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=CH1GEPR_ART1.02AD_S1.02.002FOGO


 

 

 

STAFF REPORT 

 
MEETING DATE:   August 8, 2017       AGENDA ITEM:  7 
 
 
TITLE:   
 
CITIZEN COMMENTS 
 
At this time, three (3) minute comments will be taken from the audience on any topic.  To address 
the Council, please submit a fully completed request card to the City Secretary prior to the 
beginning of the Citizens’ Comment portion of the Council meeting.  In accordance with the Texas 
Open Meetings Act, if a citizen discusses any item not on the agenda, City Council cannot discuss 
issues raised or make any decision at this time.  Instead, City Council is limited to making a 
statement of specific factual information or a recitation of existing policy in response to the inquiry.   
Issues may be referred to City Staff for research and possible future action. 
 
To address the Council concerning any item on the agenda, please submit a fully completed 
request card to the City Secretary prior to the consideration of that item. 
 
It is not the intention of the City of Bastrop to provide a public forum for the embarrassment or 
demeaning of any individual or group.  Neither is it the intention of the Council to allow a member 
of the public to slur the performance, honesty and/or integrity of the Council, as a body, or any 
member or members of the Council individually or collectively, or members of the City’s staff.  
Accordingly, profane, insulting or threatening language directed toward the Council and/or any 
person in the Council’s presence will not be tolerated. 
 
 



 

 

 

STAFF REPORT 

 
MEETING DATE:   August 8, 2017       AGENDA ITEM:  8A 
 
TITLE:   
Consider action to approve minutes from the July 20, 2017, July 25, 2017 and August 1, 2017 
meetings. 
 
STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Lynda Humble, City Manager 
Ann Franklin, City Secretary 
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY: 
N/A 
 
POLICY EXPLANATION: 
Section 551.021 of the Government Code provides as follows: 

(a)  A governmental body shall prepare and keep minutes or make a tape recording of 
each open meeting of the body. 

(b)  The minutes must: 
 1.  State the subject of each deliberation; and 
 2.  Indicate the vote, order, decision, or other action taken. 

 
FUNDING SOURCE: 
N/A 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Consider action to approve minutes from the July 20, 2017, July 25, 2017 and August 1, 2017 
meetings. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

 July 20, 2017 DRAFT Budget Workshop Minutes 

 July 25, 2017 DRAFT Regular Council Meeting Minutes 

 August 1, 2017 DRAFT Special Meeting Minutes 



SPECIAL BUDGET WORKSHOP MINUTES  July 20, 2017 

M I N U T E S  O F  S P E C I A L  B U D G E T  W O R K S H O P  M E E T I N G  
B A S T R O P  C I T Y  C O U N C I L  

July 20, 2017 
 

The Bastrop City Council met in a Special Budget Workshop Meeting on Thursday, July 20, 2017 
at 6:30 p.m. at the Bastrop City Hall Council Chambers, located at 1311 Chestnut Street, Bastrop, 
Texas.  Members present were Mayor Schroeder, Mayor Pro Tem Schiff and Council Members 
Peterson, Nelson, Ennis and Jones.  Officers present were City Manager Lynda Humble and City 
Deputy City Secretary Traci Chavez. Staff present were Planning and Engineering Director, 

Wesley Brandon; Chief Financial Officer, Tracy Waldron; and Managing Director of Public Works 
and Leisure Services, Trey Job. 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

Mayor Schroeder called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. 
. 

2. WORK SESSION  
 
 

2A. Discuss overview of FY 2018 Budget process and the significant need to diversify 
revenue sources to reduce dependence on Sales Tax Revenue. 
Presentation was made by City Manager, Lynda Humble. 

 

2B. Discuss the proposed Water & Wastewater Capital Improvement Program and 
implementation schedule for setting required fees as outlined in recent 
Water/Wastewater Rate Study effective January 1, 2018. 
Presentation was made by City Manager, Lynda Humble and Managing Director 
of Public Works & Leisure Services, Trey Job. 
 

2C. Discuss the Bastrop Convention & Exhibit Center, its challenges and opportunities, 
and proposed operational changes intended to better leverage available resources to 
increase tourism in Downtown Bastrop.  
Presentation was made by City Manager, Lynda Humble and Visit Bastrop 
Executive Director, Dale Lockett. 
 

2D. Discuss strategy, including communication and rate development, regarding the 
establishment of a Municipal Drainage Utility System Fee to fund numerous drainage 
maintenance and improvement projects pursuant to Chapter 552 of the Texas Local 
Government Code. 
Presentation was made by City Manager, Lynda Humble. 
 
Council Member Ennis suggested holding the Community Meetings at Tahitian 
Village, Hunters Crossing, Riverside Grove and North Bastrop; Mayor 
Schroeder also suggested Riverside Grove Intermediate School and possibly 
Kerr Community Center. Mayor Pro Tem Schiff suggested having signage to 
announce the location, date and time of each community meeting.  Council 
Member Nelson stated that Hunters Crossing did not have a venue large enough 
to hold a community meeting, Council Member Nelson will check out the 
availability of Best Western for a meeting room. 
 

2E. Receive input from Council regarding additional budget priorities for FY 2018 budget. 
Mayor Pro Tem Schiff stated that he was comfortable in that the City has a good 
start to the budget for this year. 
 



SPECIAL BUDGET WORKSHOP MINUTES  July 20, 2017 

Council Member Jones stated that she was thinking of the details that have been 
discussed and the details of making those things happen and the City’s 
participation in making the details happen. 
 

3. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Adjourned at 8:45 p.m. without objection. 

APPROVED:       ATTEST: 

_____________________________   ______________________________ 
       Mayor Connie B. Schroeder    City Secretary Ann Franklin 
 

 
 
  



REGULAR COUNCIL MINUTES  July 25, 2017 

Page 1 of 7 

 

M I N U T E S  O F  R E G U L A R  C O U N C I L  M E E T I N G  
B A S T R O P  C I T Y  C O U N C I L  

July 25, 2017 
 

The Bastrop City Council met in a Regular Meeting on Tuesday, July 25, 2017 at 6:30 p.m. at the 
Bastrop City Hall Council Chambers, located at 1311 Chestnut Street, Bastrop, Texas.  Members 
present were Mayor Schroeder, Mayor Pro Tem Schiff and Council Members Jones, Ennis and 
Nelson.  Officers present were City Manager Lynda Humble, City Secretary Ann Franklin and City 
Attorney David Bragg.  
 
CALL TO ORDER  
At 6:31 p.m. Mayor Schroeder called the meeting to order with a quorum being present. Council 
Member Peterson was absent. 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  

Olivia Whitfield, YMCA - life guard of the week led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
TEXAS PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
Honor the Texas Flag; I pledge allegiance to thee, Texas, one state under God, one and 
indivisible. 
 
INVOCATION   

Jonah Breyer, Mission U Too gave the Invocation.  
 
PRESENTATIONS 
 

4A. Presentation of Proclamation recognizing and celebrating 2017 Volunteer Honor 
Roll. 
Mayor Schroeder read the proclamation recognizing and celebrating 2017 
Volunteer Honor Roll into record. 

 
4B. Mayor’s Report 

 July 13th  

- Ribbon cutting at Bastrop Financial Planning.  

- Met with Texas Municipal League (TML) Executive Director. 

 July 14th and 15th  

- Council Retreat at McKinney Roughs Nature Center.   

 July 14th  

- Had a major waterline break as a result of the construction underway in the 

intersection near Bastrop State Park.   

 Chief Wobus wanted to thank the citizens for responding to the “call for water.”  

 July 17th  

- Mayor attended first BEDC meeting as mayor.  

 July 19th 

- BEDC hosted the “Opportunity Austin” team from the Austin Chamber of 

Commerce.   

 July 20th 



REGULAR COUNCIL MINUTES  July 25, 2017 

Page 2 of 7 

 

- Attended the Quarterly Community meeting hosted by the Federal 

Correctional Institute. 

 July 20th 

- Another Budget Workshop was held.   

 July 22nd 

- Public Library Big Game Summer Finally Party was held. 

Upcoming events: 

 July 26 - Hunters Crossing PID meeting 

 July 31 – BEDC Special Meeting 

 August 1st – 5th - HOMECOMING Festivities  

 August 1st – City Council special meeting 

 August 3rd – Farm Street Opry 

 August 3rd and 4th – TML “Newly Elected Official Training” in San Antonio  

 August 4th – First Friday Art Walk 

 August 8th – City Council 

4C. Councilmembers’ Report 
 Council Member Nelson  

 Attended the Hunters Crossing Home Owners Association (HOA) meeting for 

the first time as an elected official.  The residents of Hunters Crossing are 

very excited about the potential for the City of Bastrop and they are looking 

forward to serving on a more frequent basis as volunteers. 

 Council Member Jones  
 Attended the Council Retreat and felt that it created a lot of unity.   

4D. City Manager’s Report 
 Nothing to report. 
 
5.   WORK SESSION/BRIEFINGS  
 
5A. Provide update and debriefing on Water Main Break at Intersections of Hwy. 21 & 

Hwy 150. 
Debriefing was provided by Managing Director of Public Works & Leisure 
Services, Trey Job. 
 

5B. Provide briefing on XS Ranch Fund VI, LP, Case No. 16-31367, a case pending in the 
United States Bankruptcy Court, Northern District of California and its impact on the 
City of Bastrop’s agreement to purchase future water. 
Briefing was provided by City Attorney, David Bragg. 
 

5D. Discuss proposed final draft of the Ethics Ordinance, which includes Council and 
public comments from three (3) workshops and emails from various citizens. 
Presentation was made by City Attorney, David Bragg. Mr. Bragg asked Council 
to provide him with any comments they may have on the version of the Ethics 
Ordinance presented to Council in order for the comments to be factored into 
the next version brought before Council.  City Manager, Lynda Humble will place 



REGULAR COUNCIL MINUTES  July 25, 2017 

Page 3 of 7 

 

this item on the August 8, 2017, agenda with the understanding that it may be 
pulled for additional consideration. 
 

5C. Provide update and briefing on the creation of a Vision Statement, Mission Statement, 
Focus Areas, and List of Priorities by the City Council established at the Council 
Retreat held July 14 – 15, 2017. 
Briefing was provided by City Manager, Lynda Humble. 
 

6.  STAFF AND BOARD REPORTS  
 
6A. Receive presentation from Visit Bastrop Interim Director, Dale Lockett regarding the 

proposed Destination and Marketing Services Agreement between the City of Bastrop, 
Texas and Visit Bastrop.   
Presentation was made by City Manager, Lynda Humble and Visit Bastrop 
Interim Director, Dale Lockett. 
 

6B. Receive presentation on the unaudited Monthly Financial Report for the period ending 
June 30, 2017. 
Presentation was made by Chief Financial Officer, Tracy Waldron. 
 

6C. Receive presentation from Organizations applying for FY2018 Hotel Tax Funding. 
Presentations were made by the following: 
Bastrop Chamber of Commerce – Becki Womble 
Bastrop County Historical Society – Kaye Sapikas 
(Council Member Ennis removed himself from the dais during this presentation 
due to a family relationship with the Chair of the Bastrop County Historical 
Society.) 
Bastrop County Women’s Center dba Family Crisis Center– Charlotte Peach 
Bastrop Homecoming – Lori Chapin 
Bastrop Opera House – Terry Moore and Lisa Holcomb 
Blue Flame Cruisers Car and Motorcycle Club – Peggy Miller 
Keep Bastrop County Beautiful – Melissa Middlebrooks 
Lost Pines Leathernecks Detachment 1384 Bastrop County Marine Corps 
League – Anthony Poleti 
Tough Mudder, Inc. – Shivani Banker (via video) 
 

6D. Receive presentation on the Quarterly Investment Report for the period ending in June 
30, 2017. 
Presentation was made by Chief Financial Officer, Tracy Waldron. 
 

6E. Receive report from Bastrop Economic Development Corporation. 
Presentation was made by Bastrop Economic Development Corporation 
Director, Shawn Kirkpatrick. 
 
 

7. CITIZEN COMMENTS 
  
Linda Curtis – Stated there needs to be a redline copy of the proposed Ethics ordinance. 
 

 



REGULAR COUNCIL MINUTES  July 25, 2017 

Page 4 of 7 

 

Mayor Schroeder recessed the Council Meeting at 9:06 p.m. 
 

Mayor Schroeder called the meeting back to order at 9:12 p.m. 
 

8.   CONSENT AGENDA 
  
A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Schiff to approve Item 8A listed on the Consent 
Agenda after being read into the record by City Secretary Ann Franklin.  Seconded by 
Council Member Ennis, motion was approved on a 4-0 vote. Council Member Peterson was 
absent.  

 
8A. Consider action to approve minutes from the June 29, 2017 Budget Hearing and July 

11, 2017 Regular Council Meeting. 
 
9.   ITEMS FOR INDIVIDUAL CONSIDERATION 
 
9A. Consider action to approve Resolution R-2017-50 of the City Council of the City of 

Bastrop, Texas allowing an alternative lighting plan for additional canopy lighting at 
the Buc-ee's Travel Center, located at 1700 East State Highway 71, and establishing 
an effective date. 
Presentation was made by Planning and Engineering Director, Wesley Brandon. 
 
A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Schiff to approve Resolution No. R-2017-
50, seconded by Council Member Jones, motion was approved on a 4-0 vote.  
Council Member Peterson was absent. 
 

9D. Consider action to approve Resolution R-2017-32 of the City Council of the City of 
Bastrop, Texas approving an Interlocal Agreement with Bastrop County for a drainage 
improvement project on Shiloh Road approximately 700 feet from the intersection of 
Shiloh Road and State Highway 304 in Bastrop, Texas; authorizing the City Manager 
to execute all necessary documents, and establishing an effective date. 
Presentation was made by Managing Director of Public Works & Leisure 
Services, Trey Job and Commissioner Hamner. 
 
A motion was made by Council Member Nelson to approve Resolution No. R-
2017-32, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Schiff, motion was approved on a 4-0 vote. 
Council Member Peterson was absent. 
 

9G. Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2017-55 of the City Council of the City 
of Bastrop, Texas authorizing the Texas Housing Foundation to exercise its powers 
specifically limited to the Bastrop Oak Grove Apartment Complex I & II, located at 
1910 Wilson Street, Bastrop, Texas, authorizing a Cooperative Agreement, Attached 
as Exhibit A, authorizing the Mayor to execute said agreement, and establishing an 
effective date.  
Presentation was made by Mark Mayfield, President and Chief Executive Officer, 
Texas Housing Foundation. 
 
A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Schiff to approve Resolution No. R-2017-
55, seconded by Council Member Jones, motion was approved on a 4-0 vote. 
Council Member Peterson was absent. City Manager, Lynda Humble stated for 



REGULAR COUNCIL MINUTES  July 25, 2017 

Page 5 of 7 

 

public disclosure that The Texas Housing Foundation is specifically limited to 
the Bastrop Oak Grove Apartment Complex I and II, located at 1910 Wilson 
Street, and plan to make an investment of 2.36 million dollars.  This will take this 
property off the tax roll because as a public entity they are tax exempt. 

 
9H. Hold Public Hearing and consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2017-56 of the 

City Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas supporting THF Bastrop Oak Grove, LLC’s 
application to the Texas Department of Housing and Community Affairs for 2017 
Housing Tax Credits for Bastrop Oak Grove Apartments, and establishing an effective 
date. 
Public hearing was opened and closed. 
 
A motion was made by Council Member Ennis to approve Resolution No. R-
2017-56, seconded by Council Member Nelson, motion was approved on a 4-0 
vote. Council Member Peterson was absent. 

 
9B. Consider action to approve the first reading of Ordinance 2017-19 amending the 

budget for the Fiscal Year 2017 in accordance with existing statutory requirements; 
appropriating the various amounts herein; repealing all prior ordinances and actions 
in conflict herewith; and providing an effective date; and move to include on the August 
8, 2017 agenda for a second reading. 
Presentation was made by Chief Financial Officer, Tracy Waldron.  
 
A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Schiff to approve the first reading of 
Ordinance No. 2017-19 and include on the August 8, 2017 agenda for a second 
reading, seconded by Council Member Jones, motion was approved on a 4-0 
vote. Council Member Peterson was absent. 
 

9C. Consideration action to approve Resolution 2017-51 of the City Council of the City of 
Bastrop, Texas, authorizing the City Manager to execute an Interlocal Agreement with 
the Capital Area Council of Governments for continuation and support of the CAPCOG 
Regional Air Quality Program, and authorizing a contribution towards support; and 
providing an effective date. 
Presentation was made by City Manager, Lynda Humble. 
 
A motion was made by Council Member Nelson to approve Resolution No. R-
2017- 51, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Schiff, motion was approved on a 4-0 
vote. Council Member Peterson was absent. 
 

9E. Consider action to approve Resolution R-2017-52 of the City Council of the City of 
Bastrop, Texas awarding a contract for the construction of a 16” Water Line along SH 
71 to M&C Fonseca Construction Company, Inc. in the amount of Two Million Thirty-
Three Thousand Two Hundred Sixteen Dollars and 00 Cents ($2,033,216.00); 
authorizing the City Manager to execute all necessary documents for the construction 
and installation of this water line; and establishing an effective date. 
Presentation was made by Managing Director of Public Works & Leisure 
Services, Trey Job. 
 



REGULAR COUNCIL MINUTES  July 25, 2017 

Page 6 of 7 

 

A motion was made by Council Member Nelson to approve Resolution No. R-
2017-52, seconded by Council Member Jones, motion was approved on a 4-0 
vote. Council Member Peterson was absent. 
 

9F. Consider action to approve Resolution R-2017-53 of the City Council of the City of 
Bastrop, Texas authorizing a contract with Bluebonnet Electric Cooperative for the 
conversion of overhead electric utility lines to underground electric utility lines in Bob 
Bryant Park located at 610 Charles Street, Bastrop, Texas at a cost of One Hundred 
Sixty-Eight Thousand Thirty-Five and 11/100 Dollars ($168,035.11), authorizing the 
City Manager to execute all necessary documents, and establishing an effective date. 
Presentation was made by Managing Director of Public Works & Leisure 
Services, Trey Job  
 
A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Schiff to approve Resolution No. R-2017-
53, seconded by Council Member Jones, motion was approved on a 4-0 vote. 
Council Member Peterson was absent. 
 

9I. Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2017-54 of the City Council of the City 
of Bastrop, Texas confirming board appointments of the Mayor, as required in Section 
3.08 of the City’s Charter, as outlined in Exhibit A; and establishing an effective date. 
A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Schiff to approve Resolution No. R-2017-
54, seconded by Council Member Nelson, motion was approved on a 4-0 vote. 
Council Member Peterson was absent. 
 

10.   EXECUTIVE SESSION  
 
The City Council met at 9:59 p.m. in a closed/executive session pursuant to the Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 551, et seq, to discuss the following: 

 
10A. City Council shall convene into closed executive session pursuant to Section 551.071 

of the Texas Government Code to discuss and deliberate litigation matters with the 
City Attorney regarding Pine Forest 6, et al vs. City of Bastrop, et al. 

 
10B. City Council shall convene into closed executive session pursuant to Section 551.071 

of the Texas Government Code to discuss and deliberate litigation matters with the 
City Attorney regarding XS Ranch Fund VI, LP, Case No. 16-31367, a case pending 
in the United States Bankruptcy Court, Northern District of California and its impact on 
the City of Bastrop’s agreement to purchase future water. 

 
10C. City Council shall convene into closed executive session pursuant to Section 551.071 

of the Texas Government Code to discuss and deliberate litigation matters with the 
City Attorney regarding Multiple Plaintiffs vs. Forestar Group, et al (including City of 
Bastrop) in the 21st Judicial District Court of Bastrop County, Texas – Cause No. 54 
0-21, Cause No. 541-21, Cause No. 543-21, Cause No. 539-21 Cause No. 542-21; in 
the 423rd Judicial District Court of Bastrop County, Texas – Cause No. 423-5020, 
Cause No. 423-5024, Cause No. 423-5022, Cause No. 423-5021, Cause No. 423-
5023, Cause No. 451-335; in the 335th Judicial District Court of Bastrop County, Texas 
– Cause No. 540-335, Cause No. 539-335, Cause No. 542-335, and Cause No. 451-
335 regarding drainage in Hunter’s Crossing. 



REGULAR COUNCIL MINUTES  July 25, 2017 

Page 7 of 7 

 

 
The Bastrop City Council reconvened at 10:46 p.m. into open (public) session. 

 
11.  TAKE ANY NECESSARY OR APPROPRIATE ACTION ON MATTERS POSTED 

FOR CONSIDERATION IN CLOSED/EXECUTIVE SESSION 
No action taken. 
 

12.   ADJOURNMENT 
 

Mayor Pro Tem Schiff made the motion to adjourn the meeting at 10:47 p.m., seconded 
by Council Member Jones.  The motion was approved on a 4-0 vote.  Council Member 
Peterson was absent.  

APPROVED:       ATTEST: 

_____________________________   ______________________________ 
       Mayor Connie B. Schroeder    City Secretary Ann Franklin 

 
  



SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES  August 1, 2017 

M I N U T E S  O F  S P E C I A L  M E E T I N G  
B A S T R O P  C I T Y  C O U N C I L  

August 1, 2017 
 

The Bastrop City Council met in a Special Meeting on Tuesday, August 1, 2017 at 6:00 p.m. at 
the Bastrop City Hall Council Chambers, located at 1311 Chestnut Street, Bastrop, Texas.  
Members present were Mayor Schroeder and Mayor Pro Tem Schiff and Council Members 
Peterson and Ennis.  Officers present were City Manager Lynda Humble and City Secretary Ann 
Franklin.  

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

Mayor Schroeder called the meeting to order at 6:02 p.m. Council Members Jones 
and Nelson were absent. 

. 

2. ITEM FOR INDIVIDUAL CONSIDERATION  
 
 

2A. Consider action to approve Resolution R-2017-57 of the City Council of the City of 
Bastrop, Texas, to place a proposal to adopt a tax rate for Fiscal Year 2017-2018 
(FY2018) on the agenda of a future meeting as an action item and schedule two public 
hearings on the proposal; and providing an effective date. 
Presentation was made by Chief Financial Officer, Tracy Waldron. 
 

A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Schiff to approve Resolution No. R-2017-
57, seconded by Council Member Peterson, motion was approved on a 3-0 vote.  
Council Members Jones and Nelson were absent. 
 

3. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Adjourned at 6:04 p.m. without objection. 

APPROVED:       ATTEST: 

_____________________________   ______________________________ 
       Mayor Connie B. Schroeder    City Secretary Ann Franklin 
 

 
 
  



 

 

 

STAFF REPORT 

 
MEETING DATE: August 8, 2017      AGENDA ITEM: 8B 
 
TITLE:  
Consider action to approve the second reading of Ordinance No. 2017-19 of the City Council of 
the City of Bastrop, Texas, amending the budget for the Fiscal Year 2017 in accordance with 
existing statutory requirements; appropriating the various amounts herein; repealing all prior 
ordinances and actions in conflict herewith; and providing an effective date. 
 
STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Tracy Waldron, Chief Financial Officer 
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY: 
The budget amendments do, in some funds, increase the budget appropriations for Fiscal Year 

2017. Funds included in these amendments are detailed below: 

General Fund includes: 

 Received insurance proceeds for Police vehicle and offset this with the expense 
account that the repairs were made from. 

 City Secretary budget required an increase due to run off election that was above the 
original election expense and the copier rental account was under budgeted (I have 
corrected this for next year). 

 City Manager budget needed an amendment due to the cost of the Interim City 
Manager fees and the City Manager search professional expenses. 

 Savings were obtained from contingency account and salary savings in Public Works 
due to turnover, making the amendment net change zero. 

Electric Fund includes: 

 Transfer out to General Fund to purchase play scape etc. for Delgado Park. This fund 
has excess Fund Balance above the Policy 35% of expenditures. 

Main Street Program Fund includes: 

 Increasing revenue due to insurance proceeds received due to water damage and 
additional funds generated by events produced by program (i.e. Dinner on Main, Pub 
Crawls, etc.). 

 Increased expenses related to this revenue to cover costs associated with repairing 
the floors and producing these additional events. 

Hotel/Motel Tax Fund includes: 

 Appropriate the funds needed to contract with the Destination Marketing Organization 
for the rest if this Fiscal Year. 

 Appropriate the funds for Tier III funding approved by Council in May. 
 
POLICY EXPLANATION: 
The City Charter requires that when the budget us amended, that the amendment be by 
Ordinance. 



 

 
FUNDING SOURCE: 
N/A 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Consider action to approve the second reading of Ordinance 2017-19 amending the budget for 
the Fiscal Year 2017 in accordance with existing statutory requirements; appropriating the 
various amounts herein; repealing all prior ordinances and actions in conflict herewith; and 
providing an effective date. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

 Ordinance 2017-19 

 Exhibit “A” 



 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 2017-19 

 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BASTROP, 
TEXAS, AMENDING THE BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 2017 IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH EXISTING STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS; 
APPROPRIATING THE VARIOUS AMOUNTS HEREIN; REPEALING ALL 
ORDINANCES AND ACTIONS IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; AND PROVIDING 
AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 
        WHEREAS, the City Manager of the City of Bastrop has submitted to the Mayor and City 
Council proposed amendment(s) to the budget of the revenues and/or expenditures/expenses 
of conducting the affairs of said city and providing a complete financial plan for Fiscal Year 
2017; and 
 
        WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have now provided for and conducted a public 
hearing on the budget as provided by law.   
 
 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
BASTROP, TEXAS THAT: 
 

Section 1: That the proposed budget amendments for the Fiscal Year 2017, as 
submitted to the City Council by the City Manager and which budget amendments are attached 
hereto as Exhibit “A”, are hereby adopted and approved as the amended budget of said city for 
Fiscal Year 2017. 

 
Section 2:     This ordinance shall take effect upon passage and in accordance with the 

laws of the State of Texas. 
 
Section 3:   If any provision of this ordinance or application thereof to any person or 

circumstance shall be held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect the other provisions, or 
application thereof, of this ordinance, which can be given effect without the invalid provision or 
application, and to this end, the provisions of this ordinance are hereby declared to be 
severable. 

 
Section 4:   This ordinance shall take effect upon the date of final passage noted below, 

or when all applicable publication requirements, if any, are satisfied in accordance with the 
City’s Charter, Code of Ordinances, and the laws of the State of Texas. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



READ and APPROVED on First Reading on the 25th day of July, 2017. 
 
READ and ADOPTED on Second Reading on the 8th day of August, 2017. 
 

 
APPROVED: 

 
 
     ________________________________   
     Connie B. Schroeder, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Ann Franklin, City Secretary 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
____________________________ 
David Bragg, City Attorney 
 
 
 
 



Audited Fund Balance as of 9-30-16 3,661,166

FY 2017  Budgeted Revenues 9,947,361

FY 2017 Budgeted Appropriations (11,093,257)

 

3/2017 Budget Amendments (net) (5,950)

8/2017 Budget Amendments (net) 0

Ending Fund Balance 2,509,320

 

DEPARTMENT BUDGET AMOUNT DESCRIPTION ACCOUNT #

Parks Neutral 150,000 Transfer in - Electric Fund 101-00-00-4703

Police Neutral 3,299 Insurance Proceeds 101-00-00-4537

Neutral

   
Total Revenues 153,299

                                            

Parks Neutral (150,000) Park Equipment 101-18-19-6013

Police Neutral (3,299) Maintenance to Vehicle 101-09-22-5345

City Secretary Increase (14,700) Election Services 101-04-00-5681

City Secretary Increase (5,000) Equipment Rental 101-04-00-5655

Organizational Decrease 11,000 Contingency 101-02-00-5900

City Manager Increase (36,000) Professional Services 101-03-00-5505

Public Works Decrease 32,000 Operational Salaries 101-18-10-5101

Public Works Decrease 12,700 Group Insurance 101-18-10-5155

Total Expenditures (153,299)

Net Change 0

Exhibit "A"

New Expenditures:

Matching Expenditures to Revenues:

Matching Revenues to Expenditures:

 

FY 2017

BUDGET AMENDMENTS

GENERAL FUND

New Revenue:



Operating Fund Balance as of 9/30/16 4,069,439    

FY 2017 Budgeted Revenues 6,999,250  

FY 2017 Budgeted Appropriations (7,546,181)  

 

8/2017 Budget Amendments (net) (150,000)

Ending Fund Balance 3,372,508   

  

DEPARTMENT BUDGET AMOUNT DESCRIPTION ACCOUNT NUMBER

     

Total Revenues 0                                              

Increase (150,000) Transfer Out - General Fund 404-60-00-8001

Increase

Total Expense (150,000)

Net Change (150,000)

New Expenditures:

FY 2017

BUDGET AMENDMENTS

BP&L
 

Matching Revenues to Expenditures:

Matching Expenditures to Revenues:



Audited Fund Balance as of 9-30-16 2,240,408   

FY 2017  Budgeted Revenues 2,882,000  

FY 2017 Budgeted Appropriations (1,334,742)  

 

11/2016 Budget Amendments (net) (400,000)

8/2017 Budget Amendments (net) (789,017)

Ending Fund Balance 2,598,649   

  

DEPARTMENT BUDGET AMOUNT DESCRIPTION ACCOUNT #
                                            

Increase (574,000) Destination Marketing Corp. 501-80-00-5576

Increase (215,017) Organizational Funding 501-80-00-5540

Total Expense (789,017)

Net Change (789,017)

   

FY 2017

BUDGET AMENDMENTS

HOTEL/MOTEL TAX FUND
 

New Expenditures:



Audited Fund Balance 9/30/16 944  

FY 2017  Budgeted Revenues 165,050  

FY 2017 Budgeted Appropriations (163,438)  

 

8/2017 Budget Amendments (net) 0

Ending Fund Balance 2,556

 

DEPARTMENT BUDGET AMOUNT DESCRIPTION ACCOUNT #

                                              

Neutral 14,000 Insurance Proceeds 503-00-00-4537

Neutral 17,000 Program Donations 503-00-00-4504

Total Revenue 31,000

Neutral (14,000) Building Maintenance 503-00-00-5345

Neutral (17,000) Promotional Activities 503-00-00-5602

Total Expense (31,000)

Net Change 0

   

FY 2017

BUDGET AMENDMENTS

MAIN STREET PROGRAM
 

New Expenditures:

Matching Revenues to Expenditures:

Matching Expenditures to Revenues:

New Expenditures:



 

 
 

STAFF REPORT 
 

MEETING DATE:  August 8, 2017      AGENDA ITEM:  9A 
 
TITLE: 
Consider action to approve the first reading of Resolution No. R-2017-58 of the City Council of 
the City of Bastrop, Texas approving a project, using funds provided by the Bastrop Economic 
Development Corporation, in an amount exceeding $10,000 (Downtown Trail Expansion Project); 
and providing an effective date; and move to include on the August 22, 2017 agenda for a second 
reading. 
 
STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Shawn Kirkpatrick, Bastrop EDC Executive Director 
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY: 

Downtown Trail Expansion Project 
 
Increasing the walkability of the downtown area has been suggested by numerous studies 
performed in Bastrop. As such, the Bastrop EDC has proposed funding a multi-modal sidewalk 
from Perkins Street (near Sonic) to the existing sidewalk at Eskew and Loop 150, near the Texas 
Department of Public Safety office. 
 
Completion of the entire project will create 1.8-mile loop from downtown to Hwy 71 and back, 

increasing the connectivity for those who enjoy outdoor recreational activities in the area, 

including walking, running, and cycling. It will also establish an existing trail that TxDOT will tie 

into once work starts on the new frontage roads across the Colorado River.  

The total cost of the project is estimated to be $680,000 (FY2017 - $180,000; FY2018 - $250,000, 

FY2019 - $250,000), which includes design, engineering, and construction of the trail along Loop 

150, Hwy 71 West, Hwy 71 East, Water Street, and Main Street.  

The Bastrop EDC Board of Directors approved funding the Downtown Trail Expansion Project at 
their Board meeting on July 17, 2017, after holding a Public Hearing on the project. Section 
505.158(b) of the Local Government Code mandates that prior to the BEDC funding a project 
involving an expenditure of more than $10,000, the City Council shall adopt a Resolution 
authorizing the project, which Resolution shall be read by the City Council on two separate 
occasions.  
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Consider action to approve the first reading of Resolution No. R-2017-58 approving the 
expenditure of BEDC funds for the Downtown Trail Expansion Project.  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

• Draft Resolution 

• Trail Map 



 

1 

 

RESOLUTION NO. R-2017-58 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BASTROP, 

TEXAS, APPROVING A PROJECT, USING FUNDS PROVIDED BY THE 

BASTROP ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION, IN AN 

AMOUNT EXCEEDING $10,000. 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of the Bastrop Economic Development Corporation (“BEDC”) 

met on July 17, 2017, and took formal action to support and provide funds for various 4B projects; 

and, 

 

WHEREAS, Section 505.158(b) of the Local Government Code, a/k/a the Texas 

Economic Development Act, mandates that prior to the BEDC funding a project involving an 

expenditure by the BEDC of more than $10,000, per project, the City Council shall adopt a 

Resolution authorizing the project, which Resolution shall be read by the City Council, on two 

separate occasions; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Bastrop’s Comprehensive Plan encourages subdivisions where 

there is residential, parks and green space, and compatible commercial development in a cohesive 

pattern, and the Comprehensive Plan and Parks Master Plan identify the importance of trails to 

recreation; and, 

 

WHEREAS, Bastrop is a destination for tourists, and as such, trail connectivity to lodging 

and visitor amenities is an important component, and trail connectivity of residential and 

commercial centers encourages commerce; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the Texas Local Government Code Chapter Section 505.152 authorizes the 

expenditure of Corporation funds for a project that the board of directors determines to be required 

or suitable for use for tourist and public parks purposes, including parks and park facilities, open 

space improvements, and related roads, streets, and water and sewer facilities, and other related 

improvements that enhance any of the items described by this section; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the Texas Local Government Code Chapter Section 505.158 authorizes a 

Corporation created by a municipality of 20,000 or less to fund a project that includes the land, 

buildings, equipment, facilities, expenditures, targeted infrastructure, and improvements found by 

the corporation's board of directors to promote new or expanded business development; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City has reviewed the July 17, 2017, actions of the Bastrop EDC related 

to the project noted herein, has considered and evaluated that project, and has found it meritorious 

of the Council’s approval.  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF BASTROP, TEXAS: 

 

SECTION 1. Findings and Determination  

 



 

2 

 

The City Council hereby finds and determines that it is in the best interest of the 

Corporation to fund the Downtown Trail Expansion Project in an amount not to exceed 

$680,000 (FY2017 – $180,000; FY2018 – $250,000, FY2019 – $250,000), for design, 

engineering, and construction of a trail along Loop 150, Hwy 71 West, Hwy 71 East, Water 

Street, and Main Street, as authorized by LGC Sections 505.152 and 505.158. 

 

SECTION 2. Authorization of Expenditure 

  

The City Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas, hereby authorizes the funding of the 

Downtown Trail Expansion Project in an amount not to exceed $680,000, as requested by 

the BEDC. 

 

SECTION 3. Open Meeting 

 

The City Council hereby finds and determines that the meeting at which this Resolution 

was passed was open to the public, and public notice of the time, place and purpose at 

which it was read was given in accordance with Chapter 551, Texas Government Code. 

 

SECTION 4.  Two Readings Required 
 

This Resolution is effective upon passage after having been read on at least two separate 

occasions. 

 

 

READ and ACKNOWLEDGED on First Reading on the 8th day of August 2017. 

 

READ and APPROVED on the Second Reading on the _____ day of ________ 2017. 

 

CITY OF BASTROP, TEXAS 

 

APPROVED: 

        

             

       Connie B. Schroeder, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

      

Ann Franklin, City Secretary 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

      

David F. Bragg, City Attorney 



W
AL

N
U

T 
ST

R
EE

T

ESKEW

PERKINS STREET

S
TA

TE
 H

IG
H

W
A

Y
 7

1

ESKEW

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 W

ES
TB

O
U

N
D

 F
R

O
N

TA
G

E 
R

O
AD

WATER STREET

PECAN STREET

C
O

LL
EG

E 
ST

R
EE

T

PERKINS STREET

EM
IL

E 
ST

R
EE

T

AU
ST

IN
 S

TR
EE

T

WATER STREET

M
AI

N S
TR

EE
T

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 W

ES
TB

O
U

N
D

 F
R

O
N

TA
G

E 
R

O
AD

150

15
0

MAIN STREET

V
A

R
IE

S
V

A
R

IE
S

V
A

R
IE

S

2%

V
A

R
IE

S

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

6'
-1

0'
 S

ID
E

W
A

LK
2'

 C
U

R
B

&
 G

U
TT

E
R

V
A

R
IE

S

E
X

. G
R

A
D

E

E
X

. G
R

A
D

E

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

G
R

A
D

E







































































































TH
E

 W
ID

TH
 O

F 
TH

E
 S

ID
E

W
A

LK
 A

LO
N

G
S

H
 7

1 
FR

O
N

TA
G

E
 R

O
A

D
 W

IL
L 

R
A

N
G

E
B

E
TW

E
E

N
 6

'-1
0'

 D
E

P
E

N
D

IN
G

 O
N

 T
H

E
A

V
A

IL
A

B
LE

 R
.O

.W
. W

ID
TH

.

LE
GE

N
D



 

 

 

STAFF REPORT 

 
MEETING DATE:  August 8, 2017      AGENDA ITEM: 9B 
 
TITLE: 
Consider action to approve the first reading of Resolution No. R-2017-59 of the City Council of 
the City of Bastrop, Texas, authorizing a project of the Bastrop Economic Development 
Corporation, in an amount exceeding $10,000 (Granite & Stone Project) ); and providing an 
effective date; and move to include on the August 22, 2017 agenda for a second reading. 
 
STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Shawn Kirkpatrick, Bastrop EDC Executive Director 
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY: 
 

Granite & Stone Project 

 
Granite & Stone, LLC, (aka Project Minerals) is an importer, wholesaler, and fabricator of granite 
and stone materials. They are in the process of purchasing 5.5 +/- acres in the Bastrop Business 
and Industrial Park to build a 50,000-square foot facility. They plan to invest approximately $9 
million in the project and hire up to 150 employees.  
 
The Bastrop EDC Board of Directors approved entering into a Performance Agreement with 
Granite & Stone, LLC, at their Board meeting on July 17, 2017. Because the project creates 
primary jobs, a Public Hearing is not required. Section 505.158(b) of the Local Government Code 
mandates that prior to the BEDC funding a project involving an expenditure of more than $10,000, 
the City Council shall adopt a Resolution authorizing the project, which Resolution shall be read 
by the City Council on two separate occasions.  
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Consider action to approve the first reading of Resolution No. R-2017-59 approving the 
expenditure of BEDC funds for the Granite & Stone Project.  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

 Draft Resolution 

 Project Summary  

 Bastrop EDC Board Resolutions 

 Performance Agreement 



 

1 
 

RESOLUTION NO. R-2017-59  

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BASTROP, 

TEXAS, AUTHORIZING A PROJECT OF THE BASTROP ECONOMIC 

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION, IN AN AMOUNT EXCEEDING 

$10,000. 

 

WHEREAS, the Bastrop Economic Development Corporation (“BEDC”) is a public 

instrumentality and non-profit industrial development corporation duly established and 

operating under Local Government Code, Chapters 501 and 505, et seq., as amended, known as 

the Development Corporation Act of 1979 (the “Act”), and acts with the approval of the 

governing body of the City of Bastrop, Texas; and, 

 

WHEREAS, on July 17, 2017, the BEDC approved the terms of the negotiated contract of 

sale of the Land to Granite & Stone, LLC, which Land shall be used solely for developing and 

operating the proposed Granite & Stone, LLC, Project, as set forth and conditioned upon the terms 

of the Economic Development Agreement, to be finalized between Granite & Stone, LLC, and the 

BEDC; and, 

 

WHEREAS, on July 17, 2017, the BEDC approved the terms of the negotiated Agreement 

between BEDC and Granite & Stone, LLC, and determined that the manufacturing project 

proposed by Granite & Stone, LLC, will create or retain primary jobs and is an authorized project 

pursuant to Section 501.101 of the Texas Local Government Code; and,  

 

WHEREAS, Texas Local Government Code Section 505.158 states that a Type B 

corporation may not undertake a project authorized by this section that requires an expenditure of 

more than $10,000 until the governing body of the corporation's authorizing municipality adopts 

a resolution authorizing the project after giving the resolution at least two separate readings.  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF BASTROP, TEXAS: 
 

SECTION 1. The City Council has reviewed the terms and conditions of the proposed 

Agreement by and between the BEDC and Granite & Stone, LLC, and determined that it fully 

complies with the statutory requirements that govern the BEDC and is in the best interest of 

the BEDC to enter into such Agreement. 

 

SECTION 2. The City Council hereby authorizes the Project as set forth in the proposed 

Agreement by and between the BEDC and Granite & Stone, LLC. 

 

SECTION 3. This Resolution is effective upon passage after having been read on at least 

two separate occasions. 

 

 

 



 

2 
 

READ and ACKNOWLEDGED on First Reading on the 8th day of August 2017. 

 

READ and APPROVED on the Second Reading on the _____ day of ________ 2017. 

 

CITY OF BASTROP, TEXAS 

 

APPROVED: 

        

             

       Connie B. Schroeder, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

      

Ann Franklin, City Secretary 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

      

David F. Bragg, City Attorney 

 

 

 

 

 



Granite & Stone, LLC 
 
About the company 
 
Granite & Stone, LLC, is an importer, wholesaler, and fabricator of granite and stone materials. 
This facility will be receiving granite and stone blocks from around the world to be fabricated 
into slabs. The company intends to hire up to 150 employees by year five.  
 
Project details 
 
Granite & Stone is purchasing approximately 5.5 acres in the northwest portion of the Bastrop 
Business and Industrial Park to construct a 50,000-square foot facility, at a price of $215,622. 
The new facility will be home to their fabrication, stone yard, administrative offices, and retail 
showroom. The Company intends to invest up to $9 million in real property, personal property, 
and working capital in the facility.    
 
Deal points 
 
Upon successful completion of the facility, Granite & Stone will receive a rebate of $96,000. 
After hiring 50 employees and their first anniversary, they will receive a second rebate of 
$96,000. The EDC is providing a job creation incentive in the maximum amount of $112,500 
over five years. The EDC has agreed to rebate 0.25% of the EDC sales tax collected from the 
company’s retail sales, above the initial $5 million. This amount has been estimated at $86,625 
over the life of the agreement. The total economic incentive package to the company is 
estimated at $391,125, based on the terms of the agreement.   
 
Community benefits 
 
By their fifth year in Bastrop, Granite & Stone will have 150 employees with a five year average 
wage of $19.47/hour, which includes burden and benefits. A portion of the company’s sales will 
generate local sales and use tax; by year five the company expects to generate $20 million in 
local taxable sales. The company expects to add $9 million to the tax rolls. The 10-year net 
benefits are estimated at $3.3 million for the City and $5.5 million for all taxing entities.   
 
 











 

 1 
 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT PERFORMANCE AGREEMENT 
 

 
 This Performance Agreement (“Agreement”) is entered into to be effective as of the 
Effective Date (as defined in Article III below), by and between the Bastrop Economic 
Development Corporation, located in Bastrop County, Texas (hereinafter called “Corporation”), a 
Texas non-profit industrial development corporation under the Development Corporation Act and 
governed by TEX. LOC. GOV. CODE chapters 501, 502 and 505 and the Texas Non-Profit 
Corporation Act and Granite & Stone, LLC, a Texas corporation (hereinafter called “Company”), 
otherwise known as the “Parties” to this Agreement. 
 

RECITALS 
 
WHEREAS, the Development Corporation Act of 1979, as amended (Section 501.001 et seq., 
Texas Local Government Code, formerly the Development Corporation Act of 1979) (the “Act”) 
authorizes a development corporation to fund certain projects as defined by the Act and requires 
development corporations to enter into performance agreements to establish and provide for the 
direct incentive or make an expenditure on behalf of a business enterprise under a project; and 
 
WHEREAS, Section 501.158 of the Act requires a performance agreement to provide at a 
minimum for a schedule of additional payroll or jobs to be created or retained and capital 
investment to be made as consideration for any direct incentives provided or expenditures made 
by the corporation under the agreement and to specify the terms under which repayment must be 
made if the business enterprise does not meet the performance requirements specified in the 
agreement; and 

 
WHEREAS, Company desires to construct a Facility to locate and expand its manufacturing, 
distribution, wholesale and retail sales operations in Bastrop, Texas; and 
 
WHEREAS, the location of the Company, as proposed, will contribute to the economic 
development of the City of Bastrop by creating new jobs and increased employment, promoting 
and developing expanded business enterprises, increased development, increased real property 
value and tax revenue for the City of Bastrop, and will have both a direct and indirect positive 
overall improvement/stimulus in the local and state economy; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Corporation desires to offer an incentive to Company to enable Company to 
locate and expand its operations pursuant to this Agreement in substantial conformity with the Act; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the Parties are executing and entering into this Agreement to set forth certain terms 
and obligations of the Parties with respect to such matters; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Parties recognize that all agreements of the Parties hereto and all terms and 
provisions hereof are subject to the laws of the State of Texas and all rules, regulations and 
interpretations of any agency or subdivision thereof at any time governing the subject matters 
hereof; and 



 

 2 
 

 
WHEREAS, the Parties agree that all conditions precedent for this Agreement to become a 
binding agreement have occurred and been complied with, including all requirements pursuant to 
the Texas Open Meetings Act and all public notices and hearings, if any, have been conducted in 
accordance with Texas law; and 
 
WHEREAS, on the Effective Date, the commitments contained in this Agreement shall become 
legally binding obligations of the Parties. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, benefits and agreements 
described and contained in this Agreement, and for other good and valuable consideration, the 
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged and further described herein, the Parties 
agree as follows: 

 
ARTICLE I 
RECITALS 

 
1. Recitals.  The recitals set forth above are declared true and correct by the Parties 

and are hereby incorporated as part of this Agreement. 
 

ARTICLE II 
AUTHORITY AND TERM 

 
1. Authority.  The Corporation’s execution of this Agreement is authorized by the Act 

and constitutes a valid and binding obligation of the Corporation. The Corporation acknowledges 
that Company is acting in reliance upon the Corporation’s performance of its obligations under 
this Agreement in making the decision to commit substantial resources and money to the 
establishment of the Project, hereinafter established.  

2. Term. This Agreement shall become enforceable upon the Effective Date, 
hereinafter established, and shall continue until the Expiration Date, hereinafter established, unless 
terminated sooner or extended by mutual agreement of the Parties in the manner provided for 
herein.  

3. Purpose.  The purpose of this Agreement is to formalize the agreements between 
the Company and the Corporation for the granting of funds to cover certain costs associated with 
the Project and specifically state the covenants, representations of the Parties, and the incentives 
associated with Company’s commitment to abide by the provisions of the Act and to abide by the 
terms of this Agreement which has been approved by the Corporation and the Company as 
complying with the specific requirements of the Act. It is expressly agreed that this Agreement 
constitutes a single transaction. A failure to perform any obligation by the Company may constitute 
a breach of the entire Agreement and terminate any further commitments (if any) by the 
Corporation unless an alternative penalty or remedy is provided for herein. 

4. Administration of Agreement.  Upon the Effective Date, the Corporation delegates 
the administration and oversight of this Agreement to the Executive Director of the Corporation. 
Any proposed amendments to the Agreement shall require the approval of the Board of Directors 
of the Corporation. 



 

 3 
 

 
ARTICLE III 

DEFINITIONS 
 

 As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the meanings ascribed below. 
All undefined terms shall retain their usual and customary meaning as ascribed by common and 
ordinary usage.  
 
 “Annual Payroll” shall mean the total wages paid, exclusive of employee benefits, to Full-
time Employees at the Facility.  
  

“Bankruptcy” shall mean the dissolution or termination of a Party’s existence as a going 
business, insolvency, appointment of receiver for any part of such Party’s property and such 
appointment is not terminated within ninety (90) days after such appointment is initially made, any 
general assignment for the benefit of creditors, or the commencement of any proceeding under any 
bankruptcy or insolvency laws by or against such party and such proceeding is not dismissed 
within ninety (90) days after the filing thereof. 

 
“Year” - Performance and incentive calculations based upon years as used in this 

Agreement shall be calculated with the year zero beginning on the date the Company receives a 
Certificate of Occupancy for the Facility and ending twelve (12) months from that date; and 
continuing thereafter as year one, year two, etc., of the Agreement. 

 
“Certificate of Occupancy” shall mean the signed certificate issued by the City of Bastrop 

Planning & Development Department granting the Company the right to occupy the Facility and 
confirming that the entire work covered by the permit and plans are in place.  

 
“Corporate Headquarters” means buildings proposed for construction or occupancy as the 

principal office, for a business enterprise’s administrative and management services. 
 
“Default”, unless otherwise specifically defined or limited by this Agreement, shall mean 

failure by any Party to timely and substantially comply with any performance requirement, duty, 
or covenant. 
 

“Effective Date” shall be the date of the last signing by a party to the agreement.  
 
“Expiration Date” shall mean the earlier of: 
 

1. The fifth anniversary of the date upon which the Company received a certificate of 
occupancy; or 

2. The date of termination, provided for under Article VII of this Agreement.  
 
“Facility” shall mean the approximate 50,000 square foot facility to be constructed at 

Bastrop Business and Industrial Park, Technology Drive, Bastrop, Texas 78602, Phase, Lot 1-A, 
Block D, the southern 5.5 +/- acres of a 10.52-acre tract, where Company’s Corporate 
Headquarters and manufacturing and distribution operations shall occur, and shall represent a 



 

 4 
 

minimum TWO MILLION SEVEN HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLAR AND NO CENT 
($2,700,000.00) capital investment. 
 

“Force Majeure” shall mean any contingency or cause beyond the reasonable control of a 
party, including, without limitation, acts of God or the public enemy, war riot, civil commotion, 
insurrection, government or de facto governmental action (unless caused by the intentionally 
wrongful acts or omissions of a party), fires, explosions or floods, strikes, slowdowns or work 
stoppages. 

 
“Full-time Employee” shall mean: (1) an employee with a regular work schedule of at least 

36 hours per week as reported on the Texas Employers Quarterly Wage Report from the Texas 
Workforce Commission, and (2) are entitled to at least the customary employer-sponsored 
employee benefits package afforded by the Company to its similarly situated employees at other 
locations. 

 
“Inventory” shall mean the imported granite blocks the Company utilizes to manufacture 

and distribute finished products for commercial and residential construction projects that are 
produced at the Facility. 

 
“Job Creation Incentive” means that sum paid in arrears to the Company as an incentive 

for the creation and retention of full time equivalent jobs. 
 
“Project” shall mean the construction and location of Company’s Corporate Headquarters 

and manufacturing operations to the Facility. 
 
“Real Property” shall mean the land, building and all improvements thereto and added to 

the Project subsequent to the execution of this Agreement and is accounted on the tax rolls by the 
Bastrop Central Appraisal District.  

 
“State of Texas” shall mean the Office of the Texas Comptroller, or its successor. 
 
“Tangible Personal Property” shall mean tangible personal property, equipment, 

machinery, fixtures and inventory owned or leased by Company that is added to the Project 
subsequent to the execution of this Agreement and is accounted on the tax rolls by the Central 
Appraisal District. 

 
ARTICLE IV 

CORPORATION OBLIGATION 
 

1. Capital Investment. 
 

(a) Pursuant to the terms of the Earnest Money Contract attached hereto as 
Exhibit “A”, Corporation shall sell to Company a tract of Land within the Bastrop 
Business and Industrial Park valued at TWO HUNDRED FIFTEEN THOUSAND 
SIX HUNDRED TWENTY-TWO DOLLARS AND NO CENTS ($215,622.00) 
and more specifically described in the Escrow Money Agreement. 



 

 5 
 

(b) Corporation shall rebate NINETY-SIX THOUSAND DOLLARS AND NO 
CENTS ($96,000.00) to Company upon the Company’s receipt of a Certificate of 
Occupancy from the City of Bastrop for the Facility, representing a minimum TWO 
MILLION SEVEN HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS AND NO CENT 
($2,700,000.00) capital investment. 
(c) Corporation shall rebate NINETY-SIX THOUSAND DOLLARS AND NO 
CENTS ($96,000.00) to Company on the first anniversary of the date the Company 
received a Certificate of Occupancy from the City of Bastrop for the Facility, 
provided that the Company has by that time created FIFTY (50) FTE’s and ONE 
MILLION DOLLARS AND NO CENTS ($1,000,000.00) of inventory. 
 

2. Job Creation Incentive 
 

(a) Corporation shall pay to Company as a Job Creation Incentive an amount 
not to exceed EIGHTEEN THOUSAND SEVEN HUNDRED FIFTY DOLLARS 
AND NO CENTS ($18,750.00) on the second anniversary of the date the Company 
received a Certificate of Occupancy from the City of Bastrop for the Facility if 
Company has met the Performance Obligations of Company set forth in Article V. 
(b) Corporation shall pay to Company as a Job Creation Incentive an amount 
not to exceed TWENTY-FIVE THOUSAND DOLLARS AND NO CENTS 
($25,000.00) on the third anniversary of the date the Company received a 
Certificate of Occupancy from the City of Bastrop for the Facility if Company has 
met the Performance Obligations of Company set forth in Article V. 
(c) Corporation shall pay to Company as a Job Creation Incentive an amount 
not to exceed THIRTY-ONE THOUSAND TWO HUNDRED FIFTY DOLLARS 
AND NO CENTS ($31,250.00) on the fourth anniversary of the date the Company 
received a Certificate of Occupancy from the City of Bastrop for the Facility if 
Company has met the Performance Obligations of Company set forth in Article V. 
(d) Corporation shall pay to Company as a Job Creation Incentive an amount 
not to exceed THIRTY-SEVEN THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS AND 
NO CENTS ($37,500.00) on the fifth anniversary of the date the Company received 
a Certificate of Occupancy from the City of Bastrop for the Facility if Company 
has met the Performance Obligations of Company set forth in Article V. 

 
3. Sales Tax Rebate 
 
 Corporation shall rebate .25% of all EDC sales tax collected on sales of inventory 
exceeding FIVE MILLION DOLLARS ($5,000,000.00) for each year of the Agreement. 

 
4. Confidentiality.  The Corporation agrees to the extent allowed by law to keep all 

tax information and documentation received, pursuant to this Agreement hereof, confidential. In 
the event a request is made for such information, Corporation will not disclose the information 
unless required to do so by the Attorney General of Texas. 

 



 

 6 
 

5. Current Revenue.  The funds distributed hereunder shall be paid solely from 
lawfully available funds of the Corporation. Under no circumstances shall the obligations 
hereunder be deemed to create any debt within the meaning of any constitutional or statutory 
provision. None of the obligations under this Agreement shall be pledged or otherwise encumbered 
in favor of any commercial lender and/or similar financial institution. 

 
ARTICLE V 

PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS OF COMPANY 
 

The obligation of the Corporation to pay funds in the form of a Capital Investment Rebate 
or Job Creation Incentive shall be conditioned upon Company’s continued compliance with and 
satisfaction of each of the performance obligations set forth in this Agreement.  
 

1. Commencing Operations.  
 
(a) Within 90 days of the effective date of the Agreement Company must: (i) secure all 
necessary financing to purchase the Land and complete construction of the Facility; and 
(ii) close on the purchase of the Land in accordance with the terms of the Earnest Money 
Contract. In the event Company fails to timely complete either Obligation (a)(i) or (a)(ii) 
herein this Agreement shall immediately be void and the Corporation shall have no 
obligation to perform under this Agreement. 
 
(b) Company must obtain a Certificate of Occupancy for its Corporate Headquarters 
and manufacturing operations at the Facility on or before the last day of the 18th month of 
this Agreement and maintain said operations throughout the term of this Agreement. The 
Facility shall represent a minimum TWO MILLION SEVEN HUNDRED THOUSAND 
DOLLARS AND NO CENT ($2,700,000.00) capital investment.  

 
2. Job Creation.  Company must create and maintain the Full-time Employees and 

average wage benchmarks according to the following schedule: 
(a) A minimum of FIFTY (50) Full-time Employees for the year ending on the first 

anniversary of the date the Company received a Certificate of Occupancy.  
(b) A minimum of FIFTY (50) Full-time Employees for the year ending on the second 

anniversary of the date the Company received a Certificate of Occupancy with an 
average hourly wage of not less than SIXTEEN DOLLARS AND FIFTY CENTS 
($16.50) per hour and an average annual wage of not less than THIRTY-FOUR 
THOUSAND THREE HUNDRED TWENTY DOLLARS AND NO CENTS 
($34,320.00) inclusive of burden and benefit.  

(c) A minimum of SEVENTY-FIVE (75) Full-time Employees for the year ending on 
the third anniversary of the date the Company received a Certificate of Occupancy 
with an average hourly wage of not less than SEVENTEEN DOLLARS AND 
FIFTY CENTS ($17.50) per hour and an average annual wage of not less than 
THIRTY-SIX THOUSAND FOUR HUNDRED DOLLARS AND NO CENTS 
($36,400.00) inclusive of burden and benefit.  



 

 7 
 

(d) A minimum of ONE HUNDRED (100) Full-time Employees for the year ending 
on the fourth anniversary of the date the Company received a Certificate of 
Occupancy with an average hourly wage of not less than EIGHTEEN DOLLARS 
AND FIFTY CENTS ($18.50) per hour and an average annual wage of not less 
than THIRTY-EIGHT THOUSAND FOUR HUNDRED EIGHTY DOLLARS 
AND NO CENTS ($38,480.00) inclusive of burden and benefit.  

(e) A minimum of ONE HUNDRED (100) Full-time Employees for the year ending 
on the fifth anniversary of the date the Company received a Certificate of 
Occupancy with an average hourly wage of not less than NINETEEN DOLLARS 
AND FIFTY CENTS ($19.50) per hour and an average annual wage of not less 
than FORTY THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED SIXTY DOLLARS AND NO 
CENTS ($40,560.00) inclusive of burden and benefit.  

 
3. Real Property Creation.  Commencing upon the receipt of a certificate of occupancy 

and continuing throughout the term of the Agreement, Company must maintain a minimum real 
property value of TWO MILLION SEVEN HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS AND NO 
CENTS ($2,700,000.00). Corporation will accept financing documentation or construction 
contract documentation as evidence of the capital investment and real property value. 

 
4. Inventories.  Company must create inventory with a minimum taxable value in 

conformance with the following schedule. 
 
(a) During the year ending on the date of the first anniversary the Company received a 

certificate of occupancy for the Facility, the Company must have created inventory 
with a minimum taxable value of ONE MILLION DOLLARS AND NO CENTS 
($1,000,000.00) as identified on the Bastrop County tax roll. 

(b) During the year ending on the date of the second anniversary the Company received 
a certificate of occupancy for the Facility, the Company must have created 
inventory with a minimum taxable value of ONE MILLION FIVE HUNDRED 
THOUSAND DOLLARS AND NO CENTS ($1,500,000.00) as identified on the 
Bastrop County tax roll. 

(c) During the year ending on the date of the third anniversary the Company received 
a certificate of occupancy for the Facility, the Company must have created 
inventory with a minimum taxable value of TWO MILLION DOLLARS AND NO 
CENTS ($2,000,000.00) as identified on the Bastrop County tax roll. 

(d) During the year ending on the date of the fourth anniversary the Company received 
a certificate of occupancy for the Facility, the Company must have created 
inventory with a minimum taxable value of TWO MILLION FIVE HUNDRED 
THOUSAND DOLLARS AND NO CENTS ($2,500,000.00) as identified on the 
Bastrop County tax roll. 

(f) During the year ending on the date of the fifth anniversary the Company received 
a certificate of occupancy for the Facility, the Company must have created 
inventory with a minimum taxable value of TWO MILLION FIVE HUNDRED 



 

 8 
 

THOUSAND DOLLARS AND NO CENTS ($2,500,000.00) as identified on the 
Bastrop County tax roll. 

 
5. Annual Report.  The Company shall submit an Annual Certification Report (an 

“Annual Report”) for the preceding Year to the Executive Director of the Corporation each year 
not later than the 15th day of the second month following the end of the Year. The Annual Report 
should substantially conform to the Annual Report Form attached as Exhibit “B” to this 
Agreement. The first Annual Report will be due on the 15th day of the second month following the 
first anniversary of the date the Company received a certificate of occupancy.  

6. Payment of Legal Fees.  Company commits to reimburse the Corporation for the 
necessary legal fees in the preparation of any amendment to this Agreement requested by 
Company. Timely payment shall be made within 60 days of submittal of invoice to Company by 
the Corporation or its assigns. Each Party shall bear its own legal fees in connection with the 
negotiation of this Agreement. 

7. Extension beyond Term.  In recognition of the fact that the verification of 
Company’s compliance hereunder is, by necessity, verified in the calendar year following the 
Company’s obligations herein, the Expiration Date of this Agreement will be extended until any 
and all verification of Performance Obligations and covenants have been satisfied. The Parties 
hereto agree that the Corporation’s right to the Recapture Amount shall survive the Expiration 
Date of this Agreement. 

 
ARTICLE VI 

COVENANTS AND DUTIES 
 

1. Company’s Covenants and Duties.  Company makes the following covenants and 
warranties to the Corporation, and agrees to timely and fully perform the obligations and duties 
contained in Article V of this Agreement. Any false or substantially misleading statements 
contained herein or failure to timely and fully perform those obligations and duties within this 
Agreement shall be an act of Default by the Company. 

(a) Company is authorized to do business and is in good standing in the State 
of Texas and shall remain in good standing in the State of Texas and the United 
States of America during any term of this Agreement. 
(b) The execution of this Agreement has been duly authorized by Company’s 
authorized agent, and the individual signing this Agreement is empowered to 
execute such Agreement and bind the entity. Said authorization, signing, and 
binding effect is not in contravention of any law, rule, regulation, or of the 
provisions of Company’s by-laws, or of any agreement or instrument to which 
Company is a party to or by which it may be bound. 
(c) Company is not a party to any Bankruptcy proceedings currently pending 
or contemplated, and Company has not been informed of any potential involuntary 
Bankruptcy proceedings. 
(d) To its current, actual knowledge, and subject to the Certificate of 
Occupancy (or other approvals and permits to be obtained under subpart (f) 
immediately below), Company has acquired and maintained all necessary rights, 



 

 9 
 

licenses, permits, and authority to carry on its business in the City of Bastrop and 
will continue to use its best efforts to maintain all necessary rights, licenses, 
permits, and authority. 
(e) Company shall timely and fully comply with all of the terms and conditions 
of this Agreement. 
(f) Company agrees to obtain, or cause to be obtained, all necessary permits 
and approvals from the City of Bastrop and/or all other governmental agencies 
having jurisdiction over the construction of any improvements to the Facility. 
(g) Company shall be responsible for paying, or causing to be paid, to the City 
of Bastrop and all other governmental agencies the cost of all applicable permit fees 
and licenses required for construction of the Project. Company agrees to develop 
the Project in accordance with the ordinances, rules, and regulations of the City of 
Bastrop in effect on the date the Project was designated, unless specified otherwise 
in this Agreement. Company, in its sole discretion, may choose to comply with any 
or all City of Bastrop rules promulgated after the Effective Date of this Agreement. 
(h) Company agrees to commence and complete the Project in strict accordance 
with the Agreement. 
(i) Company shall cooperate with the Corporation in providing all necessary 
information to assist them in complying with this Agreement. 
(j) During the term of this Agreement, Company agrees to not knowingly 
employ any undocumented workers as part of the Project, and, if convicted of a 
violation under 8 U.S.C. Section 1324a(1), Company shall be in Default (subject to 
the remedies in Article V above). Company is not liable for an unknown violation 
of this Section by a subsidiary, affiliate, or franchisee of Company or by a person 
with whom Company contracts; provided, however, that identical federal law 
requirements provided for herein shall be included as part of any agreement or 
contract which Company enters into with any subsidiary, assignee, affiliate, or 
franchisee for which funds provided herein will be used.   
(k) Company shall not be in arrears and shall be current in the payment of all 
City taxes and fees. 
(l) Corporation has the right to periodically (and with reasonable advance 
notice) verify the terms and conditions of this Agreement including, but not limited 
to, the number of persons employed by Company as a result of the assistance 
provided hereunder, the addresses of those persons, the number of hours each 
employee worked during the previous twelve (12) months, the total expenses 
attributable to training and employing those employees, and the cumulative payroll 
for Company’s Bastrop operation. 
(m) Company shall, upon written request from Corporation, provide to 
Corporation a copy of the Texas Workforce Commission Texas Employers 
Quarterly Wage Report for the requested quarter. 

 
2. Corporation’s Covenants and Duties.   



 

 10 
 

(a) Corporation agrees to timely and fully perform the obligations and duties 
contained in Article IV of this Agreement. Any false or substantially misleading 
statements contained herein or failure to timely and fully perform those obligations 
and duties within this Agreement shall be an act of Default by the Corporation. 

   
3. Compliance and Default.  Failure by Company to timely comply with any 

performance requirement, duty, or covenant shall be considered an act of Default and shall give 
the Corporation the right to terminate this Agreement and collect the Recapture Amount, as 
determined by the Board of Directors of the Corporation. 
 

ARTICLE VII 
TERMINATION 

 
1. Termination.  This Agreement shall terminate upon the earliest occurrence of any 

one or more of the following: 
(a) The written agreement of the Parties; 
(b) The Agreement’s Expiration Date; 
(c) Default by Company (at the option of the Corporation).  

 
ARTICLE VIII 

DEFAULT 
 

1. Company Events of Default 
(a) Failure of Company to perform any term, covenant or agreement contained 
in this Agreement, or in any related document(s); or 
(b) Corporation determines that any representation or warranty contained 
herein or in any financial statement, certificate, report or opinion submitted to 
Corporation in connection with or pursuant to the requirements of this Agreement 
was incorrect or misleading in any material respect when made; or 
(c) Any judgment is assessed against Company or any attachment or other levy 
against the property of Company with respect to a claim remains unpaid, unstayed 
on appeal, undischarged, not bonded or not dismissed for a period of thirty (30) 
days; or 
(d) Company makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors; admits in 
writing its inability to pay its debts generally as they become due; files a petition in 
bankruptcy; is adjudicated insolvent or bankrupt; petitions or applies to any tribunal 
for any receiver or any trustee of Company or any substantial part of its property, 
commences any action relating to Company under any reorganization, 
arrangement, readjustment of debt, dissolution or liquidation law or statute of any 
jurisdiction whether now or hereafter in effect; or if there is commenced against 
Company any such action and such action remains undismissed or unanswered for 
a period of sixty (60) days from such filing, or Company by any act indicates its 
consent to or approval of any trustee of Company or any substantial part of its 



 

 11 
 

property; or suffers any such receivership or trustee to and such appointment 
remains unvacated for a period of sixty (60) days; or 
(e) Company substantially changes its present ownership without written 
notification to Corporation within thirty (30) days of such change; or  
(f) Company changes the general character of business as conducted at the date 
hereof, or engages in any type of business not reasonably related to its business as 
presently and normally conducted. 

 
2. Corporation Events of Default 
 

(a) Corporation materially fails to fulfill an obligation set forth within the terms 
and conditions of the Agreement. 

 
3. Remedies for Default 
 

(a) Company’s sole remedy under this Agreement is specific performance for 
Corporation’s Default of its obligation under Section IV of this Agreement.   
(b) In the event of Default by the Company, the Corporation shall, as its sole 
and exclusive remedy for Default hereunder, have the right to terminate this 
Agreement and to recapture one hundred percent (100%) of the Capital Investment 
Rebate and Job Creation Incentive (the “Recapture Amount”) if the Default occurs 
on or prior to the termination date. The Recaptured Amount shall be paid by the 
Company within one hundred twenty (120) days after the date Company is notified 
by the Corporation of such Default (the “Payment Date”). In the event the 
Recaptured Amount is not repaid by the applicable Payment Date, the unpaid 
portion thereof shall accrue interest at the rate of two percent (2.00%) per annum 
from the Effective Date until paid in full.  

 
4. Limitation on Use of Funds in the Event of Default 

(a) Under no circumstances will the funds received under this Agreement be 
used, either directly or indirectly, to pay costs or attorney fees incurred in any 
adversarial proceeding regarding this Agreement against the City of Bastrop or the 
Corporation. 

 
ARTICLE IX 

MISCELLANEOUS 
 

1. Binding Agreement.  The terms and conditions of this Agreement shall be binding 
on and inure to the benefit of the Parties, and their respective successors and assigns. The Executive 
Director of the Corporation shall be responsible for the administration of this Agreement and shall 
have the authority to execute any instruments, duly approved by the Corporation, on behalf of the 
Parties related thereto. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, 
performance of either Party under this Agreement is specifically contingent on Company obtaining 
a Certificate of Occupancy from the City of Bastrop at the Facility under the terms of this 
Agreement. 



 

 12 
 

2. Mutual Assistance.  The Parties will do all things reasonably necessary or 
appropriate to carry out the terms and provisions of this Agreement and to aid and assist each other 
in carrying out such terms and provisions. 

3. Representations and Warranties.  The Corporation represents and warrants to 
Company that this Agreement is within their authority, and that they are duly authorized and 
empowered to enter into this Agreement, unless otherwise ordered by a court of competent 
jurisdiction. Company represents and warrants to the Corporation that it has the requisite authority 
to enter into this Agreement. 

4. Assignment.  Company shall have the right to assign all of its rights, duties, and 
obligations under this Agreement to a duly qualified third party with prior written approval of the 
Corporation. Any assignment provided for herein shall not serve to enlarge or diminish the 
obligations and requirements of this Agreement, nor shall they relieve Company of any liability to 
the Corporation including any required indemnity in the event that any Assignee hereof shall at 
any time be in Default of the terms of this Agreement. The Corporation may demand and receive 
adequate assurance of performance including the deposit or provision of financial security by any 
proposed Assignee prior to its approval of an assignment. 

5. Independent Contractors. 
(a) It is expressly understood and agreed by all Parties hereto that in performing 

their services hereunder, Company at no time will be acting as an agent of the Corporation and 
that all consultants or contractors engaged by Company respectively will be independent 
contractors of Company; and nothing contained in this Agreement is intended by the Parties to 
create a partnership or joint venture between the Parties and any implication to the contrary is 
hereby expressly disavowed. The Parties hereto understand and agree that the Corporation will not 
be liable for any claims that may be asserted by any third party occurring in connection with 
services performed by Company respectively under this Agreement, unless any such claims are 
due to the fault of the Corporation. 

(b) By entering into this Agreement, except as specifically set forth herein, the 
Parties do not waive, and shall not be deemed to have waived, any rights, immunities, or defenses 
either may have, including the defense of parties, and nothing contained herein shall ever be 
construed as a waiver of sovereign or official immunity by the Corporation with such rights being 
expressly reserved to the fullest extent authorized by law and to the same extent which existed 
prior to the execution hereof. 

(c) No employee of the Corporation, or any board member, or agent of the 
Corporation, shall be personally responsible for any liability arising under or growing out of this 
Agreement.   

6. Notice.  Any notice required or permitted to be delivered hereunder shall be deemed 
delivered by actual delivery, or on the first business day after depositing the same in the hands of 
a reputable overnight courier (such as United States Postal Service, FedEx or UPS) and addressed 
to the Party at the address set forth below: 
 



 

 13 
 

If intended for BEDC:  City of Bastrop Economic Development Corporation 
 Attention: Executive Director 
 301 Highway 71 W, Suite 214 
 Bastrop, TX  78602 
  
 With a copy to: 
 Denton, Navarro, Rocha, & Bernal, PC 
 Attention: Charles E. Zech 
 2517 North Main Avenue 
 San Antonio, TX  78212 
 

If to the Company:  Granite & Stone, LLC. 
  Attention: David J. Alarid 
  8004 Two Coves Drive 
 Austin, TX 78730 

 
Any Party may designate a different address at any time upon written notice to the other 

Parties.  
7. Governmental Records.  All invoices, records and other documents required for 

submission to the City pursuant to the terms of this Agreement are Governmental Records for the 
purposes of Texas Penal Code Section 37.10. 

8. Governing Law.  The Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of 
Texas, and the venue for any action concerning this Agreement (subject to the dispute resolution 
mechanisms of Article VIII above) shall be in the Courts of Bastrop County. The Parties agree to 
submit to the personal and subject matter jurisdiction of said court. 

9. Amendment.  This Agreement may be amended by mutual written agreement of the 
Parties, as approved by the Board of Directors of the Corporation. 

10. Legal Construction.  In the event any one or more of the provisions contained in 
this Agreement shall, for any reason, be held invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in any respect, such 
invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability shall not affect other provisions of this Agreement, and it 
is the intention of the Parties to this Agreement that, in lieu of each provision that is found to be 
illegal, invalid, or unenforceable, a provision be added to this Agreement which is legal, valid and 
enforceable and is as similar in terms as possible to the provision found to be illegal, invalid, or 
unenforceable. 

11. Interpretation.  Each of the Parties has been represented by counsel of their 
choosing in the negotiation and preparation of this Agreement. Regardless of which Party prepared 
the initial draft of this Agreement, this Agreement shall, in the event of any dispute, whatever its 
meaning or application, be interpreted fairly and reasonably and neither more strongly for or 
against any Party. 

12. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the 
Parties with respect to the subject matter covered in this Agreement. There is no other collateral 
oral or written agreement between the Parties that, in any manner, relates to the subject matter of 
this Agreement, except as provided for in any Exhibits attached hereto or duly approved 
amendments to this Agreement, as approved by the Board of Directors of the Corporation. 



 

 14 
 

13. Paragraph Headings.  The paragraph headings contained in this Agreement are for 
convenience only and will in no way enlarge or limit the scope or meaning of the various and 
several paragraphs. 

14. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in counterparts. Each of the 
counterparts shall be deemed an original instrument, but all of the counterparts shall constitute one 
and the same instrument. 

15. Exhibits.  Any Exhibits attached hereto are incorporated by reference for all 
purposes. 

16. Survival of Covenants.  Any of the representations, warranties, covenants, and 
obligations of the Parties, as well as any rights and benefits of the Parties, pertaining to a period 
of time following the termination of this Agreement shall survive termination. 

17. Indemnification. 

 
COMPANY AGREES TO DEFEND, INDEMNIFY AND HOLD THE 
CORPORATION AND THE CITY OF BASTROP (“CITY”), AND THEIR 
RESPECTIVE OFFICERS, AGENTS AND EMPLOYEES, HARMLESS FROM 
AND AGAINST ANY AND ALL REASONABLE LIABILITIES, DAMAGES, 
CLAIMS, LAWSUITS, JUDGMENTS, ATTORNEY FEES, COSTS, EXPENSES 
AND ANY CAUSE OF ACTION THAT DIRECTLY RELATES TO ANY OF THE 
FOLLOWING: ANY CLAIMS OR DEMANDS BY THE STATE OF TEXAS THAT 
THE CORPORATION HAS BEEN ERRONEOUSLY OR OVER-PAID SALES 
AND USE TAX FOR ANY PERIOD DURING THE TERM OF THIS AGREEMENT 
AS A RESULT OF THE FAILURE OF COMPANY TO MAINTAIN A PLACE OF 
BUSINESS AT THE PROPERTY OR IN THE CITY OF BASTROP, OR AS A 
RESULT OF ANY ACT OR OMISSION OR BREACH OR NON-PERFORMANCE 
BY COMPANY UNDER THIS AGREEMENT EXCEPT THAT THE INDEMNITY 
PROVIDED HEREIN SHALL NOT APPLY TO ANY LIABILITY RESULTING 
FROM THE ACTION OR OMISSIONS OF THE CORPORATION OR CITY. THE 
PROVISIONS OF THIS SECTION ARE SOLELY FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE 
PARTIES HERETO AND NOT INTENDED TO CREATE OR GRANT ANY 
RIGHTS, CONTRACTUAL OR OTHERWISE, TO ANY OTHER PERSON OR 
ENTITY, IT BEING THE INTENTION OF THE PARTIES THAT COMPANY 
SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR THE REPAYMENT OF ANY SMALL 
BUSINESS GRANT PAID TO COMPANY HEREIN THAT INCLUDES CITY 
SALES TAX RECEIPTS THAT THE STATE OF TEXAS HAS DETERMINED 
WAS ERRONEOUSLY PAID, DISTRIBUTED OR ALLOCATED TO THE 
CORPORATION. 
 

18. Additional Instruments.  The Parties agree and covenant to cooperate, negotiate in 
good faith, and to execute such other and further instruments and documents as may be reasonably 
required to fulfill the public purposes provided for and included within this Agreement.  

19. Force Majeure.  Whenever a period of time is herein prescribed for action to be 
taken by the Company, the Company shall not be liable or responsible for, and there shall be 



 

 15 
 

excluded from the computation of any such period of time, any delays due to causes of any kind 
whatsoever which are caused by Force Majeure.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 



 

 16 
 

Executed on this ______ day of __________________, 20____. 

 
 
COMPANY 
 
Granite & Stone, LLC, a Texas corporation 
 
 
By:  _______________________________ 
Name:  David J. Alarid   
Title:  President    

 
 
 
STATE OF TEXAS   X  
COUNTY OF _________________ X 

 
This information was acknowledged before me on this ______ day of _______________, ______, 
by ____________________ for _______________________, a Texas corporation, on behalf of 
said agency. 
 
                                                                                     ______________________________ 
        Notary Public, State of Texas 
 
         
                                                                                                ______________________________ 
        Notary’s typed or printed name 
         

______________________________
My commission expires 

 
 
  



 

 17 
 

Executed on this ______ day of __________________, 20____. 
 

 
BASTROP ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
 CORPORATION 
 
 
 
 
By:  _______________________________ 
Name:  ___________________   
Title:  ____________________     
 

 
 

STATE OF TEXAS   X  
COUNTY OF BASTROP  X 

 
This information was acknowledged before me on this ______ day of _______________, ______, 
by ____________________ for the Bastrop Economic Development Corporation, a Texas non-
profit industrial development corporation, on behalf of said agency. 
 
             
                                                                                     ______________________________ 
        Notary Public, State of Texas 
 
         
                                                                                                ______________________________ 
        Notary’s typed or printed name 
         

______________________________
My commission expires 

 
    

 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
By: ________________________________ 
       Charles E. Zech, BEDC Counsel 
       DNRBH&Z P.C. 
  



 

 18 
 

Performance Agreement  
Exhibit A 

 
EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 

 
 
 

 
 

[SEE ATTACHED] 
  



 Granite & Stone, LLC., EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 
 

 

Initials  ___Seller  ___ Buyer 
Page | 1  

 

EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 
 

THIS EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT (“Contract”) is entered into by and between 
Bastrop Economic Development Corporation, a Texas non-profit industrial development 
corporation located in Bastrop County, Texas, (“Seller”), and, Granite & Stone, LLC., a limited 
liability company formed under the laws of Texas (“Buyer”). 

 
Recitals 

 
WHEREAS, Buyer desires to construct a Facility to locate and expand its manufacturing, 

distribution, wholesale and retail sales operations in Bastrop; and  
 
WHEREAS, Seller desires to offer an incentive to enable Buyer to locate and expand its 

operations pursuant to the terms of that certain Economic Development Performance Agreement 
(“Performance Agreement”) of even date by and between the Parties; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Performance Agreement provides for the Parties to enter into this 

Agreement. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual terms, covenants, conditions and 

agreements hereinafter contained and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and 
sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, it is hereby agreed by and between the parties hereto 
as follows: 

 
Contract 

 
1. Effective Date/Title Company. The Effective Date of this Contract will be the date on 

which a fully executed copy of this Contract is delivered to Independence Title (the “Title 
Company”). [See Notice to Title Company on last page of this Contract].  

 
2. Buyer’s Acceptance Date. Before 5:00 p.m. CDT July 28, 2017. 
 
3. Description of Property. Seller hereby agrees to sell and Buyer agrees to purchase, upon 

the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth, that real property (“Property”) located in the 
City of Bastrop, in the County of Bastrop, State of Texas, to wit: 
 
 A tract of land comprised of 5.5 acres, more or less, that shall be re-platted 

out of the existing 10.523 acre Lot Number 1A, Block D, Bastrop Business 
and Industrial Park, as per Plat recorded in Plat Cabinet 4, Page 184-A, 
Bastrop County Plat Records (the “Property”). 

 
 Together with the Property and included in the Purchase Price, Seller agrees to convey to 

Buyer all rights of Seller in and to all easements, hereditaments, interests, rights and powers 
appurtenant to or for the benefit of the land, or lying in the bed of any street, road or avenue, 
dedicated or proposed, in or abutting the land, and any remainder or reversionary interest 
or right therein of the Seller. 



 Granite & Stone, LLC., EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 
 

 

Initials  ___Seller  ___ Buyer 
Page | 2  

 

 
Seller expressly reserves for itself all oil, gas and other non-surface mineral rights and 
interests, provided that such reservation shall provide for the protection of the surface and 
waiving the right of ingress and egress for exploration and development or for any other 
purpose that would interfere with the use and enjoyment of the surface estate by or on 
behalf of Grantor, but not otherwise. The Special Warranty Deed shall restrict against using 
the Property for any purpose not allowed by the Bastrop EDC’s Sixth Amended Protective 
Covenants for the Bastrop Business and Industrial Park or any sexually oriented business. 
Additionally, the Special Warranty shall provide covenants and conditions requiring Buyer 
to open and operate the “facility” as required in the Performance Agreement.  

 
4. Purchase Price. 

 
4.1. The Cash Payment. At Closing, Buyer shall pay to Seller as consideration TWO 
HUNDRED FIFTEEN THOUSAND SIX HUNDRED TWENTY-TWO DOLLARS AND 
NO CENTS ($215,622.00), less the credited Earnest Money as provided in the section 
immediately below. 
 
(a) The purchase price shall not be adjusted based on the latest survey obtained.  
 
4.2. The Right of First Refusal. At Closing, Buyer shall provide to Seller as additional 
consideration a fully executed “Right of First Refusal” in substantially the same form as 
EXHIBIT “A”. 
 
4.3. The Commitment Letter. Whereas the sale of the Property constitutes an incentive 
Seller is providing to Buyer in reliance on Buyer’s commitment to satisfactorily complete 
its obligations under the terms of the Performance Agreement, including, but not limited 
to, Buyer’s obligation to timely receive a Certificate of Occupancy from the City of Bastrop 
for the Facility described in the Performance Agreement, Seller and Buyer agree that an 
essential part of the consideration for this transaction is Buyer’s performance of its 
obligations under the Performance Agreement. In order to close on this transaction, Buyer 
shall provide to Corporation a Commitment Letter issued by a lending institution 
authorized to make commercial construction loans in Texas. The letter must commit the 
lending institution to provide financing for the construction of the Facility in an amount of 
at least $2.7 million. The Commitment Letter shall be in such form that meets the 
reasonable satisfaction of Seller.   

 
5. Earnest Money. Within five (5) days after the Effective Date of this Contract, Buyer will 

deposit in cash the sum of FIVE THOUSAND DOLLARS and NO CENTS ($5,000.00) as 
an earnest money deposit and a fully executed original of the Contract with Independence 
Title, 301 Hwy 71 W, Suite 106, Bastrop, TX 78602, (the “Escrow Agent”), the deposit 
being hereafter referred to as (the “Earnest Money”). The parties hereto hereby agree that 
pending the Closing hereunder or the termination of this Contract, the Earnest Money, if 
deposited in cash, shall be deposited in an interest-bearing account in the full amount of 
the Earnest Money. The full amount of the Earnest Money, and any accumulated interest, 
shall be applied by the Title Company as a credit to the Purchase Price. 



 Granite & Stone, LLC., EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 
 

 

Initials  ___Seller  ___ Buyer 
Page | 3  

 

 
6. Title and Survey Costs. 

 
6.1. Survey. As soon as reasonably practicable but in no event later than ten (10) days 

after the Effective Date, Seller shall secure, and deliver a copy to Buyer, of a current 
survey of the Property in such form and content as to permit the deletion of the 
“survey exception” for all matters other than the area of the land, any discrepancies, 
conflicts, or shortages in area or boundary lines, or any encroachments or 
protrusions, or any overlapping of improvements from the Owner’s Title Policy 
(the “Surveys”). 
 

6.2. Title Commitment. As soon as reasonably practicable but in no event later than 
ten (10) days after the Effective Date, Seller shall secure from the Title Company a 
commitment for Title Insurance from the Title Company (the “Commitment”) 
together with complete and legible copies of all instruments that create or evidence 
exceptions to title (the “Title Documents”). Such Commitment shall require the 
Title Company to provide Buyer, at the Closing, with a fully paid TLTA Owners 
Title Insurance Policy covering the Property in the amount of the Purchase Price, 
subject to the preprinted exceptions set forth therein.  

 
6.3. Extension of Feasibility Period. If Seller has not delivered both the Title 

Commitment, Title Documents and the Surveys by the 10th day following the 
Effective Date, then the Feasibility Period shall be automatically extended by one 
(1) additional calendar day for every calendar day that elapses until the date on 
which both the Survey and the Title Commitment are delivered to Buyer. 

 
6.4. Title and Survey Objections. 
 

6.4.1. Buyer shall have until ten (10) days after receipt of the Commitment, the 
Title Documents and the Surveys, within which to approve or disapprove 
all items, including the information reflected therein, (the “Approval 
Period”), such approvals or disapprovals to be within Buyer’s sole 
discretion. Buyer may give Seller written notice of its objections to the 
Commitment and Survey (the “Title and Survey Objections”) within the 
Approval Period. All of the exceptions set forth on the Title Commitment 
approved by Buyer or which are deemed to be approved by Buyer (as 
provided herein) shall constitute the “Permitted Exceptions.” 
 

6.4.2. If Buyer disapproves any item on the Title Commitment (or any update or 
continuation of the Commitment, Title Documents or Surveys), Title 
Documents or Surveys, by written notice to Seller and the Title Company 
during the Approval Period, Buyer may terminate this Contract unless 
Seller cures Buyer’s objections to such item (without any obligation to do 
so except for any monetary encumbrances which Seller agrees to cure on or 
before the Closing Date) by the Closing Date. In the event Seller elects not 
to cure, or for any reason fails to satisfy, any one or more of Buyer’s 



 Granite & Stone, LLC., EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 
 

 

Initials  ___Seller  ___ Buyer 
Page | 4  

 

objections pursuant to this Section 6, such failure shall not be an event of 
default by Seller, but in such event Seller may notify Buyer in writing of 
such election (the “Election Notice”) and request that Buyer waive Buyer’s 
right to terminate this Contract due to such objection(s). Buyer shall 
thereafter have five (5) days after receipt of the Election Notice within 
which to waive the termination right granted in this Section 6 or to terminate 
this Contract. In the event Buyer fails to respond within such 5-day period, 
Buyer will be deemed to have waived and accepted the uncured and 
unsatisfied Buyer’s objections, which together with the other Permitted 
Exceptions described herein and all the exceptions to title to which Buyer 
has not objected, shall become Permitted Exceptions. If Buyer terminates 
this Contract under this Section 6, the Earnest Money will be refunded to 
Buyer, less TWO HUNDRED FIFTY DOLLARS AND NO/100 ($250.00) 
to be paid to Seller as independent contract consideration, and the parties 
shall have no further obligations under this Contract (except with respect to 
those items which specifically survive termination or Closing hereunder). 
 

6.4.3. Notwithstanding the above, Buyer shall have five (5) business days from 
receipt of any update or continuation of the Commitment, Title Documents 
or Surveys to notify Seller of any objections to any matter not previously 
contained in the Commitment, Title Documents or Survey. 

 
7. Inspection Items; Inspection of Property. 

 
7.1. Inspection Items. Within five (5) days after the Effective Date, Seller, at its cost 

and expense, shall deliver to Buyer the copies of the reports and information set out 
on EXHIBIT “B”, attached hereto (the “Inspection Items”); provided, however, 
any such reports shall be provided without any representation or warranty by Seller, 
written or oral, express or implied, as to the accuracy or completeness thereof 
excepting only that Seller will represent that, to its current actual knowledge, such 
Inspection Item does not contain any false or misleading statement of material fact.  
 

7.2. Engineering and Environmental Studies by Buyer. 
 

7.2.1. Property Inspection. 
 

(a) Inspection. During the Feasibility Period, Buyer and its agents shall have the 
right, at reasonable times and upon notice to Seller as required in this Section 
7.2.1, during normal business hours to enter upon the Property and to conduct 
soil, environmental and/or other studies or tests or reviews, which Buyer deems 
advisable at the expense of Buyer, so long as after the completion of any such 
studies, the Property is substantially returned to the condition existing prior to 
such studies (the “Property Inspection”).  
 

(b) Conduct of Inspection. Buyer shall not permit the Property Inspection to be 
conducted in any manner that creates or suffers to exist any unsafe or hazardous 



 Granite & Stone, LLC., EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 
 

 

Initials  ___Seller  ___ Buyer 
Page | 5  

 

condition on the Property or that unreasonably disturbs, interrupts, or interferes 
with any persons, including, without limitation, tenants or other occupants of 
the Property, or their employees, customers or invitees. Buyer shall give Seller 
written notice not less than two (2) business days prior to conducting any test 
or inspection that physically affects the Property such as soil borings, if any. 
Buyer shall not perform any test or inspection which will permanently alter or 
damage the Property, and at the end of the Feasibility Period, Buyer shall at 
Buyer's sole cost and expense, restore and replace any part of the Property 
altered or damaged as a result of the Property Inspection. Buyer shall timely 
pay all fees charged by Buyer's experts and shall not permit any claims to be 
made against Seller or permit any liens to be created against the Property by 
Buyer's experts.  

 
(c) Waiver; Allocation of Risk; Indemnity. The entry upon the Property by Buyer, 

Buyer's personnel and Buyer's experts shall be at their respective risks. 
SELLER SHALL NOT BE LIABLE TO BUYER, OR ANY OF BUYER'S 
PERSONNEL OR BUYER’S EXPERTS FOR, AND BUYER AGREES TO 
RELEASE, INDEMNIFY, DEFEND AND HOLD SELLER HARMLESS 
FROM, ANY CLAIMS BY ANY PERSON FOR INJURY, DAMAGES OR 
LOSS TO PERSONAL PROPERTY RESULTING FROM, INCIDENTAL 
TO, OR ARISING OUT OF THE CONDUCT OF THE PROPERTY 
INSPECTION OR THE ENTRY UPON THE PROPERTY BY BUYER, 
BUYER'S PERSONNEL AND BUYER'S EXPERTS, AND FROM ALL 
OUT-OF-POCKET COSTS INCURRED BY SELLER TO DEFEND 
AGAINST ANY SUCH CLAIMS, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, 
REASONABLE ATTORNEY'S FEES, EVEN IF THE NEGLIGENCE OR 
STRICT LIABILITY OF SELLER IS ALLEGED OR PROVED TO BE A 
CAUSE THEREOF; PROVIDED HOWEVER, THIS INDEMNITY SHALL 
NOT APPLY IF AND TO THE EXTENT THAT SELLER'S GROSS 
NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT IS A CAUSE THEREOF. 
This indemnification by Buyer shall survive the Closing or the termination of 
this Contract as applicable. All non-public information provided by Seller to 
Buyer or obtained by Buyer relating to the Property in the course of Buyer's 
review, including, without limitation, any environmental assessment or audit, 
shall be treated as confidential information by Buyer and Buyer shall instruct 
all of its employees, agents, representatives and contractors as to the 
confidentiality of all such information. 
 

7.2.2. Property Information. 
 

(a) Information. Seller acknowledges and agrees that the Inspection Items are the 
proprietary information belonging to Buyer. 
 

(b) Confidentiality. Prior to Closing, or if Closing shall not occur, then for five (5) 
years after the Effective Date, Buyer shall not disclose, without the prior written 
consent of the Seller, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, 



 Granite & Stone, LLC., EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 
 

 

Initials  ___Seller  ___ Buyer 
Page | 6  

 

delayed or conditioned, any of the Inspection Items or the information that is 
the product of the Property Inspection (collectively the “Property Information”) 
to any person other than (i) Buyer's personnel, (ii) Buyer's experts, attorneys, 
accountants, consultants, lenders and equity investors (who in each case shall 
also be advised in writing of this confidentiality covenant), (iii) any 
governmental agency to which Buyer has an obligation to disclose such 
Property Information or if any governmental agency requires or requests 
disclosure of such Property Information, provided Buyer provides to Seller 
written notice prior to such disclosure, and (iv) other persons who Buyer 
reasonably believes needs to know such information for one or more of the 
purposes stated in this Contract, and who, in each case, shall be informed by 
Buyer about the confidential nature of the Property Information. Buyer shall 
not be responsible for the disclosure of any of the Property Information by any 
person described above who has been informed by Buyer about the confidential 
nature of the Property Information. 
 

(c) Delivery of Inspection Items. In the event this Contract does not close for any 
reason, then, on or before ten (10) business days after the termination of this 
Contract, Buyer shall deliver to Seller copies of the Inspection Items in the 
possession of or under the control of any of Buyer's personnel or Buyer's experts 
and a copy of any Phase I or other environmental study secured by Buyer. The 
return of all Inspection Items in the possession of Buyer and a copy of any new 
environmental study to Seller shall be a condition of the return of the Earnest 
Money to Buyer upon the termination of this Contract. 

 
7.2.3. Survival. The covenants of Buyer regarding confidentiality and 

nondisclosure shall survive Closing or the earlier termination of this 
Contract, except in the event of the acquisition at Closing of the Property 
by Buyer as contemplated herein. 
 

7.3. Future Operations. From the date of this Contract until the Closing or earlier 
termination of this Contract, Seller will: 
 
(a) Promptly advise Buyer of any litigation, arbitration or administrative hearing 

concerning the Property arising or threatened to which Seller has notice and any 
breach of any representation or warranty of Seller; 
 

(b) Not transfer or encumber or permit any lien to be placed against all or a portion 
of the Property; and 

 
(c) Not enter into or acquiesce in the filing of any easement, license, plat or zoning 

change affecting the Property. 
 
8. Feasibility Period. 

 



 Granite & Stone, LLC., EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 
 

 

Initials  ___Seller  ___ Buyer 
Page | 7  

 

8.1. Feasibility Period. After the Effective Date of this Contract, Buyer shall have 
thirty (30) days from the Effective Date (the “Feasibility Period”) to review the 
deed restrictions, the Survey, and the Commitment to otherwise review and 
determine the general condition of the Property, in order to determine, in Buyer's 
sole and absolute discretion, if Buyer deems the purchase of the Property pursuant 
to this Contract to be economically and commercially advisable. The Feasibility 
Period may not be extended except as specifically provided in Section 6.3, above. 
 

8.2. Acceptance; Termination. 
 

8.2.1. Subject to the provision of Section 6.4 (Title and Survey Objections) and 
subject to other provisions in this Contract, if Buyer notifies Seller in 
writing, prior to the expiration of the Feasibility Period, as the case may be, 
that Buyer intends to purchase the Property (“Buyer’s Purchase Notice”), 
then in such event this Contract shall proceed to Closing after Replat as 
described immediately below, and all Earnest Money deposited shall be 
applied to the Purchase Price of the Property. 
 

(a) Re-Platting. Prior to the Closing Date, Seller shall use all commercially 
reasonable efforts to obtain all approvals necessary to replat Lot Number 1A, 
Block D, Bastrop Business and Industrial Park, to reflect the Property as a 
separately platted tract within the Bastrop Business and Industrial Park (the 
“Replat”) and cause the Replat to be filed in the Real Property Records of 
Bastrop County, Texas. Seller's ability to obtain all such approvals and record 
the replat shall be a contingency to Buyer’s obligation to close hereunder. Buyer 
will join with Seller in executing any applications, permits, replats, or related 
documents necessary to satisfy the Replat requirements. Seller shall be 
responsible for all costs associated with the Replat. In the event that after using 
all commercially reasonable efforts, Seller is unable to record the Replat within 
120 days of the Buyer’s purchase notice, and, in such event, neither party hereto 
shall have any further liability to the other hereunder, this Contract shall be null 
and void (except with respect to those items which specifically survive 
termination of Closing hereunder).  
 

8.2.2. If Buyer fails to advise Seller and the Title Company within the Feasibility 
Period that it intends to purchase the Property, subject to the provisions of 
Section 6.4 and subject to other provisions of this Contract, then in such 
event it shall be presumed that the Property is not suitable for Buyer’s 
intended use, and that Buyer does not elect to purchase the Property. If 
Buyer does not elect to purchase the Property pursuant to this Contract or 
otherwise is deemed to have not elected to purchase the Property, then the 
Title Company shall, without the necessity of securing Seller’s consent, 
immediately pay to Seller Two Hundred Fifty Dollars and No/100 
($250.00) out of the Earnest Money for the Feasibility Period, and then 
return to Buyer the balance of the Earnest Money deposited hereunder (plus 
all interest earned on the Earnest Money); and, in such event, neither party 



 Granite & Stone, LLC., EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 
 

 

Initials  ___Seller  ___ Buyer 
Page | 8  

 

hereto shall have any further liability to the other hereunder, and this 
Contract shall be null and void (except with respect to those items which 
specifically survive termination of Closing hereunder). 
 

8.3. Earnest Money. If Buyer does not terminate the Contract prior to the expiration of 
the Feasibility Period as provided in Section 8.2, subject to the provisions of Section 
6.4 and subject to other provisions of this Contract, then all of the Earnest Money 
shall become non-refundable, except as follows: (i) a “default” of Seller occurs as 
provided in Section 16.1, below, (ii) the occurrence of a material Casualty as 
provided in Section 13.1, below, or (iii) an event of Condemnation as provided in 
Section 13.2, below. 

 
9. Development Requirements. Buyer shall develop the property in accordance with the 

terms of Buyer’s obligations under the Performance Agreement. This section shall survive 
the Closing Date. 

 
10. Representations. 
 

10.1. Seller’s Representations. Seller hereby represents, warrants and covenants to 
Buyer that the following representations shall be true as of, and shall survive, the 
Closing Date: 
 
10.1.1. Title. Seller has legal, equitable, indefeasible and insurable title to the 

Property, and no other person or entity has any claim, right, title, interest or 
lien of any kind in, to or on said Property, included but not limited to any 
lease covering all or any part of the Property to any third party or entity, 
except as may otherwise be shown on the Commitment and recorded in the 
Official Public Records of the Bastrop County Clerk; 
 

(a) Organization. Seller is a Texas municipal industrial development corporation 
duly created and validly existing, pursuant to the law of the jurisdiction of its 
organization and is duly qualified to do business in Texas; 
 

(b) Authority. Seller is authorized and empowered to enter into this Contract and 
perform all of its obligations under this Contract, no consent of any third party 
or governmental agency is required, and this Contract constitutes a legal, valid, 
and binding obligation of Seller enforceable in accordance with its terms. The 
person signing this Contract on behalf of the Seller has been duly authorized to 
sign and deliver this Contract on behalf of Seller; 

 
(c) Prior use. To the current actual knowledge of Seller (without any duty of 

independent inquiry), no portion of the Property is or has been used as a 
cemetery or graveyard; 

 
(d) Possession. Other than Buyer, there are no parties in possession of any portion 

of the Property as lessees, tenants at sufferance, or trespassers; 



 Granite & Stone, LLC., EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 
 

 

Initials  ___Seller  ___ Buyer 
Page | 9  

 

 
 

(e) Environmental. Except as otherwise provided by the information provided in 
any environmental study secured by Buyer during the Feasibility Period, to the 
current actual knowledge of Seller (without any duty of independent inquiry), 
the Property is free from and/or has not been used for the storage, manufacture, 
release, treatment, abatement, or disposal of any Hazardous Materials, other 
than the use, handling, storage, or sale of any such materials in insignificant 
quantities in accordance with all applicable laws. “Hazardous Materials” shall 
mean: (i) any “hazardous waste” as defined by the Resource Conservation and 
Recovery Act of 1976 (42 U.S.C. Section 6901 et. seq.), as amended from time 
to time, and regulations promulgated thereunder (“RCRA”), and (ii) any 
“hazardous substance” as defined by the Comprehensive Environmental 
Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980 (42 U.S.C. Section 9601 et. 
seq.) (“CERCLA”), as amended from time to time, and the regulations 
promulgated thereunder. 
 

For the purpose of this Contract, any representation, warranty or covenant of Seller 
provided herein, is made to the “current actual knowledge” of the following representatives 
of Seller (and no other representatives of Seller): Shawn Kirkpatrick, Bastrop EDC 
Executive Director, and Camilo Chavez, Bastrop EDC Board Chair. Any such statements 
are not predicated upon constructive knowledge and no inquiry has been made or expected 
to be made as a basis for such statement. All representations and warranties of Seller made 
herein shall survive the Closing for a period of two (2) years following the Closing Date. 
 
10.2. Buyer’s Representations. Buyer represents and warrants to Seller that the 

following representations shall be true as of, and shall survive, the Closing Date: 
 
(a) Organization and Existence. Buyer is a Texas Limited Liability Company, duly 

organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the state of 
its formation and duly qualified to do business in the State of Texas and has all 
requisite power to enter into and perform under the terms of this Contract 
without any qualification whatsoever. 
 

(b) Authority. The execution, delivery and performance by Buyer of this Contract 
has been duly authorized by managers, directors or partners, as the case may 
be, and no further action is necessary on the part of Buyer to make this Contract 
valid, binding and enforceable. Neither the execution, delivery nor performance 
by Buyer of this Contract will conflict with or result in a violation of breach of 
any term or provision of nor constitute a default under any of the organizational 
or trust documents of Buyer. This Contract is executed below on behalf of 
Buyer by David J. Alarid, President. Buyer specifically represents and affirms 
that under the constituent documents of Buyer, David J. Alarid the personal 
authority, without the necessity of securing the consent of the other, to 
individually execute any of the future agreements contemplated under this 
Contract or otherwise bind the Buyer with respect to any other matter. 



 Granite & Stone, LLC., EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 
 

 

Initials  ___Seller  ___ Buyer 
Page | 10  

 

 
(c) Experienced Investor. Buyer has, to its satisfaction, examined the general real 

property and market conditions in Bastrop, Bastrop County, Texas. Buyer is 
able to evaluate an investment in property in such location. 
 

(d) Litigation. There are no material claims, actions, suits, proceedings or 
investigations pending, or to the current actual knowledge of officers and 
directors of Buyer, without any duty of independent inquiry, threatened against 
Buyer which could reasonably be expected to materially impair the ability of 
Buyer to fulfill and perform its obligations under this Contract. 

 
11. Closing. 

 
11.1. Closing Date. The purchase and sale of the Property shall be closed in the offices 

of the Title Company on or before ten (10) days following the recordation of the 
Replat, or on an earlier date if requested by Buyer (the “Closing” or “Closing 
Date”). The Parties may agree to an earlier closing date, and in the event of closing 
on the agreed date it shall be irrefutably presumed that Buyer waived any objections 
to Title, Survey or otherwise. 
 

11.2. Seller’s Obligations at Closing. At Closing, Seller, at Seller’s expense, shall 
deliver to Buyer:  

 
(a) Closing Documents. (1) A Special Warranty Deed, substantially in the same 

form as EXHIBIT “C”; Closing Documents to be in forms reasonably 
acceptable to Buyer and Seller. The Deed shall convey legal, equitable and 
indefeasible title in fee simple to the Property, free and clear of any and all liens, 
encumbrances, conditions, easements, assessments, restrictions, and other 
conditions except for the following: (1) taxes for the year of Closing and 
subsequent years not yet due and payable; (2) Seller’s reservation of the oil, gas 
and non-surface other minerals in and under the Property; (3) restrictions 
against using the Property for any purpose not allowed by the EDC’s Sixth 
Amended Protective Covenants for the Bastrop Business and Industrial Park or 
any sexually oriented business; (4) the covenants to comply with Buyer’s 
obligations under the Performance Agreement; and (5) the Permitted 
Exceptions. 
 

(b) Title Policy. An Owner’s Title Policy of insurance issued in the cash portion 
amount of the Purchase Price insuring legal, equitable and indefeasible title to 
the Property, free and clear of all restrictions, easements, and other matters of 
record, except for the Permitted Exceptions, and all taxes for the year of Closing 
and subsequent years. 

 
(c) Non-Foreign Affidavit. An Affidavit of Seller certifying that Seller is not a 

“foreign person” as defined in the Federal Foreign Investment and Real 
Property Tax Act of 1980, and the 1984 Tax Reform Act, as amended. 



 Granite & Stone, LLC., EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 
 

 

Initials  ___Seller  ___ Buyer 
Page | 11  

 

 
(d) Evidence of Authority. Copy of Seller’s resolutions, certified as true and 

complete as of the Closing Date, authorizing Seller to sell the Property pursuant 
to this Contract, and evidencing the authority of the person signing this Contract 
and any documents to be executed by Seller at Closing. 

 
(e) Other Documents. Such other documents and instruments as are reasonably 

required by the Title Company in connection with the issuance of its title 
insurance policy to Buyer. 
 

11.3. Buyer’s Obligations at Closing. At the Closing, Buyer shall deliver to Seller the 
following: 
 
(a) Purchase Price. The Purchase Price including the cash payment by wire transfer 

of immediately available funds; and the right of first refusal; and the 
commitment letter. 
 

(b) Evidence of Authority. Copy of Buyer’s resolutions, certified as true and 
complete as of the Closing Date, evidencing the authority of the person signing 
this Contract and any documents to be executed by Buyer at Closing. 

 
(c) Other Documents. Such other documents and instruments as are reasonably 

required by the Title Company in connection with the issuance of its title 
insurance policy to Buyer. 

 
11.4. Closing Costs. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the 

Closing Costs shall be paid as follows: 
 

By Seller: 
 

(a) The base title insurance examination and premium;  
(b) Preparation of Special Warranty Deed; 
(c) Seller’s attorneys’ fees; 
(d) One-half of the escrow fee, if any; 
(e) Brokerage fee, if any, as outlined in Section 17 herein; and 
(f) Recording fees (except recording fees to be paid by Buyer, as provided, below). 
(g) Costs to secure new survey if current survey is not acceptable by Title Company 

for purposes set out in section 6.1. 
 

 By Buyer: 
 

(a) Preparation of Mortgage, Deed of Trust or other applicable financing 
instruments associated with any financing secured by Buyer; 

(b) Any additional engineering reports, environmental reports, appraisals, or other 
reports or studies required by Buyer; 

(c) Recording fees associated with any financing secured by Buyer;  



 Granite & Stone, LLC., EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 
 

 

Initials  ___Seller  ___ Buyer 
Page | 12  

 

(d) Buyer’s attorneys’ fees; 
(e) One-half of the escrow fee, if any; and 
(f) The Survey deletion fee or other specific endorsement fee for Title Insurance 

purposes. 
 

12. Proration. All real estate taxes and other assessments for the year of Closing shall be 
prorated as of the date of Closing. If Closing shall occur before the tax rate is fixed for the 
then current year, proration of the taxes shall be upon the basis of the tax rate for the 
preceding year and the same shall be adjusted when the rate for the current year is fixed. 
Buyer shall be responsible for paying any subsequent assessments for prior years due to 
change in land usage. 

 
13. Casualty; Condemnation. 

 
13.1. Casualty. The risk of loss or damage to the Property by any casualty (a “Casualty”) 

shall, until Closing, be borne by Buyer as leaseholder.  
 

13.2. Condemnation. In the event any part of the Property is condemned before Closing 
(a “Condemnation”), Buyer shall have the option of notifying Seller in writing after 
learning of such Condemnation action of its desire to terminate this Contract, in 
which event Buyer shall receive a return of all of its Earnest Money, less $250.00 
out of such Earnest Money to be paid to Seller as independent option consideration. 
If (i) the Contract is not terminated pursuant to the preceding sentence, and (ii) the 
Condemnation occurs prior to Buyer’s purchase of the Property, then in either of 
such events, the Purchase Price of the Property shall not be affected, it being agreed 
that if the award is paid prior to Closing of this transaction, such amount shall be 
held in escrow and delivered to Buyer at the Closing; and if the award has not been 
paid before the Closing, that, at the Closing, Seller shall assign to Buyer all of its 
right, title and interest with respect to such award and shall further execute any 
other instruments requested by Buyer to assure that such award is paid to Buyer. If 
Buyer elects to purchase the Property, it shall have the right to contest the 
Condemnation of the Property and/or the award resulting therefrom in conjunction 
with Seller. 

 
14. Assignment. Buyer shall not have any right to assign this Contract without the prior written 

consent of Seller. 
 
15. Disclosures. 

 
15.1. Disclaimer regarding Representations and Warranties of Seller. BUYER 

ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT BUYER IS EXPERIENCED IN THE 
OWNERSHIP AND OPERATION OF PROPERTIES SIMILAR TO THE 
PROPERTY AND THAT BUYER PRIOR TO THE CLOSING DATE HAS 
INSPECTED THE PROPERTY TO ITS SATISFACTION AND IS QUALIFIED 
TO MAKE SUCH INSPECTION. BUYER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT IS 
FULLY RELYING ON BUYER’S (OR BUYER’S REPRESENTATIVES’) 



 Granite & Stone, LLC., EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 
 

 

Initials  ___Seller  ___ Buyer 
Page | 13  

 

INSPECTIONS OF THE PROPERTY AND NOT UPON ANY STATEMENTS 
(ORAL OR WRITTEN) WHICH MAY HAVE BEEN MADE OR MAY BE 
MADE (OR PURPORTEDLY MADE) BY SELLER OR ANY OF SELLER’S 
REPRESENTATIVES. BUYER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT BUYER HAS (OR 
BUYER’S REPRESENTATIVES HAVE), OR PRIOR TO THE DATE WILL 
HAVE, THOROUGHLY INSPECTED AND EXAMINED THE PROPERTY TO 
THE EXTENT DEEMED NECESSARY BY BUYER IN ORDER TO ENABLE 
BUYER TO EVALUATE THE CONDITION OF THE PROPERTY AND ALL 
OTHER ASPECTS OF THE PROPERTY (INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED 
TO, THE ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITION OF THE PROPERTY). BUYER 
ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT SELLER HAS NOT MADE, DOES 
NOT MAKE ANY AGREEMENTS OR GUARANTEES OF ANY KIND OR 
CHARACTER WHATSOEVER, WHETHER EXPRESS RESPECT TO (A) THE 
MANNER, CONSTRUCTION, CONDITION, AND STATE OF REPAIR OR 
LACK OF REPAIR OF ANY IMPROVEMENTS LOCATED ON THE 
PROPERTY, (B) THE NATURE AND EXTENT OF ANY RIGHT OF WAY, 
LEASE, POSSESSION, LIEN, ENCUMBRANCE, LICENSE, RESERVATION, 
CONDITION OR OTHERWISE THAT MAY EFFECT THE PROPERTY, (C) 
THE NATURE, QUALITY OR CONDITION OF THE PROPERTY, 
INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, THE WATER, SOIL AND 
GEOLOGY, (D) THE INCOME TO BE DERIVED FROM OR THE EXPENSES 
GENERATED BY THE PROPERTY, (E) THE SUITABILITY OF THE 
PROPERTY FOR ANY AND ALL ACTIVITIES AND USES WHICH BUYER 
MAY CONDUCT THEREON, (F) THE COMPLIANCE OF OR BY THE 
PROPERTY FOR ITS OPERATION WITH ANY LAWS, RULES. ORDINANCE 
(INCLUDING ZONING ORDINANCE, IF ANY) OR REGULATIONS OF ANY 
APPLICABLE GOVERNMENTAL AUTHORITY OR BODY, (G) THE 
HABITABILITY, MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR 
PURPOSE OF THE PROPERTY, OR (H) ANY OTHER MATTER WITH 
RESPECT TO THE PROPERTY, AND SPECIFICALLY, THAT 
REPRESENTATIONS REGARDING ANY HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCE OR 
TOXIC MATERIALS (INCLUDING ANY ASBESTOS, UNDERGROUND 
STORAGE TANKS OR ANY OTHER SUBSTANCE WHICH IS PROHIBITED 
BY STATE OR FEDERAL LAW), OR SOLID WASTE AS DEFINED BY THE 
COMPREHENSIVE ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSE COMPENSATION AND 
LIABILITY ACT OF 1980, AS AMENDED AND REGULATIONS 
PROMULGATED THEREUNDER. BUYER FURTHER ACKNOWLEDGES 
AND AGREES THAT HAVING BEEN GIVEN THE OPPORTUNITY TO 
INSPECT THE PROPERTY, BUYER IS RELYING SOLELY ON ITS OWN 
INVESTIGATION OF THE PROPERTY AND NOT ON ANY INFORMATION 
PROVIDED BY SELLER. BUYER FURTHER ACKNOWLEDGES AND 
AGREES THAT ANY INFORMATION PROVIDED OR TO BE PROVIDED 
WITH RESPECT TO THE PROPERTY WAS OBTAINED FROM A VARIETY 
OF SOURCES AND THAT SELLER HAS NOT MADE ANY INDEPENDENT 
INVESTIGATION OR VERIFICATION OF SUCH INFORMATION AND 
MAKES NO REPRESENTATIONS AS TO THE ACCURACY OR 



 Granite & Stone, LLC., EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 
 

 

Initials  ___Seller  ___ Buyer 
Page | 14  

 

COMPLETENESS OF SUCH INFORMATION. BUYER FURTHER 
ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT THE CONVEYANCE OF THE 
PROPERTY AS PROVIDED FOR HEREIN IS MADE ON AN “AS-IS” 
CONDITION AND BASIS WITH ALL FAULTS, BUYER HEREBY WAIVES, 
RELEASES, ACQUITS AND FOREVER DISCHARGES GRANTOR, 
GRANTOR’S EMPLOYEES, AGENTS AND ANY OTHER PERSON ACTING 
ON BEHALF OF GRANTOR, OF AND FROM ANY CLAIMS, ACTIONS, 
CAUSES OF ACTION, DEMANDS, RIGHTS, DAMAGES, LIABILITIES, 
COST AND EXPENSES WHATSOEVER (INCLUDING COURT COSTS AND 
ATTORNEY’S FEES), DIRECT OR INDIRECT, KNOWN OR  UNKNOWN, 
OR FORESEEN OR UNFORESEEN, WHICH BUYER NOW HAS OR WHICH 
MAY ARISE IN THE FUTURE, ON ACCOUNT OF OR IN ANY WAY 
GROWING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE PHYSICAL 
CONDITIONS OF THE PROPERTY OR ANY LAW, STATUTE, ORDINANCE, 
RULE OR REGULATIONS OF ANY GOVERNMENTAL OR QUASI-
GOVERNMENTAL AUTHORITY APPLICABLE THERETO. The above 
provision will appear in the Deed. 
 

15.2. Statutory Disclosures. Buyer is hereby provided the following notices required by 
law, or otherwise. 

 
15.2.1. Notice Regarding Title. The Texas Real Estate License Act requires a real 

estate agent to advise Buyer that he should have an attorney examine an 
abstract of title to the Property being purchased; or a title insurance policy 
should be obtained. Notice to that effect is hereby given to Buyer. 
 

15.2.2. Notice Regarding Possible Liability for Additional Taxes (Texas 
Property Code-Section 5.01). If for the current ad valorem tax year the 
taxable value of the Property that is the subject of this Contract is 
determined by a special appraisal method that allows for appraisal of the 
Property at less than its market value, the person to whom the Property is 
transferred may not be allowed to qualify the Property for that special 
appraisal in a subsequent tax year and the Property may then be appraised 
at its full market value. In addition, the transfer of the Property or a 
subsequent change in the use of the Property may result in the imposition 
of an additional tax plus interest as a penalty for the transfer or the change 
in the use of the Property. The taxable value of the Property and the 
applicable method of appraisal for the current tax year is public information 
and may be obtained from the tax appraisal district established for the 
county in which the Property is located. 

 
15.2.3. Annexation Disclosures. The Property is located within the Corporate 

Limits of Bastrop, Texas. 
 

15.2.4. Notice of Water and Sewer Service. Pursuant to Section 13.257 of the 
Texas Water Code, Seller provides Buyer with the following notice: 



 Granite & Stone, LLC., EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 
 

 

Initials  ___Seller  ___ Buyer 
Page | 15  

 

 
“The Property that you are about to purchase is located in the water service 
area and the sewer service area of City of Bastrop Utilities, which is the 
utility service provider authorized by law to provide water or sewer service 
to your property. No other retail public utility is authorized to provide water 
or sewer service to your property. There may be special costs or charges 
that you will be required to pay before you can receive water or sewer 
service. There may be a period required to construct lines or other facilities 
necessary to provide water or sewer service to your property. You are 
advised to contact the utility service provider to determine the cost that you 
will be required to pay and the period, if any, that is required to provide 
water or sewer service to your property.” 

 
The undersigned Buyer hereby acknowledges receipt of the foregoing notice at or before 
the execution of a binding contract for the purchase of the real property described in the 
notice or at closing of purchase of the real property. At the Closing, Buyer agrees to execute 
a separate copy of the foregoing notice with current information, in a form required by 
Section 13.257 of the Texas Water Code, to be subsequently recorded in the real property 
records of the county in which the Property is located. 

 
16. Default. 

 
16.1. Default of Seller. In the event Seller is in default of its obligations under this 

Contract, Buyer, at its option, shall be entitled, as Buyer’s sole remedies hereunder, 
to either (i) secure a refund of the full amount of the Earnest Money as liquidated 
damages, or (ii) enforce specific performance of the terms of this Contract; 
however, Seller shall not be in default hereunder unless and until Buyer has 
provided written notice to Seller of the basis for any such default and Seller has 
failed to cure such matter within ten (10) days of its receipt of such notice. No delay 
or omission in the exercise of any right or remedy accruing to Buyer upon any 
default of Seller under this Contract shall impair any such right or remedy or be 
construed as waiver of such default or any default theretofore or thereafter 
occurring. The waiver by Buyer of any condition or event of default shall not be 
deemed to be a waiver of any other condition or of any prior or subsequent event 
of default. 
 

16.2. Default of Buyer. Except as provided below, on the failure of Buyer to 
consummate this Contract for any reason or otherwise perform any of Buyer’s 
obligations hereunder [other than (i) a termination or deemed termination permitted 
on the terms of this Contract, or (ii) a default by Seller or Seller’s inability to convey 
title to the Property in accordance with this Contract], then Seller shall retain all 
Earnest Money as liquidated damages and this shall be Seller’s sole remedy for the 
Buyer’s breach of this Contract; however, Buyer shall not be in default hereunder 
unless and until Seller has provided written notice to Buyer of the basis for any 
such default and Buyer has failed to cure such matter within ten (10) days of its 
receipt of such notice. Seller and Buyer agree that it is difficult to determine, with 



 Granite & Stone, LLC., EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 
 

 

Initials  ___Seller  ___ Buyer 
Page | 16  

 

any degree of certainty, the loss which Seller would incur in the event of Buyer’s 
failure to close the purchase of the Property, and the parties have agreed that the 
amount of the Earnest Money represents a reasonable estimate of such loss and is 
intended as a liquidated damages provision. 

 
17. Real Estate Commission. Neither Seller nor buyer has engaged the services of a real estate 

broker to facilitate this transaction. Seller hereby indemnifies and holds Buyer harmless 
from any and all real estate commissions, claims for such commissions or similar fees on 
this transaction arising in any manner out of any commitment or promise or agreement 
made by Seller. Buyer hereby indemnifies and holds Seller harmless from any and all real 
estate commissions, claims for such commissions or similar fees on this transaction arising 
in any manner out of any commitment or promise or agreement made by Buyer. 

 
18. Obligations Surviving Termination or Closing. Notwithstanding anything herein to the 

contrary, the following items shall survive the Closing or earlier termination of this 
Contract: (i) the indemnity provided in Section 7.2; (ii) the obligation of Buyer to return 
the Inspection Items and the Property Information, and the agreement of confidentiality as 
provided in Section 7.2.2, except in the event of the acquisition at Closing of the Property 
by Buyer as contemplated herein; (iii) the disclaimer regarding representations and 
warranties as provided in Section 15; (iv) Buyer's representations as set forth in Section 
10.2; and (v) Seller's representations and warranties set forth in Section 10.1. In addition 
to Seller's right to terminate the Contract and receive all of the Earnest Money, in the event 
of a default by Buyer involving the sections referenced in (i) through (iv), above, but only 
these sections, Seller shall retain such additional rights and remedies at law and at equity 
necessary to enforce the obligations of Buyer created in such sections.  

 
19. Miscellaneous. 

 
19.1. Controlling Law. This Contract has been made and entered into under the laws of 

the State of Texas, and said laws shall control the interpretation thereof. 
 

19.2. Pre-suit Notice. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary each party shall 
provide the other party at least 90 days prior to instituting any legal proceeding 
against the other party wherein this Agreement is the subject matter of such legal 
proceeding in whole or part. 

 
19.3. Time. Time is of the essence of this Contract; however, if the final date of any 

period which is set out in any provision of this Contract falls on a Saturday, Sunday 
or legal holiday under the Laws of the United States or the State of Texas, then in 
such event, the time of such period shall be extended to the next day which is not a 
Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday.  

 
19.4. Notices. All notices and other communications required or permitted to be given 

hereunder shall be in writing and shall be sent by either confirmed receipt by 
facsimile or mailed by certified or registered mail, postage prepaid, express mail, 
or a national overnight carrier, addressed or faxed to the address annexed to the 



 Granite & Stone, LLC., EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 
 

 

Initials  ___Seller  ___ Buyer 
Page | 17  

 

signature block of the respective parties below, provided that copies shall be 
provided simultaneously to Seller’s attorney at: habib.erkan@rampage-sa.com and 
to Buyer’s attorney at: ___________________. The parties reserve the right to 
change such address or facsimile numbers or email addresses as either party may 
from time to time designate by giving notice in writing to the other party. 

 
19.5. FIRPTA Withholding Tax. Seller represents and warrants that it is not a foreign 

corporation, foreign partnership, foreign trust or foreign estate as those terms are 
defined in the Internal Revenue Code and the regulations issued thereunder, and 
Seller agrees to execute, acknowledge and deliver to Buyer at Closing a 
certification of non-foreign status and any form as may be required by the Internal 
Revenue Code of the regulations issued thereunder. Affidavits shall be provided as 
to Federal I.D. numbers and to all taxes and forms being paid and filed. 

 
19.6. Entire Agreement. This written contract constitutes the entire and complete 

agreement between the parties hereto. It is expressly understood that (i) there are 
no verbal understandings or agreements which may change the terms, covenants 
and conditions herein set forth, (ii) no modification of this Contract and no waiver 
of any of the terms and conditions shall be effective unless made in writing and 
duly executed by the parties hereto, and (iii) no party is relying on any oral or 
written representations in entering into this Contract except as specifically provided 
herein. 

 
19.7. Binding Effect. All covenants, agreements, warranties and provisions of this 

Contract shall be binding upon and inure to the parties hereto and their respective 
successors and assigns. 

 
19.8. Recitals. The recitals to this Agreement are hereby incorporated herein for all 

purposes. 
 
19.9. Counterparts. This Contract may be executed in as many counterparts as may be 

required and it shall be sufficient that the signature of each party appear on one or 
more such counterparts. All counterparts shall collectively constitute a single 
agreement. 

 
The remainder of this page is intentionally blank and signature pages follow: 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

habib.erkan@rampage-sa.com


 Granite & Stone, LLC., EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 
 

 

Initials  ___Seller  ___ Buyer 
Page | 18  

 

EXECUTED to be effective as of the Effective Date provided herein. 
 

SELLER: BASTROP ECONOMIC  
DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 
 
 
 
By:  _______________________________ 
Name:  _____________________________ 
Title:  ______________________________ 
 
BUYER: GRANITE & STONE, LLC. 
 
 
 
By:  _______________________________ 
 David J. Alarid, President    

 
 
 

 
 

[TITLE COMPANY SIGNATURES ON NEXT PAGE] 
 

  



 Granite & Stone, LLC., EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 
 

 

Initials  ___Seller  ___ Buyer 
Page | 19  

 

Receipt of this Earnest Money Contract is acknowledged this _____ day of July, 2017. 
 

TITLE COMPANY 
 
INDEPENDENCE TITLE 
301 Hwy 71 W, Suite 106, Bastrop, TX 78602 

 
 

By:_______________________________________ 
Printed Name:______________________________ 
Title:_____________________________________ 
 
 

 
 
Receipt of Earnest Money in the amount of $5,000.00 is hereby acknowledged this ____ day of 
July, 2017. 
 

TITLE COMPANY 
 
 
By:_______________________________________ 
Printed Name:______________________________ 
Title:_____________________________________ 
 
 

 
NOTICE TO TITLE COMPANY. Upon receipt, please deliver dated and executed copies of this 
Earnest Money Contract to: 
 

Attorney for City of Laredo: 
Habib H. Erkan Jr. 
Denton, Navarro, Rocha & Bernal, P.C. 
2517 North Main 
San Antonio, Texas 78212 
Phone:  (210) 227-3243 
Fax:  (210) 227-3243 
 
 
Seller’s Attorney 

  



 Granite & Stone, LLC., EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 
 

 

Initials  ___Seller  ___ Buyer 
Page | 20  

 

EXHIBIT “A” TO EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 
RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL 

  



 Granite & Stone, LLC., EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 
 

 

Initials  ___Seller  ___ Buyer 
Page | 21  

 

STATE OF TEXAS     § 
       § 
COUNTY OF BASTROP    § 

Right of First Refusal Agreement 

DATE:     JULY ___, 2017 

GRANTOR:     GRANITE & STONE, LLC. 
 
GRANTOR’S MAILING ADDRESS:  8004 Two Coves Drive Austin, Travis County, 

Texas, 78730 
 
GRANTEE:     BASTROP ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT  
      CORPORATION  
 
GRANTEE’S MAILING ADDRESS: 301 Highway 71 W, Suite 214 
 Bastrop, Bastrop County, Texas 78602 
 
CONSIDERATION: Ten Dollars, and other good and valuable consideration in hand paid, the 
Receipt, Sufficiency and Fairness of which consideration is hereby Acknowledged and Confessed. 

 
PROPERTY (INCLUDING ANY IMPROVEMENTS): A tract of land comprised of 5.5 acres, 
more or less, being {TO BE DESCRIBED WHEN REPLAT IS RECORDED AND 
DESCRIPTION ADDED TO THIS AGREEMENT BEFORE CLOSING} of the Bastrop Business 
and Industrial Park, Bastrop County, Texas, as per Plat recorded in ________________________, 
Bastrop County Plat Records, as more particularly described in Exhibit “A”. 
 
A. GRANT 

A.1. Grantor grants to Grantee a right of first offer to acquire the Property, said Grant 
being effective for seventy-two (72) months after the Effective Date (the “Term”). 

A.2. During the Term, if Grantor receives an offer for the sale or other transfer of the 
Property or any portion thereof or interest therein for any form of consideration that Grantor wishes 
to accept, Grantor agrees to notify Grantee in writing before accepting the offer. The notice will 
state the identity of the proposed transferee and the complete terms of the proposed transfer. If the 
proposed consideration for the transfer is other than cash, the notice will also state the cash 
equivalent reasonably determined by the Grantor for the noncash consideration. 

A.3. Grantee will have the right to purchase the Property on the terms set forth in 
Grantor’s notice by giving written notice to Grantor within thirty-days following the receipt of 
Grantor’s notice. If Grantee affirmatively exercises such right, the Property will be transferred to 
Grantee, and Grantee will pay to Grantor the consideration on the terms set forth in the notice from 
Grantor. 



 Granite & Stone, LLC., EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 
 

 

Initials  ___Seller  ___ Buyer 
Page | 22  

 

A.4. If Grantee does not affirmatively exercise its right within the thirty-day period, 
Grantor may transfer the Property to the party and on the terms described in Grantor’s notice to 
Grantee within the 120-day period following the expiration of the thirty-day period. If a transfer 
is not consummated within the 120-day period, Grantor may not transfer the Property without 
again complying with the provisions of this Agreement. If Grantor wishes to effect a transfer on 
terms that are less favorable to Grantor than those described in Grantor’s notice, Grantor must 
repeat the process set forth in this Agreement by giving a new notice to Grantee setting forth the 
new terms. If Grantor timely consummates a transfer, this Agreement will automatically terminate 
when the Property is conveyed to the party named in Grantor’s notice to Grantee. 

A.5. If an offer received by Grantor calls for delivery of a promissory note or other 
deferred payment obligation, the promissory note or other deferred payment obligation of Grantee 
will be deemed equivalent to those offered. 

A.6. If any offer provides for noncash consideration, Grantee disputes Grantor’s 
determination of the value of the noncash consideration set forth in Grantor’s notice, and Grantor 
and Grantee cannot resolve the dispute within five (5) business days after Grantee gives notice of 
the dispute to Grantor, the matter will be submitted to binding arbitration in Bastrop, Texas, under 
the Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association by a single arbitrator, 
and the determination of such arbitrator shall be binding on both parties. The thirty-day period for 
exercise of Grantee’s rights will be tolled during the period the arbitration proceeding is pending. 

A.7. The rights granted in this Agreement expire at the end of the Term. 

B. Transfers by Gift, Devise, Descent, or Otherwise without Consideration 

If the Property is transferred by gift, devise, descent, or another transaction that does not 
involve the payment of consideration in any form, the provisions of this Agreement will be fully 
binding on the person acquiring title to the Property in that transaction. 

C. Recordation 

Grantee may record this Agreement or a memorandum of this Agreement in the real 
property records of Bastrop County, Texas. Grantee will, on request, execute and record a release 
of this Agreement following its expiration or termination. 

D. Assignment 

Grantee may not assign its rights under this Agreement. 

E. Notices 

Any notice required or permitted under this Agreement must be in writing. Any notice 
required by this Agreement will be deemed to be delivered (whether actually received or not) when 
deposited in the United States Postal Service, postage prepaid, certified mail, return receipt 
requested, and addressed to the intended recipient at the address shown in this Agreement. Notice 
may also be given by regular mail, personal delivery, courier delivery, facsimile transmission, or 
other commercially reasonable means and will be effective when actually received. Notice may 



 Granite & Stone, LLC., EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 
 

 

Initials  ___Seller  ___ Buyer 
Page | 23  

 

not be given by email. Any address for notice may be changed by written notice delivered as 
provided herein. 

 
Executed to be effective as the date set out above. 
 
 
GRANTOR: 

GRANITE & STONE, LLC. 
 
STATE OF TEXAS  § 
COUNTY OF TRAVIS§ 
  
This instrument was acknowledged before me on the _________ day of __________, 2017, by 
David J. Alarid, President of Granite & Stone, LLC., on behalf of said limited liability company.  
 

GRANTEE 
BASTROP ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION 
 
By:  _______________________________ 
Name:  ___________________   
Title:  ____________________     

 
STATE OF TEXAS   X  
COUNTY OF BASTROP  X 

 
This information was acknowledged before me on this   day of    , 2017, 
by     ,     for the Bastrop Economic Development 
Corporation, a Texas non-profit industrial development corporation, on behalf of said corporation. 
 
             
             
        Notary Public, State of Texas 
 
 
  



 Granite & Stone, LLC., EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 
 

 

Initials  ___Seller  ___ Buyer 
Page | 24  

 

 

EXHIBIT “A” TO RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE  PROPERTY 

 
{INSERT REPLAT WHEN RECORDED} 

  



 Granite & Stone, LLC., EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 
 

 

Initials  ___Seller  ___ Buyer 
Page | 25  

 

EXHIBIT “B” TO EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 
INSPECTION ITEMS 

  



 Granite & Stone, LLC., EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 
 

 

Initials  ___Seller  ___ Buyer 
Page | 26  

 

Seller’s Records 
 

To the extent that Seller has possession or control of the following items pertaining to the 
Property, Seller will deliver or make the items or copies of them available to Buyer by the deadline 
stated in paragraph 7.1.: 

Governmental 

• Governmental licenses, certificates, permits, and approvals 
• Tax statements for the current year and the last three years 
• Notices of appraised value for the current year and the last three years 
• Records of any tax exemption, special use, or other valuation or exemption 

applicable to the Property 
• Records of regulatory proceedings or violations (for example, condemnation, 

environmental) 

Land 

• Soil reports 
• Environmental reports and other information regarding the environmental 

condition of the Property 
• Water rights 
• Engineering reports 
• Prior surveys 
• Site plans 

Licenses, Agreements, and Encumbrances 

All licenses, agreements, and encumbrances (including all amendments and exhibits) 
affecting title to or use of the Property that have not been recorded in the real property 
records of the county or counties in which the Property is located. 

 

  



 Granite & Stone, LLC., EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 
 

 

Initials  ___Seller  ___ Buyer 
Page | 27  

 

EXHIBIT “C” 
TO EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 

SPECIAL WARRANTY DEED  



 Granite & Stone, LLC., EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 
 

 

Initials  ___Seller  ___ Buyer 
Page | 28  

 

STATE OF TEXAS     § 
       § 
COUNTY OF BASTROP    § 

 
SPECIAL WARRANTY DEED 

 

NOTICE OF CONFIDENTIALITY RIGHTS: IF YOU ARE A NATURAL PERSON, YOU 
MAY REMOVE OR STRIKE ANY OF THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION FROM THIS 
INSTRUMENT BEFORE IT IS FILED FOR RECORD IN THE PUBLIC RECORDS: 
YOUR SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBERS OR YOUR DRIVER’S LICENSE NUMBER. 

DATE:     JULY ___, 2017 

GRANTOR:     BASTROP ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT  
      CORPORATION 

GRANTOR’S MAILING ADDRESS:  301 Highway 71 W, Suite 214 
 Bastrop, Bastrop County, Texas 78602 
 
GRANTEE:     GRANITE & STONE, LLC. 
 
GRANTEE’S MAILING ADDRESS: 8004 Two Coves Drive Austin, Travis County, 

Texas, 78730 
 
CONSIDERATION: Ten Dollars, and other good and valuable consideration in hand paid, the 
Receipt, Sufficiency and Fairness of which consideration is hereby Acknowledged and Confessed. 
 
PROPERTY (INCLUDING ANY IMPROVEMENTS): A tract of land comprised of 5.5 acres, 
more or less, being {TO BE DESCRIBED WHEN REPLAT IS RECORDED AND 
DESCRIPTION ADDED TO THIS AGREEMENT BEFORE CLOSING} of the Bastrop Business 
and Industrial Park, Bastrop County, Texas, as per Plat recorded in ________________________, 
Bastrop County Plat Records, as more particularly described in Exhibit “A”. 

 
RESERVATIONS FROM CONVEYANCE:  For Grantor and Grantor’s heirs, successors, and 
assigns forever, a reservation of all oil, gas, and other minerals in and under and that may be 
produced from the Property. If the mineral estate is subject to existing production or an existing 
lease, this reservation includes the production, the lease, and all benefits from it.  Grantor waives 
the right of ingress and egress to and from the surface of the Property relating to the portion of the 
mineral estate owned by Grantor. 

Nothing herein, however, restricts or prohibits the pooling or unitization of the portion of the 
mineral estate owned by Grantor with land other than the Property; or the exploration or production 
of the oil, gas, and other minerals by means of wells that are drilled or mines that open on land 
other than the Property but enter or bottom under the Property, provided that these operations in 
no manner interfere with the surface or subsurface support of any improvements constructed or to 
be constructed on the Property. 



 Granite & Stone, LLC., EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 
 

 

Initials  ___Seller  ___ Buyer 
Page | 29  

 

COVENANTS AND CONDITIONS RESTRICTING THE USE OF THE PROPERTY:  The 
following provisions shall be deemed as covenants running with the land, and conditions of grant, 
inuring to the benefit of Grantor: 
 

(a) The Property shall not be used for any purpose other than those allowed by the Bastrop 
EDC’s Sixth Amended Protective Covenants for the Bastrop Business and Industrial 
Park, as recorded in Book 2332, Page 267-288, in the Public Records of Bastrop County 
on July 7, 2014.  
 

(b) A sexually oriented business, as that term is defined in the City of Bastrop Texas Code 
of Municipal Ordinances, shall never operate on the Property. 

 
(c) Grantee shall obtain a Certificate of Occupancy for its “Corporate Headquarters” as 

described in, and within the period prescribed in that certain “Economic Development 
Performance Agreement” executed by Grantor and Grantee on _______________, 
2017, and recorded in the Public Records of Bastrop County on _____________, 2017, 
as Document No. ______________________ and continuously operate its “Corporate 
Headquarters” during the entire term of the Economic Development Performance 
Agreement.  

 
(d) Grantor may enforce these covenants and conditions by injunction or by other equitable 

relief in a court of competent jurisdiction in Bastrop County, Texas.  
 

(e) Grantor shall be entitled to recover its reasonable and necessary attorneys’ fees and 
costs in the successful enforcement of these covenants in a court of competent 
jurisdiction.  

 
“DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTIES”: GRANTEE ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES 
THAT GRANTEE IS EXPERIENCED IN THE OWNERSHIP AND OPERATION OF 
PROPERTIES SIMILAR TO THE PROPERTY AND THAT GRANTEE PRIOR TO THE 
DATE HAS INSPECTED THE PROPERTY TO ITS SATISFACTION AND IS 
QUALIFIED TO MAKE SUCH INSPECTION. GRANTEE ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT 
IS FULLY RELYING ON GRANTEE’S (OR GRANTEE’S REPRESENTATIVES’) 
INSPECTIONS OF THE PROPERTY AND NOT UPON ANY STATEMENTS (ORAL OR 
WRITTEN) WHICH MAY HAVE BEEN MADE OR MAY BE MADE (OR 
PURPORTEDLY MADE) BY GRANTOR OR ANY OF GRANTOR’S 
REPRESENTATIVES. GRANTEE ACKNOWLEDGES THAT GRANTEE HAS (OR 
GRANTEE’S REPRESENTATIVES HAVE), OR PRIOR TO THE DATE WILL HAVE, 
THOROUGHLY INSPECTED AND EXAMINED THE PROPERTY TO THE EXTENT 
DEEMED NECESSARY BY GRANTEE IN ORDER TO ENABLE GRANTEE TO 
EVALUATE THE CONDITION OF THE PROPERTY AND ALL OTHER ASPECTS OF 
THE PROPERTY (INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO, THE ENVIRONMENTAL 
CONDITION OF THE PROPERTY). GRANTEE ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES 
THAT GRANTOR HAS NOT MADE, DOES NOT MAKE ANY AGREEMENTS OR 
GUARANTEES OF ANY KIND OR CHARACTER WHATSOEVER, WHETHER 
EXPRESS RESPECT TO (A) THE MANNER, CONSTRUCTION, CONDITION, AND 



 Granite & Stone, LLC., EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 
 

 

Initials  ___Seller  ___ Buyer 
Page | 30  

 

STATE OF REPAIR OR LACK OF REPAIR OF ANY IMPROVEMENTS LOCATED ON 
THE PROPERTY, (B) THE NATURE AND EXTENT OF ANY RIGHT OF WAY, LEASE, 
POSSESSION, LIEN, ENCUMBRANCE, LICENSE, RESERVATION, CONDITION OR 
OTHERWISE THAT MAY EFFECT THE PROPERTY, (C) THE NATURE, QUALITY 
OR CONDITION OF THE PROPERTY, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, THE 
WATER, SOIL AND GEOLOGY, (D) THE INCOME TO BE DERIVED FROM OR THE 
EXPENSES GENERATED BY THE PROPERTY, (E) THE SUITABILITY OF THE 
PROPERTY FOR ANY AND ALL ACTIVITIES AND USES WHICH GRANTEE MAY 
CONDUCT THEREON, (F) THE COMPLIANCE OF OR BY THE  PROPERTY FOR 
ITS OPERATION WITH ANY LAWS, RULES. ORDINANCE (INCLUDING ZONING 
ORDINANCE, IF ANY) OR REGULATIONS OF ANY APPLICABLE 
GOVERNMENTAL AUTHORITY OR BODY, (G) THE HABITABILITY, 
MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE OF THE 
PROPERTY, OR  (H) ANY OTHER MATTER WITH RESPECT TO THE PROPERTY, 
AND SPECIFICALLY, THAT REPRESENTATIONS REGARDING ANY HAZARDOUS 
SUBSTANCE OR TOXIC MATERIALS (INCLUDING ANY ASBESTOS, 
UNDERGROUND STORAGE TANKS OR ANY OTHER SUBSTANCE WHICH IS 
PROHIBITED BY STATE OR FEDERAL LAW), OR SOLID WASTE AS DEFINED BY 
THE COMPREHENSIVE ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSE COMPENSATION AND 
LIABILITY ACT OF 1980, AS AMENDED AND REGULATIONS PROMULGATED 
THEREUNDER. GRANTEE FURTHER ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT 
HAVING BEEN GIVEN THE OPPORTUNITY TO INSPECT THE PROPERTY, 
GRANTEE IS RELYING SOLELY ON ITS OWN INVESTIGATION OF THE 
PROPERTY AND NOT ON ANY INFORMATION PROVIDED BY GRANTOR. 
GRANTEE FURTHER ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT ANY INFORMATION 
PROVIDED OR TO BE PROVIDED WITH RESPECT TO THE PROPERTY WAS 
OBTAINED FROM A VARIETY OF SOURCES AND THAT GRANTOR HAS NOT 
MADE ANY INDEPENDENT INVESTIGATION OR VERIFICATION OF SUCH 
INFORMATION AND MAKES NO REPRESENTATIONS AS TO THE ACCURACY OR 
COMPLETENESS OF SUCH INFORMATION. GRANTEE FURTHER 
ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT THE CONVEYANCE OF THE PROPERTY 
AS PROVIDED FOR HEREIN IS MADE ON AN “AS-IS” CONDITION AND BASIS 
WITH ALL FAULTS, GRANTEE HEREBY WAIVES, RELEASES, ACQUITS AND 
FOREVER DISCHARGES GRANTOR, GRANTOR’S EMPLOYEES, AGENTS AND 
ANY OTHER PERSON ACTING ON BEHALF OF GRANTOR, OF AND FROM ANY 
CLAIMS, ACTIONS, CAUSES OF ACTION, DEMANDS, RIGHTS, DAMAGES, 
LIABILITIES, COST AND EXPENSES WHATSOEVER (INCLUDING COURT COSTS 
AND ATTORNEY’S FEES), DIRECT OR INDIRECT, KNOWN OR UNKNOWN, OR 
FORESEEN OR UNFORESEEN, WHICH GRANTEE NOW HAS OR WHICH MAY 
ARISE IN THE FUTURE, ON ACCOUNT OF OR IN ANY WAY GROWING OUT OF OR 
IN CONNECTION WITH THE PHYSICAL CONDITIONS OF THE PROPERTY OR 
ANY LAW, STATUTE, ORDINANCE, RULE OR REGULATIONS OF ANY 
GOVERNMENTAL OR QUASI-GOVERNMENTAL AUTHORITY APPLICABLE 
THERETO. 

 



 Granite & Stone, LLC., EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 
 

 

Initials  ___Seller  ___ Buyer 
Page | 31  

 

Grantor, for the Consideration and subject to the Reservations from Conveyance and the 
Exceptions to Conveyance and Warranty, grants, sells, and conveys to Grantee the Property, 
together with all and singular the rights and appurtenances thereto in any way belonging, to have 
and to hold it to Grantee and Grantee’s heirs, successors, and assigns forever. Grantor binds 
Grantor and Grantor’s heirs and successors to warrant and forever defend all and singular the 
Property to Grantee and Grantee’s heirs, successors, and assigns against every person whomsoever 
lawfully claiming or to claim the same or any part thereof, except as to the Reservations from 
Conveyance and the Exceptions to Conveyance and Warranty. 

 
   
 When the context requires, singular nouns and pronouns include the plural.  
 
 

The remainder of this page intentionally blank. Signature page to follow. 

  



 Granite & Stone, LLC., EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 
 

 

Initials  ___Seller  ___ Buyer 
Page | 32  

 

Executed to be effective as of the date set out above. 
 

GRANTOR: 
        

BASTROP ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION 
 
By:  _______________________________ 
Name:  _____________________________   
Title:         

 
STATE OF TEXAS   X  
COUNTY OF BASTROP  X 

 
This information was acknowledged before me on this   day of    , 2017, 
by     ,     for the Bastrop Economic Development 
Corporation, a Texas non-profit industrial development corporation, on behalf of said corporation. 
 
             
             
        Notary Public, State of Texas 
 
 
ACCEPTANCE OF CONVEYANCE SUBJECT TO TERMS AND PROVISIONS SET 
FORTH HEREIN: 
 
       GRANTEE: 

GRANITE & STONE, LLC. 
 
 
       By:  _______________________________ 
        David J. Alarid, President 
 
STATE OF TEXAS  § 
COUNTY OF TRAVIS§ 
  
This instrument was acknowledged before me on the _________ day of ____________, 2017, by 
David J. Alarid, President of Granite & Stone, LLC., on behalf of said limited liability company.  
  
             
        Notary Public, State of Texas 
 
The preparer of this document has made no investigation of the following matters: The accuracy 
of the legal description used herein; whether or not the Grantor is the correct owner of the property; 
whether or not the party signing on behalf of the Grantor is authorized to sign on behalf of the 
Grantor; or any title matters whatsoever. 
 
 



 Granite & Stone, LLC., EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 
 

 

Initials  ___Seller  ___ Buyer 
Page | 33  

 

PREPARED IN THE LAW OFFICE OF: AFTER RECORDING  
RETURN TO:  

        
Denton, Navarro, Rocha, Bernal, Hyde & Zech, P.C. Granite & Stone, LLC 
2517 N. Main Avenue       8004 Two Coves Drive 
San Antonio, Texas 78212      Austin, Texas, 78730 



 Granite & Stone, LLC., EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT 
 

 

Initials  ___Seller  ___ Buyer 
Page | 34  

 

EXHIBIT “A” TO SPECIAL WARRANTY DEED 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY 

 
{COPY OF REPLAT TO BE INSERTED ONCE RECORDED} 

 



 

 19 
 

Performance Agreement  
Exhibit B 

 
SAMPLE ANNUAL CERTIFICATION REPORT FORM 

 
 
 

 
 

[SEE ATTACHED] 
  



 

 20 
 

 
 
 
 
The Annual Certification Report for the Economic Development Performance Agreement between the Bastrop 
Economic Development Corporation and _______________., is due on ____________ 15, 20___. Please sign and 
return the Annual Certification Report form with accompanying narrative.  

 
                         
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Annual Certification Report 
Reporting Period: ___________ to ____________ 20__ 

 

I.     Project Information 

II.     Reporting Information 

Employment and Wage Information: 

Has the Company employed undocumented workers?    Yes   No  

What is the total number of Full-time Employees located at the Bastrop facility during the calendar year? ______________ 

What is the total Annual Payroll for the Bastrop facility during the calendar year? _______________ 

Investment Information: 

What taxable ad valorem value for Real Property for the reporting period? _______________ 

What is the taxable ad valorem value for Tangible Personal Property for the reporting period? _______________ 

Narrative: 

Please attach a brief narrative explaining the current year’s activities and/or comments relating to any potential defaults.  

III.     Additional Information (Voluntary) 

Employment: 

Total full-time employees: ____________ 

Total annual payroll: ____________ 

Number of full-time jobs added in past year: ____________ 

Number of employees that live in Bastrop, Texas: ____________ 

Interested in being contacted about workforce training opportunities?  Yes   No  

Interested in being contacted for assistance with City permits?  Yes   No  
 

 

 

 
 

Project Information: 

Company’s legal name:  ________________________________________________________________________ 

Project address subject to incentive:  ______________________________________________________________ 

Company primary contact:  ________________________________       Title: ______________________________ 

Phone number: ____________________________    E-mail address: ____________________________________ 

 



 

 21 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Annual Certification Report is to be completed, signed and returned on or before ________ 15, 20__. Please 
send an original to the following address: 

 
Attention: Executive Director 

City of Bastrop Economic Development Corporation 
301 Hwy 71 W., Suite 214 

Bastrop, TX 78602 

IV.     Certification 

I certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, the information and attachments provided herein are true and accurate 
and in compliance with the terms of Economic Development Performance Agreement. 
 
I further certify that the representations and warranties contained within the Agreement remain true and correct as of the 
date of this Certification, and ______________ remakes those representations and warranties as of the date hereof. 
 
I further certify that the employment and wage information provided is true and accurate to the best of my knowledge and I 
can provide documentation from the Texas Workforce Commission to support my claim if so requested.   
 
I understand that this Certificate is being relied upon by the BEDC in connection with the expenditure of public funds.   
 
I have the legal and express authority to sign this Certificate on behalf of ______________. 
 
________________________________________ _________________________________________ 
Name of Certifying Officer  Certifying Officer’s Title 
 

________________________________________ _________________________________________ 
Phone Number E-Mail Address 
 

________________________________________ _________________________________________ 
Signature of Certifying Officer  Date 

 
 
STATE OF TEXAS  X  
COUNTY OF _________________ X 

 
This information was acknowledged before me on this ______ day of _______________, ______ by ________________, 
________ for ______________________, a Texas corporation, on behalf of said agency. 
 

      
      
                                                                                   
______________________________ 
Notary Public, State of Texas 

 
                               

______________________________ 
Notary’s typed or printed name 

       
______________________________ 
My commission expires 



 

 
 

STAFF REPORT 
 

MEETING DATE:   August 8, 2017     AGENDA ITEM:  9C 
 
TITLE:  
Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2017-60 of the City Council of the City of Bastrop, 
Texas authorizing the City Manager to enter a Property Use agreement with the Bastrop 1832 
Farmer’s Market for the property located at 1302 Chestnut; and establishing an effective date. 
 
STAFF REPRESENTATIVE:  
Sarah O’Brien 
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY:  
On June 28, 2016, Bastrop City Council granted to the Bastrop 1832 Farmers Market a six‐month 
extension of its use of 1302 Chestnut Street, adjacent to the Bastrop Convention and Exhibit 
Center. The Main Street Program Director was concurrently charged with working with “1832” on 
developing and implementing a business plan that would yield a flourishing market, with increased 
vendor participation and an increased customer base. We are happy to report that our hard work 
and the hard work of the Bastrop 1832 Board of Directors has paid off. The 1832 Board of 
Directors has hired a new market manager and increase board participation, including placing the 
Bastrop Main Street Program Director on the board as a voting member. The market has 
increased vendor participation, marketing, programming and community support through their 
business plan development.  
  
Council also instructed the Main Street Program Director to develop a business plan for use by 
others at other times/days. That request was consistent with a February 9, 2016, Council 
resolution instructing the City Manager to develop a vendor and lease program for short-term use 
for social, civic, business or personal uses deemed appropriate by the City Manager. Staff also 
explored highest and best use of the lot, while exploring options for the business plan for a multi-
use site. During our research, it was discovered that significant improvements would have to be 
made to the property before it can be leased out for other uses. There is currently no funding 
mechanism in place for such improvements.  
 
POLICY EXPLANATION: 
 
Staff is recommending approval of an annual lease with the 1832 Farmer’s Market for use of the 
lot on Saturdays and Tuesdays. Staff will be available to negotiate other property use agreements, 
when interested parties express interest. The new agreement defines 1832’s use of the lot on 
Saturday and Tuesdays for use as a Farmer’s Market, and not as an exclusive user. The new 
agreement transfers utility payments and maintenance responsibilities to the City in exchange for 
a monthly lease payment. 
 
 
FUNDING SOURCE:  
N/A 



 

 
RECOMMENDATION:  
Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2017-60 of the City Council of the City of Bastrop, 
Texas authorizing the City Manager to enter a Property Use agreement with the Bastrop 1832 
Farmer’s Market for the property located at 1302 Chestnut; and establishing an effective date. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  

• Resolution 

• Current Lease agreement with 1832. 

• Property Use Agreement  

• Exhibit A 



1 
 

 
RESOLUTION NO. R-2017-60 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BASTROP, TEXAS 
AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO ENTER INTO A PROPERTY USE 
AGREEMENT WITH THE BASTROP 1832 FARMERS MARKET FOR THE 
PROPERTY LOCATED AT 1302 CHESTNUT. 
 

 
WHEREAS, the City owns the property located at 1302 Chestnut;  

 
WHEREAS, the Bastrop 1832 Farmer’s Market has spent the last 12 months working with 

the Bastrop Main Street Program developing and implementing a business plan to increase 
vendor participation, marketing and public relations efforts, and community outreach 
 

WHEREAS, 1832 desires to continue to use the property for conducting and operating a 
community Farmer’s Market;  
 

WHEREAS, having a farmer’s market in the Main Street Program area benefits the public 
and fulfills one of the goals/objectives of the City of Bastrop Main Street Program and culinary 
District;  

 
WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the City of Bastrop to continue to allow the 1832 

Farmer’s Market to utilize the property to promote the local food movement; 
 
WHEREAS, the Bastrop 1832 Farmer’s Market allows the Bastrop Main Street Director to 

sit as a voting member of their board to allow the continued development of the market for the 
community;  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
BASTROP, TEXAS: 

 
Section 1: The City Manager is authorized to execute the Property Use Agreement 

with the 1832 Farmer’s Market.  
 

Section 2: That this Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its passage, and it 
is so resolved.  
 
  



2 
 

 
DULY RESOLVED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Bastrop this 8th day 

of August, 2017. 
 
 
      APPROVED: 
 
 
      ____________________________________ 

Connie B. Schroeder, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
       
Ann Franklin, City Secretary 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
       
David F. Bragg, City Attorney 
 
 



FARM

FA
YE

TT
E

CHESTNUT

1408

1211

1210

1107

1103

1401130913071305

1411
1409

1409

1405
1401

1408

R36249

R35585

R35561 R35545R35529

R35569

R35537

R35553

R36257

R36177 R36201
R66291

R58469

R47710

R90006
R47707

Exhibit A
Farmer's Market Operation Area

Portion of City of Bastrop Property ³
Date: 6/5/2017

The accuracy and precision of this cartographic
data is limited and should be used for information
/planning purposes only.  This data does not 
replace surveys conducted by registered Texas
land surveyors nor does it constitute an "official"
verification of zoning, land use classification, or
 other classification set forth in local, state, or
federal regulatory processes. The City of Bastrop,
nor any of its employees, do not make any warranty
of merchantability and fitness for particular purpose,
 or assumes any legal liablity or responsibility for the 
accuracy, completeness or usefullness of any such
information, nor does it represent that its use would
not infringe upon privately owned rights.     

0 75 15037.5
Feet

1 inch = 100 feet



PROPERTY USE AGREEMENT 

 

THE STATE OF TEXAS 
COUNTY OF BASTROP 

 

 THIS PROPERTY USE AGREEMENT (“the agreement”) made this 14th day of June, 2017, by and 
between the CITY OF BASTROP, TEXAS, a municipal corporation, hereinafter referred to as “City” and 
BASTROP 1832 FARMER’S MARKET, a Texas nonprofit corporation, hereinafter referred to as “1832.” 

 WHEREAS, the City is the owner of certain property as shown on the map attached as Exhibit 
“A” (“the Property”); and 

 WHEREAS, 1832 desires to use the property for conducting and operating a Farmer’s Market; 
and 

WHEREAS, having a farmer’s market in the Main Street Program Area benefits the public and 
fulfills one of the goals/objective of the City of Bastrop Main Street Program and Culinary District;  

WHEREAS, the 1832 Farmer’s Market agrees to pay the City of Bastrop $300 per month for use 
of the lot;  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the recitals and mutual covenants and agreements 
contained herein, the parties hereto agree as follows:  

 

ARTICLE 1 

PREMISES AND PRIVILEGES 

For and in consideration of the terms, conditions and covenants of this Agreement to be 
performed by 1832, all of which 1832 accepts, City hereby authorizes and permits 1832 to use the 
Property for conducting and operating a Saturday morning Farmer’s Market and a weekly Farmer’s 
Market on Tuesday afternoon. The portion of the Property shown on Exhibit “A” which is outlined in 
yellow shall be the location where the farmers market will be operated. This agreement shall not be 
deemed to be a lease or deemed to grant any estate or interest in land. 

 

ARTICLE 2 

TERM 

The term of this Agreement shall be for a period of one year, beginning on August 15th, 2017, 
and ending on August 15th, 2018. Notwithstanding the foregoing provision or any other provision of this 
Agreement, either the City of the 1832 may terminate this Agreement by giving written notice to the 
other party at least 90 days prior to the date of such termination.  



ARTICLE 3 

OBLIGATIONS OF 1832 

A. CONDITION OF PREMISES: 1832 accepts the condition of the Property in its condition as of the 
date of this Agreement in accordance with terms of this Agreement . 

B. USE OF PROPERTY: 1832 shall use the property only for conducting and operating a Farmer’s 
market. 1832 shall have the right to operate the farmers market on the Property on the 
following days and times during the term of this Agreement:  

Saturday’s 8 a.m. to 3 p.m. 
Tuesday’s 1 to 7 p.m. 
Special Holiday Markets and special events as permitted by the Main Street Director 

1832 will operate the farmers market as set forth in their by-laws and Vendor Rules & Regulations 
attached as exhibit B.  

C. DAMAGES TO THE PROPERTY: 1832 shall not construct or permit any permanent or additional 
buildings or structure to be located on the Property, nor shall they make any alterations to 
existing structures without written permission from the City. Any temporary structures 
anchored and/or attached to the Property shall be pre-approved through the City of Bastrop, in 
conjunction with the Development Office.  

D. TRASH, GARBAGE AND UTILITIES: 1832 shall dispose of all trash, garbage, and other refuse 
caused because of the operation of the farmer’s market at the end of each day of farmer’s 
market operations in a dumpster provided by the city or its contractor which is adequate for 
such disposal. The city will provide a dumpster on site and be responsible for any fees associated 
with emptying said dumpster. The City is responsible for electric, sewer, and water utility fees. 

E. The City will perform ordinary maintenance such as landscaping.  
F. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS: 1832 shall always comply with all applicable federal, state and 

municipal laws, ordinances, standards, codes and other regularly measure now in existence, or, 
as may be hereafter modified or amended in regards to operating a farmer’s market.  

G. WASTE AND NUISANCE PROHIBITED: 1832 shall not commit, or suffer to be committed, any 
waste on the PROPERTY, nor shall 1832 maintain, commit, or permit the maintenance or 
commission of any nuisance on the Property. 

H. STORAGE: 1832 may not leave any property inside the Farmer’s Market shed in the event the 
City allows another user access to the property. 1832 shall have access to the storage shed 
onsite. 
 
 

ARTICLE 4 
 

INSURANCE  
A. 1832 shall obtain and maintain in full force and effect for the duration of this Agreement, at 

1832’s sole expense, insurance coverage written on an occurrence basis in the following 
types and amounts: 
 
Type      Amount 



Comprehensive General Liability   For Bodily Injury 
       $250,000 per occurrence 
Including:      $500,000 General Aggregate, or its  

• Premises/Operations   equivalent in Umbrella or Excess 
• Personal & Advertising Injury 
• Explosion, Collapse, Underground 
• Broad form property damage, to include fire legal liability 

For Property Damage 

$1,000,000 per occurrence & 

$100,000 aggregate 

B. Term of Policy.  The required coverage must remain in effect for the effective period.  
C. Proof of Insurance Required. 

1. Examination & Approval. All insurance policies shall be subject to the examination 
and approval of the City for their adequacy as to form and content, form or 
protection and insurance company.  

2. When to submit: Within ten (10) days after execution of this Agreement, 1832 shall 
furnish to the Main Street Director originals of completed certificates of insurance, 
policy endorsements, exclusion, and/or relevant extracts from the insurance policy, 
or copies of the policies, plainly and clearly evidencing such insurance. Thereafter 
new certificates, policy endorsements, exclusions, and/or relevant extracts from 
insurance policies, or policies shall be provided prior to the expiration date of any 
prior certificate, endorsement or policy.  

3. Insurers. 1832 shall maintain said insurance with insurance underwriters authorized 
to do business in the State of Texas and satisfactory to the City. 

4. Additional Insured. The City, its elected officials, officers, servants, agents, volunteers 
and employees shall be named as additional insured.  

5. Other-Insurance Endorsements. Where the City is an additional insured shown on the 
policy, there shall be a provision or endorsement stating that any “other insurance” 
clause shall not apply to the City.  

6. Agent Information. The certificates must be completed by an agent authorized to 
bind the named underwriter and their company to the coverage, limits and 
termination provisions shown thereon, contacting all required information 
referenced or indicated thereon. The original certificate or form must have the 
agents original signature, including the signer’s company affiliation, title and phone 
number and be mailed directly from the agent to the City.  

7. Notice of Cancellation, Non-renewal, Material Change. When there is a cancellation, 
non-renewal, or material change in coverage which is not made pursuant to a 
request by the City, 1832 shall notify the City of such and shall give such notices not 
less than thirty (30) days prior to the change, if 1832 knows of said change in 
advance, or ten (10) days’ notice after the change if 1832 did not know of the change 
in advance. Such notice bust be accompanied by a replacement certificate of 



insurance, policy endorsements, exclusion, and/or relevant extracts from the 
insurance policy.  

 
 

ARTICLE 5 
 

RETENTION OF RIGHTS BY CITY & MAINTENANCE 

The City hereby retains the right of access on, over and across the Property for itself, the public and 
reserves the right to allow use of the property on other days not assigned to 1832. The City also retains 
the right to access the property for necessary maintenance, replacement, relocation, repair and all other 
rights incidental to and necessary un connection with any utility lines or facilities which may be located 
on or under the Property.  The City will perform all ordinary maintenance related to the Property.  

 
ARTICLE 6 

 
DAMAGES RELATED TO ITEMS LEFT ON CITY PROPERTY 

Items will be removed with the notice of another event on the property when 1832 is not using the 
property, and stored in the Metal Building adjacent to the market venue. 1832 will be given a two-week 
notice to remove items prior to another special event.  The City and 1832 agree that the City shall not be 
responsible or liable for any damages resulting from the loss of theft of, or damage to, temporary 
structures, equipment, accessories, materials or other items of personal property left on the Property 
when the farmers market is not in session.  

 
ARTICLE 7 

 
ASSIGNMENT 

1832 shall not assign this agreement without the prior consent of the City in writing. 1832 shall not 
enter any agreement to allow any third party to use the Property other than the vendors participating in 
the farmers’ market, special holiday markets and special events as permitted by the Main Street 
Director.  

 
 

ARTICLE 8 
TERMINATION AND CANCELLATION OF AGREEMENT 

 
A. Termination. This agreement shall automatically renew every twelve months unless 

termination is brought forth by either party at the end of the full term 
  

B. Termination by City Due to Default. This agreement shall be subject to termination by 
City in the event 1832 shall default n the performance of any of the covenants or 
conditions required herein to be kept and performed by 1832 and such default 



continues for a period of ten (10) days after the receipt of written notice from City of 
said default. In such event, City may take immediate possession of the Property. Upon 
said entry this Agreement shall terminate.  

Failure of City to declare this Agreement terminated upon the default of 1832 shall not 
operate to bar or waive the right of City to terminate this Agreement because of any 
subsequent violation of the terms hereof.  

C. Termination by either party. Either the City or 1832 may terminate this Agreement by 
giving written notice to the other party at least 120 days prior to the date of such 
termination.  

D. 1832’s Requirements upon Termination. Upon termination of this Agreement, 1832 
shall, within five (5) days and at 1832’s sole cost and expense, remove all temporary 
structures, equipment, and materials brought to the Property by 1832 or any farmers 
market vendors from the Property and restore said Property as nearly as practicable to 
its condition prior to the granting of this Agreement, normal wear and tear due to the 
passage of time excepted.   

ARTICLE 9 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 

A. Attorney’s Fees. In any action brought for the enforcement of the obligations hereunder, the 
prevailing party shall be entitled to recover interest and reasonable attorney’s fees.  

B. Misrepresentation. All terms and conditions with respect to this Agreement are expressly 
contained herein, and each party agrees that no representative or agent of the other party has 
made any representation or promise with respect to this Agreement not expressly contained 
herein. 

C. Paragraph Headings. The paragraph headings contained herein are for convenience and 
reference are not intended to define or limit the scope of any provision of this Agreement. 

D. Notices. Notices to City provided herein shall be sufficient if sent by certified mail, postage 
prepaid, address to: 
The City of Bastrop, ATTN : Main Street Program Director 
1311 Chestnut Street 
Bastrop, TX 78602 

Notices to 1832 if sent by certified mail, postage prepaid, addressed to: 

Bastrop 1832 Farmer’s Market 

ATTN President 

 

E. Choice of Law and Venue. This Agreement is made and entered in Bastrop, Bastrop County, 
Texas. This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas and 
the venue of any suits arising hereunder shall be Bastrop County, Texas. 

F. Entire Agreement Amendment: This Agreement including all exhibits constitutes the full and 
entire understanding and agreement between the parties and supersedes any prior or 



contemporaneous written or oral agreements between the parties. This Agreement may not be 
amended except by a written instrument signed by both parties.  

G. Rights and Remedies Cumulative: The rights and remedies provided by this Agreement are 
cumulative; and the use of any one right or remedy by either party shall not preclude or waive 
its right to use any or all other remedies. The rights and remedies provided in this Agreement 
are given in addition to any other rights the parties may have by law, statute, ordinance, or 
otherwise. 

H. Agreement Approval: Each party represents and warrants that all necessary approvals for this 
Agreement have been obtained, and the persons whose signatures appear below have the 
authority necessary to execute this Agreement on behalf of the parties indicated.  

 

IN WITNESS, WHEREOF, the parties to this Agreement have hereunto set their hands in duplicate on the 
date and year first above written.  

 

City of Bastrop, Texas 

 

By: _________________________________ 
 
Lynda Humble, City Manager 

 

APPROVED TO AS FORM AND LEGALITY 

__________________________________ 

David Bragg, City Attorney  

 

Bastrop 1832 Farmer’s Market 

 

By: _________________________________ 

President, Jeff Long 

 

 

 



LEASE

THE STATE OF TEXAS § 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: 

COUNTY OF BASTROP § 

This " Lease Agreement" is made and executed by and between the City of Bastrop, a
Texas home -rule municipality duly formed ?nd operating in Bastrop County, Texas (" Lessor"), 

and 1832 Farmers Market, a SCOL C ( e.g. corporation operating under Texas law) 
Lessee"), hereinafter to be collectively nown as the " Parties," and singularly as " Party". 

SECTION 1. ' REMISES

LI Desch. Lessor hereby leases to Lessee the following real property generally
located. at 1307 Chestnut Street Bastrop, Texas 78601, Bastrop County, Texas, and the
building, structures, and improvements located thereon, as more particularly illustrated
in Exhibit "A," attached hereto and made a part hereof (hereinafter "Leased Premises"). 

1. 2 Use. The Leased Premises shall be used by Lessee for the sole purpose of Operating
a Farmers & Artisans Market, to Jfer for sale to the general public fresh, local
products such_as produce, meatF,., canned and baked goods etc. as well as locally
produced artisan products and art. The property shall not be used for any purpose
without first obtaining the Lessor (,, '•ts al thorized agent' s consent, in writing. Within
ten ( 10) days of executing this " Lease Agrees -c- i. ' the Lessee . hall provide the Lessor
in writing, details ofthe proposed opera -_,)o, An-Ciud ng the days ofweeks and times that
the Farmers & Artisans Market. w]! b:: aper: J tke public and a diagram representing
the proposed arrangement of booths, vendor areas, parking, etc. on the Leased

premises. The Lessor reserves the right to require revision to the proposed operation at

its discretion to enhance and/ or protect the publics use, safety and enjoyment of the
Leased premises. 

1. 3 Compliance with the Law. Lessee shall at all times .observe the laws, rules and
regulations of the State of Texas a,- 1 other governmental entities. Lessee shall not

conduct any activities ivhich we-il., - u•:_- the Lessor to be in violation of any state or
federal laws, rules, or regulations or for a purpose in violation of applicable covenants
irestictionsel fl3. r lt àYo— u Ftfed ato7_ _ 

nuisance on the Leased Premises .) r harm file Leased Premiscs in any way that may
reduce, harm or diminish the value or marketabilill, of same. Lessee shall promptly
advise Lessor of any litigatiou, alternative dispute resolution procedure, or

administrative hearing concerning the premises as soon as same arises. 

Lease Agreement for Farmers & Artisans Market

City of Bastrop and 1832 Fanners Market



1. 4 Storage of Materials on Premises Lessee acknowledges and agrees that it will only
store materials on the property that are consistent with the operation of the " Farmers & 
Artisans Market". Lessee shall, at a' 1 times, keep and maintain the Leased Premises in
neat and orderly manner and in full compliance will all applicable Federal, State and
local laws, rules and ordinances. Any failure to comply with the provisions noted in
this subsection shall be grounds for immediate termination ofthe Lease. 

1. 5 Non -Interference with Lessor' s Use. Lessee shall not conduct any activity which
interferes, or could interfere, thwart, delay or hinder the Lessor' s present or future use
of the Leased Premises or surrounding land owned or controlled by the Lessor for a
public purpose. -Lessee. shall permit the Lessor the right to enter the Leased Premises at
any time to inspect and/ or repair the Leased Premises, at Lessor' s sole d̀iscretion. 

SECTION 2. TERM

2. 1 Term. The term of this Lease Agreement shall commence on the 1 st day ofMay, 2008, 
and shall be continued on a month-to- month basis at the sole discretion of the Lessor. 
No extensions or renewals of the term of this Lease Agreement are authorized without
the prior written consent of the Lessor. 

2.2 Cancellation Privileges. Either the Lessor or the Lessee shall have the right to cancel

this Agreement upon giving thirty (3 0) days written notice to the other Party. 

SECTION 3. HOLDING -OVER

Should Lessee remain in possession of the Loased Premises after the termination of this Lease
Agreement, whether such termination occurs by the lapse of time or otherwise, without a
written execution by Lessor and Lessee of a x..ew lease, Lessee shall be deemed to be occupying
the Leased Premises as a tenant at sufferance, subject to all the covenants and obligations of

this Lease Agreement, and at a daily Rental Rate of 1. 25 times the per -day Rent provided
hereunder, computed on the basis of a thirty (30) day month. 77-7e Lessee expressly agrees that. 
such ( 25%) additional charge is reasonahle, willfairly adjust the rent in the event of holding
over, and that the additional charge is not intended by the Parties as a penalty. 

SECTION 4. RENT

4. 1 Rent. Lessee shall pay Lessor F. ;nt, without deduction or offset and subject to
adjustments as hereinafter provided, in monthly installments, payable at The City
I4/la-nfea#t 2Q9I[ ainstrolaasbQ{ r s h QthGr - 

address as Lessor may specify in a written notice delivered to Lessee) in the amount
of $1. 00 per month ( to be set by the City Council), on a month-to-month basis. Rent

shall be due to Lessor and paid by Lessee beginning on the commencement date of
the Term and shall continue to be paid on the first day of each month, thereafter. Rent
for any fractional month at the beginning or end of the lease term shall be prorated on
aper diem basis. 

Lease Agreement for Farmers & Artisans Market 2
City of Bastrop and 1832 Farmers Market



4.2 Late Charges. Lessee acknowledges that late payments of Rent by Lessee to Lessor, 
or any other sum due under this Agreement, shall cause Lessor to incur costs not
contemplated herein, the exact amount of which would be difficult or impossible to
ascertain. Such costs may include processing, legal, and accounting charges, as well
as late charges that may be imposed upon Lessor by the terms of separate agreements
with third parties. Accordingly, should Lessee fail to pay any installment ofRent, or
any other sum due under this Agreement, within fifteen ( 15) calendar days after such
sure is due ( on or after the sixteenth ( 16) of each month), Lessee shall pay to Lessor, 
as additional Rent, a late charge equal to five percent ( 5%) of each such installment or
sum due. Waiver. of the late charge with respect to any installment or sum due shall
not be deemed to constitute a waiver with respect to any subsequent installment or
sum due. A charge of Seventy -Five and 001100 Dollars ($ 75. 00) shall be paid by
Lessee to Lessor for each returned check or.payment instruments: - 

SECTION 5. TAXES AND ASSESSMENTS

5. 1 Taxes. " Taxes" as used in this Lease Agreement shall include all real property taxes on
the Leased Premises, as depicted on Bastrop County Tax Appraisal map, if applicable
to the Lessee. Taxes shall also include all personal property taxes levied on the Leased
Premises, if any, as well as taxes of every kind and nature levied and assessed in lieu
of, in substitution for, or in addition to existing or additional real or personal property
taxes on the Leased Premises, including the land, building, improvements, or structures
thereon, whether or not now customary or within the contemplation of the Parties. 
Lessee shall be wholly and completely responsible for reimbursement to the Lessor of
costs or expenses expended by the Lessor contesting the amount, the validity, or the
applicability of any taxes mentioned in this section. 

52 Payment Obligation. Lessee, ( if applicable), shall pay and discharge when due, as part
of the Rent of the Leased Premises, -all state, municipal, and local taxes ( except gift, 

estate, inheritance, succession, and income taxes, if any, on interest of Lessor), fees, 

assessments, levies and other charges, whether general, special, ordinary, or

extraordinary, of whatever name, nature, and kind ( except as specified above) that are
levied, assessed, imposed, or charged on the Leased Premises, whether now existing or
arising during the Term of this Agreement, beginning on the commencement date
hereof: 

5. 3 Paid in the Name of the Lessor. All Taxes, assessments, levies, fees and other charges

if applicable) shall be paid by Lessee shall be paid in the name of Lessor, whether such
Taxes and other charges become due and payable during the term of this Lease
Agreement, or any renewal of same, or subsequent to the expiration or earlier

Cr£ fl_ 'NfleE1110 cr i ( ii33ISS1o13 =- _ _ 

Shall alter or negate Lessee' s duty for such sums due. - --- -- 

5. 4 Production of Receipts. Within fifteen ( 15) calendar days of payment by Lessee ( if
applicable) of any state, municipal, or local tax, assessment, levy, or other charge and/ or
fee, whether general, special ordinary, or extraordinary, of whatever name, nature, or
kind ( unless otherwise excluded by provisions contained herein), upon demand by

Lease Agreement for Fanners & Artisans Market

City of Bastrop and 1832 Fariners Market



Lessor, Lessee shall produce and exhibit to Lessor receipts by proper officials showing
the payment paid in full. 

5. 5 Deferment. Lessee shall have the right to defer the payment of any tax, assessment or
other charge so Iong as the validity of such item is to be contested by Lessee in good
faith and by appropriate legal proceedings, provided, however, that Lessee has

furnished to Lessor a bond of a surety company, or other security satisfactory to Lessor, 
in an amount satisfactory to Lessor, securing Lessor against the payment of such tax, 
assessments or other contested charge against any loss, damage, or penalty whatsoever
in any way arising from the failure of Lessee to pay such amount. 

5. 6 Conclusive Evidence. For purposes of this Agreement, and in the event of a dispute

between the Parties, a receipt showing: the payment of a tax, assessment, fee or other
charge signed by a public official authorized to give such a receipt shall be conclusive
evidence that the amount of the payment was due and payable and that the assessment

or other charge was a valid and ex?sting lien on the Leased Premises at the time of
payment. 

SECTION 6. LANDLORD' S LIEN

As security for the performance by the Lessee of all covenants to be paid, kept, and performed, 
the Lessor shall have the benefit of a statutory landlord' s preference lien upon all property, 
fixtures, goods, materials, wares, and merchandise of the Lessee which may be placed in or
upon the leased premises during the term hereof: In addition, the Lessee herein grants to

Lessor an express security interest in all goods, materials, wares, merchandise, fixtures, and
other personal property of the Lessee which may be placed in or upon the Leased Premises
during the Term ofthis Lease Agreement, or any extension hereof, which security interest shall
be second and inferior to any purchase money security interest of any third party, as to any such
personal property, and which security interest herein granted unto Lessor shall not be
applicable to Lessee' s goods, materials, wares, and merchandise daily exposed to sale in the
ordinary course of business. Lessor and Lessee mutually covenant and agree that this
Agreement shall act as a security agreement as between Lessee, as debtor, and Lessor, as
secured party, only to be exercised its the event ofLessee' s noxaptVmient. 

SECTION 7. ABANDONED PROPERTY

All goods, effects, materials, remains, or temporary improvements of whatever kind or nature
and/ or alleged value to Lessee not removed by Lessee within fifteen ( 15) calendar days after
the natural expiration of this Lease Agreement, or any extension hereto, or within seventy-two
72) hours after termination by the Lessor by reason of Lessee' s default, shall be considered

slial av the g nd h au hbr'it t i pose a ear -- -=- 

expedient, including but not limited to storhig, selling and/ or destroying such items at the cost
and expense of Lessee with no further act or notice required. Lessee shall reimburse Lessor

for any expenses incurred by Lessor in connection with this paragraph including legal fees and
court costs. Lessor shall not be liable or responsible for damage, theft or otherwise to any
property abandoned on the Leased Premises by Lessee. The Lessee specifically consents and

Lease Agreement for Fanners & Artisans Market 4

City of Bastrop and 1832 Fanners Market



agrees that by entering into this Lease, it waives all rights to make claims against Lessor related
to any item remaining on the Leased Premises after any termination of this Lease Agreement. 

SEC'T'ION S. DELIVERY, ACCEPTANCE, AND SURRENDER OF PREMISES

Lessor makes no representations or warranties regarding the condition or fitness of the Leased
Premises, including any building, structure or improvement thereon for any particular purpose. 
By taking possession of the Leased Premises pursuant to this Lease Agreement, Lessee
conclusively accepts the Leased Premises as fit for Lessee' s purpose and use and in good and
sanitary order, condition, and repair. Lessee further warrants—Akt_all.-matter& rel atmo o„ - 

arising out of the construction of any building, structure or improvement on the Leased

Premises were approved by, and have been accepted by, Lessee in an " AS IS" condition. 

Lessee herein agrees and convents to accept all faults, deficiencies, defects, whether known or

unknown to Lessor and/ or Lessee at the commencement of the Term which warranty by Lessee
shall survive the term of this Lease Agreemlent, or any extension thereto, in perpetuity. Lessee
shall, on the expiration or termination of this Agreement, surrender the Leased Premises to

Lessor in the same condition as when received, reasonable wear and tear accepted. Lessee

agrees to remove all business or other signs, markers or symbols placed on the Leased

Premises, by it, before redelivery of the Leased Premises to the Lessor, and to restore the
Leased Premises to the same condition before the execution of this Lease Agreement. 

SECTION 9. POSTING OF SIGNS AWNINGS OR MARQUEES BY LESSEE

Lessee agrees that it will not construct or place, or permit to be constructed or placed, signs, 

awnings, marquees, or other structures and/ or improvements on or projecting from any portion
ofthe Leased Premises without Lessor's pri,+r written consent. Lessee further agrees to remove

signs, displays, advertisements or decorations it has placed, or permitted to be placed, on the

Leased Premises, which, in Lessor's opinion, are in ill repair, do not comply with City Codes, 
are offensive or are otherwise objectionable. If Lessee fails to remove such signs, displays, 

advertisements, or decorations within ten ( 10) days after receiving written notice from Lessor
to remove same, Lessor reserves the right to enter the Leased Premises and remove such items, 

at Lessee' s sole cost and expense, and shall have the right to place a lien on Lessor' s property to
recover such expenses, without further action or notice due to Lessee from Lessor. 

SECTION 10. " QUITTING BUSINESS, " BANKRUPTCY," OR "LOST OUR.LEASE" 
SALE

Lessee agrees not to conduct or advertise " Quitting Business," " Lost Our Lease," " Bankruptcy," 
othe s kit suf=sa_leszona— e=Le d?- emisas ithout=& -ssar` prrc r

SECTION Il.. UTILITIES

11. 1. Utility Service. Lessee, shall obtain, in its name, all "Utility Services" necessary for the
public health and safety of the operations of a Farmers & Artisans Market on the Leased

Premises. Utilities may include, as determined by the Lessee, to include gas, electricity, 

Lease Agreement for Fanners & Artisaus Market

City ofBastrop and 1832 Fanners Market



telephone, water, and sewer and Lessee shall pay all charges for those services as they
come due. All Utilities obtained by the Lessee on the Leased Premises shall be from
the City of Bastrop' s Utility Services. Should Lessee fail or refuse to pay a charge for
any City Utility Service assessed or incurred, Lessor may elect to forfeit or terminate
this Lease without further action or notice to Lessee. 

11. 2. Utility Release. Lessor shall not be liable for any personal injury, property damage, 
consequential damages, claims or assessments that may result from the operation, 
service and/ or faulty installation of Utility Services on the Leased Premises, whether
through negligence, fault or no fault, nor shall Lessor be liable for any injury or damage
su& ed byLessee or any third -party as a result of the failure to make repairs to utility
faC111t1es. 

SECTION 12. REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE

12. 1 Lessee' s Obligations. Lessee shall have the duty, at its sole cost and expense, to keep, 
maintain, and preserve the Leased Premises, including any buildings, structures or
improvements thereon, in good order and repair which reflects credit upon the Lessee. 

12.2 Lessor' s Right of Inspection/Repair. Lessor reserves the right, but has no duty, to enter
the Leased Premises at any time to inspect the Leased Premises, including any
buildings, structures, or improvements thereon, to perform required maintenance and

repair and/ or to make additions or alterations to any part of the Leased Premises that are
necessary to keep, maintain, or preserve same in a reasonable state, at the sole cost and
expense of the Lessee. Lessor may, in connection with such alterations, additions, or
repairs, erect scaffolding, fences, and similar structures, post relevant notices, and place
movable equipment on the Leased- Remises; as Lessor deems necessary, without any
obligation to reduce Lessee' s Rent for the Leased Premises during such period, and
without incurring any liability to Le :see for disturbing quiet enjoyment of the Leased
Premises, or loss of occupation thereof Lessor shall have sole discretion as to any
work to be completed on the Leased Premises pursuant to this Section, including but not
limited to plans, specifications, materials, design, and contractors. The Parties

acknowledge and agree, however, that the Lessor shall have no duty, responsibility or
obligation to inspect, repair, remodel, improve, decorate, paint or replace any part or
component of the Leased Premises, specifically including any building, structure or
improvement thereon, at any time following the Effective Date of this Lease
Agreement. Any interference by the Lessee related to arising out of this paragraph shall
constitute a breach of this Agreement entitling Lessor to any remedy provided herein or
at common law. 

Aces f es e ag ees= t--ver-wit ssor ur et erect nrl- _i nc I etl a e = 
m

opportunity to perform all actions as stated in Section 12.2. Any interference by Lessee
of Lessor' s rights hereunder shall be a material breach of the Lease Agreement. 

Tease Agreement for Fanners & Aifiisans Market

City of Bastrop and 1832 Farmers Market



SEC'T'ION 13. PARTIAL DESTRUCTION OF PREMISES; ARBI'T'RATION
PROVISIONS

Unless otherwise agreed to between the Parties in writing and attached hereto, should the
Leased Premises, including any building, structure or improvement thereon, be destroyed in
whole or in part by fire or other casualty, or by Lessee's want of ordinary care, Lessee shall
promptly rebuild or restore the Leased Premises to its condition at the start of this Lease
Agreement. Any rebuilding or restoration to the Leased Premises shall be at Lessee's sole cost
and expense and Lessee shall remain liable for any Rent. IfLessee fails to rebuild or repair, as

set forth herein, Lessee shall be liable to Lessor for all amounts remaining due

SECTION 14. INSURANCE

Lessee agrees to procure and maintain in full force and effect, at all times during the Lease
Term, and any extension thereof at Lessee' s sole cost and expense, the following: 

14. 1 Standard Property Insurance. Standard property insurance insuring the Leased Premises
against the perils of fire, extended coverage, vandalism, environmental damage, 

malicious mischief, special extended coverage (" all risk"), and sprinkler coverage. The

policy shall additionally included all personal property owned by Lessee for which
Lessee is legally liable, including without limitation furniture, fittings, fixtures, and raw
materials. Such insurance shall be no less than One Million and 00/ 100 U.S. Dollars

1, 000, 00. 00), or an amount equal to the Leased Premises, and any personal property
located thereon, full replacement value, whichever is greater. Any policy shall
specifically identify and name the City of Bastrop as a " loss payee". 

14.2 Comprehensive General Liability Insurance. Comprehensive general liability insurance
insuring Lessee against any/ and all liability that could arise out of this Lease
Agreement, or the use, occupancy, or maintenance of the Leased Premises and all
appurtenances thereto by any person, entity, or occupant. Such insurance shall be in the
amount of not less than One Million and 00/ 100 U.S. Dollars ($ 1, 000,000.00) dollars

combined single limit for injury to, or death of one or more persons in a single
occurrence, and for damage to tangiblc property ( including loss of use and loss of
income) in any one occurrence. The policy shall insure the hazards of the Leased
Premises, the operations conducted in and on the Leased Premises, independent

contractors, and contractual liability ( covering in full the indemnity to the Lessor
contained in this Agreement), and shall name Lessor and any mortgagee( s) as

additionally insured' parties, as their respective interests may appear. Lessor and any
named mortgagee shall be furnished with a. copy of the certificate of insurance. Such

coverage shall be primary, and noncontributing with any insurance carried by Lessor. 

14. 3 Workers Compensation. In the event Lessee hires individuals to work at the Farmers & 
Artisans Market on behalf of the Lessee, then the Lessee shall maintain worker's

compensation and employer's liability insurance as required by the State of Texas. 

14.4 Supplemental Insurance. The Lessee shall obtain any supplemental insurance that
either Party may determine is necessary to protect the Lessee and/ or Lessor during the

Lease Agreement for Fanners & Artisans Market 7

City ofBastrop and 1932 Farmers Market



term of this Lease Agreement, or extension thereof. 

14. 5 Authorized Companies. All insurance policies related to the Leased Premises shall be

written- by companies authorized to do business in Texas and shall be in a form
reasonably satisfactory to Lessor. Lessor and any named mortgagee( s) shall be

furnished with a copy of each certificate of insurance, and each policy shall require
thirty ( 30) days written notice to Lessor and . any named mortgagee( s) prior to

cancellation, change or reduction in the amount and/ or type of coverage. 

14. 6 Right of Lessor to Obtain. Insurance. Lessee covenants and agrees that if all necessary
surancc-p-olicies_are r,ot c ptiiLforce_during-the-entire-T_er_mof -thisLease Agree nt, 

s including any extension thereof, Lessor may procure the necessary insurance and pay
the premium, which premium shall be repaid to Lessor as an additional Rent installment

during the month(s) following the date on which such premiums are paid. Further, 

Lessee acknowledges and agrees that the insurance policies referenced herein are
material inducements to Lessor to >-rater into this lease and any failure of Lessee to
comply with these requirements shall constitute an acknowledged breach by Lessee. 

14.7 Increasing Risk_ Lessee agrees and covenants not to use the Leased Premises in any
manner, even though it may be for the purposes for which the Leased Premises was
leased, that may increase risks covered by insurance on the Leased Premises, increase
the rate of insurance on the Leased Premises, or cause cancellation of any insurance
policy covering the Leased Premises. Lessee further agrees not to keep, use, sell or
store on/ in the Leased Premises, or permit to be kept, used, or sold thereon, anything
prohibited by any policy covering the Leased Premises. Lessee agrees to comply, at
Lessee's own expense, with all requirements of all insurers as necessary to keep in force
the required insurance overage noted herein. 

SECTION 15. RELEASE, HOLD HARMLESS & INDEMNITY

15. 1.. LESSEE HEREBY HOLDS HARMLESS, RELEASES AND WAIVES ANY

AND ALL CLAIMS AND CAUSES AGAINST LESSOR AND LESSOR'S

OFFICERS, REPRESENTATIVES, AGENTS AND/OR EMPLOYEES FOR

ANY AND ALL CLAIMS, INJURY OR DAMAGE TO THE PERSON, 

PROPERTY, OR BUSINESS SUSTAINED IN OR ABOUT THE BUILDING

OR THE LEASED PREMISES BY ( 1) LESSEE, ITS AGENTS, 

REPRESENTATIVES, OWNERS, EMPLOYEES, INVITEES, CLIENTS OR

CUSTOMERS, AND ( 2) BY OTHER TENANTS OR OCCUPANTS OF THE

LEASED PREMISES, AND (3) BY ANY THIRD -PARTY PRESENT ON THE

WNW— -WH=;CH` - _ ROAD.AIi _- 7FS— 

FROM ANY ACT, OMISSION, NEGLECT, OCCURRENCE, OR

CONDITION IN OR ABOUT THE LEASED PREMISES OR FROM ANY
OTHER CAUSE OR CONDITION, WHETHER SUCH DAMAGE(S) 

ALLEGED OR ACTUAL, ARE CAUSED BY LESSOR, OR ANY OTHER
PERSON. BY WAY OF EXAMPLE ONLY, AND NOT BY WAY OF
LIMITATION, THIS PARAGRAPH SHALL APPLY TO DAMAGE OR

Lease Agreement for Fanners & Artisans Market 8

City of Bastrop and 1832 Farmers Market



INJURY CAUSED BY LOADING APPARATUS, AWNINGS, DISPLAY

FIXTURES, AND ALL PRODUCTS OF LESSEE' S BUSINESS. 

15.2. IF ANY SUCH INJURY OR DAMAGE DESCRIBED IN THE ABOVE

PARAGRAPH RESULTS FROM ANY ACT OR NEGLECT OF LESSEE, ITS
EMPLOYEES, OWNERS, REPRESENTATIVES, AGENTS, INVI'T'EES, 
CLIENTS OR CUSTOMERS, LESSOR MAY, AT LESSOR' S OPTION, 
REPAIR SUCH INJURY OR DAMAGE. LESSEE SHALL, UPON DEMAND
BY LESSOR, PROMPTLY AND PULLY REIMBURSE LESSOR FOR THE

TOTAL COST THEREOF, PROVIDED THAT LESSEE SHALL NOT BE
RESPONSIBLE_L{OR ' TITA'T PART OF ' T'H CUST ROR- WHICH -LESSOR
HAS BEEN COMPENSATED BY INSURANCE PROCEEDS IF ANY, SO

LONG AS IF THE INSURANCE CARRIER HAS WAIVED ITS RIGHT OF

SUBROGATION AGAINST LESSEE, 

15. 3 LESSEE AGREES TO INDEMNIFY, DEFEND AND HOLD HARMLESS

LESSOR, ITS OFFICERS, AGENTS AND EMPLOYEES AGAINST ANY
AND ALL CLAIMS, DEMANDS, COSTS, CAUSES, DAMAGES, AND

EXPENSES OF EVERY IUND AND NATURE, INCLUDING REASONABLE

ATTORNEYS' FEES FOR THE DEFENSE THEREOF, ARISING FROM- (1) 

THIS AGREEMENT, (2) THE. CONSTRUCTION OR. CONDITION OF THE

LEASED PREMISES, AND/OR LESSEE' S OCCUPANCY OF THE LEASED
PREMISES, INCLUDING ANY BUILDING, STRUCTURE, OR

IMPROVEMENT THEREON, AND/OR ( 3) FROM ANY BREACH OR

DEFAULT ON THE PART OF LESSEE IN THE PERFORMANCE OF ANY

AGREEMENT OF LESSEE TO BE PERFORMED PURSUANT TO THE

TERMS OF THIS LEASE AGREEMENT, AND/OR FROM ANY ACT OR

NEGLECT OF LESSEE, ITS EMPLOYEES, REPRESENTATIVES, 

AGENTS, INVITEES, CUSTO?,,'.FRS, OR THIRD -PARTIES, ON OR ABOUT

THE LEASED PREMISES. IN THE EVENT ANY SUCH PROCEEDINGS
ARE BROUGHT AGAINST ANY OF SUCH PERSONS, LESSEE

COVENANTS TO DEFEND THE PROCEEDING AT ITS SOLE COST AND

EXPENSE BY LEGAL COUNSEL REASONABLY SATISFACTORY TO
LESSOR, IF REQUESTED BY LESSOR. 

SECTION 16. ASSIGNMENT OR SUBLEASE

Lessee hereby agrees to sublease only areas or stalls on the property as reflected in Exhibit " A" 
to groups, individuals and vendors who sell products and goods consistent with the Farmers & 
Artisans Market Operation. A representative of the lessee shall be present at all times on the

op rtg=' eiz' 

present to display, unload, load, convey and/ or sell • products and goods associated with the
Farmers & Artisans Market. Otherwise Lessee -will not assign or sublease the Leased Premises, 

or any part thereof, or any right or privilege connected therewith, or to allow any person, except

Lessee' s agents, vendors and employees, to occupy the Leased Premises without first obtaining
Lessor's written consent, which may be denied by Lessor at its sole discretion.. A single

consent to assignment or sublease by Lessor shall not be consent to a subsequent assignment, 

Lease Agreement for Fanners & Artisans Market 9

City of Bastrop and 1832 Farnrers Market



sublease or occupation by other persons or entities. Lessee's unauthorized assignment, sublease, 
or license to occupy shall be void, and shall immediately terminate the Lease at Lessor's option. 
Lessee's interest in this Lease is not assignable by operation of law, nor is any assignment of
any interest therein, without Lessor's prior written consent. Lessee shall be responsible for all

acts, omissions and conditions created by its sublessees on the Leases Premises and further, all
reference to the obligations of Lessees in this Lease shall include any subleases of Lessee. 
Does City want a periodic report on identification and goods sold by subleases/vendors?] 

SECTION 17. LESSEE' S BANKRUPTCY

NOt- hstanding-any-other_provisions_hereiaz ifa peti-tioiLialmucutptoyi,-,-fi-tedyoris -threatened-------.-.---------- 
to be filed by or against Lessee in any court of competent jurisdiction, Lessee shall have the
duty to immediately notify the Lessor of same and Lessor shall have the right, at its sole
discretion, to terminate this Lease by giving Notice in writing, by registered or certified mail, to
the receiver or trustee in bankruptcy. 

SEC'T'ION 18. EVENTS OF DEFAULT

18. 1. Default by Lessee. Each of the following events shall be deemed to be an event of
material breach and default of this Lease Agreement: 

A. Lessee' s failure to pay any installment ofRent in advance on the first day of the
month or shall fail to perform or discharge any other obligation or liability under
this Lease Agreement requiring the payment of money when any such payment
is due. 

B. Default by Lessee in perfo, . ance of, or in violation of, any other term or
provision of this Lease Agreement other than that stated in Section 18, 1( A), if

such default is not cured witAtin three ( 3) days after written notice of default is

provided by Lessor. 

C. Lessee' s failure to cooperate with Lessor, as determined necessary by Lessor, to
resolve any disputes with third -parties, related in any manner to the Leased
Premises. 

D. The filing or execution or occurrence of a petition in bankruptcy or other
insolvency proceeding by or against Lessee, or a petition or answer seeking
relief under any provision of the Bankruptcy Act, or an assignment for the
benefit of creditors, or a petition or other proceeding by or against Lessee for the
appointment of a trustee, rem,ver or liquidator of the Lessee or any of Lessee' s

ert _ oee .. o er t nc i liorim % 
t — - 

1rrp o f r_ - y- - y f
liquidation of the Lessee, or t<re levying of a writ of execution or attachment on
or against Lessee' s property, or the creation of a mechanic' s lien or claim
therefore against the Leased Premises or any improvements thereon caused by
or resulting from any work performed, materials furnished, or obligation

incurred by or at the request of Lessee; and

Lease Agreement for Fanners & Artisans Market 10

City of Bastrop and 1832 Farmers Market



E. The abandonment, misuse or vacating of the Leased Premises, or any substantial
portion thereof by Lessee. 

F. Lessee is found to be in violation of any federal, state or city law, regulation, 
ordinance or policy. 

G. Lessee fails to timely provide any requested information or documents to
Lessor. 

H. Lessee uses the Leased premises in any manner that creates a nuisance, 
it erfer_es-wi" vv-fuLuse-of-adjacentpmper-ty-or-po-s&s- a-dange o-t4ie-public. 

18. 2. Remedies of the Lessor. Upon the occurrence of any events and/ or defaults by the
Lessee, ( and including Lessee' s sublessees/ vendors) the Lessor shall have the option to
pursue any one or more of the following remedies upon ten ( 10) days written notice to
Lessee: 

A. Terminate this Agreement, in which event Lessee shall immediately surrender the
Leased Premises to the Lessor. In the event the Lessee fails to immediately
surrender the Leased Premises to the Lessor the Lessor may, without prejudice to
any. other remedy which it may have for possession or arrearages in rent, enter upon
and take possession of the Leased Premises and remove Lessee and any other
person who may be occupying said Leased Premises or any part thereof. 

B. Re-enter and resume possession of the Leased Premises, alter locks and other

security devices at the Leased Premises, remove all personal property of the Lessee, 
using whatever force as may be rzasonably necessary, at the sole cost of the Lessee
and re -let the Leased Premises on such terms as are reasonable and as the Lessor

may deem advisable. Lessee agrees tr=y pay to the Lessor on demand any costs and/ or
deficiencies that may arise by reason 'of such reletting due to default or breach. 

C. Remedy the default for the account of Lessee, which Lessee shall be obligated to
pay to Lessor, including all costs, expenses, and disbursements incurred by Lessor
in taking such remedial action. 

D. In the event that Lessee' s use of the Leased Premises creates a condition that Lessor

deems to be dangerous, Lessor reserves the right to immediately terminate the
Lease, with no advance notice or opportunity to cure prior to termination. 

SECTION 19. DEVAULT BY LESSOR

In the event of an alleged act or ornission by Lessor, Lessee shall not exercise any right to
which it may be entitled until Lessee has given notice in writing to the Lessor of such act or
omission at which time the Lessor shall have thirty (30) days to cure same. 

Lease Agreement for Faniters & Artisans Market 11

City of Bastrop and 1832 Farmers Market



SECTION 20. INTEREST ANIS ATTORNE'Y' S FEES

Any sum which the Lessee may become obligated to pay to the Lessee shall bear interest at the
maximum rate of allowed by law, per annum from the date due until paid, it being understood
that interest in excess of the maximum permitted by law shall never be collected under this
Lease Agreement. In the event Lessor should find it necessary to employ an attorney and
initiate mediation or litigation for the purpose of collecting any sum due or enforcing any right
hereunder or pursuant to any other agreement by and between the Parties, Lessee agrees to pay
Lessor reasonable attorneys' fees for the services of Lessor's attorney in such actions or
activities, -ineludin-g-all-inediatkYner-court-GGSt- insurr-ed-by-tfieL-essor., thereby: . . ... .... ... - - 

SECTION 21. MISCELLANEOUS

21. 1. Notice. Notice arising out of or pursuant to the provisions of this Lease Agreement shall
be in writing and delivered by hand or certified postage prepaid, addressed to the person
authorized to receive such notice. Notices shall be delivered to the Parties at the

addresses set forth below or to such other addresses as the Parties designate in writing. 

A. Notice to Lessor: 

City ofBastrop
Attn: City Manager
904 Main Street

Bastrop, Texas 78602

B. Notice to Lessee

Erika Bradshaw

220 Zapalac Road

Smitlwille, Texas 78957

21. 2. No Waiver. A delay by Lessor in enforcing any part of this Lease Agreement shall not
be deemed a waiver of any of Lessor's rights or remedies, and shall not be deemed a
waiver of any subsequent breach or default by Lessee. If Lessor accepts any Rent
payment after its due date, the acceptance shall not be construed as a waiver of the

breach, shall not change any other due date, and shall not waive any of Lessor's rights or
remedies. No term or provision of this Lease Agreement is intended to or shall have the

affect of altering in any way Lessor' s rights to sovereign immunity, as pursuant to State
law. 

21. 3. Severability. Each and every covenant and obligation contained in this Lease Agreement
is and shall be construed to be a separate and independent covenant and obligation. If any
term or provision of this Lease Agreement, or its application to any person or
circumstances, shall be held invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the remainder of this Lease

Agreement shall be unaffected, and each and every other term and provision shall be
enforced to the fullest extent permitted by law. 

Lease Agreement for Fanners & Artisans Market 12

City ofBastrop and 1832 Fanners Market



21. 4. Venue and Applicable Law. The Parties hereto agree that the laws of the State of Texas
shall govern the interpretation, validity, performance and enforcement of this lease. 
Venue for- any action involving this lease shall be in the state courts of Bastrop County, 
Texas. 

21. 5. Interpretation. Time is of the essence in this Lease Agreement. Each Party has read and
understands the meaning and effect of this Lease and has been allowed opportunity and
time to confer with their respective attorneys and advisors. 

21: 6_ C-onstruetion. _The Pariies-agree that..the-Lease greement shalt—b" onstnied: fairly -and_ 
simply and not strictly against either Party. 

21. 7. Lease Control. If any provisions in this Lease Agreement conflict with any provision in
any other instrument, those herein shall control. 

21. 8. Binding Effect. All of the terms, covenants, and conditions contained within this Lease

Agreement shall apply to, bind, inure to the benefit of, and be exercised by the heirs, 
executors, administrators, successors in interest and assigns of all Parties, except as

otherwise expressly provided herein. 

21. 9. Headings. Headings used throughout this Lease Agreement are for convenience and

reference only, and the words contained therein shall in no way be held to explain, 
restrict, modify, amplify or aid in the interpretation or construction of the meaning of the
provisions of this Lease Agreement. The terms " hereof," " hereunder" and " herein" shall

refer to this Commercial Lease as a whole, inclusive of all exhibits, except as otherwise

expressly provided. The use of the masculine or neuter genders herein shall include the
masculine, feminine and neuter genders. The singular form shall include the plural when
the context requires. 

21. 10. Entire Agreement, This Lease Agreement is the entire agreement between Lessee and

Lessor related to the Leased Premises, and it incorporates all other written, verbal, 

express, and implied agreements made between any Party or any agent of any Party to
this Lease in connection with this transaction. 

21. 11. Amendment. No Amendment, modification, or alteration of the terms hereof shall be

binding unless the same is in writing, dated subsequent to the date hereof and duly
executed by the parties hereto. 

Rentainder of -Page IntewinnallyLe, Blank) 

Lease Agreement for Fanners & Artisans Market 13

City of Bastrop and 1832 Farmers Market



21. 12. Good Faith. If any provision of this Agreement is found to be unlawful or
unenforceable, the Parties will negotiate in good faith so that it shall be in compliance
with applicable laws and consistent to the extent possible with the original intent of this
Agreement. 

EXECUTED this ` 

City ofBastrop, Lessor

day of M 2008 (" Effective Date") 

By: -- -- 
Michael H. Talbot, City Manager

Lease Agreement for Farmers & Artisans Market

City of Bastrop and 1832 Farmers Market

1832 Farmers Market, Lessee

131 ( 
Ei rashaw ~ 

la



STATE OF TEXAS § 

COUNTY OF BASTROP § 

BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority, on this day personally appeared Michael H. 
Talbot, known to me to be the City Manager of the City ofBastrop, and the person whose name
is subscribed to the foregoing instrument, and acknowledged to me that he executed same for
th. purposes_and onsid_erati_on_therein-expressed, as-the_act-and_.deed-oftii" aid-coM--r-tI

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND SEAL OF OFFICE, on this the day of 2 2008. 
011

r TERESA

VALIF 
E— 

s Notary Public
STATE or Tl=xAs

as My Comm. Exp Dec. 15, 2010

STATE OF TEXAS § 

COUNTY OF BASTROP § 

Notary Public, State o£ Texa

BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority, on this day personally appeared Erika. Bradshaw, 
as authorized representative of 1832 Farmers Market, known to me to be the person whose

name is subscribed to the foregoing instiume."'L; and acknowledged to me that he executed same
as the act and deed of and for the purposes and consideration therein expressed. 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND SEAL OF OFFICE, on this the day of V— , 2008

a TERESA VALDEZ

WtNo€aryPublicSTATEOFTEXAS

W y comm. Exp 08- 15- 2010
G

Lease Agreement for Panners & Artisans Market

City of Bastrop and 1832 Farmers Market

kexasNotary Public, State o£ 

15



EXHIMIT A

MAP] 
4cx-— 

A tract of land in Bastrop County, Texas, identified as

Mc"

and according to
the reap or plat thereof, recorded in, Plat Records, Bastrop County, Texas, 

Lease Agrwmezit for Fanners & Artisans Maiket I A



e. 

F

Scale •-
11 - 

50' 
Al

Bastrop omen! 

1 md[ ar buftg irr i r—• 

w

1. 278 Ac( 0a.. a 1/ 2" iron rod found

FF a .d5aos" Corrael
i

e— - Overhead electric line

e---- -- Underground electric line

1. 287

x
fin- 

s— - Sewer line

sr— - Vlater line

g - Nat; fral gas line

TR

kESJdrMeny

afm,ry
Gv+, wgd

u, - Utility Pole
Fire hydrant

Sanitary sewer manhole

APotot to

x - •- Wire fencellne

1302 Chestnut Streetw arot I" 
PSN

Diane 5ellards

Vol. 1448, Pg, 859
B. C. O. R. 

o

d" 

Poch r/ 2

t71,

35td
ndO

0

PLACE OF BEGINNING
N 10. 017, 311. 18' 
E 3, 251, 814. 44' a xa

w

11• Ca Np, 

ft" AA
30• 

O

5" GThabm

illd• Nxkbnry

Scale •-
11 - 

50' 
Al

Bastrop omen! LEGEND

Defapmea i CWp
1. 278 Ac( 0a..a 1/ 2" iron rod found

p - 1/ 2" Iron rod set
e— - Overhead electric line

e---- -- Underground electric line

1. 287

x
fin- 

s— - Sewer line

sr— - Vlater line

g - Nat; fral gas line

TR

kESJdrMeny o? 

u, - Utility Pole
Fire hydrant

Sanitary sewer manhole
a` - Sewer clean- out

1302 Chestnut Streetw arot I" 
PSN

Diane 5ellards

Vol. 1448, Pg, 859
B. C. O. R. 

o

d" 

Poch r/ 2

t71,

35td
ndO

0

PLACE OF BEGINNING
N 10. 017, 311. 18' 
E 3, 251, 814. 44' a xa

w

11• Ca Np, 

ft" AA
30• 

O

5" GThabm

illd• Nxkbnry

4a" zia: :' 3s8 ` PA+! bdme " a EASEMENT N07E:• No recorded

xsias ( szy% : casements flstod In Lawyrrs Title
iiE• srl rlT. sf•• ~• insurance Cor oration 7111, 

corn mitmant OF J0725490
dated August 30, 2007. 

aw.. aa. avl

I \ 

PLAT SHOWING THE SURVEY OF A 1. 287 ACRE TRACT, BEING A

PART OF BUILDING BLOCK 52 EAST OF WATER STREET ACCORDING
TO THE PLAT OF THE CITY OF BASTROP RECORDED IN PLAT
CABINET 1, SLIDE 23A OF THE PLAT RECORDS OF BASTROP COUNTY, 
AND BEING THAT SAME TRACT DESCRIBED AS 1. 270 ACRES IN A
DEED SROM . WOODROW F_ROEHLICH TO DIANE C SELLARDS DATED

7U1Vr7S— 20 TAGE 8 9= 0- -' H

OFFICIAL RECORDS OF BASTROP COUNTY

STATE OF TEXAS

COUNTY OF BASTROP

I, Kevin Von Mlnden, a Registered Professional Land Surveyor, do hereby
certify that this surveywas made on the ground, that this plat correctly
represents the facts fund at the time of the survey, and that this
profeselanal service conforms to the current Texas Society of Professional
Surveyors Standor" Specifications for a Category € A, Condition € Land
Title Sggvoy. 

Kevin Von Minden, R. P. L. S. ry: 

Reg€ stratlnn Na. 4438 x 1VOT3MINUEN„ 

BEFCO ENGINEERING, INC. •• • 
q •• 38

La Grange. Texas f9' aoF °?' gyp

979- 968- 6474 , L ass
December 4 2007 O ClySU

F\ Kevin\ Land Projects 3\ 07-- 4499\ dwg\ 07- 4648a

Scale •-
11 - 

50' 
Al

Bastrop omen! LEGEND

Defapmea i CWp
1. 278 Ac( 0a..a 1/ 2" iron rod found

p - 1/ 2" Iron rod set
e— - Overhead electric line

e---- -- Underground electric line
SIMSAM

u--- - Overhead utility Imes
s— - Sewer line

sr— - Vlater line

g - Nat;fral gas line

TR

Water meter
Water valve

u, - Utility Pole
Fire hydrant

Sanitary sewer manhole
a` - Sewer clean- out

x - •- Wire fencellne
a - Wrought Iron fence

u 1

ate°,. 
8earfngs, distances andart

coordinates shown hereon are
mrd cw GRID" based on the Texas

State Plane Coordinate System
I o Central Zone - NAD 83

z" rz
NARN). El, va1lons shown are

u• u„. rr” NAVD 88
xo. Aby ' spun

Convergence = + 013325" 

Combined Factor = 0,9999831

FLOOD PLANE N0TE' Entire
subject tract 1s designated

ZONE " AO' according to FEMA
Mod Insurance Rate Map No. 
48021C0360E revised January 19, 
2008, 

u2
adnardl" 

4a" zia: :' 3s8 ` PA+! bdme " a EASEMENT N07E:• No recorded

xsias ( szy% : casements flstod In Lawyrrs Title
iiE• srl rlT. sf•• ~• insurance Cor oration 7111, 

corn mitmant OF J0725490
dated August 30, 2007. 

aw.. aa. avl

I \ 

PLAT SHOWING THE SURVEY OF A 1. 287 ACRE TRACT, BEING A

PART OF BUILDING BLOCK 52 EAST OF WATER STREET ACCORDING
TO THE PLAT OF THE CITY OF BASTROP RECORDED IN PLAT

CABINET 1, SLIDE 23A OF THE PLAT RECORDS OF BASTROP COUNTY, 
AND BEING THAT SAME TRACT DESCRIBED AS 1. 270 ACRES IN A

DEED SROM . WOODROW F_ ROEHLICH TO DIANE C SELLARDS DATED

7U1Vr7S— 20 TAGE 8 9= 0- -' H

OFFICIAL RECORDS OF BASTROP COUNTY

STATE OF TEXAS

COUNTY OF BASTROP

I, Kevin Von Mlnden, a Registered Professional Land Surveyor, do hereby
certify that this surveywas made on the ground, that this plat correctly

represents the facts fund at the time of the survey, and that this
profeselanal service conforms to the current Texas Society of Professional

Surveyors Standor" Specifications for a Category € A, Condition € Land
Title Sggvoy. 

Kevin Von Minden, R. P. L. S. ry: 

Reg€ stratlnn Na. 4438 x 1VOT3MINUEN„ 

BEFCO ENGINEERING, INC. •• • 
q •• 38

La Grange. Texas f9' aoF °?' gyp

979- 968- 6474 , L ass
December 4 2007 O ClySU

F\ Kevin\ Land Projects 3\ 07-- 4499\ dwg\ 07- 4648a



A4C" JZJDI`® 
COMMERCIAL, INSURANCE APPLICATION

APPLICANT INFORMATION SECTION

AGENCY - CARRIER NA€C CODE: 
UNDERWRITER

Siegel.er Insurance Agency morthfiied ans Co

172 West Austin Street I POLICIES OR PROGRAM REQUESTED

Giddings TX 78942- 329, 

P&qo,Ex1I: ( 979) 542- 3449

979) 542- 0469

ADDRESS: biglflike@siegi.ns. com
CODE: 9106 SUB CODe

AGENCY cusToNER b: 00004376

a• Ar c. r C tvxucA[ VIANM

INDICATE SECTIONS ATTACHED

PROPERTY

GLASS AND SIGN

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE! 
VALUABLE PAPERS

CRIMFIM€SCELLANEOUS CRIME

EQU€PMENT FLOATER

NSTALLATIONOBUILDERS RISK

ELECTRONIC DATA PROC

COMMERCIAL
GENERAL LIABILITY

BUSINESS AUTO

TRUCHERSIMOTOR CARRIER

DATE (MMIDDNYYY) 

4/ 30/ 2008

UMMMOUIER OFF

POLICYNUMBER

TBD

GARAGE AND DEALERS

VEHICLE SCHEDULE

BOILER S. MACHINERY

WORKERS COMPENSATION

UMBRELLA

AnnvrnAAr• rrarcnosewrrnM . 

NAME ( First Named Insured & Other Hamed Insureds) 

QUOTE $ ISSUE POLICY RENEW ENTER THIS INFORMATION WHEN COMMON DATESANDTERMS APPLY TO SEVERAL LINES, OR FOR MONOLINE POLICIES. 

Bastrop 1832 Farmers Market

HOUND ( Give Date artdlorAtlach Copy): 

CHANGE DATE TIME x AM

CANCEL 5/ 5/ 2008 12: 01 PM

PROPOSED EFF DATE PROPOSED EXP DATE BILLING PLAN PAYMENT PLAN AUDIT

512) 360- 4799

5/ 5/ 2008 5/ 5/ 2009 X

DIRECTSILL

AGENCY BILL

ADDRESS( ES): 

4. ANY CATASTROPHE EXPOSURE? X

AnnvrnAAr• rrarcnosewrrnM . 

NAME ( First Named Insured & Other Hamed Insureds) 

13W# 

MAILING ADDRESS INCL ZIPW (of First Named Insured) 

Bastrop 1832 Farmers Market

INTEREST

220 Zapalac Road

MLpY
A

Smithville ' Tx 78957

wEr3slTs
PltoplN 512) 360- 4799

Zapalac Road INSIDE

abradshau4799@esagsli.nk, cora

OWNER

ADDRESS( ES): 

4. ANY CATASTROPHE EXPOSURE? X 0, ANY UNCORRECTED FIRE CODE V€ O€ ARONS? 

SU s LLC CR Bt1ttEAt1 DATE BUS
INDIVIDUAL

PARTNERSHIP

CORPORATION

JOINTVENTt1RE X

CORPORATION

PROFLT 012G

At
NDI

AANAEGERSS
NAME

T

STARTED

i 

1115PEEOIIOII CONTACT: ACCOUNTING RECORDS CONTACT: 

A€[> Nu. F.* DBRESS: Exy: AD tESS

LOC# 13W# STREET, CITY, COUNTY, STATE, 71P+4 CITYLIMITS INTEREST YUILTR MLpY
A

OGCUP€ED

X

lb. DOES THE APPLICANT HAVE ANY SUBSIDIARIES? 

Zapalac Road INSIDE

x

OWNER

4. ANY CATASTROPHE EXPOSURE? X 0, ANY UNCORRECTED FIRE CODE V€ O€ ARONS? 

1220
Smithville TX 78957 OUTSIDE

10_ MIYBANKRUPTUES. TAXORCRED€TLIENS AGA€NSTTHEAPPLICANT
iN THE PAST 5 YEAR

TENANT

6. ANY POLICY OR COVERAGE DECLINED, CANCELLED OR NON - RENEWED
DURING THE PRIOR 3 YEARS? ( Notapplicable in MO) 

11- HAS BUSINESS BEEN PLACED INATRUST? 
WYE= S, NAMEOFTRUST: 

1 1 Bastrop

T7 ANY PAST LOSSES OR CLAIMS RELATING TO SEXUAL ABUSE OR _ _ _. 
MOT _ [ CIP d. F ' t, AfiEDNS` 13TS RlA IFhT{ F3T OR EGEIGENfH1R1NG= - - i 

REMARKSIPROCESSING INSTRUCTIONS ( Attach additional sheets If more space is required) 

ANY PERSON VM KNOWINGLY AND WITH INTENT TO DEFRAUD ANY INSURANCE COMPANY OR ANOTHER PERSON FILES AN APPLICATION FOR INSURANCE OR STATEMENT OF CLN

FORPERSON TO CRRIMINNAAL AND [ NY: SUMAANTLA€ j CIVILPENALTIES. 
MISLEAUNG. INFORMATION CONCERNING

FRAUDULENT INSURANCE ACT. WHICH IS A

CRING
ANY MATERLALLY FALSE ME AND SUWECTION. OR CONCEALS applicable in

ANY FACT MATERIALNF_ OOH OK, OR arVT In DC

ME TN and V& irmwaxa benefits may also be der" 

THE UNDERSIGNED IS AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OFTHE APPUCANTAND CERTIFIES THAT REASONABLE ENQUIRY HAS BEEN MADETO OBTAIN THE ANSWER" TO QUESTIONS ON THE

APPUC TS SIG ATURE DATE PRODUCER' S SIGNATURE NATIONAL. PRODUCER NUMBER

4/ 30/ 2008

INSIDE OWNER

OUTSIDE TENANT

NATURE OF BIISINESSiOESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS BY PREMISE( S) 

Farmers Market - sells produce

ENERAL INFORMATION

EXPLAIN ALL" YES" RESPONSES YES NO EXPLAIN At1." YES" RESPONSES YES NO

1a. IS THE APPLICANT A SUBSIDIARY OFANOT14ER ENTITY? x 8. DURING THE LAST FIVE YEARS ( FEN IN R€). HAS ANY APPLICANT SEEN
INDICTED FOR OR CONVICTED OF ANY DEGREE OF THE CRIME OF FRAUD, 
BRIBERY, ARSON OR ANY OTHER ARSON -RELATED CRIME IN CONNECTION
WITH THIS OR ANY OTHER PROPERTY? 

In RI, this question must be answered by any applicant far property insurance. 
Fa€€are to disclose the e)dstence of an arson conviction is a misdemeanor

punishable by a sentence of up to one yearol Imprisonment). X

lb. DOES THE APPLICANT HAVE ANY SUBSIDIARIES? x

2. IS A FORMAL SAFETY PROGRAM IN OPERATION? x

3. ANY EXPOSURE TO FLAMMABLE$, EXPLOSIVFS, CHEMICALS? 

4. ANY CATASTROPHE EXPOSURE? X 0, ANY UNCORRECTED FIRE CODE V€O€ARONS? X

5. ANY OTHER INSURANCE WITH THIS COMPANY OR BEING SUBMITTED? x 10_ MIYBANKRUPTUES. TAXORCRED€TLIENS AGA€NSTTHEAPPLICANTiN THE PAST 5 YEAR

6. ANY POLICY OR COVERAGE DECLINED, CANCELLED OR NON - RENEWED
DURING THE PRIOR 3 YEARS? ( Notapplicable in MO) 

11- HAS BUSINESS BEEN PLACED INATRUST? 
WYE= S, NAMEOFTRUST: 

12. ANY FOREIGN OPERATIONS, FOREIGN PRODUCTS DISTRIBUTED IN USA, OR US

PRODUCTS SOLBIDIS—T.RIBUTED.EN FOREEGN COt3NTRIEST [ if "YES", altarh . - 
0R . C.0-,R4615 forf3abiliLy_F sore'alor_i QtT

T7 ANY PAST LOSSES OR CLAIMS RELATING TO SEXUAL ABUSE OR _ _ _. 
MOT _ [ CIP d. F ' t, AfiEDNS` 13TS RlA IFhT{ F3T OR EGEIGENfH1R1NG= - - i 

REMARKSIPROCESSING INSTRUCTIONS ( Attach additional sheets If more space is required) 

ANY PERSON VM KNOWINGLY AND WITH INTENT TO DEFRAUD ANY INSURANCE COMPANY OR ANOTHER PERSON FILES AN APPLICATION FOR INSURANCE OR STATEMENT OF CLN

FORPERSON TO CRRIMINNAAL AND [ NY: SUMAANTLA€ j CIVILPENALTIES. 
MISLEAUNG. INFORMATION CONCERNING

FRAUDULENT INSURANCE ACT. WHICH IS A

CRING
ANY MATERLALLY FALSE ME AND SUWECTION. OR CONCEALS applicable in

ANY FACT MATERIALNF_ OOH OK, OR arVT In DC

ME TN and V& irmwaxa benefits may also be der" 

THE UNDERSIGNED IS AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OFTHE APPUCANTAND CERTIFIES THAT REASONABLE ENQUIRY HAS BEEN MADETO OBTAIN THE ANSWER" TO QUESTIONS ON THE

APPUC TS SIG ATURE DATE PRODUCER' S SIGNATURE NATIONAL. PRODUCER NUMBER

4/ 30/ 2008

ACORN 125 (2005106) PL.tASLGU€81P1- h 11= PAUL L C7At; URU UUKNUKAI €UPI TUU3- ZUU5

INS125 (2005m).02a Page 1 oft



rm00

EXPLAIN ALL" YES" RESPONSES (For past or present operations) YES NO EXPLAIN ALL *YES' RESPONSES [ Far past of preserntoperafions) 

KYMDE13USE

NO

1. DOES APPLICANT DRAW PLANS, DESIGNS, OR SPECIFICATIONS
FOR OTHERS? 

x 4. DO YOUR SUBCONTRACTORS CARRY COVERAGES OR LIMITS
LESS THAN YOURS? 

x

2 -DO ANY OPERATIONS INCLUDE BLASTING OR UTILIZE OR STORE
EXPLOSIVE MATERIAL? X

5. ARE SUBCONTRACTORS ALLOWED TO WORK WITHOUT
PROVIDING YOU WITH A CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE? X

3. DO ANY OPERATIONS INCLUDE EXCAVATION, TUNNELING, 
UNDERGROUND WORK OR EARTH MOVING? x

6. DOES APPLICANT LEASE EQUIPMENT TO OTHERS WITH OR
WITHOUT OPERATORS? X

REMARKSIDESCRIBE THE TYPE OF WORK SUBCONTRACTED S PAD TO SUB- CONTRA1Ci'ORS- 
X OF v?m f%T1LL- i PART- 
SUBCONTRACiEA' TRS STAFF: TAME STAFF- 

DDnr r M1T WCV%W0J = Mn nar-I* A nnuc

PRODUCTS -- - _ ANNUAL GROSS SKLES SOFUNITS A811m., 031LLW-E KYMDE13USE PREIC>PALCO TS

OTHER
LIENHOLDER

EMPLOYEE AS LESSOR

3. DOIHAVE PAST, PRESENT OR DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
JOINT VENTURES? 

x

ITEM DESCRIPTION: 

X

e. g. landfills, wastes, fuel tanks, etc) X 16. IS THERE A LABOR INTERCHANGE WITH ANY OTHER BUSINESS

4. ANY OPERATIONS SOLD, ACQUIRED, OR DISCONTINUED IN
OR SUBSIDIARIES? x

XLAST 5 YEARS? X 17. ARE DAY CARE FACILITIES OPERATED OR CONTROLLED? 

5. MACHINERY OR EQUIPMENT LOANED OR RENTED TO OTHERS? X 18. HAVE ANY CRIMES OCCURRED OR BEEN ATTEMPTED ON
6. ANY WATERCRAFT, DOCKS, FLOATS OWNED, HIRED OR LEASED? I X

YOUR PREMISES WITHIN THE LAST THREE YEARS? X

7. ANY PARKING FACILITIES OWNEDIRENTED? X 19. 15 THERE A FORMAL, WRITTEN SAFETY AND SECURITY

EXPLAIN ALL "YES" RESPONSES ( For any pastor present product or operation) YES NO EXPLAIN ALL "YES" RESPONSES (For any pastor present product or " ration) YES NO

1. DOES APPLICANT INSTALL, SERVICE OR DEMONSTRATE PRODUCTS? X 6. PRODUCTS RECALLED, DISCONTINUED, CHANGED? X

2, FOREIGN PRODUCTS SOLD, DISTRIBUTED, USED AS COMPONENTS? 

3. RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT CONDUCTED OR NEW
PRODUCTS PLANNED? 

X

X

7. PRODUCTS OF OTHERS SOLD OR RE -PACKAGED UNDER
APPLICANT LABEL? 

8, PRODUCTS UNDER LABEL OF OTHERS? 

x

X

4. GUARANTEES, WARRANTIES, HOLD HARMLESS AGREEMENTS? X 9, VENDORS COVERAGE REQUIRED? X

5. PRODUCTS RELATED TO AIRCRAFTISPACE INDUSTRY? X 10. DOES ANY NAMED INSURED SELL TO OTHER NAMED INSUREDS? X

PLEASE-ATTAGH LITERATURE, BROCHURES, LABELS, WARNINGS, ETC

km a ca bertef is may also be

Anra-nr%wA1 ILtTCbCC711GDY L -If -AT= 101= 41` 41PIPR T I I Ar:nRn AS atfarhod fnr additinnal names

INTEREST

l

RANK: 

ADDITIONAL ENSURED

NAME AND ADDRESS I REFERENCE N: CERTIFICATE REQUIRED INTERESTIN ITEM NUMBER

LOCATION- BU& DING- 

LOSS PAYEE VEHK3 E- BOAT: 

MORTGAGEE SCHEDULED n1EM NllilBEli- 

OTHER
LIENHOLDER

EMPLOYEE AS LESSOR

3. DOIHAVE PAST, PRESENT OR DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
JOINT VENTURES? 

x

ITEM DESCRIPTION: 

r-Ml=RAI iNFnRMA'nnM

EXPLAIN ALL" YES" RESPONSES ( For all pastor presentoperaffons) YES NO EXPLAIN ALL "YES" RESPONSES( For all past or present operations) YES NO

1. ANY MEDICAL FACILITIES PROVIDED OR MEDICAL PROFESSIONALS 12. ANY STRUCTURAL ALTERATIONS CONTEMPLATED? X

EMPLOYED OR CONTRACTED? X 13. ANY DEMOLITION EXPOSURE CONTEMPLATED? X

2. ANY EXPOSURE TO RAD€OACTIVEINUCLEAR MATERIALS? X 14. HAS APPLICANT BEEN ACTIVE IN OR IS CURRENTLY ACTIVE IN

3. DOIHAVE PAST, PRESENT OR DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
JOINT VENTURES? 

x
INVOLVE(D) STORING, TREATING, DISCHARGING, APPLYING, 15. DO YOU LEASE EMPLOYEES TO OR FROM OTHER EMPLOYERS? 
DISPOSING, OR TRANSPORTING OF HAZARDOUS MATERIAL? 

X

e. g. landfills, wastes, fuel tanks, etc) X 16. IS THERE A LABOR INTERCHANGE WITH ANY OTHER BUSINESS

4. ANY OPERATIONS SOLD, ACQUIRED, OR DISCONTINUED IN
OR SUBSIDIARIES? x

XLAST 5 YEARS? X 17. ARE DAY CARE FACILITIES OPERATED OR CONTROLLED? 

5. MACHINERY OR EQUIPMENT LOANED OR RENTED TO OTHERS? X 18. HAVE ANY CRIMES OCCURRED OR BEEN ATTEMPTED ON
6. ANY WATERCRAFT, DOCKS, FLOATS OWNED, HIRED OR LEASED? I X

YOUR PREMISES WITHIN THE LAST THREE YEARS? X

7. ANY PARKING FACILITIES OWNEDIRENTED? X 19. 15 THERE A FORMAL, WRITTEN SAFETY AND SECURITY

9. RECREATION FACILITIES PROVIDED? ` Y 20. DOES THE BUSINESSES' PROMOTIONAL LITERATURE MAKE
111. IS THERE A SWIMMING POOL ON THE PREMISES? X ANY REPRESENTATIONS ABOUT THE SAFETY OR SECURITY x

OF THE PREMISES? 
11. SPORTING OR SOCIAL EVENTS SPONSORED? X

REMARKS

ANY PERSON WHO KNOWNGLY AND iIWM IR ENC TO DEFRAUD ANY INSURANCE COMPANY OR ANOTHER PERSON FILES AN APPLICATION FOR INSURANCE OR STATEMENT OF CLAI
CONTAINING ANY MATERWLLY FALSE INFORMATION, ORCONCEALS FORTHE PURPOSE OF MISLEADING INFORMATION CONCERNING ANY FACT MATERIAL THERETO, COR M14S A FRAUDULE

LA, ME, TN d VINSURANCE ACT, WHICH IS A CRIME AND SUSJECTSTHE PERSON TO CRIMINAL AND (NY:SUBSTANTIAL] CML PENALTIES, (NatappGabfe in CO, HI, Nfti OH, OK OR orVl; at DGan
km a ca bertef is may also be

ACORD 126 (2GO ) ATIAGH TO APt' i..IGAANY INUIUKMAIIIJIN SEGI IUN

I NS126 (200510).01a Page 2 of 2



CGIIi MERCIAL. GENERAL LIABILITY SECTION
4/ 30(MjzQQg

AGENCY [ 979) 542- 3449 Ff CANT 13astrop 1832 Farmers Market
ER No}: ( 979j 542- 0469 Insured) 

Siegeler Insurance Agency

172 West Austin Street
EFFECIVEDATE

I
EXPIRATiONDATE[

DIRECTBILL
PAYMENTPLAN AUDIT

5/ 5/ 2008 5/ 5/ 2009 AGENCY HILL

Giddings TX 78942_3294 FOR

COMPANY

CODE: 9106 SU13 CODE: USE ONLY

ltGE31CY . ooU04376

COVERAGES LIMITS

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAIMS MADE ® OCCURRENCE

OWNER'S & CONTRACTOR' S PROTECTIVE

GENERAL AGGREGATE $ 2, 000, 000 pF2HNUM-S

PRODUCTS & COMPLETED OPERATIONS AGGREGATE $ 2, 000, 000 PREMISESIOPFRATIONS

PERSONAL & ADVERTISING INJURY $ 1, OOO ' 000

EA_CHOCCURRENCE.-- 

DEDUCTIBLES

PROPERTY DAMAGE $ 

BODILY INJURY $ cruH ccw 

DAMAGE TO RENTED PREMISES (each occurrence) S 100, 000 PRODUCTS

MEDICAL EXPENSE (Any one person) $ 5, 00a

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS $ 

I OTHER

OTHER COVERAGES, RESTRICTIONS ANPNRENnORSEMENTS( For hiredlrwa-owned auto a erages arradr the epplkr ble$ Wa Bus€runs Auia Section. ACORD 437) 

TOTAL

SCHEDULE OF HAZARDS

LOG HAZ CLASSIFICATION
CLASS

CODE
PREMIUM

BASIS
EXPOSURE

TERRRATE
PREWIR

PREMIOPS PRODUCTS PREMIOPS PRODUCTS

1

Produce sales

S Gross 150, 000

RATING AND PREMIUM BASIS ( P) PAYROLL- PER $ 1, 0WIPAY ( G) TOTAL COST - PER $ 1, OOOICOST ( U) UNIT - PER UNIT

5) GROSS SALES - PER $ 1, 0001SALES ( A) AREA - PER 1, 000= FT ( M) ADMISSIONS - PER 1.( WADM ( T) OTHER

r- 1 AIWC YAFIF ff -- F— 991 —Yrl — PPN4MMr̀ l r- rrr I J T rr Ms Mnr 11 ti r earvr I Y

1. PROPOSED RETROACTIVE DATE: 1. DEDUCTIBLE PER CLAIM: $ 

2. ENTRY DATE INTO UNINTERRUPTED CLAIMS MADE COV: 2. NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES: 

3. HAS ANY PRODUCT, WORK, ACCIDENT, OR LOCATION
BEEN EXCLUDED, UNINSURED OR SELF- INSURED
FROM ANY PREVIOUS COVERAGE? 

YES NO 3. NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES COVERED BY EMPLOYEE BENEFITS PLANS: 

X 4. RETROACTIVE DATE: 

PREVIOUS POLICY? 

REMARKS REMARKS

ACORD 126 (2OO5tO8) PLEASE COMPLETE PAGE 2 OACORD CORPORATION 1993-2005

INS126 (2ao51o).oia Page 1 of 2



P` ADGICA LM9: nPRffATIAM

LINE CATEGORY

CARRIER

POLICY NUMBER
uncus uncus  uncus  uncus  

POLICY TYPE ° u"° E u" oE unn icaae

RETRO DATE

EFF -EXP DATE

G GENERALAGGREGATE

E
N

TS COMP OP

CE

PERSONAL& ADVM
6R

M LL EACH OCCURRENCE

R L I FIRE DAMAGE
C IM MEDICAL EXPENSE

LBODI1
LY OCCURRENCE

JIT' 
INJURY

T
y

AGGREGATE— -- - 

PROPERTY OCCURRENCE r

DAMAGE AGGREGATE

TCOMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

MODIFICATION FACTOR

TOTAL PREMIUM

CARRIER

POLICY NUMBER

A L POLICY TYPE
T I EFF -EXP DATE
OA

M B COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT
01

BODILY EA PERSONI

L Y 114JURY FAACCIDENT
E

PROPERTY DAMAGE

MODIFICATION FACTOR

TOTAL PREMIUM

CARRIER

POLICY NUMBER
P

R POLICY TYPE
O
P EFF -EXP DATE

ER BUILDING AMT

T
PERSPROP AMT

MODIFICATION FACTOR

TOTAL PREMIUM

CARRIER
J

POLICY NUMBER

POLICY TYPE

EFF -EXP DATE

LIMIT

MMIF€CATION FACTOR

TOTAL PREMIUM

I 0SS I-HSTCIRY

ENTER ALL CLAIMS OR LOSSES (REGARDLESS OF FAULT AND WHETHER OR NOT INSURED) OR OCCURRENCES THAT MAY GIVE RISE TO CLAIMS CHKHERE SEEATTAGHEb

FOR THE PRIOR S YEARS (3 YEARS INKS & NY) EF NONE LOSS SUMMARY

CLAIM
DATEOFDATE AMOUNT AMOUNT STATUS

OCCURRENCE
UNE TYPER7ESCRIPiiONOFOCCIIRRENCEORCLAIM

OF CLAIM PAID RESERVED OPEN

REMARKS NOTE: FIDELITY REQUIRES A RYE YEAR LOSS HISTORY ATTACHMENTS

STATE SUPPLEMENT(S) (tiappte) 

COPY OP THE NOTICE OF INFORMATION PRACTICES ( PRIVACY) HAS BEEN GIVEN TO THE APPLICANT. (Not applicable in all states, cansultyour agent or brokerfor your state's requirements.) 
NOTICE OF INSURANCE WIFORMATION. PERSONAL INFORMATION ABOUT YOU, INCLUDING INFORKATM FROM A CRHAt R PORT, MAY BE COLLECTED FROM PERSONS OTHER
THAN YOU 1N CONNECTION V1rHii THIS APPLICATION FOR INSURANCE AND SUBSEQUENT POLICY RENEWALS. SUCH INFORMATION AS WELL AS OTHER PERSONAL AND PRMLEM
INFORMATION COLLECTED BY US OR OUR AGENTS MAY IN CERTAIN CIRCUMSTANCES BE DISCLOSED TO THIRD PARTIES WITHOUT YOUR AUTHORIZATION_ YOU HAVE THE RIGHT TO REVIEW
YOUR PERSONAL INFORMATION IN OUR FILES AND CM REQUEST CORRECTION OF ANY INACCURACIES. A MORE DETAILED DESCMPTION OFYOUR RIGHTS AND OUR PRACTICES REGARDIN
SUCH INFORMATION IS AVAILABLE UPON REQUEST_ CONTACTYOURAGENT OR BROKER FOR INSTRUCT[ONS ON HOW TO SUBMTTA REQUESTTO US. 

ACORD 125 (ZW) 

INS125 goo5o8).o2a Page 2 of 2



a

Date —., 20 Od' 

ei \, i' U- 3 A r t,,., 

PAID

18556

1= 02
i :B"• S= • OP-: 1=$ 2 FAl iv. 5 A .'., r=:-_ .;:_•.'':.`-:-.: _ - : _ - - 

1ATE: . 

PAY TO THE
ORDER OF

DOLLARS

Bddm" 

sii. { 

CAS
RECEIPTCL cz 

Received From

co4w AddressC-- 

M

M t— N— 

0050v For
0%- 

jW AMT. OF

Q ACCOUNT CASH

AMT PA[ D Cki CiC
M

Date —., 20 Od' 

ei \, i' U-3 A r t,,., 

PAID

18556

1= 02
i :B"• S= • OP-: 1=$ 2 FAl iv. 5 A .'., r=:-_ .;:_•.'':.`-:-.: _ - : _ - - 

1ATE: . 

PAY TO THE
ORDER OF

DOLLARS

Bddm" 

sii. { 



Report of Business for Bastrop 1832 Farmers Market Year 2008

Opened for business on May 9 ', generating over $2300 in sales the fust week, with more
than a dozen vendors over the two days. Friday and Saturday_ 

Have maintained a wide range of vendors offering fresh vegetables and fruit, grass fed
beef, Berkshire Pork, Pastured Poultry, Yard Eggs, Goat Cheese, Prepared Foods, Soaps, 
Candles & Incense, Jewelry, Pottery & Photography, Plants, Herbs. & Trees, & Gourd

Art. 

Sponsored a number of promotions at the market (to coincide with 2
d

Saturday
Promotions downtown): 

July: Basil Fest
August: Endless Summer

September: A Taste of Chicken

October: Hogtober Fest

October: Fids Halloween Dress Up Contest
November: A sampling of Seasonal items
December: Winter Celebration

8 month total: $92,948 gross vendor sales. 

Paid Membership is 24, usually 8. 10 vendors at a given market. 

Changed days of operation Jan 2009 to Tuesday and Saturday markets to give greater
accessibility for fresh foods to our customers with very positive response from customers
Just added 3 more vendors: a pie maker, a potter and a photographer. 

Certified Farmers Market by Texas Dept of Ag. 
Member of Go Texan program of the Texas Dept of Ag. 
Certified by Dept ofHealth to accept WIC vouchers
Bastrop Chamber of Commerce member

Hospitality table with free water and free recipes for customers
Brochures available at Bastrop Producers Market & other locations

Sandwich Boards Downtown

Web site developed by Studio 1C, with email signup for customers to receive enewsletter
about the market. Newsletters sent out regularly at least once a month. 

Participated in M. D. Anderson Science Park Employee Fair, Smithville, May 2008
Participated in NatureFest Sept 27, 2008, handing our hundreds ofbrochures
Hosted Harvest Art Fest, November 28 & 29, 2008, with over 50 fine arts & craft

vendors, generating hundreds of customer visits, (est. between 700 & 1000 both clays

total) 



Community: 
Established a school Garden for Mina Elementary, fall 2008
Began work for community garden near Shiloh (Trinity Zion) 
Ongoing Food Drive for Bastrop Food Pantry started (box at hospitality table) 
Free cooking demos on regular basis with samples and take home recipes
Accepting items for recycling: egg cartons, plastic bags and plant pots for reuse by our
vendors

Upcoming Plans

Demonstrationfeducational Gardens on future Farmers Market site

Produce from Garden to be donated to Food Pantry

Community Bulletin Board for small business people to exchange information and
business cards. 

Advertise for swap/ trade or sale of agricultural associated items

Working with Stephen Brown to bring in live music groups on Saturdays. Have already
had several groups performing. 

End of year monies in excess of projected budget expenses for market will be donated to

local non-profit agencies, i.e.. CASA, Family Crisis Center, Children' s Advocacy Center
Food Pantry. 

Will be sponsoring Raffle/charity Drive with Heart `O the Pines Fire Department



Summary of Activities To Achieve 501(c)3 Status

The Bastrop 1832 Farmers Market began in May of 2008. Prior to the opening of the
Farmers Market, the Board of Directors had begun the process to obtain 501( c)( 3) non- 

profit. onprofit. status. 

The first step was to apply to the Secretary of State ofTexas. The Farmers Market
received non-profit status with Texas shortly after application in the spring of2008. 
Once this was completed, the Farmers Market began the arduous task of applying for
non-profit status with the Internal. Revenue Service. 

Initially, the process looked fairly straightforward. However, as the process progressed
and the specific requirements became known, it was decided by the Board that we would
seek professional assistance. Mr. Christian Callens has represented and is currently
working on our behalf in creating the 501( c)(3), and in interfacing with the IRS. 

Under his recommendations, Bastrop 1832 Farmers Market instituted several actions to
promote its 501( c)( 3) status. These included; . 

Educational outreach to increase awareness of the availability of local, sustainable
foods

o Festivals promoting local artisans works at the market
Two community gardens --- one at Emil Elementaty and one on Shilo Road — to

encourage healthy eating
IV Monthly events highlighting different foods and their preparation

After a substantial filing to show both the chaxacter of the Bastrop 1832 Farmers Market
and all of the nonprofit actions it has taken and proposes to take, the IRS conditionally
refused the non-profit status. Mr. Callen is currently filing additional material to bolster
the Market' s claim to being a non-profit status. We will not know the final ruling until
a e,r the beginning ofMarch. 



Erika Bradshaw

Board Member

Bastrop 1832 Farmers Market
512- 360-4799

Dolores Svoboda Eeeper

Secretary/ Treasurer
Bastrop 1832 Farmers Market

3 = Farme ............. 
512-360-4502

1302 Chestnut St. Bastrop, TX
www.bastro 1832farmersmarket-or

March 8, 2010

Mike Talbot

City Manager
P. O. Box 427

Bastrop, TX 78602

Dear Mr. Talbot, 

We wish to thank you for the opportunity to use the city' s site for our Farmers Market. We

have worked hard these past two years to build a market that offers a ` Destination Location, for

both locals and visitors to Bastrop with a variety of fresh produce, meats, plants, prepared

foods and artisan goods. Attached is a list of our accomplishments to date, future plans and our

ideas for the development of this site. We recognize your concerns for this location, that it be

utilized to its fullest potential. We believe we can best satisfy these concerns and meet your

qualifications for this site. Our request is that you include our proposal for consideration in the

development of the future plans for 1302 Chestnut St. 

Sincerely, 

Erika Bradshaw

Dolores Svoboda Leeper



Our Pians for Development of 1302 Chestnut 5t. by Bastrop 1832 Farmers Market 1

Bastrop 1832 Farmers Market

Accomplishments to Date

About our Market

the Bastrop 1832 Farmers Market is a project of Bastrop Sustainable Agricultural Community, a
non-profit 501. (c) ( 3) corporation. 

Our-vendars-wed-over- lll,-O-00-isn- safes,& r-ing-our-firsful[-ye- r-of-op-e.rat-rcy- -2OQ9-), 

keeping Bastrop monies local and generating taxable income for the city. We are building a

Destination Location" attraction for the city. 

Some of the Community Outreach we did last year: 

0 Provided monthly cooking demonstrations with samples and recipes, featuring local
produce and meats. 

Offered gardening seminars, providing agricultural information to the public. 

Built 3 school & community gardens for demonstration, education and produce

distribution. 

0 Donated over 200 pounds of fresh produce to our local food pantry & additional cash

donations. 

0 Donated to Family Crisis Center" Festival of frees" 

Hosted collection box for "Pink Santa" 

Provided free space for Friends of Bastrop Animal shelter to sell cookbooks. 

Worked in conjunction with BAFA to present Harvest Art l=est. (2008 & 2009) 

Provided a " Book Swap" corner, to share books and magazines. 

Provided free recipe and gardening handouts. 

rovr e cycFmgbnsaiumnurir a3tregca ons pan po s. - 

Planned our upcoming " Farm to Plate" dinner, profits to benefit local charities such as

the local food pantry



Our Pians for Development of 1302 Chestnut St. by Bastrop 1832 Farmers Market 2

Plans for 2010

Host a fabulous Farm to Table Charity Dinner Event to raise money for several local
charities. 

a Extend our community garden projects to more organizations and schools. 

a Add rainwater collection system to market building for demonstration, education and

a =site-=wat ng aee-d . - — - - - 

Add another demonstration garden to market ground featuring perennials, annuals and
herbs. 

0 Plana larger `Farm to Plate' dinner with more donations to local charities. 

Plan community oriented activity each month (cook -offs, etc). 

Host fundraiser with Two Wheels of Texas. 

e Provide free space to other non- profit organizations. 

0 Continue gardening seminar series. 

2010 Events at Market

MARCH

Saturday, March 13, 11am - Gardening Seminar -Preparing for Spring Gardening. 
Saturday, March 20 -Singer Terry Lynn Moore, throughout Market Hours 10am-2pm. 
Free of charge. 

Saturday, March 27, 11am - Cooking Demo- Free of charge. 

APRIL

Saturday, April 3, 11am - Garden seminar - 
Saturday, April 10, 11am - Cooking Demo. Learn how to prepare seasonal dishes from fresh ingredients
available at the Market. Demonstration, sampling and recipe handouts. Free of charge. 
Saturday, April 17, 11am - Gardening Seminar

Saturday, April 24-(Yesterfest) Events TBA

MAY

Saturday, May 1 -Herb Day Events

Saturday, May 8 -2nd Birthday of Market Celebration & Morn' s Day Events

Saturday, May 15, 11am - Earth Kind Roses Gardening seminar



l3

Bastrop 1832 Farmers Market

Our Plan for developing
met& bum* q the land at 1302 Chestnut St. 

Site Key (Not to Scale) 

13 1 Market Building
Driveway for vendors to 2 Demo Garden
access building 3 Demo shed (10 x 15) 

outside booths 4 Vendor Stalls

5 Pergola (10x20)  

with tables & chairs

1 6 Butterfly Garden with
Purple Martin & Blue Bird

0U Houses

7 Herb Garden with Bird Bath

Raised beds with edging, 
NN handicap accessible

8 Demonstration & Giving
14 GardenG nd 6bodo ] x 50 ft

9 Farmers Market Cistern un

supports that are benches

Grassy 10 NadveTree bed, featudng
Loblolly Pines

for kids ll Marque otentrance with events

12 lots ufbenches

13 Rain barrels towater gardens

14 Grassy area for kids toplay
15Live music area

1

Gravel and

granite pathways

l3



Our Plans for Development of 1302 Chestnut St. by Bastrop 1532 Farmers Market 3

Bastrop 1832 Farmers Market - Development of Market site

Recently there has been some discussion about the best use for the parcel currently occupied by the
Bastrop 1832 Farmers Market. We propose the following ideas to help make this corner of Bastrop an
Urban Park, featuring wildlife preserve, demonstration gardens, a handicap accessible herb garden, bird

house habitat, that also has a wonderful Farmers Market. Please refer to map following. 

1. , Market Building—to be used by the artisan & prepared foods part of the market

2. Demo Garden ---about 15 x4, featuring annuals and perennials

3. Demo shed (10 x 15) -pole barn construction to match other buildings -enclosed on north and west

sides, with solid floor, as a place for cooking demonstrations and a variety of lectures. 

4. Vendor Stalls (with covered center aisle) for up to 16 farmer vendors

5. Pergola( 10x20) with tables & chairs for resting, relaxing and even enjoying lunch

6. Butterfly Garden with Purple Martin & Blue Bird Houses ( a long bed on east side of land full of

colorful annuals and perennials, a few shrubs

i. Herb Garden with Bird Bath, Raised beds with edging to sit upon, handicap accessible ( pavers or
decomposed granite) 

8. Demonstration & Giving, Garden - 6 beds 3 x 50 ft

9. Farmers Market Cistern on supports that are benches

10. Native Tree bed, featuring Loblolly Pines, red buds, crepe myrtle, select shrubs. Later addition of
Garden Railroad. 

11. Marque at entrance with events listed, plus brochures

12. Lots of benches throughout for sitting and observing

13. Rain barrels to water gardens

14. Grassy area for kids to play

Tree Grove, Butterfly Garden and Demo Flower Garden would be edged with timbers or stone. Most of

water puddling and allow vendor vehicles access to their booths. 

Tree Grove will also provide a noise barrier from railroad traffic. 

All trees & plants are designed to replace natural habitat for local wildlife. 



Enjoy a 5 Course Gourmet Meal

Featuring all fresh, local, artisan Foods

Grown by Area Farmers &z Ranchers

Produced '& Prepared by Local Chefs

BYOB

Live music will be provided

All profits will be given to Local Charities including

The Bastrop Food Pantry, Child Protective Service
Children' s Advocacy Center

Ticket Information

100 per Couple

For Farm to Table Event

Checks payable to Bastrop 1832 Farmers Market

c/ o Dolores Leeper, Secretary/ Treasurer

145 Easley Rd. Smithville, TX 73957

Additional Information: 360-4739 or 360- 4502



Bastro Ci - 

Bastrop, Texas

Honorable Mayor and Council; 

The Bastrop 1832 Fanners Market wished to request the oppoAuuity to speak
before you on August 11, 2009. Vire wish have one of our directors come before you to
discuss the issue of signage for our Farmers Market at 1209 Chestnut Street. 

We have complied with the requests of the City of Bastrop regarding signage on
the site. We now have specific signs that have been deemed in compliance. 

Our request to present before you is in regard to signage fees. We wish to make
the case for reduction or removal of the fees due to our non-profit status and other

variables regarding services that the Farmers Market supplies to the greater community. 

you. 

We thank you in advance for the opportunity to present our case and points to

A

0

44in rel

Patricia

An4JacobsDirector, B2Farmers Market



rb m

Executive Summary

Bastrop' s 1832 Farmers Market offers Bastrop the opportunity to join the cutting edge
of the fast growing sustainable food movement. The Markets, with its central location on
Chestnut Street next to the proposed Convention Center, has the ability to become a
major draw for both localshoppers and for out-of-town visitors. It can be made into a
unique agricultural and artisan experience for the Central Texas region that highlights all
of the distinctive resources of the area still present in Bastrop and nowhere else. 

The Market will offer fresh, local products such as produce, meats, eggs, canned and

baked goods, as well as value added items to a growing sustainable foods consumer
market. It will also offer high quality and one -ofa -kind artisan products and art that will
tap into the large artist colony developing around Bastrop. With proper promotion, the
Market can greatly enhance and compliment the tourist draw ofthe Hyatt Resort and the
many Bed and Breakfasts. It will also offer an additional event destination for visitors
using the Colorado River and ecotourism resources in and around the City ofBastrop. 

Farmers Markets are one of the fastest growing segments of the food industry. Since
1994, farmers markets in the United States have grown over 120 percent, going from
1, 700 in 1994 to over 3, 700 in 2004 and projected to be well over 7,000 by the end of
2010'. They now generate over one billion dollars a year in sales. The development of a
viable and growing Farmers Market in Bastrop will not only bring sales dollars directly to
the city, but will offer a marketing outlet for an important and growing agricultural
industry in our county. Proposed outreach programs between the Market and the
community will also promote job opportunities and small business expansion in this
sector. 

The Market is geographically situated to tap into the ever growing natural and
sustainable foods market -- expanding at over 25 percent a year. It' s central location in
Bastrop ideally places it to take advantage of the growing population ofthe county and to
pull large numbers of customers out of the Austin metroplex and surrounding Central
Texas region. With careful planning and promotion, the Market can go hand- in-hand
with Bastrop' s Main Street and the Colorado River to become a unique weekly event -- 
such as the main street area ofFredricksburg, or Gerogetown -- to pull in large numbers

ofvisitors and guest. 

1 Latest collected update from the U.S. Departinent of Agriculture. 



Summary of Proposal

The Bastrop' s 1.832 Farmers Market proposes to the City ofBastrop to create a viable, 
growing Farmers Market located on Chestnut Street near the site ofthe proposed City
Convention Center. The Board ofDirectors of the Market are all producers and vendors
with several years ofexperience with Farmers Markets who are fully committed to the
development ofa regionally unique, aggressively expanding forum for agricultural and
artisan products. 

it is our beliefthat the Bastrop' s 1832 Farmers Market can

a Pull in a growing number ofvendors year over year

a Create a unique ane -of -a -kind experience for the Central Texas Region

e Be a large draw for out-of-town visitors who are conning to Bastrop

Compliment other local destination draws, such as the Hyatt and the Colorado
River to pull more tourist into overnight stays

Expand the market for local producers

e Offer opportunities for our youth to explore vocations in agriculture



Statement ofPurpose

The Bastrop' s 1$ 32 Farmers Market will operate in accordance with all city, county, 
state and federal laws, for the benefit of farmers and customers alike. The mission of the
market is to provide Bastrop and the surrounding region with locally grown foods and
farm products in a direct farm -to -consumer marketing venue that wdll serve diverse
populations, preserve and promote region agriculture and improve our quality of life. 

the-Harkeis-a_nan-profit-SOL( anization. the mission -of -the Market is -t-o - -- 

create a food secure community by improving access to local, healthy, affordable food
for children and adults around the Bastrop area. 

Further goals that the Market strives to achieve are increased education about and
support of regional agriculture. The Market believes that small family farms and
ranches are essential to the local, sustainable agricultural economy, and it is committed to
making economic and educational connections between urban residence and local
farmers and ranchers. 

The predominant product emphasis of the Market will be on the farm and ranch products
from the region, but the Market will also host some craft vendors and producers of

ready -to -eat and valued -added products to support local, small crafters, artisans, and
food -based entrepreneurs to increase local economic vitality. 



Banks & Associates
2400 FM 32 San Marcos, Texas 78666

512) 847-3803

Prepared by: 

Erin K. Banks
Principal

PHASE I ENVIRONMYNTAL SITE ASSESSMENT

Pe formed At: 

1308 Chestnut Street

Bastrop County, Texas 78602
September 2003

Prepared for: 

Bastrop Economic Development Corporation
and

VanGarD Engineering, Inc. 
924 Main Street

Bastrop, Texas 78602



J

PHASE I ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ASSESSMENT
Performed At: 

1308 Chestnut Street

Bastrop County, Texas 78602
September 2003

i



i _ Section 4 ENVIRONMENTAL SETTING

The geologic, hydrogeologic, hydrologic and topographic conditions at the site
were reviewed to evaluate the potential migratory pathways for hazardous substances
and/ or petroleum products from o oro - si Tffiheor

groundwater. 

4. 1 - Surface Wafer Conditions

Agency were evaluated for the subject property. The site is not located within the 100 - 

year floodplain. 

A physical wetland delineation was not included in the scope of rk for this

roj ect. 

4.2 -- G

The Geologic Atlas of Texas, Austin Sheet prepared by the Bureau of Economic
Geology at the University of Texas Austin was reviewed for this study. According to

these maps the subsurface site geology consists of Fluviatile terrace deposits of the
Quaternary Age. This Formation consists of terrace deposits along streams including
gravel, sand, silt, and clay in varying proportions. There are no faults mapped on the site. 

Soil survey maps for Bastrop County prepared by the Natural Resourcep
Conservation Service ( NRCS) indicated that the soils on the site consist of Sayers fine
sandy loam (Sa), nearly level, excessively drained sandy bottomland soils. 

4.3 Groundwater

No site specific groundwater data was available for review at the time of this
study. The local topography indicates that the groundwater flow direction is most likely
towards Gill' s Branch and finally the Colorado River. Fluctuations in groundwater levels
are most likely variable depending upon the amount of rainfall, evaporation rates, season, 

INandother similar conditions. 

1: 

ilk

Am Phase kESA- Bastrop EDC
4-- 09/ 02/ 03

Bastrop, 'texas
Banks & Ass®c6 ka 

14



 

 
 

STAFF REPORT 
 

MEETING DATE:  August 8, 2017      AGENDA ITEM: 9D 
 
TITLE: 
Hold public hearing and consider action to approve Resolution No. R- 2017-61 of the City Council 
of the City of Bastrop, Texas, approval of the Second Amendment to Consent Agreement for the 
Colony Municipal Utility District No. 1 and Successor Districts being 1,516.768 acres out of the 
Jose Manuel Bangs survey, abstract A5, located west of F.M. 969 and east of F.M. 1209, within 
the City limits of Bastrop, Texas, repealing all conflicting resolutions; and providing an effective 
date. 
 
 
STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Wesley Brandon, P.E., Director of Planning and Engineering 
 
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY: 
The applicant is requesting an amendment to the existing Consent Agreement for the Colony 
Municipal Utility District No. 1 and Successor Districts, to incorporate 25.728 acres into the 
agreement, revise the lot standards matrix and revise the process for future minor amendments. 
 
The Colony MUD Consent Agreement was originally approved by City Council on February 10, 
2004.  The Consent Agreement describes the infrastructure design, construction, and land use 
standards that apply to the subdivision.  
 
On May 24, 2016, the City Council approved the request for the First Amendment to the Consent 
Agreement, which revised the Consent Agreement to include specific land use standards, as well 
as define the procedure for subdivision plan review and construction inspections.  
 
Addition of Acreage:  City Council adopted Resolution No. R-2007-14 (Exhibit B of the Consent 
Agreement) on August 14, 2007, consenting to the annexation of 25.728 acres of land into the 
district.  They are now going through the formal process to annex this area and are officially 
incorporating it in the Consent Agreement with this request. 
 



 

Lot Standards Matrix Amendment:  The lot standards matrix (Exhibit A of the Consent Agreement) 
includes land use categories for different types of housing and commercial structures.  Each 
category includes lot standards and has a maximum percentage of acreage that can be utilized 
within the total Colony MUD area.  The matrix was added to the agreement with the amendment 
in 2016.  With the second amendment, the applicant is adding an additional single-family 
category, “Duplex/Townhome,” which is roughly equivalent to the Singe-Family Attached housing 
type in the Zoning Ordinance.  The maximum number of living unit equivalents for the project will 
remain limited to 2,500. 

 
 
Future Amendments (Minor vs Major): Section 5 of the Consent Agreement contains language 
that defines what would constitute a minor versus a major amendment and an administrative 
approval process for minor amendments. 
 

“In order to streamline the amendment approval process at the City and make that process 
as efficient as possible, the Parties desire to distinguish between Major Amendments and 
Minor Amendments and establish a procedure for administrative approval by City staff of 
Minor Amendments.  Accordingly and notwithstanding anything in the Consent Agreement 
to the contrary, the Parties hereby agree that Major Amendments will require approval by 
the City Council, and that Minor Amendments may be administratively approved by the 
City Manager (“City Manager”) through a process similar to the City’s administrative 
development review process.  For purposes of this provision, a “Minor Amendment” is any 
amendment that 1) does not increase the maximum number of living unit equivalents 
projected within the Project to more than 2,500, 2) does not increase the traffic impacts of 
the development, and/or 3) has no significant adverse impact upon neighboring properties, 
the public, or persons who will occupy or use the proposed development; and a “Major 
Amendment” is any amendment that does not qualify as a Minor Amendment.  If the 
Parties dispute the classification of an amendment as a Major Amendment or Minor 
Amendment, or if the City Manager does not approve a Minor Amendment, the Developer 
or any Successor District may appeal that decision to the City Council.”   

 
Minor amendments will be submitted to the Planning & Engineering Department for review and 
approved by the City Manager.  If a minor amendment is not approved or there is a dispute as to 
the classification of an amendment as minor, the appeal decision would go to City Council, as 
would any major amendment. 

 
 
 
 
 



 

POLICY EXPLANATION: 
The Local Government Code Section 42.042 and Water Code Section 54.016 give the City 
Council the authority to approve the creation and to establish land use standards and inspection 
requirements for development within a Municipal Utility District.  This authorized with a Consent 
Agreement between the owner and the city. 
 
The Code of Ordinances, Section 13.05 requires that a public hearing be held at both the Planning 
& Zoning Commission and City Council for approval of the Consent Agreement and any 
amendments.  Further policy explanation is included in the attached Planning & Zoning Staff 
Report. 
 
The Planning & Zoning Commission held a public hearing on July 27, 2017 and recommended 
by a vote of 7-0 to approval of the Second Amendment to the Consent Agreement for the Colony 
Municipal District No. 1 and Successor Districts.  
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Hold public hearing and consider action to approve Resolution No. R- 2017-61 of the City Council 
of the City of Bastrop, Texas, approval of the Second Amendment to Consent Agreement for the 
Colony Municipal Utility District No. 1 and Successor Districts being 1,516.768 acres out of the 
Jose Manuel Bangs survey, abstract A5, located west of F.M. 969 and east of F.M. 1209, within 
the City li its of Bastrop, Texas, repealing all conflicting resolutions; and providing an effective 
date. 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Resolution 
Exhibit A:  Location Map 
Exhibit B:  Second Amendment to the Consent Agreement 
Planning & Zoning Staff Report 
 Attachment 1:  Location Map 

Attachment 2:  Surrounding Property Owners’ Responses 
Attachment 3:  Second Amendment to Consent Agreement 

 



1 
 

 

RESOLUTION NO. R-2017-61 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
BASTROP, TEXAS, APPROVING THE SECOND 
AMENDMENT TO THE CONSENT AGREEMENT FOR THE 
COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 AND 
SUCCESSOR DISTRICTS BEING 1,516.768 ACRES OUT 
OF THE JOSE MANUEL BANGS SURVEY, ABSTRACT A5, 
LOCATED WEST OF F.M. 969 AND EAST OF F.M. 1209, 
WITHIN THE CITY LIMITS OF BASTROP, TEXAS, 
REPEALING ALL CONFLICTING RESOLUTIONS; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the Texas Local Government Code Section 42.042, the 

Texas Water Code Section 54.016, the City Council is required to take action regarding 
municipal utility districts with the extra territorial jurisdiction and city limits; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Bastrop Code of Ordinances, Article 13.05 requires a public 
hearing held before both the Planning & Zoning Commission and the City Council; and  

 
WHEREAS, the Consent Agreement for the Colony Municipal Utility District No. 1 

and Successor Districts  was approved by City Council on February 10, 2004, with the 
First Amendment to the Consent Agreement approved on May, 2016; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council adopted Resolution R-2007-14 on August 14, 2007 

to authorize the annexation of 25.728 acres into the Colony Municipal District No. 1; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Bastrop Planning and Engineering Department has reviewed the 
above-referenced consent agreement found it is in compliance with the 2036 
Comprehensive Plan, and Subdivision Ordinance; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Planning & Zoning Commission held a public hearing and 

recommended approval by unanimous vote for the Second Amendment to the Consent 
Agreement for the Colony Municipal Utility District No. 1 and Successor Districts; and  

 
WHEREAS, notice of the request was sent in accordance with the Code of 

Ordinances, Article 13.05 Ordinance to notify the public.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF BASTROP, TEXAS:  
 

Section 1:  The Consent Agreement for the Colony Municipal Utility District No. 1 
and Successor Districts is hereby amended to with the following: 

 
a. Lot Standards. The Lot Standards attached as Exhibit “B” to the First Amendment 

(“Original Lot Standards”) are hereby replaced with the Lot Standards attached as 



2 
 

Exhibit “A” to this Amendment (the “Updated Lot Standards”). The Updated Lot 
Standards will supersede and replace the Original Lot Standards for all purposes 
under the Consent Agreement; however, for the avoidance of doubt, the Updated 
Lot Standards will only apply to Future Phases, as defined in the First Amendment. 
 

b. Consent to Annexation of Isbell and Archer Tracts. By Resolution No. R-2007-14, 
a Resolution of the City of Bastrop, Texas Consenting to the Annexation of 25.728 
Acres of Land into The Colony Municipal Utility District No. 1A and Containing 
Findings and Provisions Relating to This Subject dated August 14, 2007, a copy 
of which is attached to this Amendment as Exhibit “C” (the “2007 Annexation 
Resolution”), the City previously consented to the annexation of the 25.728 acre 
tract of land more particularly described in the 2007 Annexation Resolution 
(collectively, the “Isbell and Archer Tracts”) into the boundaries of District 1A. Such 
annexation has not yet occurred, and, due to the passage of time and the 
succession of “Developer” parties, District 1A’s bond counsel has recommended 
that the City ratify its consent to the annexation of the Isbell and Archer Tracts into 
the boundaries of District 1A before District 1A proceeds with such annexation. 
The 2007 Annexation Resolution provides that the City will provide additional 
confirmation of its consent upon request. Accordingly, the City hereby ratifies and 
confirms in all respects the 2007 Annexation Resolution and the annexation of the 
Isbell and Archer Tracts into the boundaries of District 1A. 
 

c. Amendments. Due to the fact that the Project comprises a significant land area 
and its development will occur in phases over a number of years, it is anticipated 
that the Parties may, from time to time, desire to make additional amendments to 
the Consent Agreement. In order to streamline the amendment approval process 
at the City and make that process as efficient as possible, the Parties desire to 
distinguish between Major Amendments and Minor Amendments and establish a 
procedure for administrative approval by City staff of Minor Amendments. 
Accordingly and notwithstanding anything in the Consent Agreement to the 
contrary, the Parties hereby agree that Major Amendments will require approval 
by the City Council, and that Minor Amendments may be administratively approved 
by the City Manager (“City Manager”) through a process similar to the City’s 
administrative development review process. For purposes of this provision, a 
“Minor Amendment” is any amendment that 1) does not increase the maximum 
number of living unit equivalents projected within the Project to more than 2,500, 
2) does not increase the traffic impacts of the development, and/or 3) has no 
significant adverse impact upon neighboring properties, the public, or persons who 
will occupy or use the proposed development; and a “Major Amendment” is any 
amendment that does not qualify as a Minor Amendment. If the Parties dispute the 
classification of an amendment as a Major Amendment or Minor Amendment, or if 
the City Manager does not approve a Minor Amendment, the Developer or any 
Successor District may appeal that decision to the City Council. 

 
Section 2: The Consent Agreement for the Colony Municipal Utility District No. 

1 and Successor Districts being 1,516.768 acres out of the Jose Manuel Bangs Survey, 



3 
 

Abstract A5, located west of F.M. 969 and east of F.M. 1209, within the city limits of 

Bastrop, Texas is hereby approved for recording, a copy of same being attached hereto 

as Exhibit “B” and incorporated herein for all purposes  

DULY RESOLVED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Bastrop this 8th day 

of August, 2017. 

 

CITY OF BASTROP, TEXAS 

       APPROVED: 

             
       ________________________________ 
       Connie B. Schroeder, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________ 
Ann Franklin, City Secretary 
  
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_____________________________ 
David F. Bragg, City Attorney 

 



FM
 969

FM
 1

209

SAY
ER

S

SO
N
N
Y

BLAKEY

WOODLANDS

D
O
C
 BR

YS
O
N

SH 71

B
A

R
T
O

N

WAGON

S
T

E
P

H
E

N
 F

 A
U

S
T

IN

W
IL

B
A

R
G

E
R

 B
E

N
D

EIGHT OAKS

H
O

W
A

R
D

V
A

L
L
E

Y
 V

IE
W

M
U

S
K

E
T

C
O

L
O

N
Y

FRONTIER

SH 71

Location Map
Colony MUD No. 1 Amendment

³
Date: 7/12/2017

The accuracy and precision of this cartographic

data is limited and should be used for information

/planning purposes only.  This data does not 

replace surveys conducted by registered Texas

land surveyors nor does it constitute an "official"

verification of zoning, land use classification, or

 other classification set forth in local, state, or

federal regulatory processes. The City of Bastrop,

nor any of its employees, do not make any warranty

of merchantability and fitness for particular purpose,

 or assumes any legal liablity or responsibility for the 

accuracy, completeness or usefullness of any such
information, nor does it represent that its use would

not infringe upon privately owned rights.     1 inch = 2,807.06 feet

BLAKEY

WAGON

JOHNSON

U
N

IO
N

 C
H

A
PE

L

EIGHT OAKS

TERRIT
ORY

NICHOLS

V
A

L
L

E
Y

 V
IE

W

WEBBER

GREEN FIELDS

12
09

¬«71

SO
N

N
Y

S
H

IR
A

Z

Added 25.728



 

 
{W0731327.5} 1 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO CONSENT AGREEMENT FOR THE COLONY 
MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 AND SUCCESSOR DISTRICTS TO BE 

CREATED BY DIVISION OF THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 
 

This SECOND AMENDMENT TO CONSENT AGREEMENT FOR THE COLONY 
MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 AND SUCCESSOR DISTRICTS TO BE 
CREATED BY DIVISION OF THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 
(this “Amendment”) is entered into effective as of ______________, 2017 among the CITY OF 
BASTROP, TEXAS, a Texas municipal corporation located in Bastrop County (the “City”); 
HUNT COMMUNITIES BASTROP, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Hunt” or the 
“Developer”); and THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1A (“District 1A”), 
THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1B (“District 1B”), THE COLONY 
MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1C (“District 1C”), THE COLONY MUNICIPAL 
UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1D (“District 1D”), THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY 
DISTRICT NO. 1E (“District 1E”), THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 
NO. 1F (“District 1F”), and THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1G 
(“District 1G”), each of which is a political subdivision of the State of Texas created by division of 
The Colony Municipal Utility District No. 1 (the “Original District”) and operating under the 
provisions of Chapters 49 and 54, Texas Water Code.  In this Agreement, District 1A, District 1B, 
District 1C, District 1D, District 1E, District 1F, and District 1G are sometimes referred to 
individually as a “Successor District” and all of the Successor Districts are sometimes referred to 
collectively as the “Successor Districts”.  The City, the Developer, and the Successor Districts are 
sometimes referred to herein collectively as the “Parties” and individually as a “Party”.   

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the City and Sabine Investment Company, a Delaware corporation 
(“Sabine”) previously entered into a Consent Agreement for The Colony Municipal Utility District 
No. 1 and Successor Districts to be Created by the Division of The Colony Municipal Utility District 
No. 1 dated effective as of February 23, 2004 (the “Original Consent Agreement”), which, among 
other things, provided for the creation of the Original District, the division of the Original District 
in to the Successor Districts, and a regulatory process for the development of ±1491.04 acres of 
land within the City’s extraterritorial jurisdiction; 

WHEREAS, the Original District was created by House Bill 3636, Acts of the 78th 
Legislature, Regular Session, CH. 778, Texas Session Law Service 2003 (the “Creation 
Legislation”) and, as required by the Original Consent Agreement, the Original District joined in 
and consented to the Original Consent Agreement by Joinder and Consent to Consent Agreement 
for The Colony Municipal Utility District No. 1 and Successor Districts to be Created by the 
Division of The Colony Municipal Utility District No. 1 dated June 8, 2004; 

WHEREAS, as permitted by the Creation Legislation and the Original Consent 
Agreement, the Original District subsequently divided in to the Successor Districts pursuant to an 
election held by the Original District on February 5, 2005; 

WHEREAS, as required by the Original Consent Agreement, District 1A joined in and 
consented to the Original Consent Agreement by Joinder and Consent to Consent Agreement for 
The Colony Municipal Utility District No. 1 and Successor Districts to be Created by the Division 
of The Colony Municipal Utility District No. 1 dated May 18, 2005, and each of the remaining 
Successor Districts joined in and consented to the Original Consent Agreement by a Joinder and 
Consent to Consent Agreement for The Colony Municipal Utility District No. 1 and Successor 
Districts to be Created by the Division of The Colony Municipal Utility District No. 1 dated 
June 14, 2005; 



 

 
{W0731327.5} 2 

WHEREAS, effective December 30, 2006, Sabine merged with and into Forestar (USA) 
Real Estate Group Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Forestar”), at which time Forestar succeeded, 
by operation of law, to Sabine’s interest in and to the Original Consent Agreement.  To 
memorialize the merger, Forestar also joined in and consented to the Original Consent Agreement 
by Joinder and Consent to Consent Agreement for The Colony Municipal Utility District No. 1 and 
Successor Districts to be Created by the Division of The Colony Municipal Utility District No. 1 
dated effective December 30, 2006; 

WHEREAS, the City, Forestar, and the Successor Districts subsequently amended the 
Original Consent Agreement by First Amendment to Consent Agreement for the Colony 
Municipal Utility District No. 1 and Successor Districts to be Created by Division of the Colony 
Municipal Utility District No. 1 dated effective as of June 14, 2016 (the “First Amendment”) to 
establish development standards for single family residential lots in the Project, revise the 
procedures for inspections and testing of subdivision infrastructure, and reflect certain 
administrative updates (the Original Consent Agreement as amended by the First Amendment 
being referred to herein collectively as the “Consent Agreement”); 

WHEREAS, Forestar, with the consent of the City and the Successor Districts, 
subsequently assigned all of its right, title, and interest in, to, and under the Consent Agreement 
to Hunt pursuant to an Assignment of Consent Agreement for The Colony Municipal Utility 
District No. 1 and Successor Districts to be Created by the Division of The Colony Municipal Utility 
District No. 1 and Consent dated effective December 30, 2016; and 

WHEREAS, the Parties now desire to amend the Consent Agreement to (i) modify the 
Lot Standards approved in the First Amendment in order to incorporate a new category for 
“Colony SFA Single Family Attached (Duplex or Townhome)” product; (ii) establish certain 
minimum building standards for the single-family residential uses within the Project; (iii) ratify 
the City’s prior consent to the annexation of 25.728 acres commonly referred to as the Isbell and 
Archer tracts into District 1A; and (iv) establish a procedure for administrative approval by City 
staff future amendments to the Consent Agreement that are minor in nature.   

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and other good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties amend 
the Consent Agreement as follows: 

AGREEMENT 

1. Defined Terms.  Capitalized terms not defined in this Amendment have the 
meanings ascribed thereto in the Consent Agreement. 

2. Lot Standards.  The Lot Standards attached as Exhibit “B” to the First Amendment 
(“Original Lot Standards”) are hereby replaced with the Lot Standards attached as Exhibit “A” 
to this Amendment (the “Updated Lot Standards”).  The Updated Lot Standards will supersede 
and replace the Original Lot Standards for all purposes under the Consent Agreement; however, 
for the avoidance of doubt, the Updated Lot Standards will only apply to Future Phases, as defined 
in the First Amendment. 

3. Restrictive Covenants.  The restrictive covenants required under Section 2.03 of 
the Original Consent Agreement (the “Restrictive Covenants”) will include the minimum criteria 
set forth on Exhibit “B” for all single-family residential phases of the Project not subject to a 
City-approved preliminary plat as of the effective date of this Amendment.  To the extent that such 
criteria conflict with the Updated Lot Standards, the Updated Lot Standards will control. 



 

 
{W0731327.5} 3 

4. Consent to Annexation of Isbell and Archer Tracts.  By Resolution No. R-2007-14, 
a Resolution of the City of Bastrop, Texas Consenting to the Annexation of 25.728 Acres of Land 
into The Colony Municipal Utility District No. 1A and Containing Findings and Provisions 
Relating to This Subject dated August 14, 2007, a copy of which is attached to this Amendment as 
Exhibit “C” (the “2007 Annexation Resolution”), the City previously consented to the 
annexation of the 25.728 acre tract of land more particularly described in the 2007 Annexation 
Resolution (collectively, the “Isbell and Archer Tracts”) into the boundaries of District 1A.  Such 
annexation has not yet occurred, and, due to the passage of time and the succession of “Developer” 
parties, District 1A’s bond counsel has recommended that the City ratify its consent to the 
annexation of the Isbell and Archer Tracts into the boundaries of District 1A before District 1A 
proceeds with such annexation.  The 2007 Annexation Resolution provides that the City will 
provide additional confirmation of its consent upon request.  Accordingly, the City hereby ratifies 
and confirms in all respects the 2007 Annexation Resolution and the annexation of the Isbell and 
Archer Tracts into the boundaries of District 1A.   

5. Amendments.  Due to the fact that the Project comprises a significant land area 
and its development will occur in phases over a number of years, it is anticipated that the Parties 
may, from time to time, desire to make additional amendments to the Consent Agreement.  In 
order to streamline the amendment approval process at the City and make that process as efficient 
as possible, the Parties desire to distinguish between Major Amendments and Minor 
Amendments and establish a procedure for administrative approval by City staff of Minor 
Amendments.  Accordingly and notwithstanding anything in the Consent Agreement to the 
contrary, the Parties hereby agree that Major Amendments will require approval by the City 
Council, and that Minor Amendments may be administratively approved by the City Manager 
(“City Manager”) through a process similar to the City’s administrative development review 
process.  For purposes of this provision, a “Minor Amendment” is any amendment that 1) does 
not increase the maximum number of living unit equivalents projected within the Project to more 
than 2,500, 2) does not increase the traffic impacts of the development, and/or 3) has no 
significant adverse impact upon neighboring properties, the public, or persons who will occupy 
or use the proposed development; and a “Major Amendment” is any amendment that does not 
qualify as a Minor Amendment.  If the Parties dispute the classification of an amendment as a 
Major Amendment or Minor Amendment, or if the City Manager does not approve a Minor 
Amendment, the Developer or any Successor District may appeal that decision to the City Council.   

6. Addresses for Notice.  The Parties addresses for notice set forth in Section 6.01 of 
the Consent Agreement are hereby updated as follows: 

City:    City of Bastrop 
1311 Chestnut Street 
Bastrop, Texas 78602 
Attn:  City Manager 

With Required Copy to: David F. Bragg 
1010 Chestnut Street 
P.O. Box 2047 
Bastrop, Texas 78602 

Developer:   Hunt Communities Bastrop, LLC 
Attn: Justin Chapman 
4401 N. Mesa 
El Paso, Texas 79902 



 

 
{W0731327.5} 4 

With Required Copy to: John W. Bartram 
Armbrust & Brown, PLLC 
100 Congress Avenue, Suite 1300 
Austin, Texas 78701 

Successor Districts:  c/o Armbrust & Brown, PLLC 
Attn:  John W. Bartram 
100 Congress Avenue, Suite 1300 
Austin, Texas 78701 

7. Effect of Amendment.  Except as specifically provided in this Amendment, the 
terms of the Consent Agreement continue to govern the rights and obligations of the parties, and 
the terms of the Consent Agreement remain in full force and effect.  If there is any conflict or 
inconsistency between this Amendment and the Consent Agreement, this Amendment will 
control and modify the Consent Agreement. 

8. Counterparts.  To facilitate execution, (a) this Amendment may be executed in any 
number of counterparts; (b) the signature pages taken from separate individually executed 
counterparts of this instrument may be combined to form multiple fully executed counterparts; 
and (c) a signature delivered by facsimile or in another electronic format (e.g., .PDF via email) 
will be deemed to be an original signature for all purposes.  All executed counterparts of this 
instrument will be deemed to be originals, and all such counterparts, when taken together, will 
constitute one and the same agreement. 

* * * 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Amendment to be effective as 
of the date first written above. 

[counterpart signature pages follow] 

 



 

 
{W0731327.5} 5 

COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGE TO: 
 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO CONSENT AGREEMENT FOR THE COLONY 
MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 AND SUCCESSOR DISTRICTS TO BE 

CREATED BY DIVISION OF THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 
 

 

CITY: 

CITY OF BASTROP, TEXAS 

By:       
Connie B. Schroeder, Mayor 

 
 
THE STATE OF TEXAS § 
    § 
COUNTY  OF  BASTROP § 
 
 This instrument was acknowledged before me on the _______ day of 
____________________, 2017, by Connie B. Schroeder, Mayor of the City of Bastrop, a Texas 
municipal corporation, on behalf of said city. 
 

       
NOTARY PUBLIC, State of Texas 

 

 



 

 
{W0731327.5} 6 

COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGE TO: 
 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO CONSENT AGREEMENT FOR THE COLONY 
MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 AND SUCCESSOR DISTRICTS TO BE 

CREATED BY DIVISION OF THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 
 

 

DEVELOPER: 

HUNT COMMUNITIES BASTROP, 
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company 

By: Hunt Communities Development 
Co., LLC, a Texas limited liability 
company, its Sole Member 

 
  By:     
   Justin Chapman, President 

  
 

THE STATE OF TEXAS § 
    § 
COUNTY  OF  ______ § 
 
 This instrument was acknowledged before me on the _______ day of 
____________________, 2017, by Justin Chapman, President of Hunt Communities 
Development Co., LLC, a Texas limited liability company, Sole Member of Hunt Communities 
Bastrop, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, on behalf of said limited liability companies. 
 

       
NOTARY PUBLIC, State of Texas 

 



 

 
{W0731327.5} 7 

COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGE TO: 
 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO CONSENT AGREEMENT FOR THE COLONY 
MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 AND SUCCESSOR DISTRICTS TO BE 

CREATED BY DIVISION OF THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 
 

 

DISTRICT 1A: 

THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY 
DISTRICT NO. 1A 

By:       
William T. Higgins IV, President 
Board of Directors 

 
 
THE STATE OF TEXAS § 
    § 
COUNTY  OF  BASTROP § 
 
 This instrument was acknowledged before me on the ___ day of _____________, 2017, 
by William T. Higgins IV, President of the Board of Directors of The Colony Municipal Utility 
District No. 1A, a political subdivision of the State of Texas, on behalf of said district. 
 

       
NOTARY PUBLIC, State of Texas 

 



 

 
{W0731327.5} 8 

COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGE TO: 
 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO CONSENT AGREEMENT FOR THE COLONY 
MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 AND SUCCESSOR DISTRICTS TO BE 

CREATED BY DIVISION OF THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 
 

 

DISTRICT 1B: 

THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY 
DISTRICT NO. 1B 

By:       
Susan Weems Wendel, President 
Board of Directors 

 
 
THE STATE OF TEXAS § 
    § 
COUNTY  OF  BASTROP § 
 
 This instrument was acknowledged before me on the ____ day of ______________, 
2017, by Susan Weems Wendel, President of the Board of Directors of The Colony Municipal 
Utility District No. 1B, a political subdivision of the State of Texas, on behalf of said district. 
 

       
NOTARY PUBLIC, State of Texas 

 

 



 

 
{W0731327.5} 9 

COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGE TO: 
 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO CONSENT AGREEMENT FOR THE COLONY 
MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 AND SUCCESSOR DISTRICTS TO BE 

CREATED BY DIVISION OF THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 
 

 

DISTRICT 1C: 

THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY 
DISTRICT NO. 1C 

By:       
Rene Barrientos, President 
Board of Directors 

 
 
THE STATE OF TEXAS § 
    § 
COUNTY  OF  BASTROP § 
 
 This instrument was acknowledged before me on the ____ day of _____________, 
2017, by Rene Barrientos, President of the Board of Directors of The Colony Municipal Utility 
District No. 1C, a political subdivision of the State of Texas, on behalf of said district. 
 

       
NOTARY PUBLIC, State of Texas 

 

 



 

 
{W0731327.5} 10 

COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGE TO: 
 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO CONSENT AGREEMENT FOR THE COLONY 
MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 AND SUCCESSOR DISTRICTS TO BE 

CREATED BY DIVISION OF THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 
 

 

DISTRICT 1D: 

THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY 
DISTRICT NO. 1D 

By:       
Dave Griesenbeck, President 
Board of Directors 

 
 
THE STATE OF TEXAS § 
    § 
COUNTY  OF  BASTROP § 
 
 This instrument was acknowledged before me on the ___ day of ____________, 2017, 
by Dave Griesenbeck, President of the Board of Directors of The Colony Municipal Utility District 
No. 1D, a political subdivision of the State of Texas, on behalf of said district. 
 

       
NOTARY PUBLIC, State of Texas 

 
 



 

 
{W0731327.5} 11 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO CONSENT AGREEMENT FOR THE COLONY 
MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 AND SUCCESSOR DISTRICTS TO BE 

CREATED BY DIVISION OF THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 
 

 

DISTRICT 1E: 

THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY 
DISTRICT NO. 1E 

By:       
   ,     
Board of Directors 

 
 
THE STATE OF TEXAS § 
    § 
COUNTY  OF  BASTROP § 
 
 This instrument was acknowledged before me on the _______ day of 
____________________, 2017, by _________________, _________________ of the 
Board of Directors of The Colony Municipal Utility District No. 1E, a political subdivision of the 
State of Texas, on behalf of said district. 
 

       
NOTARY PUBLIC, State of Texas 

 



 

 
{W0731327.5} 12 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO CONSENT AGREEMENT FOR THE COLONY 
MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 AND SUCCESSOR DISTRICTS TO BE 

CREATED BY DIVISION OF THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 
 

 

DISTRICT 1F: 

THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY 
DISTRICT NO. 1F 

By:       
Judith K. Hoover, President 
Board of Directors 

 
 
THE STATE OF TEXAS § 
    § 
COUNTY  OF  BASTROP § 
 
 This instrument was acknowledged before me on the _______ day of 
____________________, 2017, by Judith K. Hoover, President of the Board of Directors of 
The Colony Municipal Utility District No. 1F, a political subdivision of the State of Texas, on behalf 
of said district. 
 

       
NOTARY PUBLIC, State of Texas 

 



 

 
{W0731327.5} 13 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO CONSENT AGREEMENT FOR THE COLONY 
MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 AND SUCCESSOR DISTRICTS TO BE 

CREATED BY DIVISION OF THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 
 

 

DISTRICT 1G: 

THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY 
DISTRICT NO. 1G 

By:       
Richard T. Banks, President 
Board of Directors 

 
 
THE STATE OF TEXAS § 
    § 
COUNTY  OF  BASTROP § 
 
 This instrument was acknowledged before me on the ____ day of ______________, 
2017, by Richard T. Banks, President of the Board of Directors of The Colony Municipal Utility 
District No. 1G, a political subdivision of the State of Texas, on behalf of said district. 
 

       
NOTARY PUBLIC, State of Texas 

 
 

 



 

 
{W0731327.5} Exhibit “A” – Page 1 of 1 

EXHIBIT “A” 
UPDATED LOT STANDARDS 

 



 

 
{W0731327.5} Exhibit “B” – Page 1 of 1 

EXHIBIT “B” 
MINIMUM CRITERIA TO BE INCLUDED IN RESTRICTIVE COVENANTS 

 

 Exterior Masonry Requirements - Minimum masonry requirements will be set at 
75%.  Masonry includes:  brick, stone, stucco, and hardiplank. 

 Landscaping - Use of drought-resistant landscaping or water-conserving techniques in 
the Project is encouraged.  Xeriscaping will be allowed in certain instances in the common 
areas and at residences in accordance with a Xeriscaping Policy set forth in the Restrictive 
Covenants.  All landscapes and landscaping must be approved by the Developer prior to 
installation.  To further help conserve water, large expansive areas of natural grass and 
vegetation will not be required to be irrigated.  The use of drip irrigation is encouraged. 

 Front Setbacks – All lots will be allowed to have staggered, 20'-25' building setbacks to 
help achieve aesthetically pleasing street view.  All front setbacks will be measured from 
the property line or right-of-way.  At minimum, there must be a front building setback 
change (between the allowed 20'-25') on every fourth lot. 

 Utilities - All utilities shall be provided separately to each lot so that each home will be 
individually metered. 

 Recreational vehicles - Recreational vehicles, travel trailers or motor homes may not 
be used for on-site dwelling purposes and will be hidden from public view. 

 Fencing - Electrical Fencing and barbed wire is prohibited as perimeter fencing.  Only 6' 
cedar, wrought iron, or masonry fencing will be allowed. 

 Open Yard Storage - Open storage is prohibited (except for materials for the resident’s 
personal use or consumption (i.e., firewood, gardening materials, etc.). 

 Side Entry Garages - Single-family homes with side entry garages where lot frontage is 
only to one street (not a corner lot) shall have a minimum of twenty-five feet (25') from 
the garage door to the side property line for maneuvering. 

 Roofs - All single-family residential structures shall have roof slopes with a minimum of 
3:12 pitch. 

 
 



 

 
{W0731327.5} Exhibit “C” – Page 1 of 7 

EXHIBIT “C” 
2007 ANNEXATION RESOLUTION 



 

 
{W0731327.5} Exhibit “C” – Page 2 of 7 



 

 
{W0731327.5} Exhibit “C” – Page 3 of 7 



 

 
{W0731327.5} Exhibit “C” – Page 4 of 7 



 

 
{W0731327.5} Exhibit “C” – Page 5 of 7 



 

 
{W0731327.5} Exhibit “C” – Page 6 of 7 



 

 
{W0731327.5} Exhibit “C” – Page 7 of 7 

 



Page 1 of 4 
 

PLANNING & ZONING 
STAFF REPORT 

 
MEETING DATE:  July 27, 2017      Item:  G  
     
TITLE:  
Public hearing and consider action to recommend approval of the Second Amendment to Consent 
Agreement for the Colony Municipal Utility District No. 1 and Successor Districts to add 25.728 
acres to the agreement area, amend the lot standards matrix, and revise the minor amendments 
process, located West of F.M. 969 and East of F.M. 1209, being 1,516.768 acres out of the ABS 
A5 Jose Manuel Bangs Survey and forward to the next available City Council meeting. 
 
STAFF REPRESENTATIVE:  
Wesley Brandon, P.E., Director of Planning and Engineering  
 
ITEM DETAILS: 
Site Address:  West of F.M. 969 and east of F.M. 1209 (Attachment 1) 
Total Acreage:  1,516.768 acres  
Legal Description: 1,516.768 acres out of the Abstract A5 Jose Manuel Bangs Survey 
 
Property Owner: Hunt Companies   
Agent Contact: Bill E. Couch, PG, AICP, CEP 
 
Existing Use:  Mixed-Use Subdivision  
Existing Zoning: Statutory One-Mile and Area A, Extra Territorial Jurisdiction 
Future Land Use: Neighborhood Residential 
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY: 
The applicant is requesting an amendment to the existing Consent Agreement for the Colony 
Municipal Utility District No. 1 and Successor Districts, to incorporate 25.728 acres into the 
agreement, revise the lot standards matrix and revise the process for future minor amendments. 
 
The Colony MUD Consent Agreement was originally approved by City Council on February 10, 
2004.  The Consent Agreement describes the infrastructure design, construction, and land use 
standards that apply to the subdivision.  
 
On May 24, 2016, the City Council approved the request for the First Amendment to the Consent 
Agreement, which revised the Consent Agreement to include specific land use standards, as well 
as define the procedure for subdivision plan review and construction inspections.  
 
Addition of Acreage: 
City Council adopted Resolution No. R-2007-14 (Exhibit B of the Consent Agreement) on August 
14, 2007, consenting to the annexation of 25.728 acres of land into the district.  They are now 
going through the formal process to annex this area and are officially incorporating it in the 
Consent Agreement with this request. 



Page 2 of 4 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Lot Standards Matrix Amendment: 
The lot standards matrix (Exhibit A of the Consent Agreement) includes land use categories for 
different types of housing and commercial structures.  Each category includes lot standards and 
has a maximum percentage of acreage that can be utilized within the total Colony MUD area.  
The matrix was added to the agreement with the amendment in 2016.  With the second 
amendment, the applicant is adding an additional single-family category, “Duplex/Townhome,” 
which is roughly equivalent to the Singe-Family Attached housing type in the Zoning Ordinance.  
The maximum living unit equivalents for the project will still be limited to 2,500. 

 
 
Future Amendments (Minor vs Major): 
Section 5 of the Consent Agreement contains language that defines what would constitute a minor 
versus a major amendment and an administrative approval process for minor amendments. 
 

“In order to streamline the amendment approval process at the City and make that process 
as efficient as possible, the Parties desire to distinguish between Major Amendments and 
Minor Amendments and establish a procedure for administrative approval by City staff of 



Page 3 of 4 
 

Minor Amendments.  Accordingly and notwithstanding anything in the Consent Agreement 
to the contrary, the Parties hereby agree that Major Amendments will require approval by 
the City Council, and that Minor Amendments may be administratively approved by the 
City Manager (“City Manager”) through a process similar to the City’s administrative 
development review process.  For purposes of this provision, a “Minor Amendment” is any 
amendment that 1) does not increase the maximum number of living unit equivalents 
projected within the Project to more than 2,500, 2) does not increase the traffic impacts of 
the development, and/or 3) has no significant adverse impact upon neighboring properties, 
the public, or persons who will occupy or use the proposed development; and a “Major 
Amendment” is any amendment that does not qualify as a Minor Amendment.  If the 
Parties dispute the classification of an amendment as a Major Amendment or Minor 
Amendment, or if the City Manager does not approve a Minor Amendment, the Developer 
or any Successor District may appeal that decision to the City Council.”   

 
Minor amendments will be submitted to the Planning & Engineering Department for review and 
approved by the City Manager.  If a minor amendment is not approved or there is a dispute as to 
the classification of an amendment as minor, the appeal decision would go to City Council, as 
would any major amendment. 

 
PUBLIC COMMENTS:  
Eighty-five (85) adjacent property owner notifications were mailed on July 11, 2017. At the time 
of this report, one (1) response was received with no objection to the proposed amendment 
(Attachment 3) 
 
POLICY EXPLANATION: 
Local Government Code 
Sec. 42.042. CREATION OF POLITICAL SUBDIVISION TO SUPPLY WATER OR SEWER 
SERVICES, ROADWAYS, OR DRAINAGE FACILITIES IN EXTRATERRITORIAL 
JURISDICTION.  

(a) A political subdivision, one purpose of which is to supply fresh water for domestic or 
commercial use or to furnish sanitary sewer services, roadways, or drainage, may not 
be created in the extraterritorial jurisdiction of a municipality unless the governing body 
of the municipality gives its written consent by ordinance or resolution in accordance 
with this subsection and the Water Code. In giving its consent, the municipality may 
not place any conditions or other restrictions on the creation of the political subdivision 
other than those expressly permitted by Sections 54.016(e) and (i), Water Code. 
 
City Council gave the initial consent to the creation of the MUD on February 10. 2004.  
This amendment will included the consent to add 25.728 acres and to the changes in 
the land use plans and specifications allow under Section 54.016 (e) of the Water 
Code.  Section 54.016 (i) only applies to cities with a population of 500,000. 

 
Water Code, Title 4.  

Sec. 54.016. CONSENT OF CITY.  

(a) No land within the corporate limits of a city or within the extraterritorial jurisdiction of a 
city, shall be included in a district unless the city grants its written consent, by 
resolution or ordinance, to the inclusion of the land within the district in accordance 
with Section 42.042, Local Government Code, and this section. 

 

The City of Bastrop consented to the addition of the 25.728 acres with Resolution No. 
R-2007-14 on August 14, 2007, and with approval of this ordinance, further codify the 
annexation. 
 

http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/GetStatute.aspx?Code=WA&Value=54.016
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/GetStatute.aspx?Code=LG&Value=42.042


Page 4 of 4 
 

(e) A city may provide in its written consent to the inclusion of land in a district, that the 
district construct all facilities to serve the land in accordance with plans and 
specifications, which have been approved by the city. The city may also provide in its 
written consent that the city shall have the right to inspect all facilities being 
constructed by a district. 

 

 The Lot Standards Matrix includes allowed land uses, standards and densities for the 
entire development.  The inclusion of the “Duplex/Townhome” standard will not 
increase the overall density or utility requirements. 

 
Bastrop Code of Ordinances  
Sec. 13.05.001 - Purpose. 

It is the purpose of this article to specify the city's procedure and policy relating to 
water districts established under the Texas Water Code, including, but not limited 
to, municipal utility districts and water control and improvement districts, within the 
city's corporate limits and within the city's extraterritorial jurisdiction, in order to 
protect and enhance the health, safety and welfare of the general public and to 
provide comprehensive regulations in a manner compatible with all applicable city 
ordinances and federal and state law, particularly the Texas Water Code. 

The application and review have followed the process and requirements outlined in 
the code. 

HISTORICAL REFERENCES:  
The West Bastrop Village Consent Agreement was approved by City Council on August 22, 2006.  
 
The XS Ranch Consent Agreement was approved by City Council on November 19, 2009.  The 
related Development Agreement was amended twice, first on April 12, 2011, and second on 
September 15, 2011.   The Consent Agreement was amended to include the previous 
development agreement approvals on December 12, 2014. 
 
Each agreement describes the allowable land use standards, general roadway layout, and other 
standards associated with each development. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Hold public hearing and recommend approval of the Second Amendment to Consent Agreement 
for the Colony Municipal Utility District No. 1 and Successor Districts to add 25.728 acres to the 
agreement area, amend the lot standards matrix, and revise the minor amendments process, 
located West of F.M. 969 and East of F.M. 1209, being 1,516.768 acres out of the ABS A5 Jose 
Manuel Bangs Survey and forward to the next available City Council meeting. 

 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Attachment 1:  Location Map 
Attachment 2:  Surrounding Property Owners’ Responses 
Attachment 3:  Second Amendment to Consent Agreement 



FM
 969

FM
 1

209

SAY
ER

S

SO
N
N
Y

BLAKEY

WOODLANDS

D
O
C
 BR

YS
O
N

SH 71

B
A

R
T
O

N

WAGON

S
T

E
P

H
E

N
 F

 A
U

S
T

IN

W
IL

B
A

R
G

E
R

 B
E

N
D

EIGHT OAKS

H
O

W
A

R
D

V
A

L
L
E

Y
 V

IE
W

M
U

S
K

E
T

C
O

L
O

N
Y

FRONTIER

SH 71

Location Map
Colony MUD No. 1 Amendment

³
Date: 7/12/2017

The accuracy and precision of this cartographic

data is limited and should be used for information

/planning purposes only.  This data does not 

replace surveys conducted by registered Texas

land surveyors nor does it constitute an "official"

verification of zoning, land use classification, or

 other classification set forth in local, state, or

federal regulatory processes. The City of Bastrop,

nor any of its employees, do not make any warranty

of merchantability and fitness for particular purpose,

 or assumes any legal liablity or responsibility for the 

accuracy, completeness or usefullness of any such
information, nor does it represent that its use would

not infringe upon privately owned rights.     1 inch = 2,807.06 feet

BLAKEY

WAGON

JOHNSON

U
N

IO
N

 C
H

A
PE

L

EIGHT OAKS

TERRIT
ORY

NICHOLS

V
A

L
L

E
Y

 V
IE

W

WEBBER

GREEN FIELDS

12
09

¬«71

SO
N

N
Y

S
H

IR
A

Z

Added 25.728





 

 
{W0731327.5} 1 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO CONSENT AGREEMENT FOR THE COLONY 
MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 AND SUCCESSOR DISTRICTS TO BE 

CREATED BY DIVISION OF THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 
 

This SECOND AMENDMENT TO CONSENT AGREEMENT FOR THE COLONY 
MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 AND SUCCESSOR DISTRICTS TO BE 
CREATED BY DIVISION OF THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 
(this “Amendment”) is entered into effective as of ______________, 2017 among the CITY OF 
BASTROP, TEXAS, a Texas municipal corporation located in Bastrop County (the “City”); 
HUNT COMMUNITIES BASTROP, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Hunt” or the 
“Developer”); and THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1A (“District 1A”), 
THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1B (“District 1B”), THE COLONY 
MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1C (“District 1C”), THE COLONY MUNICIPAL 
UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1D (“District 1D”), THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY 
DISTRICT NO. 1E (“District 1E”), THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 
NO. 1F (“District 1F”), and THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1G 
(“District 1G”), each of which is a political subdivision of the State of Texas created by division of 
The Colony Municipal Utility District No. 1 (the “Original District”) and operating under the 
provisions of Chapters 49 and 54, Texas Water Code.  In this Agreement, District 1A, District 1B, 
District 1C, District 1D, District 1E, District 1F, and District 1G are sometimes referred to 
individually as a “Successor District” and all of the Successor Districts are sometimes referred to 
collectively as the “Successor Districts”.  The City, the Developer, and the Successor Districts are 
sometimes referred to herein collectively as the “Parties” and individually as a “Party”.   

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the City and Sabine Investment Company, a Delaware corporation 
(“Sabine”) previously entered into a Consent Agreement for The Colony Municipal Utility District 
No. 1 and Successor Districts to be Created by the Division of The Colony Municipal Utility District 
No. 1 dated effective as of February 23, 2004 (the “Original Consent Agreement”), which, among 
other things, provided for the creation of the Original District, the division of the Original District 
in to the Successor Districts, and a regulatory process for the development of ±1491.04 acres of 
land within the City’s extraterritorial jurisdiction; 

WHEREAS, the Original District was created by House Bill 3636, Acts of the 78th 
Legislature, Regular Session, CH. 778, Texas Session Law Service 2003 (the “Creation 
Legislation”) and, as required by the Original Consent Agreement, the Original District joined in 
and consented to the Original Consent Agreement by Joinder and Consent to Consent Agreement 
for The Colony Municipal Utility District No. 1 and Successor Districts to be Created by the 
Division of The Colony Municipal Utility District No. 1 dated June 8, 2004; 

WHEREAS, as permitted by the Creation Legislation and the Original Consent 
Agreement, the Original District subsequently divided in to the Successor Districts pursuant to an 
election held by the Original District on February 5, 2005; 

WHEREAS, as required by the Original Consent Agreement, District 1A joined in and 
consented to the Original Consent Agreement by Joinder and Consent to Consent Agreement for 
The Colony Municipal Utility District No. 1 and Successor Districts to be Created by the Division 
of The Colony Municipal Utility District No. 1 dated May 18, 2005, and each of the remaining 
Successor Districts joined in and consented to the Original Consent Agreement by a Joinder and 
Consent to Consent Agreement for The Colony Municipal Utility District No. 1 and Successor 
Districts to be Created by the Division of The Colony Municipal Utility District No. 1 dated 
June 14, 2005; 



 

 
{W0731327.5} 2 

WHEREAS, effective December 30, 2006, Sabine merged with and into Forestar (USA) 
Real Estate Group Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Forestar”), at which time Forestar succeeded, 
by operation of law, to Sabine’s interest in and to the Original Consent Agreement.  To 
memorialize the merger, Forestar also joined in and consented to the Original Consent Agreement 
by Joinder and Consent to Consent Agreement for The Colony Municipal Utility District No. 1 and 
Successor Districts to be Created by the Division of The Colony Municipal Utility District No. 1 
dated effective December 30, 2006; 

WHEREAS, the City, Forestar, and the Successor Districts subsequently amended the 
Original Consent Agreement by First Amendment to Consent Agreement for the Colony 
Municipal Utility District No. 1 and Successor Districts to be Created by Division of the Colony 
Municipal Utility District No. 1 dated effective as of June 14, 2016 (the “First Amendment”) to 
establish development standards for single family residential lots in the Project, revise the 
procedures for inspections and testing of subdivision infrastructure, and reflect certain 
administrative updates (the Original Consent Agreement as amended by the First Amendment 
being referred to herein collectively as the “Consent Agreement”); 

WHEREAS, Forestar, with the consent of the City and the Successor Districts, 
subsequently assigned all of its right, title, and interest in, to, and under the Consent Agreement 
to Hunt pursuant to an Assignment of Consent Agreement for The Colony Municipal Utility 
District No. 1 and Successor Districts to be Created by the Division of The Colony Municipal Utility 
District No. 1 and Consent dated effective December 30, 2016; and 

WHEREAS, the Parties now desire to amend the Consent Agreement to (i) modify the 
Lot Standards approved in the First Amendment in order to incorporate a new category for 
“Colony SFA Single Family Attached (Duplex or Townhome)” product; (ii) establish certain 
minimum building standards for the single-family residential uses within the Project; (iii) ratify 
the City’s prior consent to the annexation of 25.728 acres commonly referred to as the Isbell and 
Archer tracts into District 1A; and (iv) establish a procedure for administrative approval by City 
staff future amendments to the Consent Agreement that are minor in nature.   

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and other good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties amend 
the Consent Agreement as follows: 

AGREEMENT 

1. Defined Terms.  Capitalized terms not defined in this Amendment have the 
meanings ascribed thereto in the Consent Agreement. 

2. Lot Standards.  The Lot Standards attached as Exhibit “B” to the First Amendment 
(“Original Lot Standards”) are hereby replaced with the Lot Standards attached as Exhibit “A” 
to this Amendment (the “Updated Lot Standards”).  The Updated Lot Standards will supersede 
and replace the Original Lot Standards for all purposes under the Consent Agreement; however, 
for the avoidance of doubt, the Updated Lot Standards will only apply to Future Phases, as defined 
in the First Amendment. 

3. Restrictive Covenants.  The restrictive covenants required under Section 2.03 of 
the Original Consent Agreement (the “Restrictive Covenants”) will include the minimum criteria 
set forth on Exhibit “B” for all single-family residential phases of the Project not subject to a 
City-approved preliminary plat as of the effective date of this Amendment.  To the extent that such 
criteria conflict with the Updated Lot Standards, the Updated Lot Standards will control. 



 

 
{W0731327.5} 3 

4. Consent to Annexation of Isbell and Archer Tracts.  By Resolution No. R-2007-14, 
a Resolution of the City of Bastrop, Texas Consenting to the Annexation of 25.728 Acres of Land 
into The Colony Municipal Utility District No. 1A and Containing Findings and Provisions 
Relating to This Subject dated August 14, 2007, a copy of which is attached to this Amendment as 
Exhibit “C” (the “2007 Annexation Resolution”), the City previously consented to the 
annexation of the 25.728 acre tract of land more particularly described in the 2007 Annexation 
Resolution (collectively, the “Isbell and Archer Tracts”) into the boundaries of District 1A.  Such 
annexation has not yet occurred, and, due to the passage of time and the succession of “Developer” 
parties, District 1A’s bond counsel has recommended that the City ratify its consent to the 
annexation of the Isbell and Archer Tracts into the boundaries of District 1A before District 1A 
proceeds with such annexation.  The 2007 Annexation Resolution provides that the City will 
provide additional confirmation of its consent upon request.  Accordingly, the City hereby ratifies 
and confirms in all respects the 2007 Annexation Resolution and the annexation of the Isbell and 
Archer Tracts into the boundaries of District 1A.   

5. Amendments.  Due to the fact that the Project comprises a significant land area 
and its development will occur in phases over a number of years, it is anticipated that the Parties 
may, from time to time, desire to make additional amendments to the Consent Agreement.  In 
order to streamline the amendment approval process at the City and make that process as efficient 
as possible, the Parties desire to distinguish between Major Amendments and Minor 
Amendments and establish a procedure for administrative approval by City staff of Minor 
Amendments.  Accordingly and notwithstanding anything in the Consent Agreement to the 
contrary, the Parties hereby agree that Major Amendments will require approval by the City 
Council, and that Minor Amendments may be administratively approved by the City Manager 
(“City Manager”) through a process similar to the City’s administrative development review 
process.  For purposes of this provision, a “Minor Amendment” is any amendment that 1) does 
not increase the maximum number of living unit equivalents projected within the Project to more 
than 2,500, 2) does not increase the traffic impacts of the development, and/or 3) has no 
significant adverse impact upon neighboring properties, the public, or persons who will occupy 
or use the proposed development; and a “Major Amendment” is any amendment that does not 
qualify as a Minor Amendment.  If the Parties dispute the classification of an amendment as a 
Major Amendment or Minor Amendment, or if the City Manager does not approve a Minor 
Amendment, the Developer or any Successor District may appeal that decision to the City Council.   

6. Addresses for Notice.  The Parties addresses for notice set forth in Section 6.01 of 
the Consent Agreement are hereby updated as follows: 

City:    City of Bastrop 
1311 Chestnut Street 
Bastrop, Texas 78602 
Attn:  City Manager 

With Required Copy to: David F. Bragg 
1010 Chestnut Street 
P.O. Box 2047 
Bastrop, Texas 78602 

Developer:   Hunt Communities Bastrop, LLC 
Attn: Justin Chapman 
4401 N. Mesa 
El Paso, Texas 79902 



 

 
{W0731327.5} 4 

With Required Copy to: John W. Bartram 
Armbrust & Brown, PLLC 
100 Congress Avenue, Suite 1300 
Austin, Texas 78701 

Successor Districts:  c/o Armbrust & Brown, PLLC 
Attn:  John W. Bartram 
100 Congress Avenue, Suite 1300 
Austin, Texas 78701 

7. Effect of Amendment.  Except as specifically provided in this Amendment, the 
terms of the Consent Agreement continue to govern the rights and obligations of the parties, and 
the terms of the Consent Agreement remain in full force and effect.  If there is any conflict or 
inconsistency between this Amendment and the Consent Agreement, this Amendment will 
control and modify the Consent Agreement. 

8. Counterparts.  To facilitate execution, (a) this Amendment may be executed in any 
number of counterparts; (b) the signature pages taken from separate individually executed 
counterparts of this instrument may be combined to form multiple fully executed counterparts; 
and (c) a signature delivered by facsimile or in another electronic format (e.g., .PDF via email) 
will be deemed to be an original signature for all purposes.  All executed counterparts of this 
instrument will be deemed to be originals, and all such counterparts, when taken together, will 
constitute one and the same agreement. 

* * * 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Amendment to be effective as 
of the date first written above. 

[counterpart signature pages follow] 

 



 

 
{W0731327.5} 5 

COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGE TO: 
 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO CONSENT AGREEMENT FOR THE COLONY 
MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 AND SUCCESSOR DISTRICTS TO BE 

CREATED BY DIVISION OF THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 
 

 

CITY: 

CITY OF BASTROP, TEXAS 

By:       
Connie B. Schroeder, Mayor 

 
 
THE STATE OF TEXAS § 
    § 
COUNTY  OF  BASTROP § 
 
 This instrument was acknowledged before me on the _______ day of 
____________________, 2017, by Connie B. Schroeder, Mayor of the City of Bastrop, a Texas 
municipal corporation, on behalf of said city. 
 

       
NOTARY PUBLIC, State of Texas 

 

 



 

 
{W0731327.5} 6 

COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGE TO: 
 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO CONSENT AGREEMENT FOR THE COLONY 
MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 AND SUCCESSOR DISTRICTS TO BE 

CREATED BY DIVISION OF THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 
 

 

DEVELOPER: 

HUNT COMMUNITIES BASTROP, 
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company 

By: Hunt Communities Development 
Co., LLC, a Texas limited liability 
company, its Sole Member 

 
  By:     
   Justin Chapman, President 

  
 

THE STATE OF TEXAS § 
    § 
COUNTY  OF  ______ § 
 
 This instrument was acknowledged before me on the _______ day of 
____________________, 2017, by Justin Chapman, President of Hunt Communities 
Development Co., LLC, a Texas limited liability company, Sole Member of Hunt Communities 
Bastrop, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, on behalf of said limited liability companies. 
 

       
NOTARY PUBLIC, State of Texas 

 



 

 
{W0731327.5} 7 

COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGE TO: 
 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO CONSENT AGREEMENT FOR THE COLONY 
MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 AND SUCCESSOR DISTRICTS TO BE 

CREATED BY DIVISION OF THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 
 

 

DISTRICT 1A: 

THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY 
DISTRICT NO. 1A 

By:       
William T. Higgins IV, President 
Board of Directors 

 
 
THE STATE OF TEXAS § 
    § 
COUNTY  OF  BASTROP § 
 
 This instrument was acknowledged before me on the ___ day of _____________, 2017, 
by William T. Higgins IV, President of the Board of Directors of The Colony Municipal Utility 
District No. 1A, a political subdivision of the State of Texas, on behalf of said district. 
 

       
NOTARY PUBLIC, State of Texas 

 



 

 
{W0731327.5} 8 

COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGE TO: 
 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO CONSENT AGREEMENT FOR THE COLONY 
MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 AND SUCCESSOR DISTRICTS TO BE 

CREATED BY DIVISION OF THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 
 

 

DISTRICT 1B: 

THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY 
DISTRICT NO. 1B 

By:       
Susan Weems Wendel, President 
Board of Directors 

 
 
THE STATE OF TEXAS § 
    § 
COUNTY  OF  BASTROP § 
 
 This instrument was acknowledged before me on the ____ day of ______________, 
2017, by Susan Weems Wendel, President of the Board of Directors of The Colony Municipal 
Utility District No. 1B, a political subdivision of the State of Texas, on behalf of said district. 
 

       
NOTARY PUBLIC, State of Texas 

 

 



 

 
{W0731327.5} 9 

COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGE TO: 
 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO CONSENT AGREEMENT FOR THE COLONY 
MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 AND SUCCESSOR DISTRICTS TO BE 

CREATED BY DIVISION OF THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 
 

 

DISTRICT 1C: 

THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY 
DISTRICT NO. 1C 

By:       
Rene Barrientos, President 
Board of Directors 

 
 
THE STATE OF TEXAS § 
    § 
COUNTY  OF  BASTROP § 
 
 This instrument was acknowledged before me on the ____ day of _____________, 
2017, by Rene Barrientos, President of the Board of Directors of The Colony Municipal Utility 
District No. 1C, a political subdivision of the State of Texas, on behalf of said district. 
 

       
NOTARY PUBLIC, State of Texas 

 

 



 

 
{W0731327.5} 10 

COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGE TO: 
 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO CONSENT AGREEMENT FOR THE COLONY 
MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 AND SUCCESSOR DISTRICTS TO BE 

CREATED BY DIVISION OF THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 
 

 

DISTRICT 1D: 

THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY 
DISTRICT NO. 1D 

By:       
Dave Griesenbeck, President 
Board of Directors 

 
 
THE STATE OF TEXAS § 
    § 
COUNTY  OF  BASTROP § 
 
 This instrument was acknowledged before me on the ___ day of ____________, 2017, 
by Dave Griesenbeck, President of the Board of Directors of The Colony Municipal Utility District 
No. 1D, a political subdivision of the State of Texas, on behalf of said district. 
 

       
NOTARY PUBLIC, State of Texas 

 
 



 

 
{W0731327.5} 11 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO CONSENT AGREEMENT FOR THE COLONY 
MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 AND SUCCESSOR DISTRICTS TO BE 

CREATED BY DIVISION OF THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 
 

 

DISTRICT 1E: 

THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY 
DISTRICT NO. 1E 

By:       
   ,     
Board of Directors 

 
 
THE STATE OF TEXAS § 
    § 
COUNTY  OF  BASTROP § 
 
 This instrument was acknowledged before me on the _______ day of 
____________________, 2017, by _________________, _________________ of the 
Board of Directors of The Colony Municipal Utility District No. 1E, a political subdivision of the 
State of Texas, on behalf of said district. 
 

       
NOTARY PUBLIC, State of Texas 

 



 

 
{W0731327.5} 12 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO CONSENT AGREEMENT FOR THE COLONY 
MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 AND SUCCESSOR DISTRICTS TO BE 

CREATED BY DIVISION OF THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 
 

 

DISTRICT 1F: 

THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY 
DISTRICT NO. 1F 

By:       
Judith K. Hoover, President 
Board of Directors 

 
 
THE STATE OF TEXAS § 
    § 
COUNTY  OF  BASTROP § 
 
 This instrument was acknowledged before me on the _______ day of 
____________________, 2017, by Judith K. Hoover, President of the Board of Directors of 
The Colony Municipal Utility District No. 1F, a political subdivision of the State of Texas, on behalf 
of said district. 
 

       
NOTARY PUBLIC, State of Texas 

 



 

 
{W0731327.5} 13 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO CONSENT AGREEMENT FOR THE COLONY 
MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 AND SUCCESSOR DISTRICTS TO BE 

CREATED BY DIVISION OF THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 
 

 

DISTRICT 1G: 

THE COLONY MUNICIPAL UTILITY 
DISTRICT NO. 1G 

By:       
Richard T. Banks, President 
Board of Directors 

 
 
THE STATE OF TEXAS § 
    § 
COUNTY  OF  BASTROP § 
 
 This instrument was acknowledged before me on the ____ day of ______________, 
2017, by Richard T. Banks, President of the Board of Directors of The Colony Municipal Utility 
District No. 1G, a political subdivision of the State of Texas, on behalf of said district. 
 

       
NOTARY PUBLIC, State of Texas 

 
 

 



 

 
{W0731327.5} Exhibit “A” – Page 1 of 1 

EXHIBIT “A” 
UPDATED LOT STANDARDS 

 



 

 
{W0731327.5} Exhibit “B” – Page 1 of 1 

EXHIBIT “B” 
MINIMUM CRITERIA TO BE INCLUDED IN RESTRICTIVE COVENANTS 

 

 Exterior Masonry Requirements - Minimum masonry requirements will be set at 
75%.  Masonry includes:  brick, stone, stucco, and hardiplank. 

 Landscaping - Use of drought-resistant landscaping or water-conserving techniques in 
the Project is encouraged.  Xeriscaping will be allowed in certain instances in the common 
areas and at residences in accordance with a Xeriscaping Policy set forth in the Restrictive 
Covenants.  All landscapes and landscaping must be approved by the Developer prior to 
installation.  To further help conserve water, large expansive areas of natural grass and 
vegetation will not be required to be irrigated.  The use of drip irrigation is encouraged. 

 Front Setbacks – All lots will be allowed to have staggered, 20'-25' building setbacks to 
help achieve aesthetically pleasing street view.  All front setbacks will be measured from 
the property line or right-of-way.  At minimum, there must be a front building setback 
change (between the allowed 20'-25') on every fourth lot. 

 Utilities - All utilities shall be provided separately to each lot so that each home will be 
individually metered. 

 Recreational vehicles - Recreational vehicles, travel trailers or motor homes may not 
be used for on-site dwelling purposes and will be hidden from public view. 

 Fencing - Electrical Fencing and barbed wire is prohibited as perimeter fencing.  Only 6' 
cedar, wrought iron, or masonry fencing will be allowed. 

 Open Yard Storage - Open storage is prohibited (except for materials for the resident’s 
personal use or consumption (i.e., firewood, gardening materials, etc.). 

 Side Entry Garages - Single-family homes with side entry garages where lot frontage is 
only to one street (not a corner lot) shall have a minimum of twenty-five feet (25') from 
the garage door to the side property line for maneuvering. 

 Roofs - All single-family residential structures shall have roof slopes with a minimum of 
3:12 pitch. 

 
 



 

 
{W0731327.5} Exhibit “C” – Page 1 of 7 

EXHIBIT “C” 
2007 ANNEXATION RESOLUTION 



 

 
{W0731327.5} Exhibit “C” – Page 2 of 7 



 

 
{W0731327.5} Exhibit “C” – Page 3 of 7 



 

 
{W0731327.5} Exhibit “C” – Page 4 of 7 



 

 
{W0731327.5} Exhibit “C” – Page 5 of 7 



 

 
{W0731327.5} Exhibit “C” – Page 6 of 7 



 

 
{W0731327.5} Exhibit “C” – Page 7 of 7 

 



 

Page 1 of 2 
 

 
 

STAFF REPORT 
 

MEETING DATE:  August 8, 2017      AGENDA ITEM: 9E  
 
TITLE:  
Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2017-62 of the City Council of the City of Bastrop, 
Texas, approving the preliminary plat known as Bastrop Grove being 52.684 acres out of the 
Nancy Blakey survey, located east of State Highway 304 and south of west State Highway 71, 
within the City limits of Bastrop, Texas, repealing all conflicting resolutions; and providing an 
effective date. 
 
STAFF REPRESENTATIVE:  
Wesley Brandon, P.E., Director of Planning and Engineering  
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY:  
The applicant has submitted a new Preliminary Plat for the Bastrop Grove Subdivision.  The plat 

divides 52.684 acres into two larger commercial lots, 18.31 acres and 24.16 acres, and seven 

smaller commercial lots, ranging from 1.11 acres to 1.54 acres (Exhibit B).  This preliminary plat 

includes the dedication of 30-feet of right-of-way for the extension of Agnes Street (1.43 acres).  

The remaining 30-feet of the required 60-foot total right-of-way width will be dedicated with the 

development of the property to the south. 

A previous preliminary plat was approved by City Council on July 8, 2014 for this same tract.  The 

Grove Subdivision Preliminary Plat received approval from City Council for a request to subdivide 

the 52.684 acre tract into one large commercial lot and 7 smaller commercial lots fronting SH 71. 

Traffic Impact Analysis and Driveways 
Section 1.30 of the Bastrop Subdivision Ordinance requires the submittal of a traffic impact 
analysis (TIA) that identifies the improvements needed to accommodate traffic impacts to the 
surrounding transportation system. The applicant has submitted a TIA that quantifies the impact 
of the development, and provides the recommended improvements to mitigate those impacts. 
Examples of these improvements include traffic signal improvements, additional turn lanes, and 
deceleration lanes along SH 71. 
 
The proposed development will take access from the eastbound SH 71 frontage road and SH 
304. The seven (7) outparcels located along SH 71 will take access from internal driveways and 
access easements, rather than having individual driveways along the SH 71. The development 
plan also indicates extending Agnes Street along the southern property line. Agnes Street is 
proposed to be built in two phases, the first phase being the northern half of the roadway, and the 
second half being built when required to serve the undeveloped property to the south. 
 
Utilities  
The development will connect to the City’s water and wastewater systems currently located along 
SH 71 and SH 304. The development proposes to extend a 12-inch diameter water line along the 
extension of Agnes, which will ultimately connect to an existing water line located along SH 71. 
Wastewater services will be provided along the southern property boundary, and connect to the 
City’s existing wastewater system along SH 71 via a proposed lift station and force main. 



 

Page 2 of 2 
 

 
Electric service will be provided by Bluebonnet Electric. 
 
Drainage 
Stormwater runoff generated by the proposed development will flow from the northern side of the 
property to the southern side, consistent with the site’s existing drainage patterns. Drainage flow 
from the property ultimately discharges into the Colorado River, located south of the development. 
A proposed drainage channel and detention pond system is proposed to mitigate the impacts to 
downstream property. 
 

PUBLIC COMMENTS:  
Seven (7) adjacent property owner notifications were mailed on July 11, 2017. At the time of this 
report, one (1) response was received in favor. No verbal comments were made by the public at 
the P&Z meeting (Attachment 3). 
 
POLICY EXPLANATION: 
Chapter 212 of the Texas Local Government Code (LGC) gives municipalities the ability to 
regulate the subdivision of land. The Bastrop Code of Ordinances, Chapter 10 includes the 
process and standards for subdivisions within the city limits and extra-territorial jurisdiction. 
 
A Preliminary Plat must be reviewed by staff, and then reviewed by the Planning & Zoning 
Commission for a recommendation to City Council.  The City Council will then approve or deny 
the Preliminary Plat.  Per the LGC, Chapter 212, if a plat meets all of the rules within the 
subdivision regulations the governing body must approve the plat.  Additional information on the 
policy explanation is included in the attached Planning & Zoning Commission report. 
 
After the Preliminary Plat is approved, the applicant must submit construction plans detailing the 
installation of the public infrastructure.  Once these are complete, the Final Plat is forwarded to 
City Council for approval.  
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2017-62 of the City Council of the City of Bastrop, 
Texas, approving the preliminary plat known as Bastrop Grove being 52.684 acres out of the 
Nancy Blakey survey, located east of State Highway 304 and south of west State Highway 71, 
within the City limits of Bastrop, Texas, repealing all conflicting resolutions; and providing an 
effective date. 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Resolution R-2017-62 with Exhibits 
Exhibit A:  Location Map 
Exhibit B:  Preliminary Plat 
Planning & Zoning Staff Report 
 Attachment 1:  Location Map 

Attachment 2:  Letter from Applicant 
Attachment 3:  Surrounding Property Owners’ Responses 
Attachment 4:  Preliminary Plat 

 



1 
 

 
RESOLUTION NO. R-2017-62 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
BASTROP, TEXAS, APPROVING THE PRELIMINARY PLAT 
KNOWN AS BASTROP GROVE BEING 52.684 ACRES OUT OF 
THE NANCY BLAKEY SURVEY, LOCATED EAST OF STATE 
HIGHWAY 304 AND SOUTH OF WEST STATE HIGHWAY 71, 
WITHIN THE CITY LIMITS OF BASTROP, TEXAS, REPEALING 
ALL CONFLICTING RESOULTIONS; AND PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the Texas Local Government Code Section 212 and the City of 

Bastrop Subdivision Ordinance, the City Council is required to take action regarding certain plats; 
and  

WHEREAS, 71 Retail Partners LP (“the Applicant”) has submitted a preliminary plat 
Bastrop Grove, a commercial subdivision; and  

 
WHEREAS, the preliminary plat is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan designation 

of General Commercial and requirements of the Zoning District, C-1, Commercial-1; and 
 
WHEREAS, the preliminary plat is conforms to the Transportation Master Plan and 

includes right-of-way dedication for the extension of Agnes Street; and 
 
WHEREAS, the preliminary plat for Bastrop Grove was recommended for approval by the 

Planning & Zoning Commission on July 27, 2017; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Bastrop Planning and Engineering Department has reviewed the above-
referenced final plat and found it is in compliance with the Comprehensive Plan, Zoning 
Ordinance, and Subdivision Ordinance; and 

 
WHEREAS, notice of the subdivision were sent in accordance with the Subdivision 

Ordinance to notify the public.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
BASTROP, TEXAS:  
 

Section 1.  The Preliminary Plat known as Bastrop Grove, being 52.684 acres out of the 
Nancy Blakey Survey, located east of Highway 304 and south of West State Highway 71, attached 
hereto as Exhibit “A” and incorporated herein for all purposes. 
  



2 
 

DULY RESOLVED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Bastrop this 8th day of 

August, 2017. 

 

CITY OF BASTROP, TEXAS 

       APPROVED: 

             
       ________________________________ 
       Connie B. Schroeder, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________ 
Ann Franklin, City Secretary 
  
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_____________________________ 
David F. Bragg, City Attorney 

 



DESCRIPTIONSHEET NO.
SHEET INDEX

SHEET

OF
1

4

WATERSHED STATUS:

FLOODPLAIN INFORMATION:

N.T.S.

VICINITY MAP

SUBDIVISION NO. :

ADDRESS :

SUBMITTAL DATE :

SUBMITTED BY :

OWNER:

ENGINEER:

SURVEYOR:

STANTEC CONSULTING SERVICES, INC.
221 WEST SIXTH STREET, SUITE 600
AUSTIN, TEXAS  78701
(512) 328-0011

STANTEC CONSULTING SERVICES, INC.
221 WEST SIXTH STREET, SUITE 600
AUSTIN, TEXAS 78701
(512) 328-0011

ALL RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE ADEQUACY OF THESE PLANS REMAINS WITH THE
ENGINEER WHO PREPARED THEM.  IN APPROVING THESE PLANS, THE CITY OF
BASTROP MUST RELY UPON THE ADEQUACY OF THE DESIGN ENGINEER.  THE PLANS
WERE PREPARED IN ACCORDANCE WITH CHAPTER 10, BASTROP CITY CODE.

THIS SITE IS LOCATED WITHIN THE LOWER COLORADO-CUMMINS WATERSHED.

MAY 22, 2017

JOSE M. FARIS, P.E., P.E.
STANTEC CONSULTING SERVICES, INC.
221 WEST SIXTH STREET, SUITE 600
AUSTIN, TEXAS  78701
(512) 328-0011

DATE

FILE: V:\2220\active\222010772\civil\cad\prelim plat\222010772TI2.dwg

V:
\2

22
0\

ac
tiv

e\
22

20
10

77
2\

ci
vi

l\c
ad

\p
re

lim
 P

la
t\2

22
01

07
72

TI
2.

dw
g 

m
od

ifi
ed

 b
y 

ja
m

ar
tin

ez
 o

n 
 J

ul
 1

2,
 1

7 
10

:3
4 

AM
BA

ST
R

O
P 

G
R

O
VE

 P
R

EL
IM

IN
AR

Y 
PL

AT

NO. DESCRIPTION

REVISE (R)
ADD (A)
VOID (V)

SHEET NO.'S

TOTAL #
SHEETS
IN PLAN

SET

NET
CHANGE

IMP.
COVER
(sq. ft.)

TOTAL SITE
IMP. COVER

(sq. ft.) [%]
CITY OF AUSTIN
APPROVAL/DATE

DATE
IMAGED

Tel. (512) 328-0011 Fax (512) 328-0325

221 West Sixth Street, Suite 600
Austin, Texas 78701

Copyright © 2017
TBPE # F-6324  TBPLS # F-10194230

A PORTION OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY IS LOCATED WITHIN THE BOUNDARIES OF THE 500 YEAR
FLOODPLAIN, AS IDENTIFIED BY THE FEDERAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY, FEDERAL
INSURANCE ADMINISTRATION, SHOWN ON MAP NO. 48021C0355E, DATED JANUARY 19, 2006 FOR
CITY OF BASTROP.

LEGAL DESCRIPTION:

52.684 ACRES OF THE NANCY BLAKEY ABSTRACT NO. 98 SITUATED IN THE CITY OF BASTROP IN
BASTROP COUNTY, TEXAS PER VOLUME 2245, PAGE 828.

I, JOSE M. FARIS, P.E., P.E., AM AUTHORIZED UNDER THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF
TEXAS TO PRACTICE THE PROFESSION OF ENGINEERING, AND HEREBY CERTIFY
THAT THIS PRELIMINARY PLAN IS FEASIBLE FROM AN ENGINEERING STANDPOINT AND
COMPLIES WITH THE ENGINEERING RELATED PORTIONS OF CHAPTER 10 OF THE
BASTROP CITY CODE AND IS TRUE AND CORRECT TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE, I
CERTIFY THAT THESE ENGINEERING DOCUMENTS ARE COMPLETE, ACCURATE, AND
ADEQUATE FOR THE INTENDED PURPOSES, BUT ARE NOT AUTHORIZED FOR
CONSTRUCTION PRIOR TO FORMAL CITY APPROVAL.

BASTROP GROVE
PRELIMINARY PLAT

71 RETAIL PARTNERS LP
8214 WESTCHESTER DRIVE, SUITE 550
DALLAS, TEXAS 75225

UTILITY PROVIDERS:

WATER SERVICE:  CITY OF BASTROP
WASTEWATER SERVICE:  CITY OF BASTROP
ELECTRIC:  BLUEBONNET ELECTRIC
GAS:  CENTERPOINT ENERGY
TELEPHONE:  AT&T

DATECITY COUNCIL

APPROVED FOR ACCEPTANCE:



OF

SHEET

D
AT

E
N

O
.

R
EV

IS
IO

N
AP

PR
O

VA
L

V:
\2

22
0\

ac
tiv

e\
22

20
10

77
2\

ci
vi

l\c
ad

\p
re

lim
 P

la
t\2

22
01

07
72

TI
2.

dw
g 

m
od

ifi
ed

 b
y 

ja
m

ar
tin

ez
 o

n 
 J

ul
 1

2,
 1

7 
10

:3
4 

AM

Q
A 

/ Q
C

:

D
R

AW
N

 B
Y:

D
ES

IG
N

ED
 B

Y:

PR
O

JE
C

T 
N

O
.:JA

M
/P

SD

PS
D

Te
l. 

(5
12

) 3
28

-0
01

1 
Fa

x 
(5

12
) 3

28
-0

32
5

22
1 

W
es

t S
ix

th
 S

tre
et

, S
ui

te
 6

00
Au

st
in

, T
ex

as
 7

87
01

C
op

yr
ig

ht
 ©

 2
01

7
TB

PE
 #

 F
-6

32
4 

 T
BP

LS
 #

 F
-1

01
94

23
0

JF

4
2

BA
ST

R
O

P 
G

R
O

VE
 P

R
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

PL
AT

SH
 7

1 
AT

 S
H

 3
04

, B
AS

TR
O

P,
 T

X 
78

60
2

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

PL
AT

71
 R

ET
AI

L 
PA

R
TN

ER
S 

LP
22

20
10

77
2

BASTROP GROVE PRELIMINARY PLAT



OF

SHEET

D
AT

E
N

O
.

R
EV

IS
IO

N
AP

PR
O

VA
L

V:
\2

22
0\

ac
tiv

e\
22

20
10

77
2\

ci
vi

l\c
ad

\p
re

lim
 P

la
t\2

22
01

07
72

TI
2.

dw
g 

m
od

ifi
ed

 b
y 

ja
m

ar
tin

ez
 o

n 
 J

ul
 1

2,
 1

7 
10

:3
4 

AM

Q
A 

/ Q
C

:

D
R

AW
N

 B
Y:

D
ES

IG
N

ED
 B

Y:

PR
O

JE
C

T 
N

O
.:JA

M
/P

SD

PS
D

Te
l. 

(5
12

) 3
28

-0
01

1 
Fa

x 
(5

12
) 3

28
-0

32
5

22
1 

W
es

t S
ix

th
 S

tre
et

, S
ui

te
 6

00
Au

st
in

, T
ex

as
 7

87
01

C
op

yr
ig

ht
 ©

 2
01

7
TB

PE
 #

 F
-6

32
4 

 T
BP

LS
 #

 F
-1

01
94

23
0

JF

4
3

BA
ST

R
O

P 
G

R
O

VE
 P

R
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

PL
AT

SH
 7

1 
AT

 S
H

 3
04

, B
AS

TR
O

P,
 T

X 
78

60
2

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

PL
AT

71
 R

ET
AI

L 
PA

R
TN

ER
S 

LP
22

20
10

77
2

BASTROP GROVE PRELIMINARY PLAT



OF

SHEET

D
AT

E
N

O
.

R
EV

IS
IO

N
AP

PR
O

VA
L

V:
\2

22
0\

ac
tiv

e\
22

20
10

77
2\

ci
vi

l\c
ad

\p
re

lim
 P

la
t\2

22
01

07
72

TI
2.

dw
g 

m
od

ifi
ed

 b
y 

ja
m

ar
tin

ez
 o

n 
 J

ul
 1

2,
 1

7 
10

:3
4 

AM

Q
A 

/ Q
C

:

D
R

AW
N

 B
Y:

D
ES

IG
N

ED
 B

Y:

PR
O

JE
C

T 
N

O
.:JA

M
/P

SD

PS
D

Te
l. 

(5
12

) 3
28

-0
01

1 
Fa

x 
(5

12
) 3

28
-0

32
5

22
1 

W
es

t S
ix

th
 S

tre
et

, S
ui

te
 6

00
Au

st
in

, T
ex

as
 7

87
01

C
op

yr
ig

ht
 ©

 2
01

7
TB

PE
 #

 F
-6

32
4 

 T
BP

LS
 #

 F
-1

01
94

23
0

JF

4
4

BA
ST

R
O

P 
G

R
O

VE
 P

R
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

PL
AT

SH
 7

1 
AT

 S
H

 3
04

, B
AS

TR
O

P,
 T

X 
78

60
2

G
EN

ER
AL

 N
O

TE
S

71
 R

ET
AI

L 
PA

R
TN

ER
S 

LP
22

20
10

77
2

BASTROP GROVE PRELIMINARY PLAT



Page 1 of 4 

PLANNING & ZONING 
STAFF REPORT 
MEETING DATE: Item:

TITLE:

STAFF REPRESENTATIVE

ITEM DETAILS:

BACKGROUND/HISTORY

Attachment 3:  
Preliminary Plat 



Page 2 of 4 

PUBLIC COMMENTS:

POLICY EXPLANATION



Page 3 of 4 
 

RECOMMENDATION



Page 4 of 4 
 

ATTACHMENTS:



³

BLAKEY

BLAIR

JESSICA

SC
H

A
EF

ER

CHARLES

HUNTERS POINT

N
IC

O
LE

H
A

SL
ER

 S
H

O
R

ES

K
ATY

 B

D
U

FF

ANNIKA

HOME DEPOT

PHEASANT

JEN
N

IFER

BRYA
N

T

AGNESJAVELINA

S 
H

A
SL

ER

SE
TT

LE
M

EN
T

REBECCA

ED
W

A
R

D
 B

U
R

LE
SO

N

PACK HORSE

ELIZABETH

OLD AUSTIN

THOMPSON

O
R

CH
A

R
D

CARBINEW
O

LV
ER

IN
E STEEL SHOT

TRAIL DRIVE

BIG HORN

CAYLOR

WAGON WHEEL

PACK HORSE

¬«304

¬«71

¬«71

D
U

FF















 

Page 1 of 2 
 

 

 

STAFF REPORT 

 
MEETING DATE:  August 8, 2017      AGENDA ITEM: 9F 
 
TITLE:  
Hold public hearing and consider action to approve the first reading of Ordinance No. 2017-20 of 
the City Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas granting a conditional use permit for a 175-foot 
communications tower, being lot 3-a of the Bastrop Business & Industrial Park, Phase 1, Block B, 
located at 1501 Business Park Drive, within the City limits of Bastrop, Texas; setting out 
conditions; and establishing an effective date; and move to include on the August 22, 2017 
agenda for a second reading. 
 
STAFF REPRESENTATIVE:  
Wesley Brandon, P.E., Director of Planning and Engineering  
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY:  
Bastrop County is requesting a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) for a 175-foot communications 
tower to be located at the future Bastrop County Office of Emergency Operations, Information 
Technology and 911 Communications and Dispatch.  The building is currently vacant and was 
previously a manufacturing and office warehouse.   
 
The main structure of the tower is 150-feet in height, with the antennas extending another 25-feet.   
The tower will be publicly owned and used for emergency services communication across the 
county.  The attached P&Z report includes additional information for review. 
 
The Bastrop County Economic Development Corporation (BEDC) Board met on June 19, 2017 
and voted unanimously to recommend the approval of this CUP (Attachment 5). 
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS:  
Six (6) adjacent property owner notifications were mailed on July 12, 2017. At the time of this 
report, one (1) responses was received in favor. No verbal comments were made during the P&Z 
public hearing (Attachment 3). 
 
POLICY EXPLANATION: 
A Conditional Use Permit is adopted by Ordinance, similar to the process that a zoning request, 
with public hearings at Planning & Zoning Commission and City Council and two ordinance 
readings at separate City Council meetings.   
 
Within the Zoning Ordinance Section 43.5, there are specific criteria that must be met for 
communications antenna and support structures/tower. These criteria and conditions are detailed 
in the attached Planning & Zoning Commission staff report. 
 
The Planning & Zoning Commission held a public hearing and recommended approval of the 
CUP at their July 27, 2017 meeting by a vote of 7-0, with the following conditions. 
 

1. Construction shall be in conformance with the City of Bastrop regulations. 



 

Page 2 of 2 
 

2. All necessary permits for the proposed development shall be acquired prior to 
occupying the building. 

3. A Building Permit shall be applied for and secured within one year from the date 
the Conditional Use Permit is granted (second reading of the ordinance). 

4. Antenna towers shall be secured to protect against trespass or unauthorized use 
of the property, antenna tower, or related buildings and structures on site. At 
minimum, antenna towers shall be equipped with an anti-climbing device and 
enclosed by security fencing and a locking gate not less than six (6) feet in height. 
If the tower will have guy wires, they must be fenced as well. 

5. No amateur or commercial antenna, antenna support structure, microwave 
reflector/antenna, or associated foundations or support wires or appurtenances 
shall be located within any required setback area for the front, side or rear yards. 

1. Antennae (amateur or commercial) shall not interfere with radio or television 
reception of adjoining property owners, and shall comply with all regulations of 
the Federal Communications Commission (FCC). In no manner shall the use of 
such equipment infringe upon adjoining property owners. 

2. All commercial signs, flags, lights and attachments other than those required for 
communications operations, structural stability, or as required for flight visibility 
by the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) and FCC shall be prohibited on 
any antenna or antenna support structure. 

 
If City Council approves the CUP, the second reading will be forwarded to the August 22, 2017 
meeting for final approval. 
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION COMMENTS: 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Hold public hearing and consider action to approve the first reading of Ordinance 2017-20 of the 
City Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas granting a conditional use permit for a 175-foot 
communications towner, being lot 3-a of the Bastrop Business & Industrial Park, Phase 1, Block 
B, located at 1501 Business Park Drive, within the City limits of Bastrop, Texas; setting out 
conditions; and establishing an effective date; and move to include on the August 22, 2017 
agenda for a second reading. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Ordinance with Exhibits 
Planning & Zoning Commission Staff Report  

Attachment 1: Property Location Map 
Attachment 2: Letter from Applicant 
Attachment 3: Proposed Communication Tower Design 
Attachment 4: Proposed Tower Site Location 
Attachment 5: Letter from the Bastrop Economic Development Corporation 
Attachment 6: Surrounding Property Owners’ Responses 



1 
 

 
ORDINANCE 2017- 20 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BASTROP, 
TEXAS GRANTING A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT FOR A 175-FOOT 
COMMUNICATIONS TOWNER, BEING LOT 3-A OF THE BASTROP 
BUSINESS & INDUSTRIAL PARK, PHASE 1, BLOCK B, LOCATED AT 
1501 BUSINESS PARK DRIVE, WITHIN THE CITY LIMITS OF 
BASTROP, TEXAS; SETTING OUT CONDITIONS; AND ESTABLISHING 
AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
WHEREAS, Judge Pape, representing Bastrop County (hereinafter referred to as 

“Applicant”) submitted a request for a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) for Lot 3-A of the 
Bastrop Business & Industrial Park, Phase 1, Block B, within the City limits of Bastrop, 
Texas, hereinafter referred to as “the Property”; and 
 

WHEREAS, a location map is attached hereto as Exhibit “A” (the “Property); and 
 

WHEREAS, the Property is currently zoned as IP, Industrial Park, and LI, Light 
Industrial; and  
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 10.4 of the City’s Zoning Ordinance, notice of the 
CUP was given to all property owners located within two hundred (200) feet of the 
Property, and the Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of Bastrop held a public 
hearing on the CUP request on July 27, 2017; and 
 

WHEREAS, after notice and hearing, the Planning and Zoning Commission, by a 
unanimous vote, recommended approval of the proposed request, subject to certain 
conditions set forth herein; and 

 
WHEREAS, after consideration of public input received at the hearing, the 

information provided by the Applicant, and all other information presented, City Council 
finds by a majority vote of all members that it is in the public interest to approve the CUP. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF BASTROP, TEXAS THAT: 
 

Section 1:    The Property, situated in Lot 3-A of the Bastrop Business & Industrial 
Park, Phase 1, Block B located at 1501 Business Park Drive, within the city limits of 
Bastrop, Texas as more particularly shown and described on Exhibit “A”, shall be and is 
hereby approved with the following conditions to:  

 
a. Construction shall be in conformance with the City of Bastrop regulations. 
b. All necessary permits for the proposed development shall be acquired prior 

to occupying the building. 



2 
 

c. A Building Permit shall be applied for and secured within one year from the 
date the Conditional Use Permit is granted (second reading of the 
ordinance). 

d. Antenna towers shall be secured to protect against trespass or 
unauthorized use of the property, antenna tower, or related buildings and 
structures on site. At minimum, antenna towers shall be equipped with an 
anti-climbing device and enclosed by security fencing and a locking gate 
not less than six (6) feet in height. If the tower will have guy wires, they 
must be fenced as well. 

e. No amateur or commercial antenna, antenna support structure, microwave 
reflector/antenna, or associated foundations or support wires or 
appurtenances shall be located within any required setback area for the 
front, side or rear yards. 

f. Antennae (amateur or commercial) shall not interfere with radio or 
television reception of adjoining property owners, and shall comply with all 
regulations of the Federal Communications Commission (FCC). In no 
manner shall the use of such equipment infringe upon adjoining property 
owners. 

g. All commercial signs, flags, lights and attachments other than those 
required for communications operations, structural stability, or as required 
for flight visibility by the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) and FCC 
shall be prohibited on any antenna or antenna support structure. 
 

Section 2:     This ordinance shall take effect upon passage and in accordance 
with the laws of the State of Texas. 
 

Section 3:   If any provision of this ordinance or application thereof to any person 
or circumstance shall be held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect the other provisions, 
or application thereof, of this ordinance, which can be given effect without the invalid 
provision or application, and to this end, the provisions of this ordinance are hereby 
declared to be severable. 
 

Section 4:   This ordinance shall take effect upon the date of final passage noted 
below, or when all applicable publication requirements, if any, are satisfied in accordance 
with the City’s Charter, Code of Ordinances, and the laws of the State of Texas. 
  



3 
 

 
READ and ACKNOWLEDGED on First Reading on the 8th day of August 2017. 

 
 READ and APPROVED on the Second Reading on the 22nd day of August 2017. 
 
 
     APPROVED: 
 
 
     ___________________________ 
               Connie B. Schroeder, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Ann Franklin, City Secretary 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
____________________________ 
David F. Bragg, City Attorney 
 



SOUTH

BUSINESS PARK

MILL

JA
C

K
S

O
N

T
E

C
H

N
O

L
O

G
Y

108

200

202

1505

1501

1404

1500

R79964

R79965

R79966

R79968

R79969

R39275

R36537
R36545

R79967 R79962

R79961

R35865

R105122

R35937R35929

Location Map
Communications Tower CUP

1501 Business Park Drive ³
Date: 7/12/2017

The accuracy and precision of this cartographic

data is limited and should be used for information

/planning purposes only.  This data does not 

replace surveys conducted by registered Texas

land surveyors nor does it constitute an "official"

verification of zoning, land use classification, or

 other classification set forth in local, state, or

federal regulatory processes. The City of Bastrop,

nor any of its employees, do not make any warranty

of merchantability and fitness for particular purpose,

 or assumes any legal liablity or responsibility for the 

accuracy, completeness or usefullness of any such
information, nor does it represent that its use would

not infringe upon privately owned rights.     1 inch = 166.67 feet

L
O

V
E

R
S

JASPER

H
IL

L

EMILE

P
IT

TAUSTIN

SOUTH

P
E

C
A

N

A
R

E
N

A

COLLEGE

W
A

T
E

R

LOST PINESJE
F

F
E

R
S

O
N

H
A

Y
S

E
L

MILL

M
 L

 K
 J

R

S
 J

A
C

K
S

O
N

WALNUT

M
A

U
N

A
 L

O
A

M
A

IN

W
 K

AANAPALI

GUTIERREZ

T
E

C
H

N
O

L
O

G
Y

T
O

L
IV

E
R

F
A

Y
E

T
T

E

M
 L

 K
 J

R

EMILE

JASPER

WALNUT

¬«71

¬«95



Page 1 of 5 
 

PLANNING & ZONING 

STAFF REPORT 
 

 
MEETING DATE:  July 27, 2017      Item E    
 
TITLE:  
Public hearing and consider action to recommend approval of a Conditional Use Permit for a 175-
foot communications tower at 1501 Business Park Drive, being Lot 3-A of the Bastrop Business 
& Industrial Park, Phase 1, Block B, setting out conditions and forwarding to the next City Council 
meeting. 
 
STAFF REPRESENTATIVE:  
Wesley Brandon, P.E., Director of Planning and Engineering  
 
ITEM DETAILS: 
Site Address:  1501 Business Park Drive (Attachment 1) 
Total Acreage:  4.998 acres 
Legal Description: Lot 3-A of the Bastrop Business & Industrial Park, Phase 1, Block B 
 
Property Owner: Grand Central Texas Development Corporation  
Agent Contact: Judge Paul Pape, Bastrop County 
 
Existing Use:  Vacant Manufacturing/Office Warehouse 
Existing Zoning: LI - Light Industrial and IP - Industrial Park 
Future Land Use: Industrial 
 
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY:  
Bastrop County is requesting a Conditional Use Permit for a 175-foot 
communications tower to be located at the future Bastrop County Office 
of Emergency Operations, Information Technology and 911 
Communications and Dispatch.  The building is currently vacant and 
was previously a manufacturing and office warehouse.   
 
The main structure of the tower is 150-feet in height, with the antennas 
extending another 25-feet.  The tower will be publicly owned and used 
for emergency services communication across the county. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment 3:  Proposed 
Communication Tower 

Design 



Page 2 of 5 
 

 
The site is zoned both Light Industrial and Industrial Park.  The location of the tower is on the line 
between the two districts.  Publicly owned antenna towers are allowed within any zoning district 
and require a CUP for height exceeding the maximum height of the district.  The Light Industrial 
and Industrial Park Districts have a maximum height of 35 feet.  
  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

Legend

Zoning District

Single Family Residential 7

Industrial Park

Light Industrial

Bastrop County PD

Tower Location

Zoning District Map 



Page 3 of 5 
 

The communications tower will be placed to the side of the building, by the back northwest corner 
of the building.  This location is not within any setbacks and will be approximately 530 feet from 
any residentially zoned district and approximatley 980 feet from any occupied residential district. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The Bastrop County Economic Development Corporation (BEDC) Board met on June 19, 2017 
and voted unanimously to recommend the approval of this CUP (Attachment 5). 
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS:  
Six (6) adjacent property owner notifications were mailed on July 12, 2017. At the time of this 
report, one (1) responses was received in favor (Attachment 6). 
 
POLICY EXPLANATION: 
The purpose of conditional uses is to allow certain uses in districts that under most circumstances 
would not be compatible with other permitted uses, but may be compatible if certain conditions 
and development restrictions are met. A Conditional Use Permit (CUP) is adopted by Ordinance, 
similar to a standard zoning request, with public hearings at Planning & Zoning Commission and 
City Council meetings, as well as two ordinance readings at separate City Council meetings.   
 
Per Section 33.2 Conditional Use Permit Regulations, the Planning and Zoning Commission 
and City Council may consider the following for approval of a requested CUP: 

1. The use is harmonious and compatible with surrounding existing uses or proposed 
uses; 

 
The Bastrop Business & Industrial Park is designed for higher intensity 
industrial uses.  A communication tower is compatible with the surrounding 
uses. 
 
 

Attachment 4:  Proposed 
Tower Location 



Page 4 of 5 
 

2. The activities requested by the applicant are normally associated with the permitted 
uses in the base district; 

 
Governmental and publicly owned facilities are permitted use of the Industrial 
Park and Light Industrial Districts. 
 

3. The nature of the use is reasonable; 
 

Communications towers are a reasonable and necessary use. 
 

4. Any negative impact on the surrounding area has been mitigated; 
The tower will have the appropriate space for a fall zone and ground 
mechanical equipment will not be visible from the public right-of-way. 
 

5. That any additional conditions specified ensure that the intent of the district purposes 
are being upheld. 
 

Additional criteria are detailed below. 
 
Chapter 14, Section 43.5 Communications Antennas and Support Structures/Towers includes 
several conditions that apply to the proposed communications tower. 
 

1. Antenna towers shall be secured to protect against trespass or unauthorized use of the 
property, antenna tower, or related buildings and structures on site. At minimum, 
antenna towers shall be equipped with an anti-climbing device and enclosed by security 
fencing and a locking gate not less than six (6) feet in height. If the tower will have guy 
wires, they must be fenced as well. 

 
The applicant’s proposal complies with this requirement. 

 
2. No amateur or commercial antenna, antenna support structure, microwave 

reflector/antenna, or associated foundations or support wires or appurtenances shall 
be located within any required setback area for the front, side or rear yards. 

 
The proposed location is not near any required setbacks. 
 

3. Antennae (amateur or commercial) shall not interfere with radio or television reception 
of adjoining property owners, and shall comply with all regulations of the Federal 
Communications Commission (FCC). In no manner shall the use of such equipment 
infringe upon adjoining property owners. 

 
The applicant’s proposal complies with this requirement. 

 
4. All commercial signs, flags, lights and attachments other than those required for 

communications operations, structural stability, or as required for flight visibility by the 
Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) and FCC shall be prohibited on any antenna or 
antenna support structure. 
 

The applicant’s proposal complies with this requirement. 
 

 



Page 5 of 5 
 

5. All publicly owned antennae or antenna support structures shall be permitted in any 
district (e.g., public safety communications, etc.). However, if the structure exceeds the 
allowed height allowed in the zoning district, a Conditional Use Permit will be required. 

 
The tower will be owned by Bastrop County for countywide emergency services 
communication. The maximum height for both the Light Industrial District and 
Industrial Park District is 35 feet.  The proposed tower will exceed the height 
limit by 140 feet. 

 
HISTORICAL REFERENCES:  
There have been no Conditional Use Permits granted for publicly owned communication towers.   
 
On January 24, 2012, a CUP was approved for a 70-foot tall commercial cell tower behind the 
Bastrop Marketplace shopping center at 443 West SH 71. 
 
On June 8, 2010, a CUP was approved for a 300-foot commercial cell tower at 1905 South Street 
on Lot 1, Block A, Phase I of the Bastrop Business and Industrial Park Subdivision. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Hold public hearing and recommend approval of a Conditional Use Permit for a 175-foot 
communications tower at 1501 Business Park Drive, being Lot 3-A of the Bastrop Business & 
Industrial Park, Phase 1, Block B, setting out conditions and forwarding to the next City Council 
meeting. 
 

1. Construction shall be in conformance with the City of Bastrop regulations. 
2. All necessary permits for the proposed development shall be acquired prior to occupying 

the building. 
3. A Building Permit shall be applied for and secured within one year from the date the 

Conditional Use Permit is granted (second reading of the ordinance). 
4. Antenna towers shall be secured to protect against trespass or unauthorized use of the 

property, antenna tower, or related buildings and structures on site. At minimum, 
antenna towers shall be equipped with an anti-climbing device and enclosed by security 
fencing and a locking gate not less than six (6) feet in height. If the tower will have guy 
wires, they must be fenced as well. 

5. No amateur or commercial antenna, antenna support structure, microwave 
reflector/antenna, or associated foundations or support wires or appurtenances shall be 
located within any required setback area for the front, side or rear yards. 

6. Antennae (amateur or commercial) shall not interfere with radio or television reception 
of adjoining property owners, and shall comply with all regulations of the Federal 
Communications Commission (FCC). In no manner shall the use of such equipment 
infringe upon adjoining property owners. 

7. All commercial signs, flags, lights and attachments other than those required for 
communications operations, structural stability, or as required for flight visibility by the 
Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) and FCC shall be prohibited on any antenna or 
antenna support structure. 
 

ATTACHMENTS: 
Attachment 1:  Property Location Map 
Attachment 2:  Letter from Applicant 
Attachment 3:  Proposed Communication Tower Design 
Attachment 4:  Proposed Tower Site Location 
Attachment 5:  Letter from the Bastrop Economic Development Corporation 
Attachment 6:  Surrounding Property Owners’ Responses 



SOUTH

BUSINESS PARK

MILL

JA
C

KS
O

N

TE
C

H
N

O
LO

G
Y

108

200

202

1505

1501

1404

1500

R79964

R79965

R79966

R79968

R79969

R39275

R36537
R36545

R79967 R79962

R79961

R35865

R105122

R35937R35929

Location Map
Communications Tower CUP

1501 Business Park Drive ³
Date: 7/12/2017

The accuracy and precision of this cartographic
data is limited and should be used for information
/planning purposes only.  This data does not 
replace surveys conducted by registered Texas
land surveyors nor does it constitute an "official"
verification of zoning, land use classification, or
 other classification set forth in local, state, or
federal regulatory processes. The City of Bastrop,
nor any of its employees, do not make any warranty
of merchantability and fitness for particular purpose,
 or assumes any legal liablity or responsibility for the 
accuracy, completeness or usefullness of any such
information, nor does it represent that its use would
not infringe upon privately owned rights.     1 inch = 166.67 feet

LO
V

ER
S

JASPER

H
ILL

EMILE

PI
TTAUSTIN

SOUTH

PEC
A

N

A
R

EN
A

COLLEGE

W
ATER

LOST PINESJEFFER
SO

N

H
AY

SEL

MILL

M
 L

 K
 JR

S 
JA

C
K

SO
N

WALNUT

M
A

U
N

A
 L

O
A

M
A

IN

W KAANAPALI

GUTIERREZ

TE
C

H
N

O
LO

G
Y

TO
LI

V
ER

FA
Y

ET
TE

M
 L

 K
 JR

EMILE

JASPER

WALNUT

¬«71

¬«95







Proposed Tower Site



 

301 Highway 71 West, Bastrop, Texas 78602 
(512) 303-9700  info@bastropedc.org 

 
June 30, 2017 
 
 
The Honorable Connie B. Schroeder, Mayor of Bastrop 
and Members of the Bastrop City Council 
Bastrop City Hall 
1311 Chestnut Street 
P.O. Box 427 
Bastrop, Texas 78602 
 
 
Re:  Bastrop County’s Application for Conditional Use Permit 
 
Dear Mayor Schroeder and Members of the City Council:  
 
On behalf of the Bastrop Economic Development Corporation, I would like to convey to you the 
EDC Board’s support for a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) that has been requested by Bastrop 
County, for a proposed project in the Bastrop Business Park. 
 
Bastrop County is considering the purchase of the building at 1501 Business Park Drive, to house 
three County services: The Office of Emergency Management, Information Technology, and 9-1-
1 Communications and Dispatch. This will require the erection of a 175-foot communications 
tower.  

The EDC Board met on June 19, 2017, and voted unanimously to approve a letter of support for 
the project.  

Thank you for your time and consideration.  
 
Sincerely, 
 

 
 
Shawn Kirkpatrick, Executive Director 
Bastrop Economic Development Corporation 
 
SAK/ar 
 

 





 

 
 

STAFF REPORT 
 

MEETING DATE:  August 8, 2017      AGENDA ITEM: 9G 
 
TITLE: 
Hold public hearing and consider action to approve the first reading of Ordinance No. 2017-21 of 

the City Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas  to rezone lots 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7 of the North Main 

Addition Subdivision from NS, Neighborhood Service and O, Office to SF-7, Single-Family 7, 

located at the southwest corner of Main Street and Mesquite Street, within the City limits of 

Bastrop, Texas; and establishing an effective date; and move to include on the August 22, 2017 

agenda for a second reading. 

 
STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Wesley Brandon, P.E., Director of Planning and Engineering  
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY: 
On June 27, 2017, the property owner met with staff for a pre-application meeting, after which 
they applied to change the zoning for six lots within the North Main Addition. The property is 
currently vacant.  
 
The immediate surrounding properties are zoned SF-7, SF-9, and Office. The office property is 
being used as offices and educational facility for a childhood education company. Homes are 
located across Mesquite and Main streets, along with an LCRA electric substation. The area 
zoned Ag/Open Space on the opposite corner is also used as residential. The neighborhood as 
a whole is residential.  
 

Current Zoning Requested Zoning  

 

   

   

 



 

 
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS:  
Thirty-seven (37) adjacent property owner notifications were mailed on July 12, 2017.  At the time 
of this report, no responses were received. 
 
POLICY EXPLANATION: 
Amendments to the official zoning map go through the rezoning process, with public hearings at 
Planning & Zoning Commission and City Council and two ordinance readings at separate City 
Council meetings. Further policy explanation is included in the attached Planning & Zoning Staff 
Report. 
 
The Planning and Zoning Commission discussed the request and held a public hearing at their 
July 27, 2017 meeting and voted 7 to 0 to recommend approval of the requested rezoning of North 
Main Street Addition, Lots 2-7 from NS, Neighborhood Service and O, Office to SF-7, Single-
Family 7. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Hold public hearing and consider action to approve the first reading of Ordinance No. 2017-21 of 

the City Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas  to rezone lots 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7 of the North Main 

Addition Subdivision from NS, Neighborhood Service and O, Office to SF-7, Single-Family 7, 

located at the southwest corner of Main Street and Mesquite Street, within the City limits of 

Bastrop, Texas; and establishing an effective date; and move to include on the August 22, 2017 

agenda for a second reading. 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  
Ordinance with Exhibit 

Exhibit A:  Location Map 
Planning & Zoning Staff Report with Attachments 

Attachment 1:  Location Map 
Attachment 2:  Zoning Map 
Attachment 3:  Future Land Use Map 
Attachment 4:  Letter from Applicant 



1 
 

 
ORDINANCE 2017- 21 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BASTROP, 
TEXAS TO REZONE LOTS 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, AND 7 OF THE NORTH MAIN 
ADDITION SUBDIVISION FROM NS, NEIGHBORHOOD SERVICE AND 
O, OFFICE TO SF-7, SINGLE-FAMILY 7, LOCATED AT THE 
SOUTHWEST CORNER OF MAIN STREET AND MESQUITE STREET, 
WITHIN THE CITY LIMITS OF BASTROP, TEXAS; AND ESTABLISHING 
AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
  
WHEREAS, Nick Chesser (hereinafter referred to as “Applicant”) submitted a 

request for rezone Lots 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7 of the North Main Addition Subdivision from 
NS, Neighborhood Service and O, Office to SF-7, Single-Family 7, within the City limits 
of Bastrop, Texas, hereinafter referred to as “the Property”; and 
 

WHEREAS, a location map is attached hereto as Exhibit “A” (the “Property); and 
 

WHEREAS, the Property is currently zoned as NS, Neighborhood Service and O, 
Office; and  
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 10.4 of the City’s Zoning Ordinance, notice of the 
rezoning was given to all property owners located within two hundred (200) feet of the 
Property, and the Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of Bastrop held a public 
hearing on the rezoning request on July 27, 2017; and 
 

WHEREAS, after notice and hearing, the Planning and Zoning Commission has 
recommended approval of the proposed request; and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 10.4 of the City’s Zoning Ordinance, notice of the 
rezoning request was given as required by the Ordinance, and the City Council of the City 
of Bastrop held a public hearing on August 8, 2017 to consider the Applicant’s request; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, after consideration of public input received at the hearing, the 
information provided by the Applicant, and all other information presented, City Council 
finds by a majority vote of all members that it is in the public interest to approve the 
rezoning. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF BASTROP, TEXAS THAT: 
 

Section 1:    The Property, situated in Lots 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7 of the North Main 
Addition Subdivision located at the southwest corner of Main Street and Mesquite Street, 
within the city limits of Bastrop, Texas as more particularly shown and described on 
attachments Exhibit “A”, shall be rezoned to district SF-7, Single Family 7. 



2 
 

 
Section 2:     This ordinance shall take effect upon passage and in accordance 

with the laws of the State of Texas. 
 

Section 3:   If any provision of this ordinance or application thereof to any person 
or circumstance shall be held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect the other provisions, 
or application thereof, of this ordinance, which can be given effect without the invalid 
provision or application, and to this end, the provisions of this ordinance are hereby 
declared to be severable. 
 

Section 4:   This ordinance shall take effect upon the date of final passage noted 
below, or when all applicable publication requirements, if any, are satisfied in accordance 
with the City’s Charter, Code of Ordinances, and the laws of the State of Texas. 

 
READ and ACKNOWLEDGED on First Reading on the 8th day of August 2017. 

 
 READ and APPROVED on the Second Reading on the 22nd day of August 2017. 
 
 
     APPROVED: 
 
 
     ___________________________ 
     Connie B. Schroeder, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Ann Franklin, City Secretary 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
____________________________ 
David F. Bragg, City Attorney 
 



M
A

IN

MESQUITE

MAPLE

607

606

604

702

2505 2505 2505 2505 2505

2505

2505

25052505
2505

2500

2501

2402

2411

2409

2407

2403

2309

Location Map
Rezone North Main Addition Lots 2-7

Neighborhood Service and Office to Neighborhood
Northeast Corner of Main and Mesquite ³

Date: 7/12/2017
The accuracy and precision of this cartographic

data is limited and should be used for information

/planning purposes only.  This data does not 

replace surveys conducted by registered Texas

land surveyors nor does it constitute an "official"

verification of zoning, land use classification, or

 other classification set forth in local, state, or

federal regulatory processes. The City of Bastrop,

nor any of its employees, do not make any warranty

of merchantability and fitness for particular purpose,

 or assumes any legal liablity or responsibility for the 

accuracy, completeness or usefullness of any such
information, nor does it represent that its use would

not infringe upon privately owned rights.     1 inch = 100 feet

H
IL

L

P
E

C
A

N

L
A

U
R

A

LINDEN

W
IL

S
O

N

N
 M

A
IN

C
A

R
T

E
R

OLD MCDADE

REIDS BEND

OAK

M
A

IN

MAGNOLIA

MAPLE

HOFFM
AN

W
A

T
E

R

LOCUST

LAUREL

JUNIPER

MESQUITE

POPLAR

HICKORY

P
IN

E
Y

 R
ID

G
E

PEA JAY

LAUREL

¬«95

Lot 2

Lot 3

Lot 4

L
o

t 5

L
o

t 6

L
o

t 7



Page 1 of 4 
 

PLANNING & ZONING 

STAFF REPORT 
 

MEETING DATE:  July 27, 2017      Item:  F   
 
TITLE:  
Public hearing and consider action to recommend approval of a zoning change to Single Family 
Residential 7 (SF-7) at the southwest corner of Main Street and Mesquite Street, being all of Lots 
2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7 of the North Main Addition Subdivision and forward to the next available City 
Council meeting. 
 
STAFF REPRESENTATIVE:  
Wesley Brandon, P.E., Director of Planning and Engineering  
 
ITEM DETAILS: 
Site Address:  TBD, Northeast corner of Main St and Mesquite St (Attachment 1) 
Total Acreage:  1.909 acres 
Legal Description: North Main Addition, Lots 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7 
 
Property Owner: Nick Chesser/Quickhatch Storage, LLC 
Agent Contact: Nik Shehu 
 
Existing Use:  Vacant property 
Existing Zoning: Office – Lots 2-4; Neighborhood Service – Lots 5-7 (Attachment 2) 
Future Land Use: Neighborhood Residential (Attachment 3) 
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY:  
On June 27, 2017, the property owner met with staff for a pre-application meeting, after which 
they applied to change the zoning for six lots within the North Main Addition. The property is 
currently vacant.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Looking southwest from the corner 
of Main and Mesquite. 

Looking southeast from Mesquite. 



Page 2 of 4

The immediate surrounding properties are zoned SF-7, SF-9, and Office. The office property is 
being used as offices and educational facility for a childhood education company. Homes are 
located across Mesquite and Main streets, along with an LCRA electric substation. The area 
zoned Ag/Open Space on the opposite corner is also used as residential. The neighborhood as 
a whole is residential. 

PUBLIC COMMENTS:  
Thirty-seven (37) adjacent property owner notifications were mailed on July 12, 2017.  At the time 
of this report, no responses were received. 

POLICY EXPLANATION: 
City zoning districts govern the use and development of land, buildings, and structures as a 
measure necessary to the orderly development of the community.  
Section 10 – Changes and Amendments to All Zoning Ordinances and Districts contains the 
process for amending the zoning map.  Changes shall only be made: 

A. To correct any error in the regulations or map.

The existing zoning district was adopted through the appropriate process.  The current 
owner wishes to develop these lots as a residential use, which requires a zoning 
amendment. 

B. To recognize changed or changing conditions or circumstances in a particular locality. 

The surrounding area is developing as residential and this is not a preferred location for 
office and/or neighborhood retail services. 

C. To recognize changes in technology, the style of living, or manner of conducting business. 

This does not apply.  The request follows the existing development pattern in the area. 

D. To change the property to uses in accordance with the approved Comprehensive Plan. 

Current Zoning Requested Zoning 

Legend
Neighborhood Service

Ag/Open Space

Single Family Residential 9

Single Family Residential 7

Manufacured Home

Office



Page 3 of 4 
 

 
The requested zoning change to SF-7 is consistent with the Future Land Use designation 
of Neighborhood Residential shown in the Comprehensive Plan (Attachment 3). 

In making a determination regarding a requested zoning change, the Planning and Zoning 
Commission and City Council shall consider the following factors: 

1. Whether the uses permitted by the proposed change will be appropriate in the immediate 
area concerned and their relationship to the general area and the City as a whole. 

Primary permitted uses allowed by right within the SF-7 district are single-family dwelling 
detached and community home (per state statue).  These uses are appropriate 
considering the surrounding development is primarily residential, except for a childhood 
education center and an electric substation. 

2. Whether the proposed change is in accord with any existing or proposed plans for 
providing public schools, streets, water supply, sanitary sewers, and other utilities to the 
area, and shall note the findings. 

The proposed change is in accord and shall not adversely affect the existing public 
schools, streets, or utilities in the area. The intent is to develop six single-family detached 
homes. 

3. The amount of vacant land currently classified for similar development in the vicinity and 
elsewhere in the City, and any special circumstances, which may make a substantial part 
of such vacant land unavailable for development. 

There is vacant land classified as residential in the vicinity and elsewhere in the city. Some 
of the vacant residential land in the vicinity is hindered by lack of utility infrastructure 
(water, wastewater, and/or electric), which requires a longer platting process and 
increases the cost of development. Other vacant residential land in the vicinity is not for 
sale. Elsewhere in the city, residential development may be hindered by terrain 
challenges, lack of developed street or utility infrastructure, or requires additional 
regulation by the Lost Pines Habitat Conservation Plan (LPHCP). 

4. The recent rate at which land is being developed in the same zoning classification as the 
request, particularly in the vicinity of the proposed change. 

From 2014 to 2016, single family permits issued were 78, 34, and 94, respectively, which 
corresponded to growth rates of 2.7%, 2.1%, and 2.1%, respectively. These numbers 
indicate that while permits have been issued, available developable lots hinder the growth 
rate. The Bastrop EDC and the Comprehensive Plan both show a high need for housing 
development. The 2017 Update to the Housing Study commissioned by BEDC concludes 
that Bastrop demand has grown with buyers interested in a lower price point or in getting 
more home for the value than what is available in other parts of the Austin MSA. It also 
says that “Homebuilders in the Southeast submarket, and especially the Bastrop area, 
have difficulty finding lots at reasonable prices in quality developments that offer 
competitive returns relative to those found along the I-35 corridor,” and that “This tight 
level of housing inventory has particularly limited the Bastrop area’s ability to capture a 
larger share of new home closings.” The lots in the area to requesting a zone change are 
of a marketable size, in an established neighborhood, where existing utilities and terrain 
allows for returns on investment for builders.  

5. How other areas designated for similar development will be, or are unlikely to be, affected 
if the proposed amendment is approved. 



Page 4 of 4 
 

Other areas are unlikely to be affected by the proposed amendment, as it is rather minor 
in scale.  

6. Any other factors which will substantially affect the public health, safety, morals, or general 
welfare. 
 
None. 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Hold public hearing and recommend approval of a zoning change to Single Family Residential 7 
(SF-7) at the northeast corner of Main Street and Mesquite Street, being North Main Addition, 
Lots 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and forward to the next available City Council meeting. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Attachment 1:  Location Map 
Attachment 2:  Zoning Map 
Attachment 3:  Future Land Use Map 
Attachment 4:  Letter from Applicant 



M
A

IN

MESQUITE

MAPLE

607

606

604

702

2505 2505 2505 2505 2505

2505

2505

25052505
2505

2500

2501

2402

2411

2409

2407

2403

2309

Location Map
Rezone North Main Addition Lots 2-7

Neighborhood Service and Office to Neighborhood
Northeast Corner of Main and Mesquite ³

Date: 7/12/2017
The accuracy and precision of this cartographic

data is limited and should be used for information

/planning purposes only.  This data does not 

replace surveys conducted by registered Texas

land surveyors nor does it constitute an "official"

verification of zoning, land use classification, or

 other classification set forth in local, state, or

federal regulatory processes. The City of Bastrop,

nor any of its employees, do not make any warranty

of merchantability and fitness for particular purpose,

 or assumes any legal liablity or responsibility for the 

accuracy, completeness or usefullness of any such
information, nor does it represent that its use would

not infringe upon privately owned rights.     1 inch = 100 feet

H
IL

L

P
E

C
A

N

L
A

U
R

A

LINDEN

W
IL

S
O

N

N
 M

A
IN

C
A

R
T

E
R

OLD MCDADE

REIDS BEND

OAK

M
A

IN

MAGNOLIA

MAPLE

HOFFM
AN

W
A

T
E

R

LOCUST

LAUREL

JUNIPER

MESQUITE

POPLAR

HICKORY

P
IN

E
Y

 R
ID

G
E

PEA JAY

LAUREL

¬«95

Lot 2

Lot 3

Lot 4

L
o

t 5

L
o

t 6

L
o

t 7



LINDEN

W
IL

S
O

N

MAGNOLIA

M
A

IN

W
A

T
E

R

C
A

R
T

E
R

MAPLE

MESQUITE

LOCUST

PEA JAY

VISTA WEST

MAGNOLIA

W
A

T
E

R

Zoning Map
Rezone North Main Addition Lots 2-7

Neighborhood Service and Office to Neighborhood
Northeast Corner of Main and Mesquite ³

Date: 7/21/2017
The accuracy and precision of this cartographic

data is limited and should be used for information

/planning purposes only.  This data does not 

replace surveys conducted by registered Texas

land surveyors nor does it constitute an "official"

verification of zoning, land use classification, or

 other classification set forth in local, state, or

federal regulatory processes. The City of Bastrop,

nor any of its employees, do not make any warranty

of merchantability and fitness for particular purpose,

 or assumes any legal liablity or responsibility for the 

accuracy, completeness or usefullness of any such
information, nor does it represent that its use would

not infringe upon privately owned rights.     1 inch = 300 feet

Legend
Zoning District

Neighborhood

Neighborhood Service

Neighborhood Tourism

Neighborhood Transition

Neighborhood Professional Office

Live/Work

Commercial Mixed Use

Civic/Cultural Arts

Downtown Mixed Use

Historic Main Street

Ag/Open Space

Park

Single Family Residential 20

Single Family Residential 9

Single Family Residential 7

Manufacured Home

Multi-Family-1

Multi-Family-2

Office

General Retail

Commercial-1

Commercial-2

Industrial Park

Light Industrial

Bastrop County PD

Hunter's Crossing Commerical PD

Hunter's Crossing Residential PD

Pecan Park PD

Piney Creek Bend PD

Toyota PD



LINDEN

W
IL

S
O

N

MAGNOLIA

M
A

IN

W
A

T
E

R

C
A

R
T

E
R

MAPLE

MESQUITE

LOCUST

PEA JAY

VISTA WEST

MAGNOLIA

W
A

T
E

R

Future Land Use Map
Rezone North Main Addition Lots 2-7

Neighborhood Service and Office to Neighborhood
Northeast Corner of Main and Mesquite ³

Date: 7/21/2017
The accuracy and precision of this cartographic

data is limited and should be used for information

/planning purposes only.  This data does not 

replace surveys conducted by registered Texas

land surveyors nor does it constitute an "official"

verification of zoning, land use classification, or

 other classification set forth in local, state, or

federal regulatory processes. The City of Bastrop,

nor any of its employees, do not make any warranty

of merchantability and fitness for particular purpose,

 or assumes any legal liablity or responsibility for the 

accuracy, completeness or usefullness of any such
information, nor does it represent that its use would

not infringe upon privately owned rights.     1 inch = 300 feet





 

Page 1 of 3 
 

 

 

STAFF REPORT 

 
MEETING DATE:  August 8, 2017      AGENDA ITEM: 9H 
 
TITLE:  
Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2017-63 of the City Council of the City of Bastrop, 
Texas, approving the Vacation of Pine Vista Commercial Subdivision, being 8.858 acres of the 
Bastrop Town Tract Abstract A-11, located at 2401 Loop 150, within the city limits of Bastrop, 
Texas, repealing all conflicting resolutions and providing an effective date. 
 
STAFF REPRESENTATIVE:  
Wesley Brandon, P.E., Director of Planning and Engineering  
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY:  
The Pine Vista Commercial Subdivision was filed with Bastrop County in December 11, 2012. 

The subdivision consists of two lots. Lot 1 is 1.350 acres and Lot 2 is 7.508 acres, for a total of 

8.858 acres.  

The Lost Pines Habitat Conservation Plan (LPHCP) requires development to meet one of the 

following: Documentation that the land was legally subdivided prior to October 1, 2003; a natural 

resource inventory for legal non-platted tracts; or sufficient evidence that the development site 

will not, to the greatest extent practicable, adversely affect primary habitat as described in Section 

2.0 of the Conservation Subdivision Guidelines. In this case, the Pine Vista Commercial 

Subdivision does not meet the development requirements due to being subdivided after October 

1, 2003. Once the plat is vacated and the tract returns to its previous designation as land out of 

Bastrop Town Tract Abstract A-11, the property owners may apply for construction that meets 

LPHCP regulations (Attachment 2). 

The image below shows the current platted layout, and the red dashed line depicts the layout that 

the property will return to once vacated.  

 

  

 

 

All information 

that was 

recorded with 

the plat, 

including public 

utility, 

drainage, and 

access 

easements is 

Attachment 3:  Pine 

Vista Subdivision 



 

Page 2 of 3 
 

vacated.  Staff has reviewed the easements that will need to be dedicated by separate instrument 

before the vacation takes place. 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Green:  20-foot Public Utility Easement (PUE) along the northern property line and 15-foot 

PUE along the east, west and south property lines; 
Red: 35-foot Sidewalk and Access Easement along the north property line; and 
Blue: Variable width Drainage Easement, as indicated on the plat. 
 

 
PUBLIC COMMENTS:  
Ten (10) property owner notifications were mailed on July 12, 2017. At the time of this report, no 

responses have been received. 

POLICY EXPLANATION: 
Chapter 212 of the Texas Local Government Code (LGC) gives municipalities the ability to 
vacate recorded subdivisions, as long as the owners of all of the lots approve of the request.  
The entire subdivision is under common ownership.  Additional information on the policy 
explanation is included in the attached Planning & Zoning Commission report. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Consider Resolution R-2017-63  of the City Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas, approving the 
Vacation of Pine Vista Commercial Subdivision, being 8.858 acres of the Bastrop Town Tract 
Abstract A-11, located at 2401 Loop 150, within the city limits of Bastrop, Texas, repealing all 
conflicting resolutions and providing an effective date. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Resolution R-2017-63 with Exhibits 
Exhibit A:  Location Map 
Exhibit B:  Pine Vista Commercial Subdivision Plat 
Planning & Zoning Staff Report 
 Attachment 1:  Location Map 

Attachment 2:  Letter from Applicant 
Attachment 3:  Copy of Recorded Final Plat 
Attachment 4:  Easements to retain by separate instrument 

Attachment 4:  

Required 

Easements 



 

Page 3 of 3 
 

 



1 
 

 
RESOLUTION NO. R-2017-63 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
BASTROP, TEXAS, APPROVING THE VACATION OF PINE 
VISTA COMMERCIAL SUBDIVISION BEING 8.858 OF THE 
BASTROP TOWN TRACT ABSTRACT A-11, LOCATED AT 2401 
LOOP 150, WITHIN THE CITY LIMITS OF BASTROP, TEXAS, 
REPEALING ALL CONFLICTING RESOULTIONS; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the Texas Local Government Code Section 212, the City Council 

can approve the vacation of recorded plats; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Pine Vista Commercial Subdivision was recoded at the Bastrop County 
Clerk on December 11, 2012; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Bastrop Planning and Engineering Department has reviewed the above-
referenced request for vacation and found the returning the platted lot to the original configuration 
would still allow for the legal development of the lot per the Subdivision and Zoning Ordinances; 
and 

WHEREAS, notice of the subdivision were sent in accordance with the Subdivision 
Ordinance to notify the public.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
BASTROP, TEXAS:  
 

Section 1.  The vacation of Pine Vista Commercial Subdivision, being [8.858 acres of the 
Bastrop Town Tract, located 2401 Loop 150, within the city limits of Bastrop, Texas is hereby 
approved for recording, a copy of same being attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and incorporated 
herein for all purposes. 
 

DULY RESOLVED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Bastrop this 8th day of 

August, 2017. 

 

CITY OF BASTROP, TEXAS 

       APPROVED: 

             
       ________________________________ 
       Connie B. Schroeder, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________ 
Ann Franklin, City Secretary 
  
 



2 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_____________________________ 
David F. Bragg, City Attorney 

 



CHESTNUT

LOST PINES

SH 21

A
R

E
N

A

A
M

E
R

IC
A

N
 L

E
G

IO
N

LOOP 150 EAST

9

25

35

3331

30
28

24

20

18
1612

120

120

120

2804

2804

27042704

2801

2235

2881

2710

Location Map
Plat Vacation for Pine Vista Commercial Subdivision

2401 Chestnut Street ³
Date: 7/11/2017

The accuracy and precision of this cartographic

data is limited and should be used for information

/planning purposes only.  This data does not 

replace surveys conducted by registered Texas

land surveyors nor does it constitute an "official"

verification of zoning, land use classification, or

 other classification set forth in local, state, or

federal regulatory processes. The City of Bastrop,

nor any of its employees, do not make any warranty

of merchantability and fitness for particular purpose,

 or assumes any legal liablity or responsibility for the 

accuracy, completeness or usefullness of any such
information, nor does it represent that its use would

not infringe upon privately owned rights.     1 inch = 300 feet

1A

PINE

P
IT

T

FARM

M
 L

 K
 JR

A
R

E
N

A

EMILE

LOST PINES

L
IN

D
A

C
H

A
M

B
E

R
S

SPRING

CEDAR

WALNUT

IN
D

U
S

T
R

IA
L

C
P

 J
O

H
N

S
O

N

Y
O

U
N

G

C
H

A
M

B
E

R
S

CEDAR

¬«21

¬«150

¬«71

¬«95

¬«71





 

Page 1 of 4 
 

PLANNING & ZONING 

STAFF REPORT 
 

MEETING DATE:  July 27, 2017      Item:  I   
 
TITLE:  
Consider action to recommend approval of the request to vacate the plat at 2401 Chestnut 
St, being Pine Vista Commercial Subdivision, Lots 1 and 2, and forward to the next 
available City Council meeting. 
 
STAFF REPRESENTATIVE:  
Wesley Brandon, P.E., Director of Planning and Engineering  
 
ITEM DETAILS: 
Site Address:  2401 Chestnut St (Attachment 1) 
Total Acreage:  8.858 acres 
Legal Description: Pine Vista Commercial Subdivision, Lots 1 and 2 
 
Property Owner: Amy Bruder  
Agent Contact: Patti Bridges 
 
Existing Use:  Vacant/Undeveloped 
Existing Zoning: C-1, Commercial-1  
Future Land Use: Neighborhood Residential  
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY:  
The Pine Vista Commercial Subdivision was filed with Bastrop County in December 11, 
2012. The subdivision consists of two lots. Lot 1 is 1.350 acres and Lot 2 is 7.508 acres, 
for a total of 8.858 acres.  
 
The Lost Pines Habitat Conservation Plan (LPHCP) requires development to meet one of 
the following: Documentation that the land was legally subdivided prior to October 1, 2003; 
a natural resource inventory for legal non-platted tracts; or sufficient evidence that the 
development site will not, to the greatest extent practicable, adversely affect primary 
habitat as described in Section 2.0 of the Conservation Subdivision Guidelines. In this 
case, the Pine Vista Commercial Subdivision does not meet the development 
requirements due to being subdivided after October 1, 2003. Once the plat is vacated and 
the tract returns to its previous designation as land out of Bastrop Town Tract Abstract A-
11, the property owners may apply for construction that meets LPHCP regulations 
(Attachment 2). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 

Page 2 of 4 
 

The image below shows the current platted layout, and the red dashed line depicts the 
layout that the property will return to once vacated. 
 

  
 
 
 
 
All information that was recorded with the plat, including public utility, drainage, and 
access easements is vacated.  Staff has reviewed the easements that will need to be 
dedicated by separate instrument before the vacation takes place. 
 

 
 
 
Green:  20-foot Public Utility Easement (PUE) along the northern property line and 15-

foot PUE along the east, west and south property lines; 
Red: 35-foot Sidewalk and Access Easement along the north property line; and 
Blue: Variable width Drainage Easement, as indicated on the plat. 

Attachment 3:  Pine Vista Subdivision 

Attachment 4:  Required Easements 



 

Page 3 of 4 
 

PUBLIC COMMENTS:  
Ten (10) property owner notifications were mailed on July 12, 2017. At the time of this 
report, no responses have been received. 
 
POLICY EXPLANATION: 
Local Government Code 

Sec. 212.013.  VACATING PLAT.   

(a) The proprietors of the tract covered by a plat may vacate the plat at any time 
before any lot in the plat is sold.  The plat is vacated when a signed, 
acknowledged instrument declaring the plat vacated is approved and recorded 
in the manner prescribed for the original plat. 

Neither lot in the plat has been sold. Both lots are under common ownership. 
To vacate the plat, it must go through the Planning & Zoning Commission and 
be approved by City Council, as that was the manner in which the original plat 
was processed. The original plat went through the preliminary and final plat 
processes. 

(b) If lots in the plat have been sold, the plat, or any part of the plat, may be 
vacated on the application of all the owners of lots in the plat with approval 
obtained in the manner prescribed for the original plat. 

Does not apply. The lots have not been sold and are under common 
ownership. 

(c) The county clerk shall write legibly on the vacated plat the word "Vacated" and 
shall enter on the plat a reference to the volume and page at which the 
vacating instrument is recorded. 

Upon approval by City Council, a vacating instrument will be drafted by the 
Planning Department and recorded at the Count Clerks office. 

(d) On the execution and recording of the vacating instrument, the vacated plat 
has no effect. 

The tract will return to its previous designation as a portion of Bastrop Town 
Tract Abstract A-11. 

Code of Ordinances 

 

The Bastrop Code of Ordinances does not speak to vacating plats; therefore, Local 
Government Code governs the process. 

 

HISTORICAL REFERENCES:  
Request to vacate the Resubdivision of Lots 1-522 and 1-523, Block 19, Tahitian Village, 
Unit 1 as recorded May 31, 1994 in Cabinet 2, Page 379-A in the Bastrop County, Texas 
plat records was approved on April 11, 2017. 
 
 



 

Page 4 of 4 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
Consider action to recommend approval of the request to vacate the plat, with the 
dedication by separate instruments for the referenced easements, at 2401 Chestnut St, 
being Pine Vista Commercial Subdivision, Lots 1 and 2, and forward to the next available 
City Council meeting. 

 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Attachment 1:  Location Map 
Attachment 2:  Letter from Applicant 
Attachment 3:  Copy of Recorded Final Plat 
Attachment 4:  Easements to retain by separate instrument 
 
 



CHESTNUT

LOST PINES

SH 21

A
R

E
N

A

A
M

E
R

IC
A

N
 L

E
G

IO
N

LOOP 150 EAST

9

25

35

3331

30
28

24

20

18
1612

120

120

120

2804

2804

27042704

2801

2235

2881

2710

Location Map
Plat Vacation for Pine Vista Commercial Subdivision

2401 Chestnut Street ³
Date: 7/11/2017

The accuracy and precision of this cartographic

data is limited and should be used for information

/planning purposes only.  This data does not 

replace surveys conducted by registered Texas

land surveyors nor does it constitute an "official"

verification of zoning, land use classification, or

 other classification set forth in local, state, or

federal regulatory processes. The City of Bastrop,

nor any of its employees, do not make any warranty

of merchantability and fitness for particular purpose,

 or assumes any legal liablity or responsibility for the 

accuracy, completeness or usefullness of any such
information, nor does it represent that its use would

not infringe upon privately owned rights.     1 inch = 300 feet

1A

PINE

P
IT

T

FARM

M
 L

 K
 JR

A
R

E
N

A

EMILE

LOST PINES

L
IN

D
A

C
H

A
M

B
E

R
S

SPRING

CEDAR

WALNUT

IN
D

U
S

T
R

IA
L

C
P

 J
O

H
N

S
O

N

Y
O

U
N

G

C
H

A
M

B
E

R
S

CEDAR

¬«21

¬«150

¬«71

¬«95

¬«71









 
 
 

STAFF REPORT 
 
 
 
 

MEETING DATE:  August 8, 2017                                                                  AGENDA ITEM:  9J 
 
TITLE: 
Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2017-67 of the City Council of the City of Bastrop, 
Texas confirming board appointments of the Mayor, as required in Section 3.08 of the City’s 
Charter, as outlined in Exhibit A; and establishing an effective date. 

 
STAFF REPRES ENTATIVE: 

Lynda K. Humble, City Manager 
 
BACKGROUND/HIS TORY: 
Section 3.08, Mayor and Mayor Pro Tem, of the City Charter states that the Mayor shall appoint 
members to all City boards and commissions, subject to confirmation by the City Council. 

 
POLICY EXPLANATION: 
Mayor Connie Schroeder has reviewed all applications and has made appointments to various 
City boards and commissions. In an effort to be open and transparent, Mayor Schroeder has 
prepared a detailed memorandum outlining her appointments. The memorandum is attached as 
Exhibit A to the Resolution seeking confirmation of Council as required by the Charter. 

 
FUNDING S OURCE: 
N/A 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2017-67 of the City Council of the City of Bastrop, 
Texas confirming board appointments of the Mayor, as required in Section 3.08 of the City’s 
Charter, as outlined in Exhibit A; and establishing an effective date. 

 
 

ATTACHMENTS : 

 Resolution 

 Memo 



1 
 

 
RESOLUTION NO. R-2017-67 

 
RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BASTROP, TEXAS 
CONFIRMING BOARD APPOINTMENTS OF THE MAYOR, AS REQUIRED IN 
SECTION 3.08 OF THE CITY’S CHARTER, AS OUTLINED IN EXHIBIT A; AND 
ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, Section 3.08, Mayor and Mayor Pro Tem, of the City Charter states that the 

Mayor shall appoint members to all City boards and commissions, subject to confirmation by the 
City Council; and 
 

WHEREAS, Mayor Connie Schroeder has reviewed applications to the City’s boards and 
commissions and has made appointments to the boards as outlined in Exhibit A; and   

 
WHEREAS, City Council must confirm these appointments as required by the City 

Charter. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

BASTROP, TEXAS: 
 
Section 1: That Mayor Connie Schroeder appointed the following members to the 

boards: 
 
Bastrop Art in Public Places (Term ends 2019) 
Place 2:  Glenda Dayton (Downtown) Served on Steering Committee for Lost Pines Art 
Guild. 

 
Historic Landmark Commission (Term ends 2019) 
Place 5: Lisa Patterson (Downtown) Nominated by Planning & Zoning Commission in 
2016. 

 
Section 2: That the City Council of the City of Bastrop confirms Mayor Schroeder’s 

appointments to the boards as outlined in Exhibit A. 
 

Section 3: That this Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its passage, and it 
is so resolved.  
  



2 
 

 
DULY RESOLVED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Bastrop this 8th day 

of August, 2017. 
 

APPROVED: 
 
 
      ___________________________________ 

Connie B. Schroeder, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
       
Ann Franklin, City Secretary 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
       
David F. Bragg, City Attorney 
 
 

 



 

1 
 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   Honorable Council Members 
 

From:  Mayor Connie Schroeder 
 

Date:  August 8, 2017 
 

RE:   Board Appointments 
 
I am pleased to make two (2) additional Board appointments for 2017. City Council, Staff, and 
Boards together all play a vital role in order for the City to operate and set the future. I am pleased 
to have received your unanimous consent on the prior 42 appointments.   
 
Earlier, I shared my intent to have individuals serve on only one Board, except in the case where 
a Board’s bylaws specifically require representation by a member of another Board.  This policy 
has increased citizen participation and increased our Boards ability to reflect the community. 
 
As a reminder, I set guidelines for reviewing applications: 

• Maximize the number of citizen voices to be heard and limit service to one Board. 

• Enhance diversification on the Boards (inclusive of geography, gender, age and race) to 
more closely reflect the community it represents. 

• Confirm purpose and scope of each Board. 

• Focus on the skills and knowledge needed to most effectively fulfill each Board’s mission. 

• Relieve citizens of serving who have had attendance issues. 

• Follow recommendation of Board nominating committee as defined in bylaws.  

• Solicit input from Staff Liaison and/or Executive Director of each Board regarding specific 
skills needed. 

 
Below you will find my appointments, along with my rationale, to each of the Boards: 
 

Bastrop Art in Public Places (Term ends 2019) 
Place 2:  Glenda Dayton (Downtown) Served on Steering Committee for Lost Pines Art 
Guild. 

 
Historic Landmark Commission (Term ends 2019) 
Place 5: Lisa Patterson (Downtown) Nominated by Planning & Zoning Commission in 
2016. 

 
In closing, I respectfully request the City Council confirm the appointments listed as required by 
Section 3.08 of the City Charter. 
 



 

 
 

STAFF REPORT 
 

MEETING DATE:   August 8, 2017          AGENDA ITEM: 9K 
 
TITLE:  
Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2017-64 of the City Council of the City of Bastrop, 
Texas, approving reappointment of Charlotte G. Hinds as Presiding Judge, Bastrop Municipal 
Court, City of Bastrop; and naming the appointed Judge to a term of three years to run 
concurrently with the term of the Mayor as stipulated by the City of Bastrop Charter; and 
establishing an effective date. 
 
STAFF REPRESENTATIVE:  
Lynda Humble, City Manager 
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY: 
The Judge shall be nominated by the Mayor and appointed by the Council for a term of three (3) 
years to run concurrently with the term of the office of the Mayor, or for the portion of such 
unexpired term as may remain at the time of the appointment.  
 
POLICY EXPLANATION: 
This resolution, if passed, continues the policy previously set by Article V of the City Charter. 
 
FUNDING SOURCE: 
N/A 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Consider action to approve Resolution R 2017-64 approving reappointment of Charlotte G. Hinds 
as Presiding Judge, Bastrop Municipal Court, City of Bastrop; and naming the appointed Judge 
to a term of three years to run concurrently with the term of the Mayor as stipulated by the City of 
Bastrop Charter; and establishing an effective date. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

• Resolution R-2017-64 
 



 

 

 

RESOLUTION NO. R-2017-32-64 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BASTROP, TEXAS 
APPROVING REAPPOINTMENT OF CHARLOTTE G. HINDS AS PRESIDING 
JUDGE, BASTROP MUNICIPAL COURT, CITY OF BASTROP; AND NAMING 
THE APPOINTED JUDGE TO A TERM OF THREE YEARS TO RUN 
CONCURRENTLY WITH THE TERM OF THE MAYOR AS STIPULATED BY 
THE CITY OF BASTROP CHARTER; AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 
 

 

WHEREAS, §5.02 of the City of Bastrop Home Rule Charter states, " The Judge(s) shall 
be nominated by the Mayor and appointed by the Council for a term of three (3) years to run 
concurrently with the term of the office of the Mayor, or for the portion of such unexpired term as 
may remain at the time of the appointment"; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas has determined that it is in the 

best interest of the City of Bastrop and for the orderly operation of the City of Bastrop Municipal 
Court to reappoint Charlotte G. Hinds as Presiding Municipal Court Judge. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
BASTROP, TEXAS: 

 
Section 1: The City hereby reappoints, under the authority of §5.02 of the City of 

Bastrop Home Rule Charter, Charlotte G. Hinds to the position of Municipal Court Judge for a 
term of three years to run concurrently with the Mayor. 

 
Section 2:  All orders, ordinances, and resolutions, or parts thereof, which are in 

conflict or inconsistent with any provision of this Resolution are hereby repealed to the extent of 
such conflict, and the provisions of this Resolution shall be and remain controlling as to the 
matters resolved herein. 
  

Section 3: That this Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its passage, and it 
is so resolved.  
 

DULY RESOLVED AND APPROVED by the City Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas 
this 8th day of August, 2017. 
 
      ____________________________________ 

Connie B. Schroeder, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 

 
       
Ann Franklin, City Secretary 
 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
       
David F. Bragg, City Attorney  



 
 

STAFF REPORT 
 

MEETING DATE:   August 8, 2017       AGENDA ITEM: 9L 
 
TITLE:   
Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2017-65 of the City Council of the City of Bastrop, 
Texas awarding a contract for engineering services associated with the water plant and 
transmission main improvements project to provide potable water from Well Site “J” in the amount 
of $455,500 to BEFCO Engineering, Inc.; authorizing the City Manager to execute all necessary 
documents for the water plant/line improvements project; and establishing an effective date. 
 
STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Trey Job, Managing Director of Public Works & Leisure Services 
   
BACKGROUND/HISTORY: 
The City began developing a long-term water supply in 2013. Once the decision was reached by 
the Bastrop City Council to purchase 6,000 acre feet of water from a nearby development known 
as XS Ranch, the City began filing the required paper work to receive a permit from the Lost Pines 
Ground Water Conservation District. After approximately two years of contested case hearing and 
a ruling from an Administrative Law Judge, the City was issued a permit in October of 2016 to 
withdraw 2,000 acre feet of water from the Simsboro aquifer at a rate of 1,500 gallons 
per minute. The well was designed with funds issued from a previous bond issue.  If awarded 
tonight, the completion date of the plant and transmission main is estimated December 31, 2018. 
 
POLICY EXPLANATION: 
The City is required to maintain its infrastructure for all utilities and is given authority to do so in 
the Local Government Code. Not only is the authority to maintain our infrastructure found in the 
Local Government Code, but it can be found in the State Water Code as well. The authority, and 
responsibility to regulate water and wastewater utilities has been given to Texas Commission on 
Environmental Quality, and all Public water systems are required to follow the rules and 
regulations. 
 
FUNDING SOURCE: 
The funds will be paid from the Water/Wastewater Fund. 
  
RECOMMENDATION: 
Consider action to approve Resolution R-2017-65 of the City Council of the City of Bastrop, Texas 
awarding a contract for engineering services associated with the water plant and transmission 
main improvements project to provide potable water from Well Site “J” in the amount of $455,500 
to BEFCO Engineering, Inc.; authorizing the City Manager to execute all necessary documents 
for the water plant/line improvements project; and establishing an effective date. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

• Resolution 

• Proposal  

 



1 
 

 
RESOLUTION NO. R-2017-65 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BASTROP, 
TEXAS AWARDING A CONTRACT FOR ENGINEERING SERVICES 
ASSOCIATED WITH THE DESIGN OF THE WATER PLANT AND 
TRANSMISSION MAIN IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT TO PROVIDE 
POTABLE WATER FROM WELL SITE “J” IN THE AMOUNT OF 
$455,500 TO BEFCO ENGINEERING, INC.; AUTHORIZING THE CITY 
MANAGER TO EXECUTE ALL NECESSARY DOCUMENTS FOR THE 
WATER PLANT/LINE IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT; AND 
ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

 
WHEREAS, The City Council has appointed the City Manager as the Chief Administrative 

Officer of the City; and 
 

WHEREAS, The City Manager is responsible for the proper administration of all affairs of 
the City; and 
 

WHEREAS, The City Council approved the proposal for the engineering services 
associated with the water plant and transmission main improvements necessary to secure an 
adequate water supply, and maintain the health and safety of our community; and 
 

WHEREAS, The City Council has the steadfastness to ensure a quality water source is 
developed for future generations; and   
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
BASTROP, TEXAS: 

 
Section 1: That the City Manager is hereby authorized to execute a contract for the 

engineering services associated with the water plant and transmission main improvement project 
to provide potable water from Well Site “J” and all ancillary components in the amount of 
$455,500.00.   
 

Section 2:  That the City Council of the City of Bastrop has found BEFCO Engineering, 
Inc. to be a subject matter expert in the field of engineering services. 
 

Section 3: All orders, ordinances, and resolutions, or parts thereof, which are in 
conflict or inconsistent with any provision of this Resolution are hereby repealed to the extent of 
such conflict, and the provisions of this Resolution shall be and remain controlling as to the 
matters resolved herein. 
  

Section 4:  That this Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its passage, and it 
is so resolved.  
 
 
 
 
 



2 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED this 8th day of August, 2017. 
 

CITY OF BASTROP, TEXAS 
 
 
 
      ____________________________________ 

Connie B. Schroeder, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
       
Ann Franklin, City Secretary 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
       
David F. Bragg, City Attorney 
 
 















 

 
 

STAFF REPORT 
 

MEETING DATE:   August 8, 2017       AGENDA ITEM: 9M 
 
TITLE:   
Consider action to approve Resolution No. R-2017-66 of the City Council of Bastrop, Texas to 

fund the purchase and installation of park improvements in Delgado Park, Water Street, Bastrop, 

Texas, at a cost of $143,479.00, and authorizing the City Manager to execute all necessary 

documents, and establishing an effective date. 

  
STAFF REPRESENTATIVE: 
Trey Job, Managing Director of Public Works & Leisure Services 
   
BACKGROUND/HISTORY: 
On May 9, 2017, Bastrop City Council approved the purchase of the land, as well as its naming. 
Delgado Park is going to be dedicated on September 23, 2017. Improvements will include a 
playscape, parking, and restrooms. 
  
POLICY EXPLANATION: 
Pursuant to Chapter 331.001 (a) of the Local Government Code, the City of Bastrop is granted the 

authority to make park land and for the purpose of providing recreational opportunities; and  

 
FUNDING SOURCE: 
This project was funded as a community services transfer from the electric fund and shown in the 
budget amendment approved on August 8, 2017. 
  
RECOMMENDATION: 
Consider action to approve Resolution R-2017-66 of the City Council of Bastrop, Texas to fund 

the purchase and installation of park improvements in Delgado Park, Water Street, Water Street, 

Bastrop, Texas, at a cost of $143,479.00, AND authorizing the City Manager to execute all 

necessary documents, and establishing an effective date. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

• Resolution 

• Proposal 



1 
 

 
RESOLUTION NO. R-2017-66 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BASTROP, TEXAS TO FUND THE 
PURCHASE AND INSTALLATION OF PARK IMPROVEMENTS IN DELGADO PARK, WATER 
STREET, BASTROP, TEXAS, AT A COST OF $143,479.00, AND AUTHORIZING THE CITY 
MANAGER TO EXECUTE ALL NECESSARY DOCUMENTS, AND ESTABLISHING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

   
  

WHEREAS, The City Council has appointed the City Manager as the Chief Administrative 
Officer of the City; and 
 

WHEREAS, The City Manager is responsible for the proper administration of all affairs of 
the City; and 

 
WHEREAS, The City of Bastrop has an interest in maintaining the Parks of Bastrop and;  
 
WHEREAS, The City of Bastrop has purchased land and determined naming for Delgado 

Park; and  
 

WHEREAS, The City Council recognizes the importance of providing recreational 
opportunities in perpetuity on behalf of the citizens of the city of Bastrop; and 

 
WHEREAS, Pursuant to Chapter 331.001 (a) of the Local Government Code, the City of 

Bastrop is granted the authority to make park land and for the purpose of providing recreational 
opportunities; and  

 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds that a very significant public interest is served by the 

purchase and installation of the playground and other ancillary improvements. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
BASTROP, TEXAS: 

 
Section 1: That the City Manager is hereby authorized to execute purchase agreement and 
all other documents necessary for the completion of the purchase and installation of playground 
and other ancillary improvements in Delgado Park, Water Street, in Bastrop, Texas. 
 
Section 2:  All orders, ordinances, and resolutions, or parts thereof, which are in conflict or 
inconsistent with any provision of this Resolution are hereby repealed to the extent of such 
conflict, and the provisions of this Resolution shall be and remain controlling as to the matters 
resolved herein. 
  
Section 3: That this Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its passage, and it is so 
resolved.  
 
 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED this 8th day of August, 2017. 
 
 



2 
 

CITY OF BASTROP, TEXAS 
 
 
 
      ____________________________________ 

Connie B. Schroeder, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
       
Ann Franklin, City Secretary 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
       
David F. Bragg, City Attorney 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 












	August 8, 2017 Agenda - Executed
	4B - Councilmembers' Report
	4C - City Manager's  Report
	5A - Staff City Manager Briefing on FY 2018 Budget
	5B - 1 Ethics Ordinance
	5B - 2 COMPARISON TABLE ETHICS   ORDINANCE
	7- Citizen Comment
	8A - 1 Staff Report Minutes
	8A - 2 MINUTES 07-20-2017
	8A - 3 MINUTES 07-25-2017
	8A - 4 MINUTES 08-01-2017
	8B - 1 TW Budget Amendment Staff Report
	8B - 2 TW Budget Amendment Ordinance 7-2017
	8B - 3 TW Budget Amendment Ordinance Exhibit A
	9A - 1 IndividualConsideration-BEDC-SH(Trail)
	9A - 2 IndividualConsideration-BEDC-SH(Trail)-BACKUP(1)
	9A - 3 IndividualConsideration-BEDC-SH(Trail)-BACKUP(2)
	9B - 1 IndividualConsideration-BEDC-SH (Granite and Stone)
	9B - 2 IndividualConsideration-BEDC-SH (Granite and Stone)-BACKUP(1)
	9B - 3 IndividualConsideration-BEDC-SH (Granite and Stone)-BACKUP(2)
	9B - 4 IndividualConsideration-BEDC-SH (Granite and Stone)-BACKUP(3)
	9B - 5 IndividualConsideration-BEDC-SH (Granite and Stone)-BACKUP(4)
	9B - 6 IndividualConsideration-BEDC-SH (Granite and Stone)-BACKUP(5)
	Draft EARNEST MONEY CONTRACT
	Draft Project Minerals Agreement

	9C - 1 Staff Report Farmer's Market
	9C - 2 Resolution Farmers Market
	RESOLUTION NO. R-2017-60

	9C - 3 1832 Farmers Market Location map-Exhibit A-Lease Agreement
	9C - 4 PROPERTY USE AGREEMENT 1832 FM
	9C- 5 Current Lease Agreement
	9D - 1 Colony MUD Amendment 2 CC Staff Report
	9D - 2 Colony MUD Amendment 2 Resolution
	9D - 3 Colony MUD Amendment 2 Resolution Exhibit A - Location Map
	9D - 4 Colony MUD Amendment 2 Resolution Exhibit B
	9D - 5 Colony MUD Amendment 2 P&Z Staff Report with Attachments
	Colony MUD Amendment #2 P&Z Staff Report
	Attachment 1--Location Map - Colony MUD Amendment Add 25 Ac
	Attachment 2--Surrounding Property Owners’ Responses
	Attachment 3--Second Amendment to Consent Agreement for The Colony MUD

	9E - 1 Bastrop Grove PP CC Staff Report
	9E - 2 Bastrop Grove PP Resolution
	9E - 3 Bastrop Grove PP Resolution Exhibit A
	1 COVER
	Sheets and Views
	1 COVER


	2 PRELIMINARY PLAT
	Sheets and Views
	2 PRELIMINARY PLAT


	3 PRELIMINARY PLAT
	Sheets and Views
	3 PRELIMINARY PLAT


	4 GENERAL NOTES
	Sheets and Views
	4 GENERAL NOTES



	9E - 4 Bastrop Grove PP P&Z Report with Attachments
	9F - 1 Bastrop County Communication Tower CUP CC Staff Report
	9F - 2 Bastrop County Communication Tower CUP Ordinance
	9F - 3 Bastrop County Communication Tower CUP Ordinance Exhibit A
	9F - 4 Bastrop County Communication Tower CUP P&Z Staff Report
	Attachment 1--Location Map - Communications Tower CUP
	Attachment 2--Letter from Applicant
	Attachment 3--Proposed Communication Tower Design
	Attachment 4--Proposed Tower Site Location
	Attachment 6--Surrounding Property Owners Response

	9G - 1 North Main Rezone CC Staff Report
	9G - 2 North Main Rezone Ordinance
	9G - 3 North Main Rezone Ordiance Exhibit A - Location Map
	9G - 4  North Main Rezone P&Z Staff Report
	Rezone P&Z Staff Report
	Attachment 1 - Location Map - Rezone North Main Addition
	Attachment 2 - Zoning Map
	Attachment 3 - Future Land Use Map
	Attachment 4 - Letter from Applicant

	9H - 1 Pine Vista Commercial Plat Vacation CC Staff Report
	9H - 2 Pine Vista Commercial Subdivision Vacation Resolution
	9H - 3 Pine Vista Commercial Subdivision Resolution Exhibit A - Location Map - Pine Vista
	9H - 4 Pine Vista Commercial Subdivision Resolution Exhibit B - Pine Vista Final Plat Recorded
	9H - 5 Pine Vista Plat Vacation P&Z Staff Report
	Attachment 1 - Location Map - Plat Vacation - Pine Vista
	Attachment 2 - Pine Vista Letter from Applicant
	Attachment 3 - Pine Vista Final Plat Recorded
	Attachment 4--Easements

	9J - 1 Staff Report Mayor's Board and Commission Appointments
	TITLE:
	STAFF REPRES ENTATIVE:
	BACKGROUND/HIS TORY:
	POLICY EXPLANATION:
	FUNDING S OURCE:
	RECOMMENDATION:
	ATTACHMENTS :

	9J - 2 Mayor Appointment Resolution
	RESOLUTION NO. R-2017-67

	9J - 3 August 8 2017 Mayor's Board and Commission Appointments
	9K - 1 STAFF REPORT JUDGE APPOINTMENT
	9K - 2 Reappoint Mun Ct Judge Resolution
	9L - 1 Staff Report BEFCO Water Plant - Main Improvements Well Site J
	9L - 2 Resolution BEFCO Water Plant - Main Improvements Well Site J
	RESOLUTION NO. R-2017-65

	9L - 3 Proposal BEFCO Water Plant - Main Improvements Well Site J
	9M - 1 Staff Report Resolution to enter into an Agreement with TF Harper & Associates for the Purchase of Park Improvments for Delgado Park
	9M - 2 Resolution to enter into an Agreement with TF Harper & Associates for Purchase of Park Improvments for Delgado Park
	9M - 3 Propsal TF Harper Park Improvements Delgado Park

	Text1: 
	Text2: 


